
NOTICE OF THE  
REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD MEETING 

The regular meeting of the Village Board is scheduled for 
Tuesday, December 15, 2020 beginning at 7:30 p.m. 

A copy of the agenda for this meeting is attached hereto and 
can be found at www.tinleypark.org. 

NOTICE - MEETING MODIFICATION DUE TO COVID-19 
Pursuant to Governor Pritzker’s Executive Order 2020-07, Executive Order 2020-10, Executive 
Order 2020-18, Executive Order 2020-32, Executive Order 2020-33, Executive Order 2020-39, 
and Executive Order 2020-44, which collectively suspends the Illinois Open Meetings Act 
requirements regarding in-person attendance by members of a public body during the duration of 
the Gubernatorial Disaster Proclamation, issued on June 26, 2020, the members of the Village 
Board may be participating in the meeting through teleconference.  

A livestream of the electronic meeting will be broadcasted at Village Hall. Pursuant to 
Governor's Executive Order No. 2020-43 and CDC guidelines, no more than 25 people or 25% 
of the maximum capacity will be allowed in the Council Chambers at any one time, so long as 
attendees comply with social distancing guidelines. Anyone in excess of maximum limit will be 
asked to wait in another room with live feed to the meeting until the agenda item for which the 
person or persons would like to speak on is being discussed or until the open floor for public 
comments. 

Meetings are open to the public, but members of the public may continue to submit their 
public comments or requests to speak telephonically in advance of the meeting to 
clerksoffice@tinleypark.org or place requests in the Drop Box at the Village Hall by noon on 
December 15, 2020. Please note, written comments will not be read aloud during the meeting. 
A copy of the Village’s Temporary Public Participation Rules & Procedures is attached to this 
Notice. 

Kristin A. Thirion 
Clerk 
Village of Tinley Park 

http://www.tinleypark.org/
mailto:clerksoffice@tinleypark.org


VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
TEMPORARY PUBLIC PARTICIPATION RULES & PROCEDURES 

 

 

As stated in Gubernatorial Executive Order 2020-07 issued on March 16, 2020 and Gubernatorial 
Executive Order 2020-10 issued on March 20, 2020, both extended by Gubernatorial Executive Order 
2020-18 issued on April 1, 2020, all public gatherings of more than ten people are prohibited. In-person 
public participation is not defined as an essential activity. 

The Mayor of Tinley Park is issuing the following rules for all Village Board and other public meetings in 
order to promote social distancing as required by the aforementioned Executive Orders and the 
requirements of the Open Meetings Act: 

 

Written Comments 

After publication of the agenda, email comments to clerksoffice@tinleypark.org. When providing written 
comments to be included as public participation at a public meeting, clearly identify the following in the 
subject line:  

• The date of the meeting; 
• The type of meeting for the written comments (e.g. Village Board meeting, Zoning Board of 

Appeals meeting, Plan Commission meeting, etc.); 
• Name and any other identifying information the participant wishes to convey to the public body; 
• The category of public participation (e.g., Receive Comments from the Public, Agenda Items, etc.); 
• For specific Agenda Items, identify and include the specific agenda item number; 
• The entire content of the comments will be subject to public release. The Village of Tinley Park is 

under no obligation to redact any information. 
 

The contents of all comments will be provided to the relevant public body for their review. Written 
comments will not be read aloud during the meeting. If you wish to publicly address the public body, 
you may request to participate via teleconference as described below. 

 

Comments must be submitted by 12:00 pm on the day of the meeting. However, it is strongly 
recommended that comments be emailed not less than twenty-four (24) hours prior to the meeting so 
the appropriate Board members, Commissioners, Board members, and Committee members have 
sufficient time to review the comments prior to the meeting. 

 

 

 

 



Live Public Participation During Meeting 

After publication of the agenda, those wishing to participate in a live telephone call option at a public 
meeting must register by 12:00 pm on the day of the meeting.  A Village representative will call the 
participant at the relevant portion of the meeting and the participant will be allowed to participate 
telephonically at the meeting. To participate in a live telephone call during the meeting, a request shall be 
submitted by email to clerksoffice@tinleypark.org. The following information must be included the 
subject line:  

• The date of the meeting; 
• The type of meeting for the written comments (e.g. Village Board meeting, Zoning Board of 

Appeals meeting, Plan Commission meeting, etc.); 
• Name and any other identifying information the participant wishes to convey to the public body; 
• The category of public participation (e.g., Receive Comments from the Public, Agenda Items, etc.); 

and 
• For specific Agenda Items, identify and include the specific agenda item number. 

If the participant provides an email address, they will receive a confirmation email that their request has 
been logged. If the participant provides an email address and does not receive a confirmation email, they 
may call (708) 444-5000 during regular business hours to confirm the application was received. 

Upon successful registration, the participant’s name will be placed on an internal Village list. On the date 
and during relevant portion of the meeting, the participant will be called by a Village representative. The 
Village representative will call the provided telephone number and allow the phone to ring not more than 
four (4) times. If the call is not answered within those four (4) rings, the call will be terminated and the 
Village representative will call the next participant on the list. 

The public comment should be presented in a manner as if the participant is in attendance at the meeting.  
At the start of the call, the participant should provide their name and any other information the 
participant wishes to convey. For comments regarding Agenda Items, identify and include the specific 
agenda item number. The participant should try to address all comments to the public body as a whole 
and not to any member thereof. Repetitive comments are discouraged. The total comment time for any 
single participant is three (3) minutes. Further time up to an additional three (3) minutes may be granted 
by motion. A participant may not give his or her allotted minutes to another participant to increase that 
person's allotted time. 

 
 
 



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r  1 5 ,  2 0 2 0  | 1

1

MEETING NOTICE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Regular Meeting of the President and Board of Trustees of 
the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois will be held on Tuesday, December 15, 
2020, beginning at 7:30 PM in the Council Chambers at the Village Hall of Tinley Park, 16250 South 
Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois.

7:30 PM CALL TO ORDER

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

ITEM #1

SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

ACTION: Discussion - Consider approval of agenda as written or amended.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #2

SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE REGULAR 
VILLAGE BOARD MEETING HELD ON DECEMBER 1, 2020.

ACTION: Discussion: Consider approval of minutes as written or amended.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #3

SUBJECT: RECEIVE PRESENTATION OF THE TINLEY PARK BUSINESS 
SPOTLIGHT – Clerk Thirion and Trustee Glotz

ACTION: Discussion: The following Tinley Park business will be presented:
 Rizza Cadillac Buick GMC, 8425 159th Street

 No specific action required.



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r  1 5 ,  2 0 2 0  | 2

2

COMMENTS:

ITEM #4

SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPOINTING JENISE LOPEZ TO THE POSITION OF 
BUILDING PERMIT TECHNICIAN, EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 15, 2020 - 
President Vandenberg

ACTION: Discussion: Human Resources conducted a search and received 58 applications 
that were shortlisted to seven (7).  Interviews were conducted by a panel of 
Community Development Management and Human Resources.  Following these 
interviews, Jenise Lopez was identified as the best candidate for this position.  
Jenise has thirteen (13) years of municipal experience in Planning, Engineering, 
and Public Words departments. Consider appointing Jenise Lopez to the 
position of Building Permit Technician.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #5

SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE FOLLOWING CONSENT 
AGENDA ITEMS: 
A. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-125 AUTHORIZING

THE CONVEYANCE OF REAL ESTATE TO WILL COUNTY FOR
HIGHWAY PURPOSES (PARCEL 0042 & TEMPORARY
EASEMENT).

B. CONSIDER APPROVING THE 2021 REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD
MEETING, COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE, AND STANDING
COMMITTEE MEETING SCHEDULE.

C. CONSIDER REQUEST FROM AMERICAN LEGION POST 615 TO
CONDUCT A QUEEN OF HEARTS RAFFLE FROM JANUARY 7,
2021, TO DECEMBER 21, 2021, WITH THE MAXIMUM VALUE OF
THE PRIZE NOT TO EXCEED $250,000.  WINNERS WILL BE
DRAWN AT THE AMERICAN LEGION POST 615, 17423 67TH
COURT, EACH THURSDAY AT 7:00 P.M.

D. CONSIDER REQUEST FROM THE CRISIS CENTER FOR SOUTH
SUBURBIA TO CONDUCT A RAFFLE THROUGH FEBRUARY 20,
2021, WITH THE WINNER BEING DRAWN ON THAT DAY AT
FAMILY HARVEST CHURCH, 18500 92nd AVENUE.

E. CONSIDER PAYMENTS OF OUTSTANDING BILLS IN THE
AMOUNT OF $1,886,321.42 AS LISTED ON THE VENDOR BOARD
APPROVAL REPORTS DATED DECEMBER 4 AND DECEMBER 11,
2020.



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r  1 5 ,  2 0 2 0  | 3

3

ACTION: Discussion: Consider approval of consent agenda items.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #6

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-080 AMENDING 
ORDINANCE 2018-O-066 TO ALLOW FOR A SIDE-ILLUMINATED 
PROJECTION SIGN AT 6701-6755 SOUTH STREET - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The specific request is to amend the variation approving the original 
projection sign. The variation was approved with the understanding the sign 
would not be illuminated and the developer is now requesting for the letters on 
the sign to be side-lit.
The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on December 3, 2020, and voted 8-
0 to unanimously recommend the proposed amendment for approval to the 
Village Board. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #7

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-127 AUTHORIZING THE 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK TO SEEK CLASS 8 CERTIFICATION FOR 
CERTAIN PROPERTY IN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND 
WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS REFERRED TO AS DUVAN INDUSTRIAL 
PARK BY THE OFFICE OF THE COOK COUNTY ASSESSOR - Trustee 
Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Village is looking to re-certify the Duvan Drive Industrial Park 
as Class 8 eligible with Cook County.  The designation is only valid for five (5) 
years and can be renewed for an additional five (5) years.  This area had been 
previously approved in 2007, and with a renewal in 2012, the designation 
expired in 2017.  However, conditions still exist that impede the marketability 
and vitality of this area.  Due to this Industrial Park's close proximity to Will 
County, the differential in business property taxes between Will and Cook 
Counties continues to be a significant issue that continues to affect the 
marketability of these properties.  The area still requires assistance, via this 
Cook County program, to support the continued revitalization of the area.
This item was discussed at the Economic & Commercial Commission 
Committee on December 14, 2020, and reviewed by the Committee of the 
Whole prior to this meeting. This Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r 1 5 , 2 0 2 0 | 4

5

ITEM #8

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-128 APPROVING A COOK 
COUNTY CLASS 6B SER RECLASSIFICATION FOR THE PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 17532 DUVAN DRIVE - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: This Resolution provides support for the Cook County Class 6b 
SER incentive to Duvan Acquisition, LLC who is leasing the property to 
Cabinet Wholesale Supply, Inc., a related entity. This Resolution includes a 
redevelopment agreement that addresses the improvements that must be 
completed.  If those items are not met, the Village can choose to revoke the 
reclassification.

This item was discussed at the Economic & Commercial Commission on 
December 14, 2020, and the Committee of the Whole meeting held prior to this 
meeting. This Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #9

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-081 GRANTING A 
SPECIAL USE FOR A HERITAGE SITE MIXED-USE BUILDING AT 16820 
OAK PARK AVENUE - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Riz Villasenor, on behalf of MedPro Health 
Providers LLC, is seeking to convert the property at 16820 Oak Park Avenue 
zoned NG (Neighborhood General) from a single-family home into a mixed-use 
building. The proposal allows the redevelopment of the structure for the 
relocation of an existing Tinley Park business office and a two-bedroom 
apartment on the second floor.

The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on December 3, 2020, and voted 8-
0 to recommend approval of the Special Use with conditions in accordance with 
the plans as listed in the “Listed Reviewed Plans” and Findings of Fact in the 
Staff Report. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r 1 5 , 2 0 2 0 | 5

6

ITEM #10

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-082 GRANTING 
VARIATIONS FROM THE ZONING ORDINANCE FOR THE PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 16820 OAK PARK AVENUE - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Riz Villasenor, on behalf of MedPro Health 
Providers LLC, is seeking three (3) Variations related to the creation of a mixed-
use building on the property located at 16820 Oak Park Avenue in the NG 
(Neighborhood General) zoning district. The Variations include the investment 
threshold for a heritage site, covered residential parking, and minimum dwelling 
size requirements.
The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on December 3, 2020, and voted 8-
0 to recommend approval of the three (3) Variations and adopted the Findings of 
Fact in accordance with the plans as listed in the “Listed Reviewed Plans” as 
indicated in the Staff Report. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #11

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-129 APPROVING AND 
ACCEPTING THE “2020 HOLDINGS PLAT OF SUBDIVISION” FOR THE 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 16820 OAK PARK AVENUE. - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Riz Villasenor, on behalf of MedPro Health 
Providers LLC, has requested Final Plat approval associated with the mixed-use 
redevelopment on the site located at 16820 Oak Park Avenue in the NG 
(Neighborhood General) zoning district.
The Plan Commission reviewed the Final Plat of Subdivision with 
recommended conditions and voted 8-0 to recommend approval. This 
Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #12

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-130 APPROVING AND 
ACCEPTING THE “PLAT OF CONSOLIDATION” FOR THE PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 17201 RIDGELAND AVENUE - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, George Modrovic, on behalf of IBD Corp, has 
requested approval of the Plat of Consolidation for three (3) lots.
The Plan Commission voted 6-0 to recommend approval of the Plat. This 
Resolution is eligible for adoption.



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r 1 5 , 2 0 2 0 | 6

7

COMMENTS:

ITEM #13

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-083 GRANTING TEXT 
AMENDMENTS TO THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK ZONING 
ORDINANCE TO PERMIT MEDICAL OFFICES AS A SPECIAL USE IN 
THE MU-1 ZONING DISTRICT - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The proposed text amendment allows for a “Business and 
professional offices, including medical” to be permitted with a Special Use 
Permit in the MU-1, Mixed Use Duvan Drive Overlay District. 

The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on December 3, 2020 and voted 8-
0 to unanimously recommended the proposed text amendments for approval to 
the Village Board. Due to the time constraints associated with the request, it has 
been recommended that the typical first reading be waived on this text 
amendment. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #14

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-084 GRANTING TEXT 
AMENDMENTS TO THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK ZONING 
ORDINANCE TO REGULATE EMERGENCY-RELATED TEMPORARY 
USES - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The proposed text amendment provides for temporary uses related 
to emergencies or disasters such as COVID-19 testing.

The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on December 3, 2020 and voted 8-
0 to unanimously recommended the proposed text amendments for approval to 
the Village Board. Staff requests the first reading be waived on this text 
amendment. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r 1 5 , 2 0 2 0 | 7

8

ITEM #15

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-085 GRANTING A 
SPECIAL USE FOR A MEDICAL OFFICE TO PERMIT NAS TESTING 
CENTER AT 7460 DUVAN DRIVE - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Amer Sweis, on behalf of NAS Testing Center 
(tenant), is proposing a drive-thru COVID-19 and medical testing facility at 
7460 Duvan Drive in the MU-1 (Mixed Use Duvan Drive) Zoning District.

The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on December 3, 2020 and voted 8-
0 to recommend approval of the Special Use with conditions in accordance with 
the plans as listed in the “Listed Reviewed Plans” and Findings of Fact in the 
Staff Report. This is Ordinance eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #16

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-131 AUTHORIZING A 
RENEWAL OF A MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT WITH MERIDIAN IT 
FOR CISCO PRODUCTS USED IN THE VILLAGE’S COMPUTER 
SYSTEM - Trustee Brady

ACTION: Discussion: The annual Cisco maintenance/license agreements allows the 
Village to receive rapid support on software and hardware issues, receive the 
latest patches, avoid high transactional fees due to failures and feature keys to 
preserve the network security. This Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #17

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-132 APPROVING A 
COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE 
OF TINLEY PARK AND ITS PATROL OFFICERS REPRESENTED BY THE 
METROPOLITAN ALLIANCE OF POLICE TINLEY PARK CHAPTER #192 
(SUBJECT TO FINAL ATTORNEY REVIEW) - Trustee Brennan

ACTION: Discussion: The prior collective bargaining agreement expired on April 30, 
2020. Following negotiations, an agreement was reached earlier this month. All 
necessary changes have been made and reviewed by the Village and the Union. 
Patrol officers will receive a 2% increase retroactive to May 1, 2020, 2% for 
FY 2022, 2.25% for FY 2023, and 2.55% for FY 2024. Employee insurance 
premium contributions will increase to 11% in 2021, and 12% in 2022. This 
Resolution is eligible for adoption.



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r 1 5 , 2 0 2 0 | 8

9

COMMENTS:

ITEM #18

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-086 AMENDING TITLE XI 
CHAPTER 112 SECTION 20 (K) (2) OF THE TINLEY PARK MUNICIPAL 
CODE – AMENDING CLASS K-1 LIQUOR LICENSE REQUIREMENTS - 
President Vandenberg

ACTION: Discussion: The Village currently has two (2) liquor license classifications for 
establishments operating as a banquet/event space. A recent liquor license 
request for a banquet space has prompted review of this section of the code—
specifically in terms of catering—to ensure the best fit for current and future 
requests. This Ordinance removes the requirement for the K-1 license holder to 
be the sole caterer for all events. This item was discussed at the Committee of 
the Whole on November 17, 2020. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #19

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCEC 2020-O-087 INCREASING THE 
NUMBER OF CLASS "K-1" LIQUOR LICENSES THAT CAN BE ISSUED 
IN THE VILLAGE - THE WHISTLE EVENTS AND CATERING “WEC” 
7537 W 159TH ST - President Vandenberg

ACTION: Discussion: This Ordinance amends the Municipal Code to increase the number 
of Class K-1 Liquor Licenses by one (1), and awards that license to The Whistle 
Events and Catering "WEC" located at 7537 W 159th St. The Class K-1 License 
authorizes the retail sale of liquor in conjunction with banquet functions of less 
than 250 people. This item was discussed at the Committee of the Whole 
meeting held on November 17, 2020. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r 1 5 , 2 0 2 0 | 9

10

ITEM #20

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-088 AMENDING TITLE XI 
CHAPTER 110 SECTION 28 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK CODE 
OF ORDINANCES - PRORATION OF FEES - Trustee Brady

ACTION: Discussion: Title XI Chapter 110 Section 28 of the Village's Municipal Code 
discusses the proration of Business Licenses Fees for applicants who apply at 
any given time throughout the calendar year. This Ordinance eliminates the 
proration of business license fees which is inconsistent with other Village 
licensing policies.  The business license fees are typically no more than $300 
and do not warrant proration due to the underlying costs of issuance and 
other activities associated with business licensing. This Ordinance is eligible 
for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #21

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-126 AUTHORIZING THE 
CONVEYANCE OF REAL ESTATE TO WILL COUNTY FOR HIGHWAY 
PURPOSES (PARCEL 0041 & TEMPORARY EASEMENT) - Trustee Glotz

ACTION: Discussion: Will County needs to purchase .493 acres of land for the 80th 
Avenue widening project that is adjacent to the Public Works building and 
owned by the Village. As a result of the purchase, the Village will have to 
relocate four (4) utility poles and six (6) parking spaces. The County also will 
need 1.479 acres for the temporary easement for construction. The Village will 
be compensated $132,500, which includes $100,000 for the fair market value of 
the property according to an appraisal, and $32,500 for the temporary easement. 
The County will also put $144,075 in a construction escrow for the parking area 
and a fence along 80th Avenue. This Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r 1 5 , 2 0 2 0|10

11

ITEM #22

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-071 LEVYING TAXES FOR 
CORPORATE PURPOSES FOR THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 2020 
TAX LEVY YEAR - Trustee Galante

ACTION: Discussion: The property tax levy request for 2020 will be set at $28,143,499. 
This amount represents a 2.08% increase over the previous year’s requested tax 
levy dollars.  Since the overall levy increase is less than 5% of the prior year’s 
extended levy, publication of a Truth in Taxation notice (Black Box) and Public 
Hearing are not required.  The amount of the levy was reviewed and determined 
at the Committee of the Whole meeting held on December 1, 2020. This 
Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #23

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-072 ABATING A PORTION 
OF THE 2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE 
BOND ORDER DATED MARCH 3, 2009, IN CONNECTION WITH THE 
ISSUANCE OF $10,235,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND 
IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 2009, OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY 
PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS - Trustee Galante

ACTION: Discussion: The 2020 tax levy for this bond issue is established at $1,113,870, 
and the Village is in a position to abate $763,870 of this levy from the following 
sources and amounts:

Water and Sewer Revenue Fund $376,644.20
Tax/Bond Stabilization Fund $283,125.80
Surtax Capital Projects Fund $104,100.00

The net levy for this bond issue will be $350,000.  The abatement items were 
provided at the Committee of the Whole meeting held on November 17, 2020. 
This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r 1 5 , 2 0 2 0| 11

12

ITEM #24

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-073 ABATING A PORTION 
OF THE 2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE 
BOND ORDER DATED AUGUST 16, 2011, IN CONNECTION WITH THE 
ISSUANCE OF $5,940,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING 
BONDS, SERIES 2011, OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND 
WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS (LIBRARY) - Trustee Galante

ACTION: Discussion: The 2020 tax levy for this bond issue is established at $660,800, and 
the Village is in a position to abate $150,000 of this levy from the Village’s 
Surtax Capital Projects Fund.  The net levy will be $510,800 for this bond issue. 
This debt service item appears as part of the levy for the Tinley Park Public 
Library. The abatement items were provided at the Committee of the Whole 
meeting held on November 17, 2020. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #25

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-074 ABATING ALL OF THE 
2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND 
ORDER DATED JUNE 5, 2013, IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE 
OF $11,340,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2013, OF THE 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS - 
Trustee Galante

ACTION: Discussion: The 2020 tax levy requirement for this bond issue is established at 
$973,650, and the Village is in a position to abate the entire amount of this levy 
from the following sources and amounts:

Hotel/Motel Tax Fund/Oak Park 
Avenue TIF

$389,460.00

Surtax Capital Projects Fund $417,247.96
Water & Sewer Fund $139,085.91
Stormwater Management Fund  $17,399.13
Main Street South TIF  $10,457.00

The abatement items were provided at the Committee of the Whole meeting 
held on November 17, 2020. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r 1 5 , 2 0 2 0| 12

13

ITEM #26

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-075 ABATING A PORTION 
OF THE TAX YEAR 2020 VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PROPERTY 
TAXES EXTENDED FOR 18501 CONVENTION CENTER DRIVE, TINLEY 
PARK, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS (DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE 
AGREEMENT FOR THE TINLEY PARK HOTEL AND CONVENTION 
CENTER) - Trustee Galante

ACTION: Discussion: In July 2017, the Village of Tinley Park entered into agreements 
with Elementary School District 159, Rich Township High School District 227, 
and The Harp Group, Inc. related to the hotel property located at 18501 
Convention Center Drive and attached to the Village’s Convention Center 
facility.  The Harp Group purchased the hotel property and requested assistance 
with regard to the significant property tax bill for this location.  Under these 
agreements, the three (3) governments (Village, 159 and 227) will abate 50% of 
the respective government’s property taxes extended for the property for a 
period of ten (10) years, or a cumulative and collective $4 million in 
abatements, whichever comes first.  This Ordinance represents the third year of 
abatement, and a copy of the Ordinance will be filed with the Cook County 
Clerk.  The two (2) school districts will provide similar direction for their 
respective abatements to the Cook County Clerk.  The abatement items were 
provided at the Committee of the Whole meeting held on November 17, 2020. 
This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #27

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-076 ABATING A PORTION 
OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK TAX YEAR 2020 PROPERTY 
TAXES EXTENDED FOR 8451 183RD PLACE, TINLEY PARK, WILL 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS (SURFACE SHIELDS, INC. INDUCEMENT 
AGREEMENT) - Trustee Galante

ACTION: Discussion: In July 2017, the Village Board approved Resolution 2017-R-039 
adopting an inducement agreement with Surface Shields, Inc. to locate its 
manufacturing facility in Tinley Park.  Under this agreement, provided that the 
Company met or exceeded certain benchmarks, the Village would abate 50% of 
the property taxes extended for the Village of Tinley Park for a period of 4 
years.  The Company has met the requirements of the inducement agreement 
and is eligible for a tax abatement as provided under the agreement.  This 
Ordinance represents the third year of abatements under the inducement 
agreement.  This Ordinance will direct the Will County Clerk to abate 50% of 
the property taxes extended against this property.  The abatement items were 
provided at the Committee of the Whole meeting held on November 17, 2020. 
This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r 1 5 , 2 0 2 0| 13

14

COMMENTS:

ITEM #28

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-133 APPROVING A 
CONTRACT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND AIRY'S 
INC. FOR POST 4 (8499 BROOKSIDE GLEN DRIVE) IMPROVEMENTS - 
Trustee Glotz

ACTION: Discussion: This project includes the replacement of the control panel, 
replacement of the building, and upgrading the outdated electrical components 
currently in use at Post 4 sanitary sewer lift station (8399 Brookside Glen 
Drive).
Consider awarding a contract to Airy's Inc. in the amount of $598,042.  This 
item was approved at the December 1, 2020 Committee of the Whole meeting.  
This Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #29

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-124 PROVIDING FOR AND 
AUTHORIZING LANDING RIGHTS TO SANTA CLAUS IN THE VILLAGE 
OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS - President 
Vandenberg

ACTION: Discussion: This Resolution would allow the necessary approvals for Santa 
Claus to land in Tinley Park as often as deemed appropriate. This Resolution is 
eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #30

SUBJECT: RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM STAFF -

COMMENTS:

ITEM #31

SUBJECT: RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE BOARD -

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r 1 5 , 2 0 2 0| 14

15

ITEM #32

SUBJECT: RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC -

COMMENTS:

ITEM #33

SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF A REQUEST BY THE FOLLOWING 
VILLAGE BOARD MEMBERS TO ATTEND THE EXECUTIVE SESSION 
BY REMOTE ELECTRONIC MEANS - Clerk Thirion

ACTION: Discussion: The following Village Board member has requested to attend the 
Executive Session by remote electronic means: 

 Village President Jacob Vandenberg
Consider approval of remote electronic attendance of the above-mentioned 
Village Board Member(s) to attend the executive session remotely.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #34

SUBJECT: ADJOURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS: 

A. THE PURCHASE OR LEASE OF REAL PROPERTY FOR THE USE
OF THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING MEETINGS HELD FOR THE
PURPOSE OF DISCUSSING WHETHER A PARTICULAR PARCEL
SHOULD BE ACQUIRED.

B. COLLECTIVE NEGOTIATING MATTERS BETWEEN THE PUBLIC
BODY AND ITS EMPLOYEES OR THEIR REPRESENTATIVES, OR
DELIBERATIONS CONCERNING SALARY SCHEDULES FOR ONE
OR MORE CLASSES OF EMPLOYEES.

C. LITIGATION, WHEN AN ACTION AGAINST, AFFECTING OR ON
BEHALF OF THE PARTICULAR PUBLIC BODY HAS BEEN FILED
AND IS PENDING BEFORE A COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE
TRIBUNAL, OR WHEN THE PUBLIC BODY FINDS THAT AN
ACTION IS PROBABLE OR IMMINENT, IN WHICH CASE THE
BASIS FOR THE FINDING SHALL BE RECORDED AND ENTERED
INTO THE MINUTES OF THE CLOSED MEETING.

D. DISCUSSION OF MINUTES OF MEETINGS LAWFULLY CLOSED
UNDER THIS ACT, WHETHER FOR PURPOSES OF APPROVAL BY
THE BODY OF THE MINUTES OR SEMI-ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE
MINUTES AS MANDATED BY SECTION 2.06.

E. THE APPOINTMENT, EMPLOYMENT, COMPENSATION,
DISCIPLINE, PERFORMANCE, OR DISMISSAL OF SPECIFIC



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r 1 5 , 2 0 2 0| 15

16

EMPLOYEES OF THE PUBLIC BODY OR LEGAL COUNSEL FOR 
THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING HEARING TESTIMONY ON A 
COMPLAINT LODGED AGAINST AN EMPLOYEE OF THE PUBLIC 
BODY OR AGAINST LEGAL COUNSEL FOR THE PUBLIC BODY 
TO DETERMINE ITS VALIDITY.

ADJOURNMENT



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                        December 1, 2020 1

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING OF THE TRUSTEES,
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES,

ILLINOIS, HELD DECEMBER 1, 2020

The regular meeting of the Board of Trustees, Village of Tinley Park, Illinois, was held in the Council 
Chambers located in the Village Hall of Tinley Park, 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, IL on 
December 1, 2020.   President Vandenberg called this meeting to order at 8:33 p.m. 

At this time, President Vandenberg stated this meeting is being conducted pursuant to Governor Pritzker’s 
disaster proclamation and Public Act 101-0640, which amends requirements of the Open Meetings Act due 
to the COVID-19 pandemic. Pursuant to the same, the Village Board finds that it would be impractical to 
conduct an in-person meeting with all members present. Elected officials confirmed they were able to hear 
one another. President Vandenberg asked if anyone from the public requested to comment either in writing 
or telephonically. Deputy Clerk Godette stated there were no written comments or requests to comment via 
telephone received. 

President Vandenberg led the Board and audience in the Pledge of Allegiance.

Clerk Thirion called the roll. Present and responding to roll call were the following:

                         Village President: Jacob C. Vandenberg (Participated Electronically)
Village Clerk: Kristin A. Thirion

                         Trustees: Cynthia A. Berg 
William P. Brady
William A. Brennan
Diane M. Galante
Michael W. Glotz
Michael G. Mueller

Absent:

Also Present: 
Village Manager: David Niemeyer 
Asst. Village Manager: Patrick Carr
Village Attorney: Patrick Connelly

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Berg, to approve the agenda as written or 
amended for this meeting. Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: 
None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried. 

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brady, to approve and place on file the minutes 
of the Special Village Board Meeting held on November 17, 2020.  Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, 
Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion 
carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Glotz, to consider approving the following 
Consent Agenda items:

Page | 17AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                        December 1, 2020 2

The following Consent Agenda items were read by the Village Clerk:

A. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-120 AUTHORIZING A CABLE TELEVISION 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, 
ILLINOIS AND COMCAST OF ILLINOIS X, LLC.

B. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-118 PROVIDING WAIVERS FOR VARIOUS 
LIQUOR AND BUSINESS LICENSE FEES FOR CALENDAR YEAR 2021 DUE TO COVID-19 
AND THE ONGOING PUBLIC HEALTH CRISIS.

C. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-117 APPROVING AN AGREEMENT WITH 
THE ILLINOIS CONVENIENCE & SAFETY CORP (ICSC) FOR THE VILLAGE'S BUS 
SHELTER PROGRAM.

D. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-119 AUTHORIZING A CONTRACT WITH 
INTEGRATED DOCUMENT TECHNOLOGIES (IDT) FOR CAPSYS AND ONBASE SYSTEM 
UPGRADES - DOCUMENT MANAGEMENT.

E. CONSIDER PAYMENTS OF OUTSTANDING BILLS IN THE AMOUNT OF $4,033,640.04 AS 
LISTED ON THE VENDOR BOARD APPROVAL REPORTS DATED NOVEMBER 20 AND 
NOVEMBER 25, 2020.

President Vandenberg asked if anyone from the Board would like to remove or discuss any items from the 
Consent Agenda. Trustee Berg asked to remove the following Consent Agenda Item for a separate vote:

B. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-118 PROVIDING WAIVERS FOR VARIOUS 
LIQUOR AND BUSINESS LICENSE FEES FOR CALENDAR YEAR 2021 DUE TO COVID-19 
AND THE ONGOING PUBLIC HEALTH CRISIS.

   
President Vandenberg asked if anyone from the Board would like to remove or discuss any other items from 
the Consent Agenda. No one came forward. 

Vote on roll call for Consent Agenda Items A, C, D, and E. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, 
Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan to vote on roll call for Consent Agenda 
Item B. President Vandenberg as if anyone from the Board would care to discuss. No one came forward. 
Vote on roll call: Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Abstain: Berg. Absent: 
None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Glotz, to adopt and place on file ORDINANCE 
2020-O-077 GRANTING A CORNER FENCE VARIATION FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 8350 CLOVERVIEW DRIVE. The Petitioners, Orlando and Olivia Alvarez, are seeking a 

Page | 18AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                        December 1, 2020 3

Variation from the Zoning Ordinance to permit a 6-foot high privacy fence to extend into the required 
secondary front yard of their property. 

The Zoning Board of Appeals held a Public Hearing on November 12, 2020, and voted 3-0 to recommend 
approval of the amended Variation request in accordance with plans and findings of fact as listed in the in the 
November 12, 2020 Staff Report. President Vandenberg asked if there were any comments from members of 
the Board. There were none.  President Vandenberg asked if anyone from the public would care to comment.  
There were none.  Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  
Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to adopt and place on file 
ORDINANCE 2020-O-078 GRANTING A SPECIAL USE FOR LEVEL 2 OPEN STORAGE ON 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 17201 RIDGELAND AVENUE (IBD CORP, PETITIONER). The 
Petitioner, George Modrovic, on behalf of IBD Corp., is seeking a Special Use Permit to allow ELFI wall 
systems to store finished products in an area measuring 200’ x 25’ on the south side of the building. 

The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on November 19, 2020, and voted 6-0 to recommend approval 
of the Special Use with recommended conditions in accordance with the plans as listed in the “Listed 
Reviewed Plans” and Findings of Fact in the November 19, 2020 Staff Report. President Vandenberg asked 
if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were none. President Vandenberg asked if 
anyone from the public would care to comment.  There were none.  Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, 
Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion 
carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Berg, to adopt and place on file RESOLUTION 
2020-R-122 APPROVING A COOK COUNTY CLASS 8 RECLASSIFICATION FOR THE 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 17201 RIDGELAND AVENUE AND 17401 RIDGELAND AVENUE. 
This Resolution provides support for the Cook County Class 8 incentive which reduces the tax assessment 
ratio for ten (10) years. IBD Corp. will be leasing the property to ELFI, a related entity. This Resolution 
includes a redevelopment agreement that addresses the improvements that must be completed. If those items 
are not met, the Village can choose to revoke the reclassification. 

The Economic and Commercial Commission reviewed the application at their November 9, 2020 meeting 
and voted 6-0 to recommend approval of the Class 8 reclassification. This item was discussed at the 
Committee of the Whole committee held on December 1, 2020. President Vandenberg asked if there were 
any comments from members of the Board. There were none. President Vandenberg asked if anyone from 
the public would care to comment.  There were none.   Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, 
Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Brady, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to adopt and place on file 
RESOLUTION 2020-R-121 AUTHORIZING A GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SYSTEM (GIS) 
CONSORTIUM CONTRACT BY AND BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 
MUNICIPAL GIS PARTNERS, INCORPORATED. This Resolution is an updated executive board 
agreement and statement of work with the GIS Consortium service provider, Municipal GIS Partners (MGP). 
The Village has the right to terminate the agreement upon ninety (90) days written notice to the service 
provider. The reduced cost during the COVID-19 period will be $151,668. Funds for this expenditure were 
budgeted for a not to exceed amount of $208,514. This renewal term shall commence on January 1, 2021, 
and remain in effect until December 31, 2021. In addition, monthly usage reports are provided to the Village 
Board to confirm utilization of the GIS data by staff and the public. President Vandenberg asked if there 

Page | 19AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                        December 1, 2020 4

were any comments from members of the Board. There were none.  Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, 
Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion 
carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Glotz, seconded by Trustee Brady, to adopt and place on file RESOLUTION 
2020-R-123 AUTHORIZING AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (IGA) WITH WILL 
COUNTY FOR THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENT OF 80TH AVENUE FROM SOUTH OF 191ST 
STREET TO NORTH OF 183RD STREET IN THE COUNTIES OF WILL AND COOK. The Village 
has been working with Will County on improvements to 80th Avenue from 191st St. to 183rd St. for a 
number of years. The improvements provide for roadway widening, additional turn lanes, upgraded street 
lighting, modernization of traffic signals, new traffic signals, pedestrian facilities and landscaping, sidewalk 
and multi-use path, fiber optic, aesthetics, the reconstruction of the structure over the Union Drainage ditch 
and I-80, and a new water main. Some of the costs of these improvements will be shared by the county and 
the Village. The current estimated costs for the shared improvements are $7.284 million, with the Village 
responsible for all of the costs over $5.6 million. After the improvements are completed, the county will 
transfer jurisdiction of 80th Avenue from Will County to the Village. This item was discussed at the 
Committee of the Whole meeting held on December 1, 2020. President Vandenberg asked if there were any 
comments from members of the Board. There were none. President Vandenberg asked if anyone from the 
public would care to comment.  There were none.  Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, 
Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Glotz, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to adopt and place on file ORDINANCE 
2020-O-079 APPROVING ACQUISITION OF RIGHT-OF-WAY FOR HIGHWAY PURPOSES FOR 
THE IMPROVEMENT OF 80TH AVENUE & APPROPRIATING FUNDS (PIN 19-09-11-200-014-
0000 & 19-09-12-100-012-0000). The Village needs to acquire several properties and easements for the bike 
path that will be constructed with the 80th Avenue improvements being undertaken by Will County. The cost 
of the properties including expenses will not exceed $65,000. This item was discussed at the Committee of 
the Whole meeting held on December 1, 2020. President Vandenberg asked if there were any comments 
from members of the Board. There were none. President Vandenberg asked if anyone from the public would 
care to comment.  There were none.   Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  
Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Galante, seconded by Trustee Mueller, to amend ORDINANCE 2020-O-071 
LEVING TAXES FOR CORPORATE PURPOSES FOR THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK. 
President Vandenberg asked if there was any discussion on this amendment. Assistant Treasurer Andrew 
Brown stated the amended property tax levy request amount is $28,143,532, which represents a $573,000 
increase (2.07%) over the previous year’s requested tax levy dollars of $27,570,532. The amended amount 
was discussed and determined at the Committee of the Whole held on December 1, 2020.  Vote on roll call. 
Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg 
declared the motion carried.

 
Motion was made by Trustee Galante, seconded by Trustee Berg, to place on first read ORDINANCE 2020-
O-071 LEVYING TAXES FOR CORPORATE PURPOSES FOR THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY 
PARK 2020 TAX LEVY YEAR AS AMENDED. The property tax levy request for 2020 will be set at 
$28,143,532. This amount represents a 2.07% increase over the previous year’s requested tax levy dollars. 
Since the overall levy increase is less than 5% of the prior year’s extended levy, publication of a Truth in 
Taxation notice (Black Box) and Public Hearing are not required. The amount of the levy was reviewed at 
the Committee of the Whole meeting held on November 17, 2020. It was discussed again at the Committee 
of the Whole meeting held on December 1, 2020 where the amount of the levy was determined.  President 

Page | 20AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                        December 1, 2020 5

Vandenberg asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were none. Vote on roll 
call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President 
Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Galante, seconded by Trustee Mueller, to place on first read ORDINANCE 
2020-O-072 ABATING A PORTION OF THE 2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED 
FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED MARCH 3, 2009, IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE 
OF $10,235,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 
2009, OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS. The 2020 
tax levy for this bond issue is established at $1,113,870, and the Village is in a position to abate $763,870 of 
this levy from the following sources and amounts:

Water and Sewer Revenue Fund $376,644.20
Tax/Bond Stabilization Fund $283,125.80
Surtax Capital Projects Fund $104,100.00

The net levy for this bond issue will be $350,000. The abatement items were provided at the Committee of 
the Whole meeting held on November 17, 2020. President Vandenberg asked if there were any comments 
from members of the Board. There were none. Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, 
Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Galante, seconded by Trustee Berg, to place on first read ORDINANCE 2020-
O-073 ABATING A PORTION OF THE 2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED FOR 
IN THE BOND ORDER DATED AUGUST 16, 2011, IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF 
$5,940,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2011, OF THE VILLAGE OF 
TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS (LIBRARY). The 2020 tax levy for this 
bond issue is established at $660,800, and the Village is in a position to abate $150,000 of this levy from the 
Village’s Surtax Capital Projects Fund. The net levy will be $510,800 for this bond issue. This debt service 
item appears as part of the levy for the Tinley Park Public Library. The abatement items were provided at the 
Committee of the Whole meeting held on November 17, 2020. President Vandenberg asked if there were any 
comments from members of the Board. There were none. Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, 
Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Galante, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to place on first read ORDINANCE 
2020-O-074 ABATING ALL OF THE 2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED FOR IN 
THE BOND ORDER DATED JUNE 5, 2013, IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF 
$11,340,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2013, OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY 
PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS. The 2020 tax levy requirement for this bond issue is 
established at $973,650, and the Village is in a position to abate the entire amount of this levy from the 
following sources and amounts:

Hotel/Motel Tax Fund/Oak Park Avenue TIF $389,460.00
Surtax Capital Projects Fund $417,247.96
Water & Sewer Fund $139,085.91
Stormwater Management Fund $17,399.13
Main Street South TIF $10,457.00

The abatement items were provided at the Committee of the Whole meeting held on November 17, 2020. 
President Vandenberg asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were none. Vote 
on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President 
Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Page | 21AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                        December 1, 2020 6

Motion was made by Trustee Galante, seconded by Trustee Brady, to place on first read ORDINANCE 
2020-O-075 ABATING A PORTION OF THE TAX YEAR 2020 VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 18501 CONVENTION CENTER DRIVE, TINLEY PARK, 
WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS (DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE AGREEMENT FOR THE TINLEY 
PARK HOTEL AND CONVENTION CENTER). In July 2017, the Village of Tinley Park entered into 
agreements with Elementary School District 159, Rich Township High School District 227, and The Harp 
Group, Inc. related to the hotel property located at 18501 Convention Center Drive and attached to the 
Village’s Convention Center facility. The Harp Group purchased the hotel property and requested assistance 
with regard to the significant property tax bill for this location. Under these agreements, the three (3) 
governments (Village, 159 and 227) will abate 50% of the respective government’s property taxes extended 
for the property for a period of ten (10) years, or a cumulative and collective $4 million in abatements, 
whichever comes first. This Ordinance represents the third year of abatement, and a copy of the Ordinance 
will be filed with the Cook County Clerk. The two (2) school districts will provide similar direction for their 
respective abatements to the Cook County Clerk. The abatement items were provided at the Committee of 
the Whole meeting held on November 17, 2020. President Vandenberg asked if there were any comments 
from members of the Board. There were none. Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, 
Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Galante, seconded by Trustee Mueller, place on first read ORDINANCE 
2020-O-076 ABATING A PORTION OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK TAX YEAR 2020 
PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 8451 183RD PLACE, TINLEY PARK, WILL COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS (SURFACE SHIELDS, INC. INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT). In July 2017, the Village 
Board approved Resolution 2017-R-039 adopting an inducement agreement with Surface Shields, Inc. to 
locate its manufacturing facility in Tinley Park. Under this agreement, provided that the Company met or 
exceeded certain benchmarks, the Village would abate 50% of the property taxes extended for the Village of 
Tinley Park for a period of four (4) years. The Company has met the requirements of the inducement 
agreement and is eligible for a tax abatement as provided under the agreement. This Ordinance represents the 
third year of abatements under the inducement agreement. This Ordinance will direct the Will County Clerk 
to abate 50% of the property taxes extended against this property. The abatement items were provided at the 
Committee of the Whole meeting held on November 17, 2020. President Vandenberg asked if there were any 
comments from members of the Board. There were none. Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, 
Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

President Vandenberg asked if there were any comments from Staff. 

Village Manager Niemeyer thanked staff for their work with the mid-year budget.  He commented on  great 
job they did at minimizing expenses during this trying time. He noted that Assistant Village Manager Pat 
Carr negotiated a reduced fee for the GIS agreement which saved the Village approximately $57,000. Mr. 
Niemeyer stated that these are the types of savings needed during this difficult time. 

Assistant Village Manager Pat Carr recognized and thanked Senior IT Technician Steve Clemmer on his 23 
years of service to the Village. Mr. Clemmer, who is also the Deputy Emergency Management Director, will 
be retiring in December.  

Fire Chief Forrest Reeder commented on a fire incident that occurred on December 1, 2020 at an apartment 
building on the 6500 block of 173rd Place. Fire Chief Reeder stated that no injuries were incurred thanks to 
efforts of the crew on Truck 46. The crew performed a window rescue of two (2) juveniles from a second-
floor bedroom. The crew was led by Lieutenant French and Firefighter Andrews.  The structure is not 
habitable at this time. 

Page | 22AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                        December 1, 2020 7

President Vandenberg asked if there were any comments from Board. 

Trustee Berg announced that the Virtual Tree Lighting Ceremony will take place on the Village’s Facebook 
page this Friday, December 4, 2020, from 6:00 to 7:00 p.m. The night’s activities will include carolers, 
remarks from the Mayor and Village Board, a virtual walk-through of the Holiday Winter Walk, and the 
lighting of the holiday tree.  

Trustee Brady encouraged residents to go out and see the decorations in the Village’s neighborhoods. 

Trustee Mueller commented on recent statements about whether information has been evenly distributed to 
the Village Board. He feels these statements are misleading, particularly in the case of information regarding 
the Harlem/Vollmer property purchase.  He noted that the communication received by him was shared with 
all Village Board members.  Trustee Mueller also spoke to the communications received by the Village 
Board regarding the Chicago Tribune article about the Harlem/Vollmer property. He stated his concerns 
about how an inaccurate portrayal of events will affect the Village’s ability to negotiate to the benefit of the 
Village’s residents. 

Trustee Glotz feels staff did an excellent job of presenting information regarding the Harlem/Vollmer 
property purchase to the Village Board. The information received by the Board assists them in making 
informed decisions on projects. He thanked staff for their work in getting the information to the Board. 
Trustee Glotz believes that the misinformation on the Harlem/Vollmer project has cost the Village lost 
revenue. 

Trustee Galante stated that she did not give out this information. She noted that she may have misspoken 
about the information she received. 

President Vandenberg asked if there were any comments from members of the public. 

At this time Deputy Clerk Laura Godette called a citizen who requested to give their public comment 
telephonically.  

Village Attorney Connelly then presented an explanation of the temporary procedures and rules that were 
noticed by the Village under the Governor’s disaster proclamation. In these written rules the public comment 
should be presented in a manner as if the participant is in attendance at the meeting.  At the start of the call, 
the participant should provide their name and any other information the participant wishes to convey. For 
comments regarding agenda items, identify and include the specific agenda item number. The participant 
should try to address all comments to the public body as a whole and not to any member thereof. Repetitive 
comments are discouraged. The total comment time for any single participant is three (3) minutes. Further 
time up to an additional three (3) minutes may be granted by motion. A participant may not give his or her 
allotted minutes to another participant to increase that person's allotted time. President Vandenberg asked the 
Village Attorney to confirm if the motion is a motion moved by a Board member followed by a full vote.  
Village Attorney Connelly stated that is correct. 

The caller referred to the Village’s ordinance for public comment. Village Attorney Connelly stated that at 
this time the Village is not proceeding under this ordinance, the Village is proceeding under temporary 
procedures and rules used by the Village under the Governor’s disaster declaration.  

The caller requested the additional three (3) minutes of comment time. The Village Attorney asked the Board 

Page | 23AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                        December 1, 2020 8

for a motion to provide the requested additional three (3) minutes of comment time. No motion was made by 
the Board. The Village Attorney asked the caller to proceed with his three (3) minutes of public comment 
time. 

The caller commented on special and regular Board meetings and his Open Meetings Act Request for 
Review with the Illinois Attorney General. During the callers comments a point of order was made by 
Trustee Mueller on order and decorum. The Village President recognized the point of order and informed the 
caller to keep his comments to Village business and keep them from slanderous attacks at specific 
individuals without evidence. The caller continued. 

Rick Heidner requested an additional three (3) minutes of public comment time. A motion was made by 
Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Berg, to grant an additional three (3) minutes of public comment time 
to Rick Heidner. The Village Attorney asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  Vote on roll call. 
Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz.  Nays: Mueller.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared 
the motion carried.  

Mr. Heidner stated his appreciation of the Mayor, Board, and community of Tinley Park. He stated concerns 
about the Chicago Tribune article regarding the Harlem/Vollmer property. He is the owner of this property.  
He commented that the disinformation provided to the Tribune was very damaging. He explained his 
intentions for the property, noting it became more valuable once Amazon was built across the street from it. 
He has had offers on the property and is working the lesser of the offers because this offer does not require a 
Tax Increment Financing District.  He stated he wants this property to be in Tinley Park. 

A citizen requested an additional three (3) minutes of public comment time. A motion was made by Trustee 
Brennan, seconded by Trustee Glotz, to grant an additional three (3) minutes of public comment time to this 
citizen. Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz.  Nays: Mueller.  Absent: None.  
President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.  

The citizen commented on the information provided to the Village Board regarding the purchase of the 
Harlem/Vollmer property.  She stated her concerns with the safety and security at the Tinley Park Mental 
Health Center (TPMHC) property. She would like the Village to do something to ensure the safety at the 
TPMHC property. 

Mike Stuckly commented on his concerns with certain Village Board members. During Mr. Stuckly’s  
comments a point of order was made by Trustee Galante on order and decorum. The Village President 
recognized the point of order and informed Mr. Stuckly to direct his comments to the entire Village Board 
and that there will not be questions and answers. Mr. Stuckly continued. 

Motion was made by Trustee Brady, seconded by Trustee Galante, to CONSIDER APPROVAL OF A 
REQUEST BY THE FOLLOWING VILLAGE BOARD MEMBERS TO ATTEND THE 
EXECUTIVE SESSION BY REMOTE ELECTRONIC MEANS. The following Village Board members 
have requested to attend the Executive Session by remote electronic means:
• Village President Jacob Vandenberg
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Galante, Vandenberg.  Nays: Brennan, Glotz, Mueller.  Absent: None.  
President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Berg, at 9:39 p.m. to adjourn to Executive Session to 
discuss the following: 

Page | 24AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                        December 1, 2020 9

A. COLLECTIVE NEGOTIATING MATTERS BETWEEN THE PUBLIC BODY AND ITS 
EMPLOYEES OR THEIR REPRESENTATIVES, OR DELIBERATIONS CONCERNING 
SALARY SCHEDULES FOR ONE OR MORE CLASSES OF EMPLOYEES.

B. THE APPOINTMENT, EMPLOYMENT, COMPENSATION, DISCIPLINE, PERFORMANCE, 
OR DISMISSAL OF SPECIFIC EMPLOYEES OF THE PUBLIC BODY OR LEGAL COUNSEL 
FOR THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING HEARING TESTIMONY ON A COMPLAINT 
LODGED AGAINST AN EMPLOYEE OF THE PUBLIC BODY OR AGAINST AN EMPLOYEE 
OF THE PUBLIC BODY OR AGAINST LEGAL COUNSEL FOR THE PUBLIC BODY TO 
DETERMINE ITS VALIDITY.

C. DISCUSSION OF MINUTES OF MEETINGS LAWFULLY CLOSED UNDER THIS ACT, 
WHETHER FOR PURPOSES OF APPROVAL BY THE BODY OF THE MINUTES OR SEMI-
ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE MINUTES AS MANDATED BY SECTION 2.06.

Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  
President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Mueller, to adjourn the regular Board meeting at 
10:28 p.m.  Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  
President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

PLEASE NOTE: Where there is no summary of discussion on any items in the minutes, this reflects that no 
discussion occurred other than the introduction of the item.

APPROVED:

_____________________________________
                     Village President

ATTEST:

_____________________________________
                  Village Clerk

Page | 25AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
 

TINLEY PARK 
BUSINESS SPOTLIGHT 

 
Clerk Thirion and 

Trustee Glotz 

Page | 26AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



CONSIDER THE APPOINTMENT 

OF  

CONSIDER APPOINTING 

JENISE LOPEZ TO THE 

POSITION OF BUILDING 

PERMIT TECHNICIAN

 President Vandenberg 

Page | 27AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, 

Illinois Will County, 
Illinois

RESOLUTION 
2020-R-125

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CONVEYANCE OF REAL 
ESTATE TO WILL COUNTY FOR HIGHWAY PURPOSES 

(PARCEL 0042)

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, 
PRESIDENT KRISTIN A. THIRION, 

VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. 
BRENNAN DIANE M. 
GALANTE MICHAEL 
W. GLOTZ MICHAEL 

G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606

Page | 28AGENDA - 12/15/2020, A... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS

RESOLUTION 2020-R-125

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CONVEYANCE OF REAL ESTATE 
TO WILL COUNTY FOR HIGHWAY PURPOSES (PARCEL 0042)

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois provides 
that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, and the Village 
of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, therefore, a 
home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may exercise any power 
and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, but not limited to, the 
power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Local Government Property Transfer Act, 50 ILCS 605/0.01 et 
seq., the Village is entitled to transfer real property to the County of Will; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, 
Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and its residents to 
convey the certain real estate located in Cook County, Illinois and legally described in Exhibit A, to 
the County of Will for highway purposes for the sum of three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) and other 
good and valuable consideration;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the President and Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if said 
recitals were fully set forth herein.

SECTION 2: The President and the Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby approve 
the transfer of certain real estate, described in Exhibit A, to the County of Will, and all Village Officials 
are authorized and directed to execute and deliver such instruments as may be necessary or convenient 
to consummate such conveyance; and

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions of 
this Resolution or the attached Policy shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

SECTION 4: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval, 
and publication as required by law.

SECTION 5: That this Resolution shall take effect from and after its adoption and approval.

Page | 29AGENDA - 12/15/2020, A... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT:

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

By:   _____________________________
Village President

ATTEST:

By: _____________________
       Village Clerk

Page | 30AGENDA - 12/15/2020, A... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS   ) 

COUNTY OF COOK    )     SS

COUNTY OF WILL    )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and Will 

and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Resolution 

2020-R-125, "A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CONVEYANCE OF REAL ESTATE TO WILL 

COUNTY FOR HIGHWAY PURPOSES (PARCEL 0042)," which was adopted by the President and Board 

of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of the Village 

of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________  
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 31AGENDA - 12/15/2020, A... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT A
Legal Description

Route: 80th Avenue (CH 83)
Section: 06-00122-16-FP
County: Cook
Job No.: R-55-001-097
Parcel No: 0042
Station 139+66.05 to Station 142+18.11
Index No: 27-36-402-018

Parcel 0042

That part of the West 1900 feet of the Southwest Quarter of Section 36, Township 36 North, 
Range 12 East of the Third Principal Meridian, in Cook County, Illinois, bearings and 
distances based on the Illinois State Plane Coordinate System, East Zone, NAD 83 (2011 
Adjustment) with a combined scale factor of 0.9999641157 described as follows:

Beginning at the intersection of the east right of way line of 80th Avenue per Document No. 
94114564 with the southerly right of way line of Timber Drive per Document No. 
0404118149; thence North 59 degrees 39 minutes 02 seconds East, on said southerly right of 
way line, 28.51 feet to a point 25.00 feet East of, as measured perpendicular to, said east right 
of way line of 80th Avenue; thence South 01 degree 37 minutes 58 seconds East, parallel with 
said east right of way line, 252.06 feet to the centerline of the north branch of the Flossmoor 
road drainage ditch; thence North 73 degrees 00 minutes 02 seconds West, on said centerline, 
26.38 feet to said east right of way line; thence North 01 degree 37 minutes 58 seconds West, 
on said east right of way line, 229.93 feet to the Point of Beginning.  

Said Parcel containing 0.138 acre, more or less

Page | 32AGENDA - 12/15/2020, A... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
FOR INFORMATION AND POSTING PURPOSES 
Per 5 ILCS 120/2.03 
 
 

NOTICE OF SCHEDULE OF REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, ILLINOIS, 

FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2021 
 

 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the BOARD OF TRUSTEES of the Village of Tinley Park, 
Illinois will conduct its regular meetings for the calendar year 2021 at the Village Hall, 16250 S. 
Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois, at 7:30 PM local time, on the following dates: 
 

January 5, 2021 
January 19, 2021 
 
February 2, 2021 
February 16, 2021 
 
March 2, 2021 
March 16, 2021 
 
April 13, 2021 
April 20, 2021 
 
May 4, 2021 
May 18, 2021 
 
June 1, 2021 
June 15, 2021 

July 6, 2021 
July 20, 2021 
 
August 3, 2021 
August 17, 2021 
 
September 7, 2021 
September 21, 2021 
 
October 5, 2021 
October 19, 2021 
 
November 2, 2021 
November 16, 2021 
 
December 7, 2021 
December 21, 2021  

 
 
 
         
Board of Trustees 
Village of Tinley Park, IL 
  
By:  Kristin A. Thirion 
 Village Clerk 

Page | 33AGENDA - 12/15/2020, B... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



FOR INFORMATION AND POSTING PURPOSES 
Per 5 ILCS 120/2.03 
 
 

NOTICE OF SCHEDULE OF REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE  
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, ILLINOIS, 
FOR THE REMAINDER CALENDAR YEAR 2021 

 
 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE of the Board of Trustees 
of the Village of Tinley Park, Illinois will conduct its regular meetings for the calendar year 2021 
at the Village Hall, 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois, at 7:00 PM local time, on the 
following dates: 
  

January 5, 2021 
January 19, 2021 
 
February 2, 2021 
February 16, 2021 
 
March 2, 2021 
March 16, 2021 
 
April 13, 2021 
April 20, 2021 
 
May 4, 2021 
May 18, 2021 
 
June 1, 2021 
June 15, 2021 

July 6, 2021 
July 20, 2021 
 
August 3, 2021 
August 17, 2021 
 
September 7, 2021 
September 21, 2021 
 
October 5, 2021 
October 19, 2021 
 
November 2, 2021 
November 16, 2021 
 
December 7, 2021 
December 21, 2021

 
Board of Trustees 
Village of Tinley Park, IL 
  
By:  Kristin A. Thirion 
 Village Clerk 

Page | 34AGENDA - 12/15/2020, B... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
FOR INFORMATION AND POSTING PURPOSES 
Per 5 ILCS 120/2.03 
 
 

NOTICE OF SCHEDULE OF REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE  
PUBLIC SAFETY; PUBLIC WORKS; AND ADMINISTRATION AND LEGAL COMMITTEES 

OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, ILLINOIS, 
FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2021 

 
 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the PUBLIC SAFETY; PUBLIC WORKS; AND 
ADMINISTRATION AND LEGAL COMMITTEES of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley 
Park, Illinois will conduct its regular meetings for the calendar year 2021 at the Village Hall, 
16250 S. Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois, at 6:30 PM local time, on the following dates: 
 
 

January 5, 2021 
 
February 2, 2021 
 
March 2, 2021 
 
April 13, 2021 
 
May 4, 2021 
 
June 1, 2021 
 

July 6, 2021 
 
August 3, 2021 
 
September 7, 2021 
 
October 5, 2021 
 
November 2, 2021 
 
December 7, 2021 

 
Board of Trustees 
Village of Tinley Park, IL 
  
By:  Kristin A. Thirion 
 Village Clerk 

Page | 35AGENDA - 12/15/2020, B... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
FOR INFORMATION AND POSTING PURPOSES 
Per 5 ILCS 120/2.03 
 
 

NOTICE OF SCHEDULE OF REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE  
FINANCE; ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MARKETING; AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, ILLINOIS, 

FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2021 
 

 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the FINANCE; ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MARKETING; 
AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEES of the Board of Trustees of the Village of 
Tinley Park, Illinois will conduct its regular meetings for the calendar year 2021 at the Village 
Hall, 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois, at 6:30 p.m. local time, on the following 
dates: 
 

January 19, 2021 
 
February 16, 2021 
 
March 16, 2021 
 
April 20, 2021 
 
May 18, 2021 
 
June 15, 2021 
 

July 20, 2021 
 
August 17, 2021 
 
September 21, 2021 
 
October 19, 2021 
 
November 16, 2021 
 
December 21, 2021 
 

 
Board of Trustees 
Village of Tinley Park, IL 
  
By:  Kristin A. Thirion 
 Village Clerk 

Page | 36AGENDA - 12/15/2020, B... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 37AGENDA - 12/15/2020, C... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 38AGENDA - 12/15/2020, C... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 39AGENDA - 12/15/2020, C... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 40AGENDA - 12/15/2020, D... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 41AGENDA - 12/15/2020, D... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 42AGENDA - 12/15/2020, D... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
1

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

189931 12/4/2020 008882  3CMA 120220 MEMBERSHIP DONNA FRAMKE
01-35-000-72720 400.00

Total : 400.00

189932 12/4/2020 005548  ACTION TARGETS 0468768-IN FIAT SWAT-Q TARGETS
01-17-220-73760 259.13VTP-017948

Total : 259.13

189933 12/4/2020 002856  AIRY'S, INC 24266 8" EZ VALVE JOB SITE
60-00-000-72745 420.19
63-00-000-72745 420.19
64-00-000-72745 360.18
60-00-000-72745 1,337.09
63-00-000-72745 1,337.09
64-00-000-72745 1,146.07

Total : 5,020.81

189934 12/4/2020 011466  ALBERTSONS/SAFEWAY 112520 ****0415 PAPER
01-26-025-73580 20.97

Total : 20.97

189935 12/4/2020 002517  ALLIED ELECTRONICS INC. 9013512120 POST 5 TRANSDUCERS
64-00-000-72525 1,272.96VTP-018118
64-00-000-72525 10.00

Total : 1,282.96

189936 12/4/2020 018781  ALTORFER INDUSTRIES INC P50C1143748 SENSOR
01-26-023-72530 53.50

Total : 53.50

189937 12/4/2020 002628  AMERICAN WATER 120120 NOV'20 SEWER TREATMENT BROOKSIDE AND REL
64-00-000-73225 46,396.80

Total : 46,396.80

189938 12/4/2020 000118  AMS MECHANICAL SYSTEMS 26293 POST 3 LIFT STATION UPGRADES
65-00-000-72525 10,700.80VTP-018108

1Page:

Page | 43AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
2

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 10,700.80189938 12/4/2020 000118 000118  AMS MECHANICAL SYSTEMS

189939 12/4/2020 002665  APPLE CHEVROLET 343222 LAMP
01-19-000-72540 81.66
BLADE343223
01-19-000-72540 43.18

Total : 124.84

189940 12/4/2020 014511  AREA LANDSCAPE SUPPLY, INC. 2069602 C/BAGGED NEW YORK MARBLE
01-26-023-73680 64.00

Total : 64.00

189941 12/4/2020 010953  BATTERIES PLUS - 277 P33465240 SLIU1RHP AND BOXGRPU1 BATTERIES
01-19-000-72540 50.90
SLA12-8F BATTERYP33699441
14-00-000-72550 140.00
3V LITHIUM LOW DRAIN BATTERIESP33765945
01-26-025-73870 31.08

Total : 221.98

189942 12/4/2020 002974  BETTENHAUSEN CONSTRUCTION SERV200190 REMOVAL OF SPOILS FROM RECYCLING BIN
60-00-000-73681 308.70
63-00-000-73681 34.30
64-00-000-73681 147.00
01-26-023-72890 210.00
HAULING STONE FROM HANSON THORNTON200191
60-00-000-73860 283.50
63-00-000-73860 31.50
64-00-000-73860 135.00
01-26-023-73860 225.00
70-00-000-73860 75.00
HAULING SPOILS TO CHICAGO ST. CCDD200192
60-00-000-73681 66.15
63-00-000-73681 7.35
64-00-000-73681 31.50
01-26-023-72890 45.00
HAULING STONE FROM HANSON THORNTON200193

2Page:

Page | 44AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
3

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

189942 12/4/2020 (Continued)002974  BETTENHAUSEN CONSTRUCTION SERV
60-00-000-73860 56.70
63-00-000-73860 6.30
64-00-000-73860 27.00
01-26-023-73860 45.00
70-00-000-73860 15.00
HAULING SPOILS TO CHICAGO ST CCDD200194
63-00-000-73681 17.15
64-00-000-73681 73.50
01-26-023-72890 105.00
60-00-000-73681 154.35

Total : 2,100.00

189943 12/4/2020 012966  BOLING, THOMAS 11-20 SHAREPOINT MONTHLY MAINTENANCE,ENHANCEME
01-16-000-72650 1,087.50

Total : 1,087.50

189944 12/4/2020 003148  BREMEN ANIMAL HOSPITAL, LTD 80387 YAMBO  RIMADYL AND DASUQUIN CHEWS
01-17-220-72240 224.00

Total : 224.00

189945 12/4/2020 003243  CDW GOVERNMENT INC 4302189 <HR> - RPLCMNT NOTEBOOK - DIRECTOR
30-00-000-74128 744.83VTP-018131

Total : 744.83

189946 12/4/2020 017349  CHICAGO STREET CCDD, LLC 19936 DUMP FEE 11/10 AND 11/11
01-26-023-72890 420.00

Total : 420.00

189947 12/4/2020 013820  CINTAS CORPORATION 5043230307 MEDICINE CABINET-POLICE DEPT
01-26-025-73117 244.47
MEDICINE CABINET-PUMP HOUSE 25043230308
01-26-025-73117 179.14
MEDICINE CABINET- PUMP HOUSE 15043230330
01-26-025-73117 115.79
MEDICINE CABINET- VILLAGE HALL5043230335
01-26-025-73117 145.84

3Page:

Page | 45AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
4

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

189947 12/4/2020 (Continued)013820  CINTAS CORPORATION
MEDICINE CABINET-PUBLIC WORKS GARAGE5043230355
01-26-025-73117 335.38
MEDICINE CABINET-SHOOTING RANGE5043230357
01-26-025-73117 148.96
MEDICINE CABINET-PUBLIC SAFETY BLDG5043230400
01-26-025-73117 299.18

Total : 1,468.76

189948 12/4/2020 013820  CINTAS CORPORATION 4068730150 MATS - PW
01-26-025-72790 87.92

Total : 87.92

189949 12/4/2020 012057  COMCAST CABLE 8771401810265348 ACCT#8771401810265348 6829 173RD PL CABL
01-19-000-72517 87.49
ACCT#8771401810784702 7825167TH ST CABLE8771401810784702
01-19-000-72517 81.17

Total : 168.66

189950 12/4/2020 013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON 0021100130 ACCT#0021100130 RT/23 17529 66TH AVE 10/
01-26-025-72510 47.26
ACCT#0363058226 TFLT 9340 W 179TH ST 10/0363058226
01-26-024-72510 95.08
ACCT#0369095018 6761 NORTH ST LOT N 10/20369095018
01-26-024-72510 25.48
ACCT#0522112018 RT/25 PARKING LOT1704BOP0522112018
01-26-024-72510 36.34
ACCT#1222218001 1E OPA S NORTH ST 10/20/1222218001
70-00-000-72510 113.37
ACCT#2761036017 8317 AMBERLY CT 10/21/202761036017
01-26-024-72510 50.09
ACCT#2777112019 175TH AND SANDLEWOOD DR2777112019
01-26-023-72510 170.14
ACCT#3214011009 16853 LAKEWOOD DR 10/27/3214011009
64-00-000-72510 190.37
ACCT#3784064010 16301 CENTRAL AV 10/20/23784064010
60-00-000-72510 23.21

4Page:

Page | 46AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
5

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

189950 12/4/2020 (Continued)013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON
63-00-000-72510 23.21
ACCT#7063131025 7813 174TH ST 10/21/20-17063131025
64-00-000-72510 31.38
ACCT#8363023007 179TH &82ND AV 10/27/20-8363023007
60-00-000-72510 100.76
63-00-000-72510 100.77

Total : 1,007.46

189951 12/4/2020 018234  CORE & MAIN LP N386460 HYMAX CPLG
60-00-000-73630 1,058.07
63-00-000-73630 117.56
64-00-000-73630 503.85

Total : 1,679.48

189952 12/4/2020 003361  CRANA HOMES, INC. 112320 PURCHASE OF ROW,PERM,AND TEMP EASEMENTS
30-00-000-75805 19,000.00

Total : 19,000.00

189953 12/4/2020 003361  CRANA HOMES, INC. 112320. PURCH OF ROW,PERM, AND TEMP EASEMENTS 80
30-00-000-75805 12,143.00

Total : 12,143.00

189954 12/4/2020 016959  DEKKER, JULIE 120120 RE-FURBISHMENT OF 3 WOODEN CHRISTMAS GIF
01-35-000-72954 250.00

Total : 250.00

189955 12/4/2020 004009  EAGLE UNIFORM CO INC 296792 LEATHER WALLETS
01-19-000-72974 215.00
MALT CROSSES ON MATERIAL496766
01-19-000-73610 486.50

Total : 701.50

189956 12/4/2020 011176  ELEMENT GRAPHICS & DESIGN, INC 16800 RETIREMENT BANNER FOR MARTY YOUNG
01-26-025-72974 154.78VTP-018136

Total : 154.78

189957 12/4/2020 004087  EMERGENCY MEDICAL PRODUCTS INC 2217326 MASKS,SANITIZER,SANITZING CLOTH,GLOVES

5Page:

Page | 47AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
6

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

189957 12/4/2020 (Continued)004087  EMERGENCY MEDICAL PRODUCTS INC
01-19-000-73115 1,055.32

Total : 1,055.32

189958 12/4/2020 004176  FEDEX (FEDERAL EXPRESS) 7-178-81200 ACCT#628785953 SHIPPING COSTS 11/4/20
01-14-000-72110 57.43
ACCT#628785953 SHIPPING COSTS7-186-34380
01-14-000-72110 21.60
01-17-205-72110 100.20

Total : 179.23

189959 12/4/2020 016212  FH PASCHEN, SN NIELSEN & ASSOC 4603-024-5 METRA STATION WARMING SHELTER
27-00-000-75302 79,628.14VTP-017588

Total : 79,628.14

189960 12/4/2020 012941  FMP 52-472298 BRAKE PADS
60-00-000-72540 30.70
63-00-000-72540 10.23
64-00-000-72540 17.55
SPARK PLUG,AIR FILTER,UPPER INTAKE52-472563
01-17-205-72540 91.03

Total : 149.51

189961 12/4/2020 011132  FORCE ENTERPRISES 051399 STREET BANNERS
01-35-000-73112 340.00

Total : 340.00

189962 12/4/2020 019609  GIS PLANNING INC 2120729433 GIS PLANNING LICENSE AGREEMENT 9/22/20-9
84-00-000-20432 3,450.00

Total : 3,450.00

189963 12/4/2020 015397  GOVTEMPSUSA LLC 3622224 P. WALLRICH PERIOD ENDS OF 11/1 AND 11/8
01-33-310-72790 3,874.50

Total : 3,874.50

189964 12/4/2020 004438  GRAINGER 9722733103 SPRAY PAINT,HAND DRUM PUMP
01-26-025-73580 41.19
60-00-000-73620 25.41

6Page:

Page | 48AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
7

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

189964 12/4/2020 (Continued)004438  GRAINGER
63-00-000-73620 25.41
64-00-000-73620 21.78

Total : 113.79

189965 12/4/2020 001487  HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL SERVICE 7205787 SWEEPINGS
01-26-023-72890 1,533.50

Total : 1,533.50

189966 12/4/2020 014310  IAFC MEMBERSHIP 69936 MEMBERSHIP- D.RIORDAN,D.ERWIN,F.REEDER,K
01-19-000-72720 1,390.00

Total : 1,390.00

189967 12/4/2020 005109  IL. DEPT. OF EMPLYMT SECURITY 111720 NON-COVID19 3RD QTR AMOUNTS DUE - UI CLA
01-14-000-72445 3,872.00

Total : 3,872.00

189968 12/4/2020 018345  ILEAS 2021-00000008 2021 MFF DUES
01-17-205-72720 300.00

Total : 300.00

189969 12/4/2020 004978  ILLINOIS ASSOC.OF CHF POLICE 6900 MEMBERSHIP RENEWAL - ACTIVE MEDIUM DPT T
01-17-205-72720 220.00

Total : 220.00

189970 12/4/2020 017866  J & J NEWELL CONCRETE 20-5682 CONCRETE & FLAT WORK
01-26-023-75200 1,485.25VTP-017851

Total : 1,485.25

189971 12/4/2020 007233  JOLIET SUSPENSION, INC. 125735 REPLACE FRONT SHOCKS AND FRONT SPRING
60-00-000-72540 140.18
63-00-000-72540 46.73
64-00-000-72540 80.09
60-00-000-72540 258.85
63-00-000-72540 86.28
64-00-000-72540 147.92
60-00-000-72540 7.99
63-00-000-72540 2.66

7Page:

Page | 49AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
8

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

189971 12/4/2020 (Continued)007233  JOLIET SUSPENSION, INC.
64-00-000-72540 4.56

Total : 775.26

189972 12/4/2020 014190  LEHIGH HANSON 5862220 BED BACKFILL
01-26-023-73860 243.85
70-00-000-73860 81.28
60-00-000-73860 307.24
63-00-000-72860 34.14
64-00-000-73860 146.31
BED BACKFILL, STONE5862864
70-00-000-73860 123.50
01-26-023-73860 370.52
60-00-000-73860 466.85
63-00-000-73860 51.87
64-00-000-73860 222.32
BED BACKFILL5863193
70-00-000-73860 25.98
01-26-023-73860 77.96
60-00-000-73860 98.22
63-00-000-73860 10.91
64-00-000-73860 46.78

Total : 2,307.73

189973 12/4/2020 007100  M. E.SIMPSON COMPANY, INC 36032 WATER ASSESSMENT PROGRAM 11/16-11/25/20
60-00-000-72790 19,930.00VTP-018089

Total : 19,930.00

189974 12/4/2020 015013  MALONE & MALONEY 112320 PURCHASE OF ROW,PERM,AND TEMP EASEMENTS
30-00-000-75805 19,000.00

Total : 19,000.00

189975 12/4/2020 015013  MALONE & MALONEY 112320. PURCH OF ROW,PERM, AND TEMP EASEMENTS 80
30-00-000-75805 12,143.00

Total : 12,143.00

189976 12/4/2020 013969  MAP AUTOMOTIVE OF CHICAGO 40-586225 REMOVE CORE CHARGES

8Page:

Page | 50AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
9

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

189976 12/4/2020 (Continued)013969  MAP AUTOMOTIVE OF CHICAGO
01-17-205-72540 -64.00
SWITCH40-587324
01-19-020-72540 79.62

Total : 15.62

189977 12/4/2020 019681  MARBACH, JOSH Ref001398721 UB Refund Cst #00509734
60-00-000-20599 25.90

Total : 25.90

189978 12/4/2020 012631  MASTER AUTO SUPPLY, LTD. 15030-5415 CWP XC22 WIPER BLADES
01-19-000-72540 53.94
XBO BATTERY MAINTAINER15030-95450
01-19-020-72540 64.08
STEERING IDLER ARM MOT15030-95922
60-00-000-72540 60.35
63-00-000-72540 20.11
64-00-000-72540 34.49
BRAKE DISCS, BRK PAD PLAT CERAMIC15030-95933
01-26-023-72540 245.80
GAS-MAG TRUCK SHK15030-96037
60-00-000-72540 51.94
63-00-000-72540 17.32
64-00-000-72540 29.68

Total : 577.71

189979 12/4/2020 005673  MC CANN INDUSTRIES, INC. P12969 BLADE BANNER LINE
60-00-000-73410 352.60
63-00-000-73410 39.18
64-00-000-73410 167.90

Total : 559.68

189980 12/4/2020 005645  MEADE ELECTRIC COMPANY INC. 694543 #2 TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAINTENANCE
01-26-024-72775 495.00

Total : 495.00

189981 12/4/2020 006074  MENARDS 96131 GREEN TRIPLE TAP ADAPTER

9Page:

Page | 51AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
10

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

189981 12/4/2020 (Continued)006074  MENARDS
01-35-000-72954 16.70
GREEN CORD AND TRIPLE TAP ADAPTER96194
01-35-000-72954 90.56
6-IN-1 LEVERAG, SAFETY HOODIE, 7 & 14 FT96766
60-00-000-73110 55.95
63-00-000-73110 6.22
64-00-000-73110 26.64
18-2 25' BELL WIRE97056
01-26-025-72530 4.98
TUBE CUT REPL WHEEL. 1 1/2" X 10 YD WATE97069
60-00-000-73410 21.51
63-00-000-73410 2.39
64-00-000-73410 10.25
WATER,COFFEE,KLEENEX97071
60-00-000-73115 19.78
64-00-000-73115 8.48
01-26-023-73115 28.26
01-26-024-73115 14.14

Total : 305.86

189982 12/4/2020 005720  MOKENA COMMUNITY PARK DISTRICT 111720 2020  MOWING TIMBERS POINTE PARK COST SH
01-26-023-72881 560.00

Total : 560.00

189983 12/4/2020 005856  MONROE TRUCK EQUIPMENT,INC. R78481 INSTALL RIGHT SIDE FINDER ASSEMBLY
60-00-000-72540 252.00
63-00-000-72540 84.00
64-00-000-72540 144.00
60-00-000-72540 78.75
63-00-000-72540 26.25
64-00-000-72540 45.00

Total : 630.00

189984 12/4/2020 017651  MSC INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY CO. 4256471001 BOLT,SANDING DISC
01-26-023-72530 128.69

10Page:

Page | 52AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
11

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 128.69189984 12/4/2020 017651 017651  MSC INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY CO.

189985 12/4/2020 014443  MURPHY & MILLER, INC SVC00029492 DUCT CLEANING ANNEX  PROPOSAL
01-26-025-72530 900.00VTP-018092

Total : 900.00

189986 12/4/2020 015723  NICOR 01981510009 ACCT#01-98-15-1000 9 7780 W 183RD ST 10/
01-26-025-72511 133.32
ACCT#53-46-37-1000 3 18241 S 80TH AVE 1053463710003
01-26-025-72511 62.01
ACCT#73-67-54-1000 2 7800 183RD ST 10/2773675410002
01-26-025-72511 822.50
ACCT#74433410003 3575402 7700 W 183RD ST74433410003
01-26-025-72511 39.36
ACCT#83523710008 3026205 7980 183RD 10/283523710008
01-26-025-72511 947.62
ACCT#96019958527 4582666 7999 W TIMBER A96019958527
01-26-025-72511 138.63

Total : 2,143.44

189987 12/4/2020 006221  NORTHERN SAFETY CO. INC. 904219939 COLD WEATHER GLOVES AND BARRIER TAPE
01-26-024-73845 42.78
01-26-023-73845 85.56
60-00-000-73845 53.90
63-00-000-73845 5.99
64-00-000-73845 25.67

Total : 213.90

189988 12/4/2020 010135  ONSITE COMMUNICATIONS USA, INC 50665 RADIO REPAIR
01-19-000-72550 525.00

Total : 525.00

189989 12/4/2020 006475  PARK ACE HARDWARE 064681/1 #891432 1-3/8"  SAW HOLE
01-26-023-73410 7.99
#891431 BATTERY PX 76 A 4 PK064682/1
60-00-000-73110 3.01
63-00-000-73110 0.34

11Page:

Page | 53AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
12

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

189989 12/4/2020 (Continued)006475  PARK ACE HARDWARE
64-00-000-73110 1.44
#891432 12' X 16' SILVR/BLK TARP64686/1
01-26-023-73410 29.59

Total : 42.37

189990 12/4/2020 019504  PAVEMENT SYSTEMS INC. 00-332-1 REPAINT OVER BRICK PAVERS ON NORTH ST. F
01-26-023-75802 924.00

Total : 924.00

189991 12/4/2020 006780  POMP'S TIRE SERVICE, INC 410820816 (4) 225/65HR17 FIRESTONE TIRES 2T
01-17-205-73560 390.00VTP-018137

Total : 390.00

189992 12/4/2020 006507  POSTMASTER, U. S. POST OFFICE 11320 DECEMBER'20 WATER BILLS
60-00-000-72110 1,731.10
64-00-000-72110 741.90

Total : 2,473.00

189993 12/4/2020 006559  PRAXAIR DISTRIBUTION, INC 60293940 ACETYLENE 10/20-11/20/20
01-26-024-73730 44.41
01-26-023-73730 88.84
63-00-000-73730 31.09
64-00-000-73730 26.66
60-00-000-73730 31.09

Total : 222.09

189994 12/4/2020 006850  QUILL CORPORATION 12078126 AVERY LABELS 1X 2 5/8
01-35-000-73110 59.99
LABELS, HALF-FOLD BNL CARDS, IVORY CARD12093152
01-35-000-73110 135.92

Total : 195.91

189995 12/4/2020 006361  RAY O' HERRON CO INC 2068264-IN RAZOR II GEAR C.MARCIANO
01-17-220-74618 763.70

Total : 763.70

189996 12/4/2020 015230  RIDGE LANDSCAPE SERVICES LLC 7519 MOWING - NOV'20 MULTIPLE LOCATIONS

12Page:

Page | 54AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
13

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

189996 12/4/2020 (Continued)015230  RIDGE LANDSCAPE SERVICES LLC
01-26-023-72881 32,215.12VTP-017836

Total : 32,215.12

189997 12/4/2020 006874  ROBINSON ENGINEERING CO. LTD. 20100327 11-320 TP BLVD AT CENTRAL STATION (THE P
27-00-000-72840 483.00
20-R0005.014 TP FY2020 PMP RESURACING PR20100328
06-00-000-72840 31,089.80
20-R0591 TP FOX COLLEGE PARKING LOT ADDI20100331
01-14-000-72840 3,542.00
12-238 TP 80TH AV JPRJECT COORDINATION -20110015
30-00-000-75810 5,357.50
06-849.01 TP FIRST ADDITION TO BROOKSIDE20110354
01-14-000-72840 333.00
11-320 TP THE BLVD AT CENTRAL STATION (T20110382
27-00-000-72840 2,655.75
20-R0005.014 TP FY20 PMP RESURFACING PRO20110383
06-00-000-72840 11,698.70
20-R0591 TP FOX COLLEGE PARKING LOT ADDI20110387
01-14-000-72840 3,024.25

Total : 58,184.00

189998 12/4/2020 013234  ROMEOVILLE FIRE ACADEMY 2020-427 ADVANCED TECHNICIAN TRAINING 11/9-11/13/
01-19-000-72145 535.00

Total : 535.00

189999 12/4/2020 019682  ROSS, BEATE Ref001398722 UB Refund Cst #00511638
60-00-000-20599 25.90

Total : 25.90

190000 12/4/2020 019678  ROSSI, ERIC & LAURA Ref001398718 UB Refund Cst #00469314 Overpayment
60-00-000-20599 681.47

Total : 681.47

190001 12/4/2020 017378  SIKICH LLP 474101 AUDIT FYE 4/30/20 SERVICES THRU 11/30/20
01-14-000-72845 3,127.00
12-00-000-72845 1,621.00

13Page:

Page | 55AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
14

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190001 12/4/2020 (Continued)017378  SIKICH LLP
60-00-000-72845 2,629.00
63-00-000-72845 876.00
64-00-000-72845 1,502.00
70-00-000-72845 243.00
16-00-000-72845 381.00
18-00-000-72845 457.00
20-00-000-72845 457.00
27-00-000-72845 457.00

Total : 11,750.00

190002 12/4/2020 007109  SIRCHIE FINGER PRINT LABS 0470428-IN PRIMER RESIDUE COLLECITON KIT FOR SEM
01-17-225-73600 454.25VTP-018124

Total : 454.25

190003 12/4/2020 019683  SPIRIT HALLOWEEN Ref001398723 UB Refund Cst #00511739
60-00-000-20599 24.58

Total : 24.58

190004 12/4/2020 012238  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE  3462580501 WHITE BOARD
01-26-023-73110 113.33
60-00-000-73110 35.62
63-00-000-73110 3.97
64-00-000-73110 17.07
VACUUM SEALING SYSTEM3462574819
01-17-220-73600 153.99
1 GAL VACUUM SEALING BAG3462574821
01-17-220-73600 143.97
STAPLERS3462574823
01-17-205-73110 20.94

Total : 488.89

190005 12/4/2020 015452  STEINER ELECTRIC COMPANY S006758401.001 ALTO FLUOR LAMP
01-26-025-73570 144.60
2,4,6 WG COP BUTT SPLICE, 2500 & 5000' RS006772296.001
01-26-025-73570 213.53

14Page:

Page | 56AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
15

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 358.13190005 12/4/2020 015452 015452  STEINER ELECTRIC COMPANY

190006 12/4/2020 007297  SUTTON FORD INC./FLEET SALES 516528 SOCKET ASY AND BRACKET ENGINE
01-17-205-72540 382.88
DIODE ASY516638
60-00-000-72540 3.74
63-00-000-72540 1.25
64-00-000-72540 2.13

Total : 390.00

190007 12/4/2020 012107  THE CAR SPA AT PARK HILLS 111720 CAR WASH
01-26-023-72540 149.95

Total : 149.95

190008 12/4/2020 019188  THE CHICAGO CAROLERS, LLC 112420 TREE LIGHTING CEREMONY CAROLERS
01-35-000-72954 400.00

Total : 400.00

190009 12/4/2020 006812  THE GALLERY COLLECTION 20A0021901 CHRISTMAS CARDS
01-17-205-73600 203.76

Total : 203.76

190010 12/4/2020 018724  THE LOCKER SHOP 80019 ERWIN - FACE MASKS
01-19-000-73845 1,820.00VTP-018112

Total : 1,820.00

190011 12/4/2020 007777  THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPECTION 20-2853 48 SEMI-ANNUAL ELEVATOR CODE INSPECTIONS
01-33-300-72853 1,824.00
13 SEMI-ANNUAL ELEVATOR CODE INSPECTIONS20-2926
01-33-300-72853 494.00
1 SEMI-ANNUAL ELEVATOR INSPECTION20-2941
01-33-300-72853 38.00

Total : 2,356.00

190012 12/4/2020 007955  TRAFFIC CONTROL & PROTECTION 105775 SIGN MATERIAL
01-26-023-73830 945.00VTP-018132

Total : 945.00

15Page:

Page | 57AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
16

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190013 12/4/2020 011416  VERIZON WIRELESS 9867579323 ACCT#442345192-00001 WATER REPEATER STAT
60-00-000-72127 37.78
63-00-000-72127 37.78
64-00-000-72127 32.38

Total : 107.94

190014 12/4/2020 012368  VISION INTEGRATED GRAPHICS,LLC 541208 NOVEMBER 1ST WATER BILLS WITH ONE INSERT
60-00-000-72310 1,181.91
64-00-000-72310 506.53

Total : 1,688.44

190015 12/4/2020 008095  VISSERS COLLISION CENTER 180000299 BODY WORK (ROOF) ON UNIT 68
01-26-023-72540 1,104.00VTP-018139

Total : 1,104.00

190016 12/4/2020 010851  VISU-SEWER OF ILLINOIS, LLC 111920 POST 7 LINING PROJECT PAY REQUEST#6
61-00-000-75305 12,214.48VTP-017232

Total : 12,214.48

190017 12/4/2020 019680  WANG, CHRISTOPHER Ref001398720 UB Refund Cst #00509157
60-00-000-20599 21.26

Total : 21.26

190018 12/4/2020 010165  WAREHOUSE DIRECT WORKPL SOLTNS4822723-1 HP TONER
01-26-024-73110 39.68
01-26-023-73110 79.38
60-00-000-73110 50.01
63-00-000-73110 5.56
64-00-000-73110 23.81
PAPER4825078-0
01-17-205-73110 257.04
PAPER4825081-0
01-17-205-73110 257.04
PENS4825280-0
01-26-024-73110 12.44
01-26-023-73110 24.90
60-00-000-73110 15.69

16Page:

Page | 58AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
17

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190018 12/4/2020 (Continued)010165  WAREHOUSE DIRECT WORKPL SOLTNS
63-00-000-73110 1.74
64-00-000-73110 7.47

Total : 774.76

190019 12/4/2020 010808  WATER ENVIRONMENT FEDERATION 17998697 MEMBERSHIP J.URBANSKI
60-00-000-72720 29.75
63-00-000-72720 29.75
64-00-000-72720 25.50
01-26-023-72720 85.00

Total : 170.00

190020 12/4/2020 019679  WEINER, CINDY Ref001398719 UB Refund Cst #00471203
60-00-000-20599 57.93

Total : 57.93

190021 12/4/2020 018766  WEST CENTRAL MUNICIPAL 0007063-IN TREE PLANTING
01-26-023-75630 31,038.00VTP-017829

Total : 31,038.00

Bank total : 427,781.6491 Vouchers for bank code : apbank

17Page:

Page | 59AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
18

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ipmg

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

2842 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006 PAYEE-ALIGN NETWORKS INC
01-14-000-72542 255.75

Total : 255.75

2843 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-2 PAYEE-ALIGN NETWORKS INC
01-14-000-72542 255.75

Total : 255.75

2844 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-3 PAYEE-ALIGN NETWORKS INC
01-14-000-72542 262.05

Total : 262.05

2845 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-4 PAYEE-ALIGN NETWORKS INC
01-14-000-72542 301.91

Total : 301.91

2846 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200505W003 PAYEE-PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
01-14-000-72542 453.25

Total : 453.25

2847 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200219W023 PAYEE-PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
01-14-000-72542 1,267.50

Total : 1,267.50

2848 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200605W013 PAYEE-PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
01-14-000-72542 2,854.00

Total : 2,854.00

2849 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP190326W026 PAYEE-PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
01-14-000-72542 546.00

Total : 546.00

2850 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP190514W019 PAYEE-PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
01-14-000-72542 19.50

Total : 19.50

2851 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200211W025 PAYEE-PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
01-14-000-72542 955.50

18Page:

Page | 60AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/04/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
19

 1:27:19PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ipmg

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 955.502851 12/1/2020 018837 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP

2852 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP201019W041 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 3,006.98

Total : 3,006.98

2853 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-3 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 1,113.02

Total : 1,113.02

2854 12/1/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP201019W041 PAYEE-ISO SERVICES INC
01-14-000-72542 10.75

Total : 10.75

Bank total : 11,301.9613 Vouchers for bank code : ipmg

439,083.60Total vouchers :Vouchers in this report104

The Tinley Park Village Board having duly met at Village
Hall do hereby certify that the following claims or demands
against said village were presented and are approved for
payment as presented on the above listing.

In witness thereof, the Village President and Clerk of
the Village of Tinley Park, hereunto set their hands.

______________________________Village President

______________________________Village Clerk

______________________________Date

19Page:

Page | 61AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
1

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ap_ff

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

110320 11/3/2020 002734  AIR ONE EQUIPMENT, INC 161862 HELMET-MOUNTED FLASHLIGHTS
36-00-000-73845 1,008.89

Total : 1,008.89

Bank total : 1,008.891 Vouchers for bank code : ap_ff

1Page:

Page | 62AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
2

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190022 12/11/2020 002734  AIR ONE EQUIPMENT, INC 162824 METER CALIBRATION
01-19-000-74604 450.00

Total : 450.00

190023 12/11/2020 011466  ALBERTSONS/SAFEWAY 120320 ****0415 VH-S.CLEMMER RETIREMENT SUPPLIE
01-16-000-72220 36.45

Total : 36.45

190024 12/11/2020 013749  AMERICAN COMPUTER & 27667 MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT TELETICKET XL SOFT
01-26-023-72513 118.75
01-26-024-72513 118.75
60-00-000-72513 124.69
63-00-000-72513 41.56
64-00-000-72513 71.25

Total : 475.00

190025 12/11/2020 003166  B & J TOWING AND AUTO REPAIR 17949 SAFETY INSPECTION
01-26-023-72266 84.00
60-00-000-72266 15.05
63-00-000-72266 15.05
64-00-000-72266 12.90

Total : 127.00

190026 12/11/2020 010953  BATTERIES PLUS - 277 P33766016 24PK DURACELL AA BATTERIES
01-35-000-72954 16.95
SLA12-8F BATTERYP34034253
14-00-000-72550 140.00
DURPC2400 1.5V IND AAA ALKP34291143
01-14-000-73110 72.00

Total : 228.95

190027 12/11/2020 018807  BAXTER & WOODMAN INC 0218208 180829.20 PHASE 1 - GIS UPDATE
60-00-000-75813 1,715.00
63-00-000-75813 1,715.00
64-00-000-75813 1,470.00
190816.40 LAGRANGE RD UTILITY IMPROVEMEN0218209
62-00-000-72840 1,221.59

2Page:

Page | 63AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
3

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 6,121.59190027 12/11/2020 018807 018807  BAXTER & WOODMAN INC

190028 12/11/2020 016817  BEVERLY SNOW AND ICE INC 46120 TINLEY CREEK BRIDGE
01-26-023-72785 50.00
PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING LOT46121
01-26-023-72785 130.00
FIRE STATION 346122
01-26-023-72785 110.00
FIRESTATION 446123
01-26-023-72785 160.00
HELIPORT & EMA46124
01-26-023-72785 580.00
HICKORY ST PARKING STALLS46125
01-26-023-72785 300.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS (ED & JOES)46126
01-26-023-72785 90.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS SUBWAY46127
01-26-023-72785 140.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS-BATH & KITCHEN46128
01-26-023-72785 65.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS CARDINAL46129
01-26-023-72785 65.00
80TH AVENUE NORTH TRAIN LOT46130
70-00-000-72740 1,800.00
OAK PARK AVE TRAIN STATION46131
70-00-000-72740 300.00
01-26-023-72785 300.00
PAWS46132
01-26-023-72785 90.00
POLICE DEPARTMENT46133
01-26-023-72785 245.00
POST 1146134
01-26-023-72785 60.00
80TH AVENUE SOUTH TRAIN LOT46135
70-00-000-72740 1,900.00
MUNICIPAL LOT-UNITED METHODIST CHURCH46136
01-26-023-72785 130.00

3Page:

Page | 64AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
4

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190028 12/11/2020 (Continued)016817  BEVERLY SNOW AND ICE INC
VILLAGE HALL46137
01-26-023-72785 490.00
VOGT PLAZA46138
01-26-023-72785 90.00
ZABROCKI PLAZA46139
01-26-023-72785 150.00

Total : 7,245.00

190029 12/11/2020 003304  CARLIN-MORAN LANDSCAPE INC 3346 LAWN SERVICE - MULTIPLE LOCATIONS
01-33-300-72744 637.50

Total : 637.50

190030 12/11/2020 003396  CASE LOTS INC 1664 WHITE MULTIFOLD/4M (A2)
01-26-025-73580 144.50

Total : 144.50

190031 12/11/2020 003406  CDS OFFICE TECHNOLOGIES ATINV0029316 AUTOTASK BILLABLE SERVICE LABOR
01-17-220-72567 300.00

Total : 300.00

190032 12/11/2020 003243  CDW GOVERNMENT INC 3660129 UPS TOWER & COMM CARD
60-00-000-72528 219.67VTP-018063
63-00-000-72528 219.67VTP-018063
USB 3.0 HUB4964248
60-00-000-72520 12.46
63-00-000-72520 12.46
64-00-000-72520 10.69

Total : 474.95

190033 12/11/2020 003229  CED/EFENGEE 4975-548177 STREET LIGHT BULBS
01-26-024-73570 56.25VTP-018130

Total : 56.25

190034 12/11/2020 014801  CHICAGO SOUTHLAND CHAMBER 22595 BUSINESS PARTNER MEMBERSHIP 1/1/21-12/31
01-11-000-72720 700.00

Total : 700.00

4Page:

Page | 65AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
5

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190035 12/11/2020 017349  CHICAGO STREET CCDD, LLC 19995 DUMP FEE
01-26-023-72890 560.00

Total : 560.00

190036 12/11/2020 003137  CHRISTOPHER B.BURKE ENGINEERNG 162839 01.R160373.00007 POST 4 LIFT STATION IMP
61-00-000-75320 1,680.00
01.R160373.00022 DRY UTILITY RELOCATION162840
27-00-000-72840 4,328.50
01.R160373.C0020 POST7 FORCE MAIN LINING162841
61-00-000-75305 366.00

Total : 6,374.50

190037 12/11/2020 013820  CINTAS CORPORATION 4069158471 MATS-VH
01-26-025-72790 61.29
MEDICINE CABINET - FD#495044165241
01-19-000-73115 214.19
MEDICINE CABINET - FD#485044165248
01-19-000-73115 229.15
MEDICINE CABINET- FD#465044165255
01-19-000-73115 590.58
MEDICINE CABINET - FD TRAINING TOWER5044165273
01-19-000-73115 125.71
MEDICINE CABINET - FD#475044165276
01-19-000-73115 297.56

Total : 1,518.48

190038 12/11/2020 012315  CLASSY FLOWERS 120420 SYMPATHY PLANT
01-11-000-73110 50.00

Total : 50.00

190039 12/11/2020 012057  COMCAST CABLE 8771401810170142 ACCT#8771401810170142 16250 OPA11/30-12/
01-14-000-72125 233.35

Total : 233.35

190040 12/11/2020 013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON 0519019106 ACCT#0519019106 6750 SOUTH ST 10/20/20-1
12-00-000-72510 5.30
ACCT#2587063010 17311 OPA 10/20/20-11/182587063010

5Page:

Page | 66AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
6

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190040 12/11/2020 (Continued)013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON
12-00-000-72510 19.37
ACCT#4329016037 17238 OPA 10/20/20-11/184329016037
12-00-000-72510 25.20
ACCT#70900006006 17231 OPA 10/20/20-11/17090006006
12-00-000-72510 19.37

Total : 69.24

190041 12/11/2020 012522  CONNEY SAFETY PRODUCTS, LLC 05929585 SAFETY GLASSES
01-26-024-73845 9.48
01-26-023-73845 18.96
60-00-000-73845 11.94
63-00-000-73845 1.33
64-00-000-73845 5.69

Total : 47.40

190042 12/11/2020 012410  CONSERV FS, INC. 66039964 ICE MELT
01-26-023-73810 1,798.00VTP-018143

Total : 1,798.00

190043 12/11/2020 012826  CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY, INC. 18431261701 ACCT#875222 UTIL#3613125002CUST795603-4
64-00-000-72510 606.74
ACCT#875223UTIL#3670129006CUST795603-5 118431262001
64-00-000-72510 244.51

Total : 851.25

190044 12/11/2020 018234  CORE & MAIN LP N350177 3/4 BRONZE METER CONNECTION NL NO LEAD
60-00-000-73631 308.00
63-00-000-73631 132.00
BRASS OVAL METER FLG SET W/GASKET NUT &N357065
60-00-000-73631 65.80
64-00-000-73631 28.20
1-1/2 CB LID W/PLUGN381571
60-00-000-73630 92.14
63-00-000-73630 10.24
64-00-000-73630 43.87
3/4 BRONZE METER CONNECTION NLN421277

6Page:

Page | 67AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
7

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190044 12/11/2020 (Continued)018234  CORE & MAIN LP
60-00-000-73631 308.00
63-00-000-73631 132.00

Total : 1,120.25

190045 12/11/2020 018152  CORE INTEGRATED MARKETING 120485 OUTDOOR BANNER FOR HOLIDAY WALK
01-35-000-72954 592.50

Total : 592.50

190046 12/11/2020 003436  CREATIVE CAKES 457*-QB CUPCAKES FOR S.CLEMMER RETIREMENT
01-16-000-72220 41.18

Total : 41.18

190047 12/11/2020 012855  CYLINDERS INC. 47087 2.5"LIFT CYLINDER LABOR TO REPAIR
01-21-000-72540 248.10

Total : 248.10

190048 12/11/2020 017603  DANDAN, RICK TARIQ 113020 NOV'20 PLAN REVIEW AND INSPECTION FEES
01-33-300-72790 18,755.00

Total : 18,755.00

190049 12/11/2020 013924  ENTERTAINERS R WE 113020 SANTA VISITS AT THE HOLIDAY WALK
01-35-000-72954 1,200.00VTP-018159

Total : 1,200.00

190050 12/11/2020 004119  ETP LABS INC. 20-134880 COLIFORM SAMPLES
60-00-000-72865 400.40
63-00-000-72865 171.60

Total : 572.00

190051 12/11/2020 012941  FMP 52-472634 GASKET
01-17-205-72540 61.18
2FV EM-405052-472858
60-00-000-72540 19.36
63-00-000-72540 6.21
64-00-000-72540 10.96

Total : 97.71

7Page:

Page | 68AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
8

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190052 12/11/2020 015397  GOVTEMPSUSA LLC 3630635 P.WALLRICH WEEKS OF 11/15 AND 11/22
01-33-310-72790 3,990.74

Total : 3,990.74

190053 12/11/2020 004438  GRAINGER 9723615713 FIRE HOSE NOZZLE
60-00-000-73840 8.19
63-00-000-73840 2.73
64-00-000-73840 4.68

Total : 15.60

190054 12/11/2020 014491  HANSEN DOOR INC. 9489 LOCATION:E-E-D2 ADJUSTED BOTH LIMITS,TIG
01-19-000-72520 197.00

Total : 197.00

190055 12/11/2020 018636  HARTIGAN & O'CONNOR P.C. 19147 CASE#2017 L 65067 EBERHARDT V. VTP
01-14-000-72850 852.50

Total : 852.50

190056 12/11/2020 004746  HEATHER'S HAUS FLORIST 182305 SYMPATHY PLANT
01-11-000-73110 100.00

Total : 100.00

190057 12/11/2020 012281  HINCKLEY SPRINGS 5977593112820 WATER COOLER RENTAL
01-21-210-73110 109.67

Total : 109.67

190058 12/11/2020 016837  IL.LAW ENFORCEMENT ADMIN PROF 120720 MEMBERSHIP APRIL GEIGNER
01-17-205-72720 50.00

Total : 50.00

190059 12/11/2020 005251  J AND R SALES AND SERVICE INC. 0338071 CHAIN PICCO MICRO, CHAIN LOOP
01-26-023-73840 215.64

Total : 215.64

190060 12/11/2020 019686  KOLLINATIS, ANGELA Ref001398962 UB Refund Cst #00465553;rfnd credit bala
60-00-000-20599 590.32

Total : 590.32

8Page:

Page | 69AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
9

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190061 12/11/2020 016616  KURTZ AMBULANCE SERVICE INC. 016616 EMS AGREEMENT NOV'20
01-21-000-72856 39,690.33

Total : 39,690.33

190062 12/11/2020 018156  LUSBY JR, TERRY 120920 TUITION REIMB 2-COMPLETED COURSES,6 CRED
01-26-025-72143 2,952.36

Total : 2,952.36

190063 12/11/2020 012631  MASTER AUTO SUPPLY, LTD. 15030-96089 OIL FULL SYN
01-17-205-72540 29.94
OIL DRN PLUG M14-1.5015030-96161
60-00-000-72540 7.43
63-00-000-72540 2.38
64-00-000-72540 4.21
CABIN AIR FILTER15030-96173
01-17-205-72540 11.89
AIR FILTER15030-96179
01-17-205-72540 14.19
16OZ HEAVY DUTY SUCT, LICENSE LIGHT15030-96267
60-00-000-72540 11.21
63-00-000-72540 3.59
64-00-000-72540 6.35

Total : 91.19

190064 12/11/2020 006074  MENARDS 96697 9' GARLANDS, 36" WREATH
01-35-000-72954 175.87
9' GARLAND & 120CT LED NET WHT LIGHTS96933
01-35-000-72954 78.95
GLACIERMIST WATER96952
01-17-205-73315 7.68
STEEL END FRAME AND RACKING BEAM97012
01-21-000-73870 423.90
72"STEEL RACKING BEAM/FRAME97076
01-21-000-73870 135.66
20' WHT CORD, 40' WHT CORD, TRIPLE TAP A97402
01-26-023-73840 77.82
30PC LOCK NUT, 87PC FLAT WASHER, 5PC FEN97448

9Page:

Page | 70AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
10

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190064 12/11/2020 (Continued)006074  MENARDS
01-26-023-73840 65.10
150W CUP INVERTER97472
01-19-020-73615 29.99
MED HOOKS, LRG PIC STRIPS, GORILLA GLUE,97506
01-26-025-73840 41.72
YARDSTICK, MED HOOK PK, 1"X30" FLEX MAGN97522
60-00-000-73110 17.41
63-00-000-73110 1.93
64-00-000-73110 8.29
90W PAR38 3000K 11KHR (2PK), SPIKE LIGHT97527
01-26-023-73115 10.24
01-26-024-73115 5.12
60-00-000-73115 3.58
63-00-000-73115 3.58
64-00-000-73115 3.08
01-35-000-73870 16.95
150W T3 R7 118MM (2PK)97573
01-26-025-73570 15.96

Total : 1,122.83

190065 12/11/2020 012517  MERIDIAN IT INC 484670 T&M NETWORKING /ENTERPRISE FOR NET SECUR
30-00-000-75812 370.00
01-16-000-72650 755.00

Total : 1,125.00

190066 12/11/2020 017764  MONTANA & WELCH, LLC. 13156  LICENSE HEARINGS  JPW 10/7/20 AND 10/13
01-14-000-72876 1,511.25

Total : 1,511.25

190067 12/11/2020 017651  MSC INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY CO. 4274480001 HYDRAULIC COUPLERS
01-26-023-72540 465.57

Total : 465.57

190068 12/11/2020 015386  MUNICIPAL GIS PARTNERS, INC 5300 GIS STAFFING NOV'20
01-16-000-72652 4,998.95
60-00-000-72652 3,199.33

10Page:

Page | 71AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
11

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190068 12/11/2020 (Continued)015386  MUNICIPAL GIS PARTNERS, INC
63-00-000-72652 299.93
64-00-000-72652 1,499.69

Total : 9,997.90

190069 12/11/2020 015723  NICOR 06821610000 ACCT#06821610000 METER 2769335 6640 167T
60-00-000-72511 48.59
63-00-000-72511 48.59
64-00-000-72511 41.65
ACCT#09977410001 METER 5146885 7801 W 1909-97-74-1000 1
01-26-025-72511 290.79
ACCT#12213610004 METER 5031396 10/29/20-12-21-36-1000 4
01-26-025-72511 504.88

Total : 934.50

190070 12/11/2020 006221  NORTHERN SAFETY CO. INC. 904226872 RAPTOR XP NEW GY LENS
01-26-024-73845 7.88
01-26-023-73845 15.74
60-00-000-73845 9.92
63-00-000-73845 1.10
64-00-000-73845 4.72

Total : 39.36

190071 12/11/2020 006388  O'HERN, MICHAEL E. 2020-03 CRASH INVESTIGATIONS AUG'20-NOV'20
01-17-205-72750 1,239.47

Total : 1,239.47

190072 12/11/2020 010135  ONSITE COMMUNICATIONS USA, INC 50708 MICROWAVE WLS HOP
30-00-000-75812 11,520.00VTP-018135

Total : 11,520.00

190073 12/11/2020 006475  PARK ACE HARDWARE 064743/1 #891432  FASTENERS
01-26-023-73840 3.76
ACCT#89143 ANCHOR064773/1
01-26-025-73410 21.73
ACCT#891432 TUBE INNER064775/1
01-26-025-72530 7.99

11Page:

Page | 72AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
12

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190073 12/11/2020 (Continued)006475  PARK ACE HARDWARE
#89143 SCREW EYE64678/1
01-35-000-72954 1.91
STRAPPING SLOT64708/1
01-26-023-73840 15.19

Total : 50.58

190074 12/11/2020 006656  PITNEY BOWES RESERVE ACCOUNT 120320 PITNEY BOWES RESERVE ACCOUNT- REFILL
01-17-205-72110 2,000.00

Total : 2,000.00

190075 12/11/2020 006780  POMP'S TIRE SERVICE, INC 410824002 GY ENDURNCE BSW, TIRE FEE, FUEL SURCHARG
01-26-023-72540 219.82

Total : 219.82

190076 12/11/2020 006507  POSTMASTER, U. S. POST OFFICE 120320 FIRST CLASS STAMPS 5 ROLLS FOR FD SUPRES
01-19-000-72110 275.00

Total : 275.00

190077 12/11/2020 006507  POSTMASTER, U. S. POST OFFICE 120320. FIRST CLASS STAMPS FOR FD 3 ROLLS FIRE P
01-19-020-72110 165.00

Total : 165.00

190078 12/11/2020 006850  QUILL CORPORATION 12516049 8.5X11 WHITE CARD STOCK
01-35-000-73110 42.30

Total : 42.30

190079 12/11/2020 006361  RAY O' HERRON CO INC 2066514-IN REPLACEMENT BODY ARMOR - FULL TIME
01-17-220-74618 798.70VTP-018050
REPLACEMENT BODY ARMOR - FULL TIME2067955-IN
01-17-220-74618 763.70VTP-018050
REPLACEMENT BODY ARMOR - FULL TIME2068923-IN
01-17-220-74618 763.70VTP-018050

Total : 2,326.10

190080 12/11/2020 012268  REGIONAL TRUCK EQUIPMENT CO 206650 FLUID FILM SPRAYCAN
01-26-023-72540 93.64
01-26-024-72540 46.81

12Page:

Page | 73AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
13

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190080 12/11/2020 (Continued)012268  REGIONAL TRUCK EQUIPMENT CO
60-00-000-72540 49.63
63-00-000-72540 15.92
64-00-000-72540 28.09

Total : 234.09

190081 12/11/2020 017584  RELADYNE 1315125-IN ALL MAKE/MODELS ANTIFREEZE 2 DRUMS
01-17-205-73535 200.00VTP-018141
01-26-023-73535 200.00VTP-018141
01-26-024-73535 50.00VTP-018141
01-33-300-72540 64.90VTP-018141
01-19-000-73535 100.00VTP-018141
60-00-000-73535 78.75VTP-018141
63-00-000-73535 26.25VTP-018141
64-00-000-73535 45.00VTP-018141
15W-40 AND 5W-20 BULK OILS1316697-IN
01-26-024-73535 176.93VTP-018148
01-26-023-73535 353.86VTP-018148
60-00-000-73535 185.93VTP-018148
63-00-000-73535 61.98VTP-018148
64-00-000-73535 106.96VTP-018148
01-12-000-72540 75.00VTP-018148
01-33-300-72540 100.00VTP-018148
01-21-000-73535 75.00VTP-018148
01-17-205-73535 400.00VTP-018148
01-19-020-73535 50.00VTP-018148
01-26-024-73535 100.00VTP-018148
01-26-023-73535 75.00VTP-018148
01-42-000-73535 50.00VTP-018148
60-00-000-73535 46.33VTP-018148
63-00-000-73535 15.44VTP-018148
64-00-000-73535 26.48VTP-018148

Total : 2,663.81

190082 12/11/2020 006870  RELIABLE FIRE EQUIPMENT 34012 ON LOCATION REPAIR FIRE EXTINGUISERS FD/
01-19-000-72535 380.65

13Page:

Page | 74AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
14

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 380.65190082 12/11/2020 006870 006870  RELIABLE FIRE EQUIPMENT

190083 12/11/2020 006974  RINGHOFER, WILLIAM 120320 DEC'20 HEALTH INSURANCE REIMBURSEMENT PU
01-17-205-72435 593.13

Total : 593.13

190084 12/11/2020 006874  ROBINSON ENGINEERING CO. LTD. 20100240 19-R0866.01 TP 80TH AVE METER VAULT RELO
30-00-000-75806 9,668.75
20-R0382 TP MIDLOTHIAN CREEAK STREAMBANK20100329
65-00-000-75310 5,429.00
20-R0499 TINLEY PARK COMMUNITY RATING SY20100330
65-00-000-72840 5,768.50
19-R0866.01 TP 80TH AVE WATER METER VAUL20110353
30-00-000-75806 4,589.00
20-R0382 TP MIDLOTHIAN CREEK STREAMBANK20110385
65-00-000-75310 2,976.25
20-R0499 TINLEY PARK COMMUNITY RATING SY20110386
65-00-000-72840 699.00
20-R0745 TP DUE DILIGENCE ITEMS FOR PARC20110388
01-14-000-72790 2,947.50
12-238 TP 80TH AV PROJ COORD 191ST TO 1820120017
30-00-000-75810 2,863.50

Total : 34,941.50

190085 12/11/2020 006874  ROBINSON ENGINEERING CO. LTD. 20100149 16-R0402 175TH/RIDGELAND AVE/OAK FOREST
33-00-000-75806 3,886.33

Total : 3,886.33

190086 12/11/2020 019092  RORY GROUP, LLC 3516 BUSINESS CONSULTING FEE DEC'20
01-11-000-72790 3,000.00

Total : 3,000.00

190087 12/11/2020 016334  RUSH TRUCK CENTERS 3021627243 PRE HEATER RECEPTACLE, HARNESS, CABLE AS
60-00-000-72540 118.61
63-00-000-72540 38.04
64-00-000-72540 67.14

Total : 223.79

14Page:

Page | 75AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
15

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190088 12/11/2020 007629  SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 000000GQVEQI BATTERIES,PLATE,PENS,CUTLERY,TISSUE,SOAP
01-26-025-73580 35.72
01-13-000-73110 77.86
01-26-024-73110 17.55
01-26-024-73115 18.16
01-26-023-73110 35.11
01-26-023-73115 36.31
60-00-000-73110 35.11
64-00-000-73115 36.32
01-14-000-73110 3.90
01-14-000-73115 29.63
VH / PW VENDING MACHINE AND JANITORIAL S120920
01-14-000-73115 144.31
01-26-025-73580 8.98

Total : 478.96

190089 12/11/2020 015712  SANDENO EAST INC 6127 N-30 SURFACE-6.5 TON
01-26-023-73780 342.88

Total : 342.88

190090 12/11/2020 007453  SERVICE SANITATION, INC. 8064001 RESTROOM/HAND SANITIZER FOR HOLIDAY WALK
01-35-000-72954 314.00
FIREMAN TRAINING CENTER RESTROOM8065191
01-19-000-72750 175.06

Total : 489.06

190091 12/11/2020 013043  SITE DESIGN GROUP, LTD. 7482PH2-40 LANDSCAPE PLANNING
01-26-023-72847 1,457.50VTP-017897
NATURALIZED STORMWATER MAINTENANCE 10/187698-61
01-26-023-72847 4,607.50VTP-017852
FIELD INSPECTIONS 10/18-11/28/207946-43
01-26-023-72847 1,034.58VTP-017834
PHASE II LEGACY POND LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT7954PH2-05
16-00-000-75315 1,016.68VTP-017776
SPRINKLERS 8/23-11/28/207955-24
01-26-023-72847 78.75VTP-017816
FAIRFIELD GLEN POND RESTORATION 10/18-118322-27

15Page:

Page | 76AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
16

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190091 12/11/2020 (Continued)013043  SITE DESIGN GROUP, LTD.
30-00-000-73681 1,019.88VTP-017820
APPLE LANE POND RESTORATION 10/18-11/28/8323-28
30-00-000-73681 1,142.50VTP-017819
URBN FORESTRY PROGRAM 10/18-11/28/208498-23
01-26-023-72847 5,993.28VTP-017837
MAINTENANCE OF LANDSCAPE BEDS 10/18-11/28803-09
01-26-023-72847 1,442.50VTP-017847
TP MWRD MIDLOTHIAN CREEK STREAMBANK STAB8951-01
65-00-000-75310 526.55

Total : 18,319.72

190092 12/11/2020 002592  SPOK, INC. D6092566X ACCT#6092566-6 PAGER SERVICE
01-17-205-72125 68.78

Total : 68.78

190093 12/11/2020 012238  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE 3463175322 HP TONER
01-17-205-73110 287.09

Total : 287.09

190094 12/11/2020 015452  STEINER ELECTRIC COMPANY S006776056.001 PHIL MH250/U MOG MH LAMP
01-26-024-73570 145.20
1G MALL FDS BOX, WP GFI RECPT CVR, 3/4 NS006786167.002
01-26-025-73570 296.71

Total : 441.91

190095 12/11/2020 007297  SUTTON FORD INC./FLEET SALES 516771 BOOSTER ASY-BRAKE
60-00-000-72540 175.34
63-00-000-72540 56.24
64-00-000-72540 99.25
BRACKET ENGINE516788
01-17-205-72540 72.86
FORD COVER516858
60-00-000-72540 39.37
63-00-000-72540 12.63
64-00-000-72540 22.28
CHECK REAR WINDOW649118

16Page:

Page | 77AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
17

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190095 12/11/2020 (Continued)007297  SUTTON FORD INC./FLEET SALES
01-17-205-72540 149.99

Total : 627.96

190096 12/11/2020 018724  THE LOCKER SHOP 80785 GRID FLEECE ZIP THRU JOB SHIRT
01-19-000-73610 64.00
SHORT SLEEVE PERFORMANCE POLO AND SHORTS80786
01-19-000-73610 163.00
PERFORMANCE POLOOE 78830
01-19-000-73610 62.00
PERFORMANCE POLOOE 79603
01-19-000-73610 124.00
SHORT SLEEVEOES79019
01-19-000-73610 62.00

Total : 475.00

190097 12/11/2020 007777  THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPECTION 20-2983 24 SEMI-ANNUAL ELEVATOR CODE INSPECTIONS
01-33-300-72853 912.00
12 SEMI-ANNUAL ELEVATOR CODE INSPECTIONS20-3003
01-33-300-72853 456.00

Total : 1,368.00

190098 12/11/2020 014854  THOMSON REUTERS-WEST PYMNT CTR843453573 WEST INFORMATION CHARGES 11/1-11/30/20
01-17-225-72852 199.94

Total : 199.94

190099 12/11/2020 007930  TRANS UNION 11000336 CREDIT SUMMARY,EMPLOYMENT CRD REPORT, ID
01-17-225-72852 121.25

Total : 121.25

190100 12/11/2020 008040  UNDERGROUND PIPE & VALVE CO 046718 MAIN BREAK CLAMPS
60-00-000-73630 250.74VTP-018146
63-00-000-73630 27.86VTP-018146
64-00-000-73630 119.40VTP-018146
60-00-000-73630 150.57VTP-018146
63-00-000-73630 16.73VTP-018146
64-00-000-73630 71.70VTP-018146

17Page:

Page | 78AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
18

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190100 12/11/2020 (Continued)008040  UNDERGROUND PIPE & VALVE CO
60-00-000-73630 226.17VTP-018146
63-00-000-73630 25.13VTP-018146
64-00-000-73630 107.70VTP-018146

Total : 996.00

190101 12/11/2020 018250  VERIZON CONNECT NWF INC OSV000002296654 CUST ID TINL001 11/1-11/30/20
01-26-023-72790 259.03

Total : 259.03

190102 12/11/2020 004192  VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT 400-1000-00-01 ACCT#400-1000-00-01 BROOKSIDE GLEN SUBD
64-00-000-73227 140,583.74

Total : 140,583.74

190103 12/11/2020 014791  VILLAGE OF LYNWOOD 11112020 SHOOTING RANGE RENTAL FEE FOR 2021 AND 2
01-17-205-72720 1,200.00

Total : 1,200.00

190104 12/11/2020 006362  VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 1-9990015-00 ACCT#1-9990015-00 11/01/20-12/01/20
60-00-000-73220 561,791.67
63-00-000-73220 518,576.92

Total : 1,080,368.59

190105 12/11/2020 010165  WAREHOUSE DIRECT WORKPL SOLTNS4829352-0 TISSUE, TOIL, J, RL
01-26-025-73580 42.60
PAPER,DRY ERASE, ERASER, BOARD4835188-0
01-26-023-73110 146.61
01-21-210-73110 214.20

Total : 403.41

190106 12/11/2020 011055  WARREN OIL CO. W1353882 N.L. GAS USED 11/6-11/24/20
01-17-205-73530 3,422.74
01-19-000-73530 200.35
01-19-020-73530 32.15
01-21-000-73530 33.71
60-00-000-73530 308.25
63-00-000-73530 77.06

18Page:

Page | 79AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
19

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

190106 12/11/2020 (Continued)011055  WARREN OIL CO.
64-00-000-73530 165.13
01-26-023-73530 613.70
01-26-024-73530 200.70
01-33-300-73530 24.52
01-12-000-73530 50.69
01-14-000-73531 493.33
14-00-000-73530 17.24
01-42-000-73530 109.63
DIESEL FUEL USED 11/6-11/24/20W1353883
01-19-000-73545 1,500.24
60-00-000-73545 698.03
63-00-000-73545 174.51
64-00-000-73545 373.95
01-26-023-73545 3,048.54
01-26-024-73545 209.80
01-14-000-73531 3,114.18

Total : 14,868.45

190107 12/11/2020 015933  WHATEVER IT TAKES TRANS PARTS 1106643 PLUGS, FILTER, PISTON KIT, MWS. 62TE (W/
60-00-000-72540 224.93
63-00-000-72540 72.14
64-00-000-72540 127.32
SOLENOID SPACER & SERVICE, 1 PUMP 62TE,1107563
60-00-000-72540 95.00
63-00-000-72540 30.47
64-00-000-72540 53.76

Total : 603.62

Bank total : 1,441,442.8786 Vouchers for bank code : apbank

19Page:

Page | 80AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/11/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
20

11:37:24AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ipmg

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

2855 12/8/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP201112W013 PAYEE-INGALLS OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH
01-14-000-72542 429.27

Total : 429.27

2856 12/8/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP201019W041 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 3,006.98

Total : 3,006.98

2857 12/8/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 1,113.02

Total : 1,113.02

2858 12/8/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-2. PAYEE-ALPHA REVIEW CORPORATION
01-14-000-72542 236.79

Total : 236.79

Bank total : 4,786.064 Vouchers for bank code : ipmg

1,447,237.82Total vouchers :Vouchers in this report91

The Tinley Park Village Board having duly met at Village
Hall do hereby certify that the following claims or demands
against said village were presented and are approved for
payment as presented on the above listing.

In witness thereof, the Village President and Clerk of
the Village of Tinley Park, hereunto set their hands.

______________________________Village President

______________________________Village Clerk

______________________________Date

20Page:

Page | 81AGENDA - 12/15/2020, E... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



December 03, 2020 Workshop/Public Hearing 

 
THE BOULEVARD AT CENTRAL STATION-SIGN AMENDMENT 
6701-6755 South Street 

 
 

Consider amending Ordinance No. 2018-O-066 entitled, A Special Use Permit and Certain 

Variations to Allow for the Constrution of a Four Story Mixed-Use Development with Certain 

Residential Accessory Uses to be Located on the First Floor at 6701-6755 South Street. The 

specific request is to amend the variation approving the original projection sign. The  

variation was approved with the understanding the sign would not be illuminated and the 

developer is now requesting for the letters on the sign to be side-lit.  

 

The Legacy Code allow signs to be backlit, or illuminated by spotlights subject to the light 

source being shielded to ensure that the light source is not visible to the public from the 

sidewalk, street or adjacent property to prevent glare. Due to the large scale of the sign, and 

its proximity to the residential unit’s windows and balconies, there was a concern about the 

negative impact the light would have on those specific units.  In addition the sign required 

variations for its height and location which allowed the Plan Commission and Village Board 

to restrict the type of light used to illuminate the sign.  Staff recommended the requested 

modification to the sign to go back to the Plan Commission and Village Board as it is a 

deviation from what was originally approved.  

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 

David Sosin of Sosin, 

Arnold & Schoenbeck, 

Ltd. On behalf of South 

Street Development, LLC 

 

Property Location 

6701-6755 South Street 

 

PIN 

28-30-411-017-0000 

28-30-411-024-0000 

28-30-411-023-0000 

28-30-411-005-0000 

28-30-411-026-0000 

28-30-411-025-0000 

28-30-411-027-0000 

28-30-411-007-0000 

28-30-411-008-0000 

28-30-411-009-0000 

28-30-411-010-0000 

28-30-411-011-0000 

28-30-411-012-0000 

 

Zoning 

DC (Downtown Core) 

 

Approvals Sought 

Variations 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Planner 

Kimberly Clarke, AICP 

Com. Dev. Director 
 

 

Page | 82AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



The Boulevard At Central Station –6701-6755 W. South Street 

 

Page 2 of 12 

 
The subject property, 6701-6755 South Street, is located at the 

southeast corner of Oak Park Avenue and 67th Court in the 

downtown area of Tinley Park. The property is approximately 3 

acres in size consisting of 11 vacant parcels. At the time the project 

was going through the entitlement process, the Village owned six 

(6) of the parcels (approximately 1 acre) with the remaining parcels 

owned by South Street Development (1.86 acres). In 2008, all 

structures were demolished in preparation for the proposed 

development, however due to the economy at that time the project 

did not move forward.  The property was originally zoned B-3 & H-

1 and was rezoned to DC (Downtown Core) with the adoption of 

the Legacy Code in 2011.  

 

For a quick history of meetings regarding this property, refer to 

Exhibit A. Planning for this project began in 2001. The project has 

been proposed as a mixed-use development since its inception, 

however, the density and architecture has changed over time. In 

2018, the developer and Village were able to come to a final 

agreement in regards to the  incentive agreement and site design. 

Construction commenced in October of 2019 and the developer 

anticipates completion in February 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

            

                             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
September 2020 

Page | 83AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



The Boulevard At Central Station –6701-6755 W. South Street 

 

Page 3 of 12 

A large projection sign was approved for the the corner of the building at South Street and 67th Court (see picture 

above). This is the building’s main identification sign and is one of the Variations that was approved in 2018. The sign 

is 25 feet long by four (4) feet wide and extends past the second floor. Village Code prohibits projection signs to 

extend past  second floor windows. At the time the request was presented,  staff raised concerns about the potential 

glare from the sign due to it’s large scale and proximity to the residential balconies and windows. To address those 

concerns, the architect stated the sign would not be internally illuminated and lighting of the sign will be limited to 

building façade lights designed to illuminate the sign.  It should be noted, the overall center is subject to a uniform 

sign code that was attached to the developer’s incentive agreement. 

 

The developer recently reached out to staff to re-visit the illumination 

of the projection sign. They feel strongly that the lighting option they 

want to use will not negatively impact the adjacent residential units and 

will be an attractive feature of their building. The proposed lighting for 

the projection sign is a product called GemLite Letters which uses 

internally lit LED lights. Specifcially the developer wants to use a “side-

lit” letter as shown in the picture to the right.  Additional examples were 

provided by the architect showing this type of light used in existing 

signs.  

 

 
 

 

Page | 84AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



The Boulevard At Central Station –6701-6755 W. South Street 

 

Page 4 of 12 

OPEN ITEM #1- DISCUSS THE ILLUMINATION OF THE PROJECTION SIGN 

 

The overall sign will be a flat face aluminum panel with GemLite letters attached to the face internally lit with LED 

lights. Only the letters of “BOULEVARD” will be  internally lit  (See attached Exhibit B). The proposed color is orange for 

the lit letters. Staff has inquired how the orange lettering will compliment the proposed red awnings that are to be 

located above the first floor store-fronts. 

OPEN ITEM #2-DISCUSS THE COLOR LETTERING OF ORANGE FOR THE ILLUMINATED PROJECTION SIGN 

 

 

 

Staff has revised the following open items for discussion at the Public Hearing: 

 

Open Item 

1. Discuss illumination of projection sign 

2. Discuss color of projection sign 

 

 

Page | 85AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



The Boulevard At Central Station –6701-6755 W. South Street 

 

Page 5 of 12 

 

In addition to any other specific standards set forth herein the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Special Use, 

variance, appeal, or map amendment from the regulations of this ordinance unless it shall have made findings of fact, 

based upon evidence presented to it, in each specific case that: 

 

a. The proposed improvement meets the Legacy Plan and its Principles, as presented in Section 1.A-B: 

Purpose and Intent, of this ordinance; 

The use of illumination on a sign is permitted within the Legacy District. However, the projection 

sign was granted variations based on the fact the sign would not be illuminated.  

 

b. The new improvement is compatible with uses already developed or planned in this district and will not 

exercise undue detrimental influences upon surrounding properties; 

A projection sign of this size and illumination will be a first in the Downtown.  

 

c. Any improvement meets the architectural standards set forth in the Legacy Code. 

The two (2) buildings provide for a consistent style of architecture.  The proposed projection sign 

for the development is consistent with the look of the building. In addition, the first floor tenants 

are permitted to have illuminated signs and therefore the projection sign will be consistent.  

 

d. The improvement will have the effect of protecting and enhancing the economic development of the 

Legacy Plan area. 

The scale, location and illumination of the sign will allow the building to be more visable from Oak 

Park Avenue. Due to the building being a distance from the main road, they feel it is necessary to 

have a sign visable enough to draw people to their site.   

 

Page | 86AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



The Boulevard At Central Station –6701-6755 W. South Street 

 

Page 6 of 12 

 

Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Variation of the regulations 

of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, based upon the evidence presented for each of 

the Standards for Variations listed below. The Plan Commission must provide findings for the first three standards; 

the remaining standards are provided to help the Plan Commission further analyze the request. Staff has prepared 

draft responses for the Findings of Fact below.  

 

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 

The property can yield a reasonable return without the sign variations granted. However, the 

developer expressed their desire to construct a one of a kind building for downton Tinley Park and 

the project sign is one of the features that makes the building unique.   

 

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 

The building is setback from Oak Park Avenue and the site does not have space for a ground sign 

to identify the building. This is not unique to other businesses along South Street, however the 

developer states it is critical to identify the building for its future retailers occupying the first floor.   

 

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 

The project as a whole is being presented as one unified development. The developer is bringing 

forth a modern design that meets the intent of the Legacy Plan. The developer is working on a 

constrained site and trying to build a product that is comparable in size and price to existing mixed-

used developments in the region. The project itself is going to transform the image of the 

downtown. This will be the first large-scale, mixed-use development that will be the catalyst for 

redevelopment in the downtown. 

 

4. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there are practical 

difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the following facts favorable 

to the Petitioner have been established by the evidence: 

 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property 

involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 

inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out; 

 

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 

to other property within the same zoning classification; 

 

 

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property; 

 

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by a 

previous owner; 

 

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 

property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and 

 

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent property, 

or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of fire, or 

Page | 87AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



The Boulevard At Central Station –6701-6755 W. South Street 

 

Page 7 of 12 

endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the 

neighborhood. 

 

 

 

If the Plan Commission wishes to make a motion, the following motion is written in the affirmative for the 

Commission’s consideration: 

 

 

Motion 1: “…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant an amendment to Ordinance 2018-O-066 to 

the Petitioner, David Sosin, on behalf of South Street Development, LLC, for property located at 6701-6755 W. South 

Street allowing for a side-illuminated projection sign in accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein and 

adopt Findings of Fact submitted by the Applicant and as proposed by Village Staff, and as may be amended by the 

Plan Commission at this meeting. 

 

 

 

[any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 88AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



The Boulevard At Central Station –6701-6755 W. South Street 

 

Page 8 of 12 

Exhibit A 

 

History of Public Meeting for “South Street” Project 

6701-55 W. South Street 

 

• November 15, 2007- Tinley Park Long Range Plan Commission (LRPC) discussed a Concept Plan for The Promenade 

Development-South Street. 

• November 29, 2007- LRPC considered a project presentation for the Promenade-South Street for the purpose of 

gathering information prior to considering a recommendation to the Village Board for Concept Plan Approval for a 

P.U.D. 

• January 3, 2008- Work Session was conducted in order to further discuss the details of the project. 

• May 15, 2008- LRPC reviewed the Concept Plan for a P.U.D. 

• May 27, 2008- Work session with LRPC.  

• June 5, 2008- LRPC reviewed the Concept Plan for a P.U.D. 

• June 17, 2008- The Village Board approved the Concept Plan at their meeting. 

• December 2, 2008- Finance & Economic Development Committee discussed amended incentive request for the 

Promenade- South Street. 

• February 5, 2009- LRPC reviewed Preliminary P.U.D. plans for Promenade Development-South Street. 

• March 12, 2009- A work session was held. 

• March 19, 2009- LRPC held Public hearing for Preliminary P.U.D. approval. 

• April 2, 2009- LRPC held 2nd Public hearing for Preliminary P.U.D. and recommended approval for a 

development comprised of one 12-unit mixed use building, one 11-unit mixed used building, and two 4-unit 

multiple family buildings in the H-1 Historic Zoning District. 

• May 17, 2012- Plan Commission holds workshop for the Boulevard at Central Station-South Street for site plan 

approval with variations. 

• June 7, 2012- Plan Commission held Public Hearing for Site Plan Approval with Variations. 

• July 17, 2012- Village Board adopts Ordinance 2012-O-027 granting variations to the Boulevard at Central 

Station. 

• December 1, 2015- Applicant made several changes necessitating a re-review of the project. Twenty (20) 

additional units are proposed for a total of 187 units.  The Units have decreased in size and the alignment of 

the access ways on South Street and 174th Street have changed slightly. The amount of retail has also 

decreased by 5,000 SF. 

• April 2017-June 2018- Staff continued to work with developer on the plans. 

• August 16, 2018- First Workshop was held to discuss the final plans. 

• September 6, 2018- Public Hearing was held on the Special Use, and Variations.  

• October 09, 2018- Project was discussed at the Committee of the Whole Meeting. 

• October 16, 2018- Village board adopt ordinances approving the project. 

• September 5, 2019- Ground breaking ceremony 

• October 11, 2019- Foundation only permit issued for Phase 1 

• March 6, 2020- Full building permit issued for Phase 1 

 

Page | 89AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



The Boulevard At Central Station –6701-6755 W. South Street 

 

Page 9 of 12 

Exhibit B 

Page | 90AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



The Boulevard At Central Station –6701-6755 W. South Street 

 

Page 10 of 12 

Page | 91AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



The Boulevard At Central Station –6701-6755 W. South Street 

 

Page 11 of 12 

Page | 92AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



The Boulevard At Central Station –6701-6755 W. South Street 

 

Page 12 of 12 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 

Page | 93AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
 

ORDINANCE 
NO. 2020-O-080 

 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2018-O-066 TO ALLOW FOR 
A SIDE-ILLUMINATED PROJECTION SIGN AT 6701-6755 SOUTH STREET 

 

 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

 
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606 

  
  

Page | 94AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-080 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2018-O-066 TO ALLOW FOR A 

SIDE-ILLUMINATED PROJECTION SIGN AT 6701-6755 SOUTH STREET 
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and  

WHEREAS, the Village adopted Ordinance No. 2018-O-066, granting a Special Use 
Permit and certain Variations to allow for the construction of a four story mixed-use development 
with certain residential accessory uses to be located on the first floor at 6701-6755 South Street in 
the Downtown Zoning District (the “Project”); and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 2018-O-066 granted two Variations permitting the 
construction of a projection sign, with the condition that such sign not be illuminated included in 
the public record and exhibits incorporated into said ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, a Petition for the granting of a Variation to permit the construction of a side-
illuminated projection sign has been filed by David Sosin on behalf of South Street Development, 
LLC, ("Petitioner"),  with the Village Clerk of this Village and has been referred to the Plan 
Commission of the Village and has been processed  in accordance with the Tinley Park Zoning 
Ordinance; and  

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission held a public hearing on the question of whether such 
Amendment should be granted on December 3, 2020, at the Village Hall of this Village, at which 
time all persons present were afforded an opportunity to be heard; and  

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said public hearing 
by publication not more than (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said public hearing 
in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general circulation within the Village of Tinley Park; and  

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission has filed its report and findings and recommendations 
regarding the Amendment with this Village President and Board of Trustees and this Board of 
Trustees has duly considered said report, findings, and recommendations; and  

Page | 95AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL 
COUNTIES, ILLINOIS, IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1: That the report of findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission are herein 
incorporated by reference as the findings of this President and the Board of Trustees, as complete 
as if fully set forth herein at length. This Board finds that the Petitioner has provided evidence 
establishing that it has met the standards for amending certain conditions imposed by Ordinance 
No. 2018-O-066. The proposed amendment to Ordinance No. 2018-O-066 as set forth herein is in 
the public good and in the best interests of the Village and its residents and is consistent with and 
fosters the purpose and spirit of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance. 

Section 2: The Amendment to Ordinance No. 2018-O-066 set forth herein below shall be 
applicable to the following described property:  

SEE LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS ATTACHED HERETO AS EXHIBIT 1 
 
Section 3: That the conditions prohibiting an illuminated projection sign included in the public 
record and exhibits incorporated into Ordinance No. 2018-O-066 are hereby waived, and a side-
illuminated projection sign in accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein is approved. 

Section 4: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval and publication as required by law.  

PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020. 

AYES:              

NAYS:              

ABSENT:              

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020. 

       ____________________________________ 
            VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  
  

Page | 96AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-080, “AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2018-

O-066 TO ALLOW FOR A SIDE-ILLUMINATED PROJECTION SIGN AT 6701-6755 SOUTH 

STREET,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley 

Park on December 15, 2020. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020. 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

  

Page | 97AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT A 
Legal Descriptions 

 

Common Address 6701-6755 South Street 

PIN(s) 28-30-411-005-0000; 28-30-411-007-0000;28-30-411-015-0000;28-30-411-017-0000; 
28-30-411-023-0000; 28-30-411-024-0000;28-30-411-025-0000;28-30-411-026-0000;28-30-
411-027-0000; 

 

Page | 98AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



1

TO: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

FROM: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION

SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE December 3, 2020 REGULAR MEETING

ITEM #2 Workshop/Public Hearing – South Street Development - 6701-6755 South Street – 
Amendment to Variation- Projection Sign 

Consider recommending that the Village Board grant David Sosin, Attorney on behalf of 
South Street Development, LLC approval of an amendment to Ordinance 2018-O-066 to 
allow the projection sign to be back-lit.

Present Plan Commissioners: Chairman Garrett Gray (Participated electronically)
Steven Vick (Participated electronically)
Angela Gatto (Participated electronically)
Kehla West (Participated electronically)
Eduardo Mani (Participated electronically)
Lucas Engel (Participated electronically)
Frank Losciuto (Participated electronically)
James Gaskill 

Absent Plan Commissioners:  Mary Aitchison

Village Officials and Staff:  Kimberly Clarke, Community Development Director
Paula Wallrich, Planning Manager (Participated electronically)
Dan Ritter, Senior Planner
Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary

Guests: Dan McMillan, Development Team

Kimberly Clarke, Community Development Director, presented the Staff Report.  She noted that the Staff Report 
has been distributed to the Plan Commission, the Applicant and is posted on the website in its entirety. The staff 
report is attached to these minutes and made a part of the meeting record.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the Applicant.  

Dan McMillan, Development Team thanked Kimberly for pointing out to them that the sign color should be red to 
go along with the awnings on the building. The sign with the sign-lighting will help it to be viewed from Oak Park 
Avenue.  He needs a sign for commercial as well as the apartments.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the commissioners.

COMMISSIONER WEST noted that this is a reasonable request.

COMMISSIONER GATTO noted she echoes this and thinks it will look great in the downtown area.  

COMMISSIONER LOSCIUTO agrees that the sign will look good with the red letters.

COMMISSIONER VICK agrees that the color change is good and will look nice.  The lighting will make it pop and 
draw people to the building.  

COMMISSIONER MANI agrees the lighting will look nice and will not be obtrusive to the people living in the 
apartment.

COMMISSIONER ENGEL has no concerns and the color scheme will work.  

Page | 99AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2

CHAIRMAN GRAY agrees with all the other commissioners and noted good job to Kimberly for recommending the 
color change.  This will look top notch and will look very nice. 

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for a motion to open the public hearing.

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER VICK, seconded by COMMISSIONER WEST to open the public hearing 
for Crana Homes.

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK, GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by voice vote.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted he had confirmation of the legal notice for this public hearing being published in the local 
newspaper as required by state law.  

Anyone who would like to speak on this matter will be sworn in after the staff presentation.  

Ms. Clarke noted the Legacy Code and Variation Standards.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the public. There were none.  

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER ENGEL, seconded by COMMISSIONER GATTO to close the public 
hearing for Crana Homes.

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK, GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by voice vote.  

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER GASKILL, seconded by COMMISSIONER LOSCIUTO to recommend 
that the Village Board grant an amendment to Ordinance 2018-O-066 to the Petitioner, David Sosin, on behalf of 
South Street Development, LLC, for property located at 6701-6755 W. South Street allowing for a side-illuminated 
projection sign in accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein and adopt Findings of Fact submitted by the 
Applicant and as proposed by Village Staff, and as may be amended by the Plan Commission at this meeting.

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK, GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by roll call.  

This item will go to the Village Board on Tuesday, December 15, 2020.

Page | 100AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-127

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK TO 
SEEK CLASS 8 CERTIFICATION BY THE OFFICE OF THE COOK 

COUNTY ASSESSOR FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY IN THE VILLAGE OF 
TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS REFERRED TO 

AS DUVAN INDUSTRIAL PARK 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 101AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-O-127

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK TO 
SEEK CLASS 8 CERTIFICATION BY THE OFFICE OF THE COOK 

COUNTY ASSESSOR FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY IN THE VILLAGE OF 
TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS REFERRED TO 

AS DUVAN INDUSTRIAL PARK 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park desires to promote commercial and industrial 
development in the Village of Tinley Park; and

WHEREAS, commercial and industrial properties encompassed in an area bounded by 
Harlem Avenue on the east, Metra Rock Island Railroad on the south, Bristol Park residential 
subdivision on the west, and 175th Street on the north, identified by the Property Identification 
Numbers in exhibit A, and commonly referred to as Duvan Industrial Park, have underperformed 
the other areas of the Village in relation to development; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park finds that the subject properties are “in need of 
substantial revitalization” as defined in the Cook County Real Property Assessment Classification 
Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, if existing industrial and commercial structures were improved and utilized 
fully, and if new industrial and commercial structures were developed, Cook County’s economic 
well-being would be improved by an increase in the level of economic activity, by increased 
employment opportunities, and by a growth in the real property tax base; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park finds that it is not economically feasible for private 
enterprise to accomplish the needed redevelopment of the area without public assistance because 
of the blighted or depressed conditions of the area where such development is needed, and also 
finds that the ordinary unaided operation of private enterprise cannot accomplish the necessary 
modernization, rehabilitation and development needed, and therefore provision must be made for 
public assistance and encouragement of such private enterprises; and

WHEREAS, the creation of new property tax classification for (a) new development of 
industrial structures, or the substantial rehabilitation and reutilization of existing industrial 
structures for specific areas of special need, and (b) new development of commercial structures, 
or the substantial rehabilitation and reutilization of existing commercial structures in areas that are 

Page | 102AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



depressed, blighted or threatened with blight is an appropriate and necessary method of providing 
such assistance and encouragement, and will result in increasing the tax base in such areas for the 
County; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, THAT THE VILLAGE PETITIONS THE OFFICE OF THE COOK COUNTY 
ASSESSOR TO DECLARE THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AREA QUALIFIED UNDER THE 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF A CLASS 8 INCENTIVE:

PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.
____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 103AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2020-O-127, “A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE VILLAGE OF 

TINLEY PARK TO SEEK CLASS 8 CERTIFICATION BY THE OFFICE OF THE COOK 

COUNTY ASSESSOR FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY IN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, 

COOK AND WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS REFERRED TO AS DUVAN INDUSTRIAL PARK,” 

which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on 

December 15th, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 104AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Exhibit A

Page | 105AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 106AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-128

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A COOK COUNTY CLASS 6B SER 
RECLASSIFICATION FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 17532 

DUVAN DRIVE, TINLEY PARK, ILLINOIS 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 107AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-128

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A COOK COUNTY CLASS 6B SER 
RECLASSIFICATION FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 17532 

DUVAN DRIVE, TINLEY PARK, ILLINOIS 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park desires to promote commercial and industrial 
development in the Village of Tinley Park; and

WHEREAS, the Cook County Assessor is operating under an ordinance enacted by the 
Cook County Board of Commissioners, and amended from time to time, which has instituted a 
program to encourage industrial and commercial development in Cook County known as the Cook 
County Real Property Classification Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, the Cook County Board of Commissioners has adopted a Real Property 
Assessment Classification 6b SER which provides an applicant a reduction in the assessment level 
where the qualifying use of the property does not comply with the definition of “abandoned 
property, substantial rehabilitation, or vacancy” under the current Class 6b program; and

WHEREAS, Class 6b SER requires the approval of the Cook County Board of 
Commissioners and the Village of Tinley Park; and

WHEREAS, Duvan Acquisition, LLC (Owner) is applying for Class 6b SER property 
status pursuant to said aforementioned ordinance for certain real estate located at 17532 Duvan 
Drive (Subject Property) in the Village of Tinley Park, Orland Township, Cook County, Illinois, 
with the Property Index Number 27-36-204-033-0000, and legally described in Exhibit “A” 
attached hereto and;

WHEREAS, the Subject Property real estate is located in Orland Township and is certified 
eligible for Class 6b SER by Cook County; 

WHEREAS, Duvan Acquisition, LLC intends to correct code violations to the Subject 
Property and;

WHEREAS, the granting of a Class 6b SER tax incentive for the Subject Property is 
necessary to avoid vacancy of the property; and

WHEREAS, this resolution will be tied to an incentive agreement (see Exhibit B).

Page | 108AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The President and Board of Trustees agree to grant a Cook County Real Estate 
Classification 6b SER status specifically for the special assessment of an industrial building 
located at 17532 Duvan Drive, Tinley Park, Orland Township, Cook County, Illinois, PIN 
Numbers 27-36-204-033-0000.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Village Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to 
forward a certified copy of this Resolution to the Offices of the Cook County Assessor, the Cook 
County Clerk and the Cook County Board of Commissioners.

PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.
____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 109AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2020-R-128, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING A COOK COUNTY 

CLASS 6B SER RECLASSIFICATION FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 17532 DUVAN 

DRIVE, TINLEY PARK, ILLINOIS,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees 

of the Village of Tinley Park on December 15th, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 110AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT A

Legal Description

PIN: 27-36-204-033-0000

LOTS 3 AND 4 (EXCEPT THE SOUTH 30 FEET THEREOF) IN TINLEY INDUSTRIAL PARK, A 
SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHEAST ¼ OF SECTION 36 TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, 
RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING NORTH OF THE C.R.I & F, 
RY. IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

Page | 111AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Exhibit B

Incentive Agreement

PREPARED BY AND AFTER
RECORDING RETURN TO:

PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENT CLASSIFICATION AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

AND DUVAN ACQUISITION, LLC 
(17532 Duvan Drive, Tinley Park, Illinois 60477)

THIS PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENT CLASSIFICATION AGREEMENT 
(“Agreement”) is made this 15th day of December, 2020 (“Execution Date”), by and between the 
Village of Tinley Park, an Illinois municipal corporation (“Village”), and Duvan Acquisition, 
LLC, an Illinois Corporation (“Owner”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Commissioners of the County of Cook have prior 
hereto enacted an ordinance known as the Cook County Real Property Assessment Classification 
Ordinance, as amended from time to time (“Classification Ordinance”), which provides for a tax 
assessment incentive classification designed to provide temporary tax relief to long-term (10 years 
or more) industrial enterprises in Cook County. The SER program applies to properties where the 
qualifying use of the property does not comply with the definition of “abandoned property, 
substantial rehabilitation, or vacancy” under the current Class 6b program; and

WHEREAS, the 6b SER tax incentive is not renewable; and

WHEREAS, the Owner is the contract purchaser of property generally located at 17532 
Duvan Drive, Tinley Park, Illinois, and as legally described on Exhibit A (“Property”); and

WHEREAS, Owner petitioned the Village for a resolution of support and consent for a 
Cook County Class 6b SER Real Estate Tax Assessment Classifications, as said term is defined in 
the Classification Ordinance, (“Class 6b SER Assessment Classification”) for the Property with 
said resolution stating that the Village finds the incentive is necessary for the property to remain 
occupied; and 

WHEREAS, the adoption of resolutions by the Village is required and must be filed by 
Owner with the County of Cook application in order for the Property to secure said Class 6b SER 
Tax Assessment Classifications; and

Page | 112AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



WHEREAS, Owner shall correct code violations as outlined in Exhibit B (“Code 
Violations”); and

WHEREAS, without the Class 6b SER Assessment Classifications for the Property, the 
property would become vacant; and

WHEREAS, in order to induce the Village to adopt the aforesaid resolution, Owner and 
Village desire to enter into this Agreement and to be bound by terms and conditions as more 
particularly set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained and 
other good and valuable considerations, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Village 
and Owner agree as follows:

Section 1.  Incorporation.  The representation and recitations hereinabove set forth in the 
recitals are hereby incorporated into this Agreement as if fully stated herein.

Section 2. Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement and the obligations of Village 
and Owner hereunder shall commence upon the Execution Date and shall expire upon the 
expiration of the Class 6b SER Assessment Classification for the Property or the termination of 
this Agreement pursuant to Section 6 hereof, whichever occurs first (“Term”). 

Section 3.  Covenants of the Village.  In return for the representations and covenants of 
the Owner, all as contained herein, the Village covenants with and to the Owner as follows:

a. Village shall approve resolutions setting forth its consent and support of 
Owner’s activation of the Class 6b SER Assessment Classifications for the 
Property, which will take effect upon execution of this Agreement (the 
“Resolutions”).  During the Term and except as provided herein, the Village 
shall not take any action to revoke, rescind or otherwise dispute the Class 6b 
SER Assessment Classifications for the Property.

b. Village shall have no obligation to issue the Resolution to Owner until Owner 
has presented a signed agreement to the Village for recordation contemplated 
under Section 8(f) herein.

Section 4.  Covenants of the Owner.  In return for the representations and covenants of 
the Village, all as contained herein, the Owner, and its successors or assigns, covenants with and 
to the Village as follows:

a. Owner shall pay or cause to be paid when due all real estate property taxes 
relating to the Property or the operations on the Property, which are assessed or 
imposed upon the Property, or which become due and payable.  Owner shall 
have the right to challenge real estate property taxes applicable to the Property; 
provided, that such real estate property taxes must be paid in full when due.

Page | 113AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



b. Owner shall correct all code violations in accordance with this Agreement, and 
any and all federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, 
codes and ordinances applicable to the Property, the Project and/or the Owner.  
Owner shall correct all violations, subject to delays from Force Majeure 
(defined below), in accordance with the schedule outlined in Exhibit B. 
 

c. For purposes of this Agreement, “Force Majeure” shall mean an act of God, 
storm, fire, flood, earthquake, labor disturbance (including strikes, boycotts, 
lockouts etc.), war, civil commotion, shortages or unavailability of labor, 
present or future governmental law, ordinance, rule, order or regulation, 
inaction or delay on the part of any governmental authority, or other cause 
beyond the reasonable control of Owner, as applicable.  In no event shall a delay 
resulting from economic hardship, commercial or economic frustration of 
purpose constitute an event caused by Force Majeure. 

d. Upon completion of the improvements outlined in Exhibit B, the Owner shall 
submit to the Village for review and approval a completion statement from an 
engineer or other consultant with respect to the substantial completion of the 
improvements (a “Completion Statement”). 

e. The Project Work may be completed in phases. The Owner may, but is not 
obligated to, submit and the Village shall review a Completion Statement for a 
portion or phase of the Project Work (a “Phase Completion Statement”). 
Village approval of such Completion Statement shall not be unreasonably 
withheld. The date on which the Village has approved such Phase Completion 
Statement shall be a “Phase Completion Date.”

f. The “Substantial Completion Date” shall mean the date on which the Village 
has approved a Completion Statement for the entirety of the improvements 
outlined in Exhibit B, such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

Section 5. Event of Default.  

a. The following shall constitute an event of default (“Event of Default”) by the 
Owner hereunder:

i. The failure of the Owner to perform, keep or observe any of the covenants, 
conditions, promises, agreements or obligations of the Owner under this 
Agreement;

ii. The making or furnishing by the Owner to the Village of any representation, 
warranty, certificate, or report within or in connection with this Agreement 
or any related agreement which is untrue or misleading in any material 

Page | 114AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



respect;

iii. The filing by Owner of any petitions or proceedings under applicable state 
or federal bankruptcy or insolvency law or statute which petition or 
proceeding has not been dismissed or stayed;

iv. The initiation against Owner by any creditor of an involuntary petition or 
proceeding under any state or federal bankruptcy or insolvency law or 
statute, which petition or proceeding is not dismissed or stayed within forty-
five (45) days after the date of filing; and

v. The violation or breach by Owner of any law, statute, rule or regulation of 
a governmental or administrative entity relating to the operation of the 
Property. 

b. The following shall constitute an Event of Default by the Village hereunder:

i. The failure of the Village to perform, keep or observe any of the covenants, 
conditions, promises, agreements or obligations of the Village under this 
Agreement.

Section 6. Remedies. Except as otherwise set forth herein, upon an Event of Default by 
either party, or any successor, the defaulting or breaching party (or successor) shall, upon written 
notice from the other party specifying such default or breach, proceed immediately to cure or 
remedy such default or breach, and shall, in any event, within thirty (30) days after receipt of 
notice, cure or remedy such default or breach (“Cure Period”).  In case the Event of Default shall 
not be cured or remedied prior to the end of the Cure Period, the remedy to the aggrieved party 
shall, in addition to any other remedies provided for in this Agreement, be as set forth below:

a. In the Event of Default by the Owner, and after the expiration of all applicable 
cure periods, the Village shall have the following rights and remedies: 

i. Village shall have the following rights and remedies, in addition to any 
other remedies provided in this Agreement: (A) to terminate this 
Agreement and the Class 6b SER Assessment Classifications on the 
Property; and (B) to pursue and secure, in any court of competent 
jurisdiction by any action or proceeding at law or in equity, any available 
remedy, including but not limited to injunctive relief or the specific 
performance of the obligations contained herein.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing and except as specifically set forth in Section 6(a)(ii) below, the 
Village shall not have the right to recover any property tax savings the 
Owner received as a result of the Class 6b SER Assessment Classifications 
on the Property for property tax years concluded prior to the Event of 
Default.

ii. Within five (5) business days of written demand from Village (the 

Page | 115AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



“Demand Notice”), Owner covenants that it shall file all requisite 
documentation with the Cook County Assessor’s Office relinquishing 
and/or voiding the Class 6b SER Assessment Classifications for the 
Property and shall concurrently provide the Village with written notice of 
relinquishment together with all relevant documentation.  Owner’s 
covenants and obligations under this Section 6 shall survive the termination 
or expiration of the Agreement.  If Owner fails to comply with any written 
demand provided pursuant to this Section 6(a)(ii), Village, in addition to 
any and all other remedies, shall have the right to secure the specific 
performance of the obligation hereunder, and the right to recover the 
aggregate of any property tax savings the Owner received as a result of the 
Class 6b SER Assessment Classifications on the Property accruing after the 
issuance of the Demand Notice.

b. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default by the Village, and after the 
expiration of all applicable cure periods, the Owner shall have the following as 
its sole and exclusive rights and remedies: (i) to pursue and secure, in any court 
of competent jurisdiction by any action or proceeding at law or in equity, 
injunctive relief or the specific performance of the obligations contained herein. 

c. Unless otherwise provided, the rights and remedies provided by this Agreement 
are cumulative and the use of any one right or remedy by any party shall not 
preclude or waive the right to use any other remedy.

Section 7.  Assignment.  

a. Up to the deadlines identified in Exhibit B, Owner shall not sell, assign, transfer 
or otherwise dispose of its interest under this Agreement or its interest in the 
Property under any circumstances, without the written prior approval of the 
Village, which may be withheld or denied in its sole and absolute discretion, 
except:   

i.  Sale, assignment, or transfer to an entity directly controlling, controlled by 
or under common control with Owner (“Affiliate”) shall be permitted 
without prior written approval of the Village (a “Permitted Transfer”); and

ii. Sale, assignment, or transfer of portions of the Property for which the 
Village has approved the completion of the improvements shall be a 
Permitted Transfer and shall not require Village approval.

b. After the Substantial Completion Date or Phase Completion Date as applicable, 
and so long as there exists no uncured Event of Default, Owner shall be 
permitted to sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of its interests under this 
Agreement and its interests in the Property. Prior to exercising rights hereunder, 
any such proposed transferee or assignee under this Section 7(b) shall expressly 
assume all of the obligations of Owner under this Agreement and shall agree to 

Page | 116AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



be subject to all the conditions and restrictions to which Owner is subject by 
executing and recording on the Property an assumption, as approved by the 
Village, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or denied (the 
“Assumption”).  Upon receipt of the fully executed Assumption by the Village, 
Owner shall be released from any obligation or responsibility under this 
Agreement. 

c. Any assignment or transfer in violation of this Section 7 shall not relieve Owner 
or any other party from any obligations under this Agreement, and any such 
transferee or assignee shall not be entitled to the rights and benefits provided 
for herein.

Section 8. Miscellaneous.  

a. Each party shall, at the request of the other, execute and/or deliver any further 
documents and do all acts as each party may reasonably require to carry-out the 
intent and meaning of this Agreement.

b. No waiver of any term or condition of this Agreement shall be binding or 
effective for any purpose unless expressed in writing and signed by the party 
making the waiver, and then shall be effective only in the specific instances and 
for the purpose given.

c. This Agreement represents the entire Agreement between the Village and the 
Owner.  No amendment, waiver or modification of any term or condition of this 
Agreement shall be binding or effective for any purpose unless expressed in 
writing and adopted by each of the parties as required by law.

d. If any section, sub-section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Agreement is for 
any reason held to be invalid, such decisions or decisions shall not affect the 
validity of the remaining portions of the Agreement.

e. Each party warrants to the other that it is authorized to execute, deliver and 
perform this Agreement and agrees not to raise lack of such authority in any 
action brought by any party or any third party to this Agreement.  

f. All rights, title and privileges herein granted, including all benefits and burdens, 
shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 
Applicant and the Village and, hereto, their respective grantees, successors, 
assigns and legal representatives.  A copy of this Agreement shall be recorded 
against the Property at Owner’s sole expense.

g. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws 
of the State of Illinois.

Page | 117AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



h. Each party irrevocably agrees that all judicial actions or proceedings in any 
way, manner or respect, arising out of or from or related to this Agreement shall 
be litigated only in courts having sites within the County of Cook, Illinois and 
appeal courts within the State of Illinois.  Each party hereby consents to the 
jurisdiction of any local or state court located within the County of Cook, 
Illinois and hereby waives any objections each party may have based on 
improper venue or forum non conveniens to the conduct of any proceeding 
instituted hereunder.

i. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 
shall, for all purposes, be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts 
shall together constitute one and the same instrument. 

j. In the event any legal proceeding is commenced for the purpose of interpreting, 
construing, enforcing or claiming under this Agreement, the prevailing party, 
as determined by the court, shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney’s 
fees and costs in such proceeding or any appeal therefrom.

Section 9.  Notice.  

a. Unless otherwise specified, any notice, demand or request required hereunder 
shall be given in writing at the addresses set forth below, by any of the following 
means:  (a) personal service; (b) overnight courier; or (c) certified mail, return 
receipt requested:

                    If to Village: Village of Tinley Park
16250 S. Oak Park Ave., 
Tinley Park, IL 60477
Attn: David J. Niemeyer
Village Manager
dniemeyer@tinleypark.org

With a copy to: Peterson, Johnson & Murray – Chicago LLC
200 West Adams St. Ste. 2125
Chicago, IL 60606
Attn: Paul O’Grady
pogrady@pjmchicago.com

If to Owner: John Rymsza
Duvan Acquisition, LLC
c/o Cabinet Wholesale Supply, Inc.
17532 Duvan Drive
Tinley Park, Illinois 60477

Page | 118AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



With a copy to:
Sandrick Law Firm, LLC
16475 Van Dam Road
South Holland, Il. 60473

b. Any notice, demand, request or other communication required or permitted 
hereunder may be made only upon a party’s attorney, which shall be effective 
for all purposes.

c. For all purposes of this Agreement, a “business day” shall refer to all Mondays, 
Tuesdays, Wednesdays, Thursdays and Fridays with the exception of United 
States and State of Illinois legal holidays.

 [EXECUTION PAGES FOLLOW

Page | 119AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Village and Owner have executed this Agreement the day 
and year first hereinabove written.

VILLAGE:

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, an Illinois 
municipal corporation

______________________________________
By: Jacob C. Vandenberg
Its: Mayor

ATTEST:

By:  Kristin A. Thirion
Its:  Village Clerk

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) ss.

COUNTY OF COOK )

On this ____ day of December, 2020, before me, personally appeared Jacob C. Vandenberg, 
personally known, who being by me duly sworn did say that he is the Village President of 
the Village of Tinley Park, Illinois, an Illinois municipal corporation, that said instrument was 
signed on behalf of said corporation by authority of its Board of Trustees, and acknowledged 
said instrument to be the free act and deed of said corporation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal at 
my office in Cook County, Illinois the day and year last above written.

Notary Public

Printed Name:

My commission expires:

Page | 120AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Village and Owner have executed this Agreement the day 
and year first hereinabove written.

OWNER:

Duvan Acquisition, LLC

By: ______________________________
Name:  ___________________________
Title:    Managing Member

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) ss.

COUNTY OF COOK )

On this ____ day of December, 2020, before me, personally appeared ___________, 
personally known, who being by me duly sworn did say that he is a member of Duvan 
Acquisition, LLC, that said instrument was signed on behalf of said company, and acknowledged 
said instrument to be the free act and deed of said company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal at 
my office in Cook County, Illinois the day and year last above written.

Notary Public

Printed Name:

My commission expires:

Page | 121AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT A

Legal Description

PIN: 27-36-204-033-0000

 

LOTS 3 AND 4 (EXCEPT THE SOUTH 30 FEET THEREOF) IN TINLEY INDUSTRIAL PARK, A 
SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHEAST ¼ OF SECTION 36 TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 12, 
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING NORTH OF THE C.R.I & F, RY. IN COOK COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS.

Page | 122AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT B

Code Violations and Schedule
# Improvement Deadline

1 Screening of the existing outdoor storage behind the west side of the 
building is required. This requires a solid fence to be placed around the 
outdoor storage area.

April 30, 2021

2 Trailers located on the adjacent vacant lot must be placed on an approved 
solid surface (asphalt or concrete) and properly screened. These trailers 
may be placed behind the building with the other outdoor storage covered 
in the above comment.

April 30, 2021

3 The dumpster on the north side of the building is required to be screened. 
The dumpster can be located behind the building with the other outdoor 
storage or a separate dumpster enclosure can be constructed.

April 30, 2021

Page | 123AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENT CLASSIFICATION AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

AND DUVAN ACQUISITION, LLC 
(17548 Duvan Drive, Tinley Park, Illinois 60477)

THIS PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENT CLASSIFICATION AGREEMENT 
(“Agreement”) is made this 15th day of December, 2020 (“Execution Date”), by and between the 
Village of Tinley Park, an Illinois municipal corporation (“Village”), and Duvan Acquisition, 
LLC, an Illinois Corporation (“Owner”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Commissioners of the County of Cook have prior 
hereto enacted an ordinance known as the Cook County Real Property Assessment Classification 
Ordinance, as amended from time to time (“Classification Ordinance”), which provides for a tax 
assessment incentive classification designed to provide temporary tax relief to long-term (10 years 
or more) industrial enterprises in Cook County. The SER program applies to properties where the 
qualifying use of the property does not comply with the definition of “abandoned property, 
substantial rehabilitation, or vacancy” under the current Class 6b program; and

WHEREAS, the 6b SER tax incentive is not renewable; and

WHEREAS, the Owner is the contract purchaser of property generally located at 17548 
Duvan Drive, Tinley Park, Illinois, and as legally described on Exhibit A (“Property”); and

WHEREAS, Owner petitioned the Village for a resolution of support and consent for a 
Cook County Class 6b SER Real Estate Tax Assessment Classifications, as said term is defined in 
the Classification Ordinance, (“Class 6b SER Assessment Classification”) for the Property with 
said resolution stating that the Village finds the incentive is necessary for the property to remain 
occupied; and 

WHEREAS, the adoption of resolutions by the Village is required and must be filed by 
Owner with the County of Cook application in order for the Property to secure said Class 6b SER 
Tax Assessment Classifications; and

WHEREAS, Owner shall correct code violations as outlined in Exhibit B (“Code 
Violations”); and

WHEREAS, without the Class 6b SER Assessment Classifications for the Property, the 
property would become vacant; and

Page | 124AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



WHEREAS, in order to induce the Village to adopt the aforesaid resolution, Owner and 
Village desire to enter into this Agreement and to be bound by terms and conditions as more 
particularly set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained and 
other good and valuable considerations, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Village 
and Owner agree as follows:

Section 1.  Incorporation.  The representation and recitations hereinabove set forth in the 
recitals are hereby incorporated into this Agreement as if fully stated herein.

Section 2. Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement and the obligations of Village 
and Owner hereunder shall commence upon the Execution Date and shall expire upon the 
expiration of the Class 6b SER Assessment Classification for the Property or the termination of 
this Agreement pursuant to Section 6 hereof, whichever occurs first (“Term”). 

Section 3.  Covenants of the Village.  In return for the representations and covenants of 
the Owner, all as contained herein, the Village covenants with and to the Owner as follows:

a. Village shall approve resolutions setting forth its consent and support of 
Owner’s activation of the Class 6b SER Assessment Classifications for the 
Property, which will take effect upon execution of this Agreement (the 
“Resolutions”).  During the Term and except as provided herein, the Village 
shall not take any action to revoke, rescind or otherwise dispute the Class 6b 
SER Assessment Classifications for the Property.

b. Village shall have no obligation to issue the Resolution to Owner until Owner 
has presented a signed agreement to the Village for recordation contemplated 
under Section 8(f) herein.

Section 4.  Covenants of the Owner.  In return for the representations and covenants of 
the Village, all as contained herein, the Owner, and its successors or assigns, covenants with and 
to the Village as follows:

a. Owner shall pay or cause to be paid when due all real estate property taxes 
relating to the Property or the operations on the Property, which are assessed or 
imposed upon the Property, or which become due and payable.  Owner shall 
have the right to challenge real estate property taxes applicable to the Property; 
provided, that such real estate property taxes must be paid in full when due.

b. Owner shall correct all code violations in accordance with this Agreement, and 
any and all federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, 
codes and ordinances applicable to the Property, the Project and/or the Owner.  
Owner shall correct all violations, subject to delays from Force Majeure 
(defined below), in accordance with the schedule outlined in Exhibit B. 
 

Page | 125AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



c. For purposes of this Agreement, “Force Majeure” shall mean an act of God, 
storm, fire, flood, earthquake, labor disturbance (including strikes, boycotts, 
lockouts etc.), war, civil commotion, shortages or unavailability of labor, 
present or future governmental law, ordinance, rule, order or regulation, 
inaction or delay on the part of any governmental authority, or other cause 
beyond the reasonable control of Owner, as applicable.  In no event shall a delay 
resulting from economic hardship, commercial or economic frustration of 
purpose constitute an event caused by Force Majeure. 

d. Upon completion of the improvements outlined in Exhibit B, the Owner shall 
submit to the Village for review and approval a completion statement from an 
engineer or other consultant with respect to the substantial completion of the 
improvements (a “Completion Statement”). 

e. The Project Work may be completed in phases. The Owner may, but is not 
obligated to, submit and the Village shall review a Completion Statement for a 
portion or phase of the Project Work (a “Phase Completion Statement”). 
Village approval of such Completion Statement shall not be unreasonably 
withheld. The date on which the Village has approved such Phase Completion 
Statement shall be a “Phase Completion Date.”

f. The “Substantial Completion Date” shall mean the date on which the Village 
has approved a Completion Statement for the entirety of the improvements 
outlined in Exhibit B, such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

Section 5. Event of Default.  

a. The following shall constitute an event of default (“Event of Default”) by the 
Owner hereunder:

i. The failure of the Owner to perform, keep or observe any of the covenants, 
conditions, promises, agreements or obligations of the Owner under this 
Agreement;

ii. The making or furnishing by the Owner to the Village of any representation, 
warranty, certificate, or report within or in connection with this Agreement 
or any related agreement which is untrue or misleading in any material 
respect;

iii. The filing by Owner of any petitions or proceedings under applicable state 
or federal bankruptcy or insolvency law or statute which petition or 
proceeding has not been dismissed or stayed;

iv. The initiation against Owner by any creditor of an involuntary petition or 

Page | 126AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



proceeding under any state or federal bankruptcy or insolvency law or 
statute, which petition or proceeding is not dismissed or stayed within forty-
five (45) days after the date of filing; and

v. The violation or breach by Owner of any law, statute, rule or regulation of 
a governmental or administrative entity relating to the operation of the 
Property. 

b. The following shall constitute an Event of Default by the Village hereunder:

i. The failure of the Village to perform, keep or observe any of the covenants, 
conditions, promises, agreements or obligations of the Village under this 
Agreement.

Section 6. Remedies. Except as otherwise set forth herein, upon an Event of Default by 
either party, or any successor, the defaulting or breaching party (or successor) shall, upon written 
notice from the other party specifying such default or breach, proceed immediately to cure or 
remedy such default or breach, and shall, in any event, within thirty (30) days after receipt of 
notice, cure or remedy such default or breach (“Cure Period”).  In case the Event of Default shall 
not be cured or remedied prior to the end of the Cure Period, the remedy to the aggrieved party 
shall, in addition to any other remedies provided for in this Agreement, be as set forth below:

a. In the Event of Default by the Owner, and after the expiration of all applicable 
cure periods, the Village shall have the following rights and remedies: 

i. Village shall have the following rights and remedies, in addition to any 
other remedies provided in this Agreement: (A) to terminate this 
Agreement and the Class 6b SER Assessment Classifications on the 
Property; and (B) to pursue and secure, in any court of competent 
jurisdiction by any action or proceeding at law or in equity, any available 
remedy, including but not limited to injunctive relief or the specific 
performance of the obligations contained herein.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing and except as specifically set forth in Section 6(a)(ii) below, the 
Village shall not have the right to recover any property tax savings the 
Owner received as a result of the Class 6b SER Assessment Classifications 
on the Property for property tax years concluded prior to the Event of 
Default.

ii. Within five (5) business days of written demand from Village (the 
“Demand Notice”), Owner covenants that it shall file all requisite 
documentation with the Cook County Assessor’s Office relinquishing 
and/or voiding the Class 6b SER Assessment Classifications for the 
Property and shall concurrently provide the Village with written notice of 
relinquishment together with all relevant documentation.  Owner’s 
covenants and obligations under this Section 6 shall survive the termination 
or expiration of the Agreement.  If Owner fails to comply with any written 

Page | 127AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



demand provided pursuant to this Section 6(a)(ii), Village, in addition to 
any and all other remedies, shall have the right to secure the specific 
performance of the obligation hereunder, and the right to recover the 
aggregate of any property tax savings the Owner received as a result of the 
Class 6b SER Assessment Classifications on the Property accruing after the 
issuance of the Demand Notice.

b. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default by the Village, and after the 
expiration of all applicable cure periods, the Owner shall have the following as 
its sole and exclusive rights and remedies: (i) to pursue and secure, in any court 
of competent jurisdiction by any action or proceeding at law or in equity, 
injunctive relief or the specific performance of the obligations contained herein. 

c. Unless otherwise provided, the rights and remedies provided by this Agreement 
are cumulative and the use of any one right or remedy by any party shall not 
preclude or waive the right to use any other remedy.

Section 7.  Assignment.  

a. Up to the deadlines identified in Exhibit B, Owner shall not sell, assign, transfer 
or otherwise dispose of its interest under this Agreement or its interest in the 
Property under any circumstances, without the written prior approval of the 
Village, which may be withheld or denied in its sole and absolute discretion, 
except:   

i.  Sale, assignment, or transfer to an entity directly controlling, controlled by 
or under common control with Owner (“Affiliate”) shall be permitted 
without prior written approval of the Village (a “Permitted Transfer”); and

ii. Sale, assignment, or transfer of portions of the Property for which the 
Village has approved the completion of the improvements shall be a 
Permitted Transfer and shall not require Village approval.

b. After the Substantial Completion Date or Phase Completion Date as applicable, 
and so long as there exists no uncured Event of Default, Owner shall be 
permitted to sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of its interests under this 
Agreement and its interests in the Property. Prior to exercising rights hereunder, 
any such proposed transferee or assignee under this Section 7(b) shall expressly 
assume all of the obligations of Owner under this Agreement and shall agree to 
be subject to all the conditions and restrictions to which Owner is subject by 
executing and recording on the Property an assumption, as approved by the 
Village, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or denied (the 
“Assumption”).  Upon receipt of the fully executed Assumption by the Village, 
Owner shall be released from any obligation or responsibility under this 
Agreement. 

Page | 128AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



c. Any assignment or transfer in violation of this Section 7 shall not relieve Owner 
or any other party from any obligations under this Agreement, and any such 
transferee or assignee shall not be entitled to the rights and benefits provided 
for herein.

Section 8. Miscellaneous.  

a. Each party shall, at the request of the other, execute and/or deliver any further 
documents and do all acts as each party may reasonably require to carry-out the 
intent and meaning of this Agreement.

b. No waiver of any term or condition of this Agreement shall be binding or 
effective for any purpose unless expressed in writing and signed by the party 
making the waiver, and then shall be effective only in the specific instances and 
for the purpose given.

c. This Agreement represents the entire Agreement between the Village and the 
Owner.  No amendment, waiver or modification of any term or condition of this 
Agreement shall be binding or effective for any purpose unless expressed in 
writing and adopted by each of the parties as required by law.

d. If any section, sub-section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Agreement is for 
any reason held to be invalid, such decisions or decisions shall not affect the 
validity of the remaining portions of the Agreement.

e. Each party warrants to the other that it is authorized to execute, deliver and 
perform this Agreement and agrees not to raise lack of such authority in any 
action brought by any party or any third party to this Agreement.  

f. All rights, title and privileges herein granted, including all benefits and burdens, 
shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 
Applicant and the Village and, hereto, their respective grantees, successors, 
assigns and legal representatives.  A copy of this Agreement shall be recorded 
against the Property at Owner’s sole expense.

g. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws 
of the State of Illinois.

h. Each party irrevocably agrees that all judicial actions or proceedings in any 
way, manner or respect, arising out of or from or related to this Agreement shall 
be litigated only in courts having sites within the County of Cook, Illinois and 
appeal courts within the State of Illinois.  Each party hereby consents to the 
jurisdiction of any local or state court located within the County of Cook, 
Illinois and hereby waives any objections each party may have based on 
improper venue or forum non conveniens to the conduct of any proceeding 
instituted hereunder.

Page | 129AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



i. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 
shall, for all purposes, be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts 
shall together constitute one and the same instrument. 

j. In the event any legal proceeding is commenced for the purpose of interpreting, 
construing, enforcing or claiming under this Agreement, the prevailing party, 
as determined by the court, shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney’s 
fees and costs in such proceeding or any appeal therefrom.

Section 9.  Notice.  

a. Unless otherwise specified, any notice, demand or request required hereunder 
shall be given in writing at the addresses set forth below, by any of the following 
means:  (a) personal service; (b) overnight courier; or (c) certified mail, return 
receipt requested:

                    If to Village: Village of Tinley Park
16250 S. Oak Park Ave., 
Tinley Park, IL 60477
Attn: David J. Niemeyer
Village Manager
dniemeyer@tinleypark.org

With a copy to: Peterson, Johnson & Murray – Chicago LLC
200 West Adams St. Ste. 2125
Chicago, IL 60606
Attn: Paul O’Grady
pogrady@pjmchicago.com

If to Owner: John Rymsza
Duvan Acquisition, LLC
c/o Cabinet Wholesale Supply, Inc.
17548 Duvan Drive
Tinley Park, Illinois 60477

With a copy to:
Sandrick Law Firm, LLC
16475 Van Dam Road
South Holland, Il. 60473

Page | 130AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



b. Any notice, demand, request or other communication required or permitted 
hereunder may be made only upon a party’s attorney, which shall be effective 
for all purposes.

c. For all purposes of this Agreement, a “business day” shall refer to all Mondays, 
Tuesdays, Wednesdays, Thursdays and Fridays with the exception of United 
States and State of Illinois legal holidays.

 [EXECUTION PAGES FOLLOW

Page | 131AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Village and Owner have executed this Agreement the day and 
year first hereinabove written.

VILLAGE:

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, an Illinois municipal 
corporation

______________________________________
By: Jacob C. Vandenberg
Its: Mayor

ATTEST:

By:  Kristin A. Thirion
Its:  Village Clerk

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) ss.

COUNTY OF COOK )

On this ____ day of December, 2020, before me, personally appeared Jacob C. Vandenberg, 
personally known, who being by me duly sworn did say that he is the Village President of the 
Village of Tinley Park, Illinois, an Illinois municipal corporation, that said instrument was 
signed on behalf of said corporation by authority of its Board of Trustees, and acknowledged said 
instrument to be the free act and deed of said corporation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal at my 
office in Cook County, Illinois the day and year last above written.

Notary Public

Printed Name:

My commission expires:

Page | 132AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Village and Owner have executed this Agreement the day and 
year first hereinabove written.

OWNER:

Duvan Acquistion, LLC

By: ______________________________
Name:  ___________________________
Title:    Managing Member

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) ss.

COUNTY OF COOK )

On this ____ day of December, 2020, before me, personally appeared ___________, 
personally known, who being by me duly sworn did say that he is a member of Duvan Acquistion, 
LLC, that said instrument was signed on behalf of said company, and acknowledged said 
instrument to be the free act and deed of said company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal at my 
office in Cook County, Illinois the day and year last above written.

Notary Public

Printed Name:

My commission expires:

Page | 133AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT A

Legal Description

PIN: 27-36-204-033-0000

 

LOTS 3 AND 4 (EXCEPT THE SOUTH 30 FEET THEREOF) IN TINLEY INDUSTRIAL PARK, A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE 
NORTHEAST ¼ OF SECTION 36 TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING 
NORTH OF THE C.R.I & F, RY. IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

Page | 134AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT B

Code Violations and Schedule
# Improvement Deadline

1 Screening of the existing outdoor storage behind the west side of the building is 
required. This requires a solid fence to be placed around the outdoor storage area.

April 30, 2021

2 Trailers located on the adjacent vacant lot must be placed on an approved solid 
surface (asphalt or concrete) and properly screened. These trailers may be placed 
behind the building with the other outdoor storage covered in the above comment.

April 30, 2021

3 The dumpster on the north side of the building is required to be screened. The 
dumpster can be located behind the building with the other outdoor storage or a 
separate dumpster enclosure can be constructed.

April 30, 2021

Page | 135AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-081

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A HERITAGE SITE 
MIXED-USE BUILDING AT 16820 OAK PARK AVENUE

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 136AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-081

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A HERITAGE SITE 
MIXED-USE BUILDING AT 16820 OAK PARK AVENUE

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, a petition for the granting of a Special Use Permit to allow a Heritage Site to 
be converted to a mixed-us building on property located at 16820 Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, 
Illinois 60477 (“Subject Property”) has been filed by Riz Villasenor, on behalf of MedPro Health 
Providers LLC (“Petitioner”) with the Village Clerk of this Village and has been referred to the 
Plan Commission of the Village and has been processed in accordance with the Tinley Park Zoning 
Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission held a public hearing on the question of whether the 
Special Use Permit should be granted on December 3, 2020 at the Village Hall of this Village at 
and by teleconference per Gubernatorial Executive Order 2020-18 and the “Village of Tinley Park 
Temporary Public Participation Rules & Procedures”, at which time all persons were afforded an 
opportunity to be heard; and

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said public hearing 
by publication not more than thirty (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said public 
hearing in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general circulation within the Village of Tinley 
Park; and 

WHEREAS, after hearing testimony on the petition, the Plan Commission found that the 
petition met the requisite standards enumerated in the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance for granting 
the Special Use and voted 8-0 to recommend to the Village Board of Trustees approval of the 
Special Use; and 

 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission has filed its report and findings and recommendations 
regarding the Special Use Permit with the President and Board of Trustees, and this Board of 
Trustees has duly considered said report, findings and recommendations; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Special Use Permit; and 

Page | 137AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of facts as 
if said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That the report of findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission are herein 
incorporated by reference as the findings of this President and the Board of Trustees, as complete 
as if fully set forth herein at length. This Board finds that the Petitioner has provided evidence 
establishing that they have met the standards for granting the Special Use Permit as set forth in 
Section X.J.5 of the Zoning Ordinance, and the proposed granting of the Special Use Permit as set 
forth herein is in the public good and in the best interest of the Village and its residents and is 
consistent with and fosters the purpose and spirit of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance.

X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said 
Commission shall find:

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be 
detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general 
welfare;
 The proposed project will convert the first floor of the property to a professional 

office and a second floor an apartment. The uses are similar and compatible with 
one another and surrounding uses.

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property 
in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially 
diminish and impair property values within the neighborhood;

 The proposed project will allow the vacant building to convert the first floor to a 
commercial office use and the second floor to a residence. The project will further 
promote the reuse of an existing property in Tinley Park. This mix of uses is similar 
and compatible with existing nearby uses along Oak Park Avenue.

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the 
district;
 The majority of the property within this area has already been developed. The 

project will meet current Village building codes and is among the highest and 
best uses for the site. The addition of an apartment to the property continues the 
Legacy Plan’s principles in retaining and expanding residential uses in the NG 
district.

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have 
been or are being provided;
 The site and building are existing and have all appropriate existing utilities, roads, 

and drainage facilities. Drainage has been accounted for on the site and utilizes 
the existing storm sewer system.

Page | 138AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so 
designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and
 The site and building are existing, and proposed site changes will address issues 

with the on-street parking and access of employees coming to the site. The proposed 
site plan incorporates public and private walkways for safe pedestrian travel to and 
from the site. 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations 
of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be 
modified by the Village Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan 
Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such conditions and restrictions upon 
the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to ensure 
compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit 
upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of 
this Ordinance.  Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute 
a violation of this Ordinance.
 The Special Use conforms to all other applicable regulations of the Zoning 

Ordinance and Village regulations. The proposed commercial and residential uses 
are consistent with other properties along Oak Park Avenue. 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic 
development of the community as a whole.
 The requests fill a vacant structure and the addition of an apartment is consistent 

with the Legacy Plan’s goal of retaining and expanding population density around 
the Downtown Core to support a strong economic center.

SECTION 3: The Special Use Permit set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following 
described property:

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 
LOT 3 (EXCEPT ALL THE SOUTH 25 FEET THEREOF) AND LOT 10 (EXCEPT THE WEST 
200 FEET THEREOF) ALL IN BLOCK 6 IN ELMORE’S OAK PARK AVENUE ESTATES, 
BEING A SUBDIVISION OF A PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, 
TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN 
(EXCEPT THAT PART OF DRAINAGE DITCH CONVEYED BY DOCUMENT 377150), AS 
PER PLAT RECORDED APRIL, 25, 1929, AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 10351098, IN COOK 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 28-30-107-026-0000

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:  16820 Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois

SECTION 4: That a Special Use Permit to create a mixed-use building on a Legacy Code Heritage 
Site as indicated in Section XII.3.A.2 (Legacy Code Uses – Special Uses) at the Subject Property 
in accordance with the “List of Reviewed Plans” attached hereto, is hereby granted to the Petitioner 
with the following conditions:

Page | 139AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



1. Prior to any occupancy, the commercial space shall have all permitted building work 
complete to convert the space to a commercial use including a buildout, fire suppression, 
and fire alarm system permits.

2. A photometric study shall be completed to determine how to best light the site and building 
in compliance with Village standards. Site lighting shall be installed with the required 
parking lot work.

3. The following project deadlines shall be met:
a. Parking lot work, including replacement of all asphalt and required site lighting 

shall be completed by June 30, 2021.
b. Proposed landscaping shall be installed by June 30, 2021. The final landscape plan, 

including plant species and placement shall be approved by Village Staff prior to 
planting.

c. The commercial and residential apartment construction work/occupancies may be 
phased with Building Official approval of the building permit. All work for the 
conversion to a mixed-use building shall be completed by December 31, 2021.

4. A Final Plat of Subdivision consolidating the two lots and providing for cross-access to the 
north shall be submitted to the Village for review and approved by the Village Board.

5. Site Plan Approval is subject to approval of the Special Use Permit, Variations, and Final 
Plat by the Village Board.

6. Site Plan Approval is subject to final engineering plan review and approval by the Village 
Engineer.”

SECTION 5: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 6: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

SECTION 7: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

Page | 140AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 141AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of 

Cook and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and 

correct copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-081, “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL 

USE PERMIT FOR A HERITAGE SITE MIXED-USE BUILDING AT 16820 OAK PARK 

AVENUE,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley 

Park on December 15, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 142AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



December 3, 2020 – Workshop/Public Hearing 
 

MedPro Health Providers, Mixed-Use Building  
16820 Oak Park Avenue 
 

  
 

 
The Petitioner, Riz Villasenor, on behalf of MedPro Health Providers, LLC (contract 

purchaser) is seeking Site Plan Approval, a Special Use Permit, and Variations needed to 

convert a single-family residential home to a mixed-use building with a first-floor office and 

second-floor apartment at 16820 Oak Park Avenue in the NG, Neighborhood General, 

zoning district. 

 

The Petitioner is proposing to renovate the first floor of the building for an office to operate 

their business, MedPro Health Providers. The company is a home-based healthcare 

business that is currently leasing a location in Tinley Park. This location will be an 

administrative office for the company, with no patients visiting the site. The building’s 

second floor will be renovated into an apartment so that the building is mixed-use. 

Conversion of a Heritage Site to a mixed-use is permitted in the NG zoning district with a 

Special Use Permit approval. Additionally, three Variations are being requested. 

 

The property will remain a Heritage Site that does not comply with the Legacy Code’s 

redevelopment requirements. However, it will come closer to the intent of code while 

keeping with the scale of the existing 90-year-old structure. The proposal mirrors similar 

mixed-use buildings in the area and along Oak Park Avenue. The mixed-use allows 

businesses to operate while also retaining the Legacy Plan’s goal of keeping residential 

density that supports the commercial uses in the Downtown Core. The redevelopment 

proposal benefits the Village by redeveloping a vacant and deteriorating building, while also 

keeping an existing healthcare business in town. 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 

Riz Villasenor, on behalf 

of MedPro Health 

Providers, LLC (contract 

purchaser) 

 

Property Location 

16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

PIN 

28-30-107-026-0000 

 

Zoning 

NG, Neighborhood 

General 

 

Approvals Sought 

Site Plan Approval 

Special Use Permit 

Variations 

Final Plat 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Planner 

Daniel Ritter, AICP 

Senior Planner 
 

Page | 143AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 2 of 17 

 
The subject property was originally constructed as a residential home in a bungalow style around the 1930s. The 

structure is not identified as a culturally and historically significant property according to the Legacy Plan. However, 

the house was home to Tinley Park’s first and only female mayor, Rose Brown, who served from 1949 to 1952. The 

house also offers a unique brick design for the entire first floor. The property was renovated in the late 90s to serve 

as a commercial office. However, after a few years of vacancy was permanently converted back to a single-family 

residential house in 2010. 

 

The property consists of two lots that 

are approximately 27,725 sq. ft. in 

total size and includes  

a two-story single-family home 

structure, an ADA ramp, and an 

asphalt driveway and parking lot that 

has begun to deteriorate. The rear of 

the lot is heavily wooded. 

 

This subject property is located in the 

NG, Neighborhood General, zoning 

district. It is classified as a “Heritage 

Site” because the site was developed 

lawfully before the adoption of the 

Legacy Code. Sites remain classified 

as a Heritage Site as long as any 

voluntary and private-owner initiated 

modifications to the property do not 

exceed 50% of the property’s market 

value. The Legacy Code does permit a 

Heritage Site in the NG district 

(whether residential or commercial) 

to be converted to a mixed-use 

building with Special Use Permit 

approval. 

 

To the north of the subject property is 

a detached single-family residential 

home that is zoned NG. To the north 

of that property is a property zoned 

NG that made a similar mixed-use 

conversion (January 2020) and 

houses An English Garden Florist & 

Gifts. To the south of the subject site 

is a vacant lot that was a former Clark 

gas station that is also zoned NG. To 

the west is a single-family home 

zoned R-2 (Single-Family Residential) 

and to the east across Oak Park 

Avenue are single-family homes 

zoned R-4 (Single-Family Residential). 

 

 
 

 

Page | 144AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 3 of 17 

Existing Site Photos: 

 

 
Above: Front/east structure elevation. 

 

   
  Left Image: View of rear parking lot facing west.                          Right Image: Rear/west structure elevation. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 145AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 4 of 17 

 
The Petitioner’s proposal will convert most of the first floor and basement to  a commercial use and the second floor 

to an apartment. The commercial use will include a 772 sq. ft. of professional office space for their business, MedPro 

Health Providers LLC (http://www.medprohealthproviders.com/), which operates as an at-home healthcare business. 

Most of the business’s employees are healthcare professionals that work remotely and go to patients’ homes. This 

office will primarily be utilized by approximately five or six management and administrative staff. Healthcare staff do 

not come to the office regularly, only visiting for administrative activities or supply pick-up. Due to the current 

pandemic precautions, office contact and healthcare professional visits have been even further limited to avoid any 

unnecessary contact. The basement will be used by the commercial use for storage and also has a second bathroom. 

 

The apartment will be a two-bedroom and one-bathroom apartment that is approximately 752 sq. ft. in size. The 

apartment’s second floor will have two bedrooms, a living room, and a bathroom. There will be stairs from the second 

floor to a first floor kitchen area that will have separate access and exclusive use for the apartment tenant. The 

apartment is proposed to have basement storage as well, but that is not required or calculated into the apartment’s 

total usable floor area. While the layout is unorthodox, with the kitchen on the first floor, keeping it at the existing 

location helps save space on the second floor and saves money compared to relocating it. The primary purpose of 

the apartment addition is for tax relief purposes that allow the business use to be financially feasible in the future. 

 

Open Item #1: Discuss any concerns about the apartment’s use, with a kitchen located on a different floor that the 

living area. 

 

Basement – Office & Apartment Storage            Second Floor - Apartment 

    
 

First/Ground Floor – Commercial Office & Apartment Kitchen 
 

Page | 146AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 5 of 17 

 
 

Permits – Renovation and buildout work will need to be completed so that the first floor can be used as a commercial 

office and the second floor can function as a standalone apartment. The conversion of a residential structure to a 

commercial or mixed-use structure also necessitates the installation of a fire suppression system, fire alarm, and 

ingress/egress requirements. Building and fire permit plans require approval and the work must be completed prior 

to occupancy. Staff has added the permit requirements as a recommended condition of approval for clarification 

purposes. 

 

Phasing - Due to timing issues with the Petitioner’s current lease, they plan to phase the work by completing the 

necessary work for the office occupancy first, then continue working on the apartment as a later phase. Staff is 

supportive of construction phasing, but since the site must be a mixed-use structure, certain information will be 

needed for the entire project to be submitted. Staff is recommending a condition be placed on the Special Use Permit 

that allows for construction phasing, but requiring completion of all work by December 31, 202. 

 

Open Item #2: Discuss any concerns and the recommended condition for the proposed phasing of the office and 

apartment work. 

 

Page | 147AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 6 of 17 

 
The mixed-use building allows a business to reuse the property, maintain a dwelling on the property, and reduce 

property taxes. The NG zoning district is residentially-focused to provide sufficient density surrounding the Downtown 

Core and train station. The additional residential dwellings help to support the businesses within the Legacy District 

and specifically the Downtown Core. While the proposal will not bring the property completely into compliance with 

the vision of the Legacy Plan, it will help ensure the longevity of a quality 90-year-old property in the downtown area. 

Staff believes the proposed mixed-use building is the best option to revitalize and preserve the structure for the future 

of the community.  

 

The Special Use Permit to convert Heritage Sites to mixed-use buildings serves a couple of purposes. First, it ensures 

that the proposed commercial and residential uses work in harmony with each other and that the conversion is not 

creating substandard housing for future residents. This is particularly relevant in properties that were not originally 

designed to have both residential and commercial uses. Staff does not have concerns with the mix of uses based on 

the use of the first floor as a professional office, staffed during typical business hours. Secondly, the Special Use 

requires consideration that the request is in harmony with the intent and vision of the Legacy Plan. Similar to 

Variations for improvements that are greater than the 50% investment threshold (covered in the Variation section 

below), staff created the following standards when looking at particular Legacy District properties for expansion or 

conversion: 

 

• The condition of the existing building:  The building is in sound condition, particularly for a 90-year-old property 

with some cultural significance. The reuse of the property as mixed-use is expected to keep the property 

profitable in the future with the mix of uses and lower tax rate for mixed-use buildings. 

• The ownership of the property (owner-occupied): The new property owner will operate their business in the 

offices located on the ground floor; the second floor apartment will be advertised for lease. 

• The longevity of the existing non-conforming use: The property owner plans to occupy the first floor of the 

structure for the foreseeable future. A mixed-use building with commercial and residential uses can remain 

successful in the future and help to keep the structure occupied and well maintained. 

• The ability for the property to be converted to function as the permitted use and comply with other Legacy 

Code redevelopment requirements:  While the structure is currently single-family residential, the mixed-use 

design will permit an additional commercial use along Oak Park Avenue and help to promote the viability of 

the Downtown Core. The proposal is the highest and best use of a property with a large lot that has space for 

parking, landscaping, dumpsters, bicycle racks, walkways, and other aspects typically present in commercial 

uses. The structure was originally designed as a single-family home and will remain in harmony with the 

surrounding area. The property otherwise complies with the Legacy Code’s exterior requirements for heritage 

sites. The Special Use Permit does not prevent the first floor from being converted to residential (apartment) 

in the future if the owner wishes to add a second residential unit. 

• The impact of the continuation of the non-conforming use on the redevelopment potential of the area: The 

property is located on a block that is largely established uses. A mixed-use property will not interfere with the 

rest of the block’s ability to redevelop following the code requirements. The majority of the block has stable 

commercial uses and is not expected to redevelop in the near future. 

 

Based on the above factors, Staff supports a Special Use Permit to permit the commercial Heritage Site to be 

converted to a mixed-use building thereby allowing the property to continue to operate under the Heritage Site status.  

 

Open Item #3: Discuss the proposed Special Use Permit to allow the conversion of a single-family residential 

heritage site in the Neighborhood General (NG) zoning district to a mixed-use building with a business/professional 

office and apartment. 

Page | 148AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 7 of 17 

 
The exterior of the site has a few changes to the layout that will ensure it complies with the site requirements of 

commercial uses. Different aspects of the site plan are discussed in the sections below. 

 

 
 

Parking Lot & Parking – The existing parking lot area is a large asphalt area without striping that requires full 

reconstruction due to pavement deterioration. To save costs, the Petitioner is proposing to shrink this paved area to 

accommodate only the parking that is needed for the proposed uses. Per the Legacy Code requirements, the 

proposed site requires a minimum of 6 parking stalls total (1.5 stalls per residential dwelling and 1 stall per 200 sq. ft 

of street-level commercial usable floor space). The proposed parking lot includes 10 parking stalls in compliance with 

the code requirements. 2 stalls will be dedicated and properly signed for the apartment tenant’s use. The other eight 

stalls (including one ADA) are for the office use which anticipates 5-6 employees and occasional visitors. A small 

turnaround area is also included at the end of the parking lot that allows vehicles to turn around on the site and 

reverse for the last parking stalls. Due to the phasing of the occupancy and weather limitations for asphalt work, staff 

recommends that a completion deadline for the work of June 30, 2021. 

 

Open Item #4: Discuss the proposed parking lot changes and layout. Discuss a Parking lot work deadline of June 30, 

2021. 

 

 
 

Page | 149AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 8 of 17 

Drive Aisle Width – Even though the two-way drive aisle does not meet code requirements of 24’ in width (currently 

15-18 ft), as Heritage Site and because this is maintenance, these existing conditions are permitted to remain as they 

exist. There is also limited opportunity to expand the drive aisle due to the existing building location. However, staff 

has recommended that the a cross-access agreement be recorded along the north drive aisle. This allows the drive 

aisle to be expanded if and when the property to the north redevelops. The aisle will then function as a shared drive 

aisle for the two properties and limit the number of curb cuts along Oak Park Avenue. Staff has recommended this 

cross-access easement as a condition of approval on the Final Plat. 

 

Open Item #5: Discuss the drive aisle access and recommended condition for cross-access. 

 

Landscaping - The landscaping on the site includes a number of existing trees at the front and rear of the property. 

Many of the existing trees will remain on the site but the rear area that is heavily wooded and overgrown, will have 

weeds and low-quality trees removed. The proposed Landscape Plan indicates the addition of shrubs along the 

parking lot perimeter and the building’s foundation. Additionally, two new trees are proposed in the front yard to 

substitute for parkway trees, which is too  narrow to accommodate street trees. The proposed Landscape Plan does 

not indicate specific species, planting schedules, or other information required of a professional Landscape Plan.  Staff 

is acceptable of the Landscape Plan in theory but due to the lack of detail, recommends that final Landscape Plan 

approval be required prior to planting. Staff also recommends placing a timeframe for completion of the landscape 

work due to the expected phasing and timing of the project.  

 

Open Item #6: Discuss the proposed landscaping and staff’s conditions to review the final landscape proposal and 

set a timeframe for landscape installation by June 30, 2021. 

  

Pedestrian Access and Bicycle Parking – A bicycle rack and a pedestrian walkway to the front entrance have been 

added in compliance with Heritage Site upgrade requirements. 

 

Site Lighting – No lighting has been proposed in the parking lot or the building. To safely and sufficiently light the 

parking lot and entrances/exits, staff is recommending that a photometric study be completed to understand how to 

best light the parking lot area without causing off-site glare. At a minimum, a parking lot light must be installed at the 

far end of the parking lot and at the building’s entrance/exit. The light fixture and pole styles are required to comply 

with the light types outlined in the legacy code. Staff has recommended as a condition of the site plan approval that 

a photometric plan with proposed lighting locations be indicated; the deadline for completion of the lighting along 

with the parking lot work is June 30, 2021.  

 

Open Item #7: Discuss the requirement to submit a photometric plan and recommended condition of approval that 

site lighting be installed with the parking lot work meeting the minimum site lighting requirements. 

 

Architectural – The only architectural change will be adding steps to the second-floor apartment so that it has a 

separate entrance. These stairs will be located at the rear of the structure and behind the building. The stairs and 

landing will be constructed of wood, similar to the existing stairs and ramp. 

 

Signage - No signage is proposed for the business at this time. However, ground and wall signs are permitted in 

compliance with the Zoning Ordinance requirements. 

 

Engineering Comments - The Petitioner will be installing new pavement and likely upgrading/adding utilities (water) 

as part of the project. The plans still require review from the Village Engineer that may require further revisions to be 

made before final engineering or permit approval. Staff recommends conditioning the site plan approval based upon 

final engineering plan approval by the Village Engineer and MWRD. 

 

Page | 150AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 9 of 17 

 

The subject parcel is comprised of two separate parcels and property index numbers (PINs).  Parcels 1 & 2 are non-

conforming lots, and therefore the parcels will be consolidated into one lot with one property index number to comply 

with setback and use requirements. As part of the Final Plat, a cross-access easement is also recommended to be 

included. The cross-access allows for the existing narrow two-way drive aisle to be expanded and shared with the 

property to the north if/when it is ever redeveloped. 

 

A Plat of Consolidation has not yet been submitted and the Petitioner is working with a surveyor to have it submitted. 

The plat will be required by the time the project goes to the Village Board. However, the overall concept of 

consolidation and the easement is simple enough to be explained and staff is comfortable keeping the project moving 

forward with that understanding and condition on the Site Plan Approval. 

 

Open Item #8: Discuss conditioning final Plat approval upon final staff and engineering review of the plat. The Final 

plat is required to be submitted to the Village Board for final approval.

 

Three Variations are requested by the Petitioner based on their current proposal and outlined below: 

 

1. 50% Heritage Site Threshold: A Variation from Section XII.2.A.10.b. (Legacy Code - NG Heritage Site) of the Zoning 

Ordinance to allow the Heritage Site Standards to exceed 50% of the property’s market value in site improvements. 
 

By voluntary improvements exceeding 50% of the value of the property, the Petitioner would typically need to 

meet all redevelopment standards including height, setback, use, parking location, and other requirements that 

likely necessitates the demolition of the entire building. The Petitioner does not find that economically or 

technically feasible on this site based upon their need for an office use and mixed-use building. 

 

This will be the third Variation request from the 50% threshold for a Heritage Site. The first request was for The 

Veterinary Clinic of Tinley Park (17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue) and the second request was for Avocado Theory 

(17302 Oak Park Avenue). During that initial request, staff created some standards to consider for this particular 

type of Variation or Special Use that would continue the use of a Heritage Site. These standards are covered in 

the Special Use section above. Based on those factors, Staff supports a Variation of the 50% threshold for Heritage 

Sites and allow the property to continue to operate under the Heritage Site status. 

 

2. Apartment Size: A Variation from Section V.C.2. (Usable Floor Area of Dwelling) of the Zoning Ordinance to permit a 

two-bedroom dwelling with approximately 752 sq. ft. of usable floor area, instead of the required min. of 1,000 sq. ft. 
 

The Variation is being requested because there is limited space to expand the apartment within the current 

building footprint. The Variation is unique in that the existing structure is existing and being converted to a mixed-

use structure. The apartment will have two bedrooms, a living area, bathroom, and first-floor kitchen. Alternatives 

options are cost prohibitive and the site will likely remain a detached single-family dwelling. If the dwelling was 

reduced to a one- bedroom unit, a Variation would still be required to meet that minimum 800 sq. ft. size and 

more work would have to be done to combine the existing bedrooms. 

 

3. Covered Residential Parking: A Variation from Section XII.3.C.3.d (Legacy Code - Residential Parking) to permit 

residential parking that is open to the sky and not located within or below the building’s envelop. 
 

The Petitioner has noted it is not technically or economically feasible to construct an attached covered parking 

structure for two parking spaces with a connection to the apartment due to the existing structure and layout. 

They will have two dedicated resident parking spaces and have additional parking flexibility on the site for visitors. 

 

Open Item #9: Discuss the three Variations requested. 

Page | 151AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 10 of 17 

 

Staff identified the following open items for discussion at the workshop: 

 

1. Discuss any concerns about the apartment’s use, with a kitchen located on a different floor that the living 

area. 

2. Discuss any concerns and the recommended condition for the proposed phasing of the office and apartment 

work. 

3. Discuss the proposed Special Use Permit to allow the conversion of a single-family residential heritage site in 

the Neighborhood General (NG) zoning district to a mixed-use building with a business/professional office 

and apartment. 

4. Discuss the proposed parking lot changes and layout. Discuss a Parking lot work deadline of June 30, 2021. 

5. Discuss the drive aisle access and recommended condition for cross-access. 

6. Discuss the proposed landscaping and staff’s conditions to review the final landscape proposal and set a 

timeframe for landscape installation by June 30, 2021. 

7. Discuss the requirement to submit a photometric plan and recommended condition of approval that site 

lighting be installed with the parking lot work meeting the minimum site lighting requirements. 

8. Discuss conditioning final Plat approval upon final staff and engineering review of the plat. The Final plat is 

required to be submitted to the Village Board for final approval. 

9. Discuss the three Variations requested. 

Page | 152AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 11 of 17 

 

Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 

Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Draft 

findings have been provided for review below. 

 

X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 

 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

• The proposed project will convert the first floor of the property to a professional office and a second floor 

an apartment. The uses are similar and compatible with one another and surrounding uses. 

 

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 

the neighborhood; 

• The proposed project will allow the vacant building to convert the first floor to a commercial office use and 

the second floor to a residence. The project will further promote the reuse of an existing property in Tinley 

Park. This mix of uses is similar and compatible with existing nearby uses along Oak Park Avenue. 

 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 

• The majority of the property within this area has already been developed. The project will meet current 

Village building codes and is among the highest and best uses for the site. The addition of an apartment to 

the property continues the Legacy Plan’s principles in retaining and expanding residential uses in the NG 

district. 

 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided; 

• The site and building are existing and have all appropriate existing utilities, roads, and drainage facilities.. 

Drainage has been accounted for on the site and utilizes the existing storm sewer system. 

 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 

• The site and building are existing, and proposed site changes will address issues with the on-street parking 

and access of employees coming to the site. The proposed site plan incorporates public and private 

walkways for safe pedestrian travel to and from the site. 

 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 

pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such conditions 

and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to ensure 

compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon other 

properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to 

comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 

• The Special Use conforms to all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance and Village 

regulations. The proposed commercial and residential uses are consistent with other properties along Oak 

Park Avenue. 

 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of the 

community as a whole. 

Page | 153AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 12 of 17 

• The requests fill a vacant structure and the addition of an apartment is consistent with the Legacy Plan’s 

goal of retaining and expanding population density around the Downtown Core to support a strong 

economic center. 

 

It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 

Permit is tied to the Petitioner. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever apply 

to the property to which it is granted. Staff encourages the Plan Commission to refer to Section X.J.6. to examine the 

conditions where a Special Use Permit will expire. 

 

 

Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Variation of the regulations 

of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, based upon the evidence presented for each of 

the Standards for Variations listed below. The Plan Commission must provide findings for the first three standards; 

the remaining standards are provided to help the Plan Commission further analyze the request. Staff has prepared 

the following draft responses for the Findings of Fact for review. 

 

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 

• The Variations are being requested to allow the reuse of an existing building that is approximately 90 years 

in age and has cultural significance. The proposal will maintain the existing scale of the building. The 

structure is in good condition, proposed to be occupied by the owner, and the proposal brings the site into 

closer compliance with the Legacy Plan and redevelopment requirements. Redevelopment or reuse of the 

property is not economically and technically feasible without the requested Variations. 

 

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 

• The Variations are being requested to allow the reuse of an existing building that is approximately 90 years 

in age and has cultural significance. The site is small and has little opportunity for full redevelopment. 

Additionally, the building is structurally sound, making reuse economically, technically, and 

environmentally beneficial. 

 

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 

• The Variations will maintain the existing building scale and design with a uniform appearance throughout 

the building. The building’s residential character is similar to other properties in the immediate area. 

 

4. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there are practical 

difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the following facts favorable 

to the Petitioner have been established by the evidence: 

 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property 

involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 

inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out; 

 

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 

to other property within the same zoning classification; 

 

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property; 

 

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by a 

previous owner; 

Page | 154AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 13 of 17 

 

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 

property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and 

 

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent property, 

or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of fire, or 

endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the 

neighborhood. 

 

 

In addition to any other specific standards set forth herein the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Special Use, 

variance, appeal, or map amendment from the regulations of this ordinance unless it shall have made findings of fact, 

based upon evidence presented to it, in each specific case that: 

 

a. The proposed improvement meets the Legacy Plan and its Principles, as presented in Section 1.A-B: 

Purpose and Intent, of this ordinance; 

• The proposal aligns with the Legacy Plan principles of retaining and expanding residential uses to support 

the Downtown Core commercial. The reuse of the space for commercial and residential uses, helps to 

maximize space utilization and allow a well-maintained property to be reoccupied and repurposed after 

years of vacancy. 

 

b. The new improvement is compatible with uses already developed or planned in this district and will not 

exercise undue detrimental influences upon surrounding properties; 

• A mixed-use building works well with the existing developments along that block of Oak Park Avenue, which 

has a mix of uses existing and expected in the future. A mixed-use with a low-intensity commercial use fits 

in well with the planned residential uses in the area. 

 

c. Any improvement meets the architectural standards set forth in the Legacy Code; 

• No exterior improvements to the building are proposed with the Special Use except for a rear staircase. 

 

d. The improvement will have the effect of protecting and enhancing the economic development of the 

Legacy Plan area. 

• The reuse of a property that has been vacant for a number of years with an existing Tinley Park business, 

provides economic benefits to the Village compared to a vacant structure. The proposed residential 

apartment will help bring additional revenue and tax relief to the property and help support the business 

owner’s success. The retention of the dwelling is consistent with the Legacy Plan’s goal of increasing 

population density around the Downtown Core to support a strong economic center.  

Page | 155AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 14 of 17 

 

Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that the conditions listed below must be met and reviewed for Site 

Plan approval. The Architectural Standards have not been included since the proposal does not include and building 

or architectural changes.  

 

Site Design 

 

a. Building/parking location:  Buildings shall be located in a position of prominence with parking located to the 

rear or side of the main structure when possible. Parking areas shall be designed so as to provide continuous 

circulation avoiding dead-end parking aisles. Drive-through facilities shall be located to the rear or side of the 

structure and not dominate the aesthetics of the building. Architecture for canopies of drive-through areas 

shall be consistent with the architecture of the main structure.  

 

b. Loading Areas: Loading docks shall be located at the rear or side of buildings whenever possible and screened 

from view from public rights-of-way. 

 

c. Outdoor Storage:  Outdoor storage areas shall be located at the rear of the site in accordance with Section 

III.O.1. (Open Storage). No open storage is allowed in front or corner side yards and are not permitted to 

occupy areas designated for parking, driveways or walkways. 

 

d. Interior Circulation: Shared parking and cross access easements are encouraged with adjacent properties of 

similar use. Where possible visitor/employee traffic shall be separate from truck or equipment traffic.  

 

e. Pedestrian Access: Public and interior sidewalks shall be provided to encourage pedestrian traffic. Bicycle use 

shall be encouraged by providing dedicated bikeways and parking. Where pedestrians or bicycles must cross 

vehicle pathways a cross walk shall be provided that is distinguished by a different pavement material or color. 

 

  

Page | 156AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 15 of 17 

 

If the Plan Commission wishes to take action on the Petitioner’s requests, the appropriate wording of the motions is 

listed below. The protocol for the writing of a motion is to write it in the affirmative so that a positive or negative 

recommendation correlates to the Petitioner’s proposal. By making a motion, it does not indicate a specific 

recommendation in support or against the plan. 

 

Motion 1 - Site Plan 

“…make a motion to grant the Petitioner, Riz Villasenor, on behalf of MedPro Health Providers LLC, Site Plan Approval for the 

property located at 16820 Oak Park Avenue in the NG, Neighborhood General, zoning district, in accordance with the plans 

submitted in the December 3, 2020 Staff Report and listed herein and subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. Prior to any occupancy, the commercial space shall have all permitted building work complete to convert the 

space to a commercial use including a buildout, fire suppression, and fire alarm system permits. 

2. A photometric study shall be completed to determine how to best light the site and building in compliance 

with Village standards. Site lighting shall be installed with the required parking lot work. 

3. The following project deadlines shall be met: 

a. Parking lot work, including replacement of all asphalt and required site lighting shall be completed by 

June 30, 2021. 

b. Proposed landscaping shall be installed by June 30, 2021. The final landscape plan, including plant 

species and placement shall be approved by Village Staff prior to planting. 

c. The commercial and residential apartment construction work/occupancies may be phased with Building 

Official approval of the building permit. All work for the conversion to a mixed-use building shall be 

completed by December 31, 2021. 

4. A Final Plat of Subdivision consolidating the two lots and providing for cross-access to the north shall be 

submitted to the Village for review and approved by the Village Board. 

5. Site Plan Approval is subject to approval of the Special Use Permit, Variations, and Final Plat by the Village 

Board. 

6. Site Plan Approval is subject to final engineering plan review and approval by the Village Engineer.” 

 

[any other conditions that the Commission would like to add] 

 

Motion 2 - Special Use 

 

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Riz Villasenor, on behalf of MedPro Health 

Providers LLC, a Special Use Permit to convert a Heritage Site from a detached single-family home to a mixed-use building 

at 16820 Oak Park Avenue in the NG (Neighborhood General) zoning district, in accordance with the plans submitted and 

listed herein and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed in the December 3, 2020 Staff Report, subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The commercial and residential apartment construction work/occupancies may be phased with Building Official 

approval of the building permit. All work for the conversion to a mixed-use building shall be completed by 

December 31, 2021.” 

 

[any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add]  
 

 

Page | 157AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 16 of 17 

Motion 3 - Variations 

 

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant the three Variations as listed in the December 3, 2020 Staff 

Report, to the Petitioner, Riz Villasenor, on behalf of MedPro Health Providers LLC, at the property located at 16820 Oak Park 

Avenue in the NG, Neighborhood General, zoning district, in accordance with the plans listed and adopt Findings of Fact as 

proposed in the December 3, 2020 Staff Report. 

 

[any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 

 

Motion 4 – Final Plat 

 

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant approval to the Petitioner, Riz Villasenor, on behalf of 

MedPro Health Providers LLC, a Final Plat for consolidation of two lots public cross-access to be granted to the north along 

the driveway on the property at 16820 Oak Park Avenue, in accordance with the plans listed in the December 3, 2020 Staff 

Report, subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The Final Plat shall include consolidation of the two lots and cross-access to the property to the north along the 

existing driveway. 

 

2. The Final Plat is subject to review and approval by Village Planning Staff, Village Attorney, and the Village Engineer.” 

 

[any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 

 

Page | 158AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MedPro, Mixed-Use Building– 16820 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 17 of 17 

 

 

Submitted Sheet Name 
Prepared 

By 

Date On 

Sheet 

 Application and Findings/Standards Responses Petitioner 10/9/2020 

 Plat of Survey – 16820 Oak Park Avenue JKD 6/26/2019 

A3 Site Plan MB 11/5/2020 

 Basement, Ground Floor, Second Floor Plans MB 11/5/2020 

    

JKD = Jens K. Doe Professional Land Surveyors, P.C. (Surveyor) 

MB = Mona Bisadi (Architectural/Layout Design) 

 

Page | 159AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 160AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



1
3

'
5

'

1
8

'
2

8
'
-
1

0
"

1
8

'

11'5'9'36'

scale:1/300

Site Plan

A3

Description:

16820 Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, IL

Date:11/05/2020

Address:

2
0

'
-
6

"

6
'
-
3

"

12'-6"

6'

2

9

'
-

1

"

9
9

'
-
1

0
"

141'-9"

2
5

'

183'

6'

7
4

'
-
1

0
"

9'-2"

1
1

'
-
1

"

22'-4"6'

R

2

5

'
-

9

"

54'-8"

5
6

'
-
1

0
"

5
'

95'-4"

324'-9"

345'

20'-3"

 Wheel Stop

Accessibility Sign

2
4

'

Resident Parking Sign

Existing Tree

Existing Tree

Existing Tree

Existing Tree

Existing Tree

Existing Tree

Existing Tree

Existing Tree

New Tree

New Tree

 Parking Light

 Parking Light Parking Light Parking Light

 Parking Light

 Parking Light

 Parking Light

 Parking Light

 Parking Light

 Parking Light

 Parking Light

72 Big Shrubs around parking lot

Landscape rock & pebble

15 Big shrubs

14 Small Shrubs

Existing Shrubs

Bike Rack

3 Big shrubs

Existing Hydrant

No tree will be added to the West and South-West part of the site

No tree or shrub will be removed

Existing Small Trees

6
'

R

7

'

-

7

"

R

8

'

-

1

"

R

3

'

-

4

"

R

3

'

-

4

"

Page | 161AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



scale:1/100

Ground Floor

Area:135.2 sq ft

Area:504.2 sq ft

Area:120.2 sq ft

Area:45 sq ft

Area:101.9 sq ft

Total area of office:

771.3 sq ft

Total area of the apartment

752.8 sq ft

Page | 162AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



scale:1/100

Basement

Area:121 sq ft

Area:

36.2 sq ft

Area:

22.9 sq ft
Area:

17 sq ft

Area of the basement 
Apt Storage: 197.1 sq ft

Area:

410.8 sq ft

Area:

104.8 sq ft

Area:

114.9 sq ft

Area:

28.9 sq ft

Page | 163AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Total area of the apartment

752.8 sq ft

scale:1/100

Second Floor

Area:176.6 sq ft

Area:194.8 sq ft

Area:163.3 sq ft

Area:59.8 sq ft

Area:23.1 sq ft

Total area of second floor:

617.6 sq ft

Page | 164AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



1

TO: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

FROM: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION

SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE December 3, 2020 REGULAR MEETING

 ITEM #5 Workshop/Public Hearing – MedPro Health Providers, LLC – 16820 Oak Park 
Avenue – Site Plan, Final Plat Approval, Special Use and Variations

Consider recommending that the Village Board grant MedPro Health Providers, LLC 
(Contract Purchaser) a Special Use Permit to allow a mixed-use structure and Variations 
from the Zoning Code (Heritage Site maximum investment threshold, minimum dwelling 
size, covered residential parking) to allow for the redevelopment of the property located at 
16820 Oak Park Avenue in the NG (Neighborhood General) zoning district. The request 
includes Site Plan and Final Plat approval to allow for redevelopment of a detached single-
family residential dwelling to a mixed-use building. The first floor and basement will be 
occupied by the Petitioner’s office-based business, and an apartment will be located on the 
second floor with a connected first floor kitchen.

Present Plan Commissioners: Chairman Garrett Gray (Participated electronically)
Steven Vick (Participated electronically)
Angela Gatto (Participated electronically)
Kehla West (Participated electronically)
Eduardo Mani (Participated electronically)
Lucas Engel (Participated electronically)
Frank Losciuto (Participated electronically)
James Gaskill 

Absent Plan Commissioners: Mary Aitchison

Village Officials and Staff:  Kimberly Clarke, Community Development Director
Paula Wallrich, Planning Manager (Participated electronically)
Dan Ritter, Senior Planner
Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary

Guests: Riz Villasenor, Petitioner (Participated electronically)

Dan Ritter, Senior Planner, presented the Staff Report.  He noted that the Staff Report has been distributed to the Plan 
Commission, the Applicant and is posted on the website in its entirety. The staff report is attached to these minutes 
and made a part of the meeting record.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the Applicant.

Riz Villasenor introduced his company, MedPro Health Provider.  They are a home health company based in Tinley 
Park.  He thanked staff and the Commission.  Currently they are leasing a third floor office space across from the old 
K-Mart on Harlem Avenue and his business has changed substantially.  His business is considered front-liners with 
the Covid.  They offer six disciplines and they are licensed with the State of Illinois.  They do nursing, physical 
therapy, occupational therapy, home health aid and medical social work.  We take care of the senior population in 
their homes.  The office in this new building makes sense since we are a home health agency.  Everything we do is 
done electronically, so the nurses and therapists don’t go to the office.  The majority of his staff due to Covid are 
working from home.  We can have a fully remote operation for the healthcare workers. This location would only be 
him and a few administrative office staff.  We are proud to know some of the history of the property and that this used 
to be the home of the first and only female mayor of Tinley Park, Ms. Rose Brown. 

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the commissioners.

Page | 165AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2

COMMISSIONER GASKILL inquired about the second floor apartment with the kitchen on the first floor.  Will this 
apartment be for rent?  He cannot imagine a person having to go downstairs to go to the kitchen.  This is just a way 
for them to reduce the property tax.    

Mr. Ritter replied this is not the typical setup.  It is being left at its current location mainly for cost savings, but does 
meet building code requirements.  They would have to remove one of the bedrooms to add the kitchen on the second 
floor.  Mr. Ritter noted they could live in it, rent it, or leave it vacant; that would be up to them. Without the decrease 
in property tax assessment, this conversion and redevelopment would not be being pursued.

CHAIRMAN GRAY inquired if there is an area in the kitchen for a table.  

Mr. Ritter replied he is not sure if they have finalized the floor plan, but that there may be room in the kitchen.

Mr. Villasenor replied the area of the stairs and the kitchen would be enclosed. When the area is closed there would 
be room for a small table.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted on the plan there is a room for the kitchen that is 135 sq. ft. and sees that they could 
potentially fit a table there.

COMMISSIONER WEST inquired if the main entrance to the building is by the stairs and the kitchen?

Mr. Ritter replied the main entrance is by the front of the building.  There is also a back entrance that would go directly 
into the office space.  People entering the office will not be going through the apartment kitchen, as it is not permitted 
by the building code.

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted the square footage for the apartment is less than the required square footage for a 2 
bedroom. However, making it a one bedroom also would be deficient. There is some basement area that is not being 
counted.  This is an innovative way to reuse a historic building that has been vacant.  Someone with leg issues would 
not be running up the stairs.  This would work for a bachelor or a single person.  He also agrees with all the open 
items.  He would like confirmation on the Plat of Consolidation.  If this is approved tonight, will they need this Plat 
for the December 15th Board Meeting?

Mr. Ritter replied that he would need the Plat prior to the meeting and has been warned it will be continued if not 
received in time.

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER VICK, seconded by COMMISSIONER GATTO to open the public hearing 
for the MedPro Health Providers, LLC.

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK,  GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by voice vote.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted he had confirmation of the legal notice for this public hearing being published in the local 
newspaper as required by state law.  

Anyone wishing to speak will be sworn in after the staff presentation.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the Applicant.

No comment.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comment from the public.

There was none.  

Page | 166AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



3

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comment from the Commissioners. 

There was none.  

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER MANI, seconded by COMMISSIONER WEST to close the public hearing 
for the MedPro Health Providers, LLC.

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK,  GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by voice vote.  

Mr. Ritter presented the standards for Special Use, Variations, Legacy Code and Site Plan.  

Motion 1 - Site Plan

A motion was made by COMMISSIONER GATTO, seconded by COMMISSIONER GASKILL to grant the 
Petitioner, Riz Villasenor, on behalf of MedPro Health Providers LLC, Site Plan Approval for the property located at 
16820 Oak Park Avenue in the NG, Neighborhood General, zoning district, in accordance with the plans submitted in 
the December 3, 2020 Staff Report and listed herein and subject to the following conditions:

1. Prior to any occupancy, the commercial space shall have all permitted building work complete to 
convert the space to a commercial use including a buildout, fire suppression, and fire alarm system 
permits.

2. A photometric study shall be completed to determine how to best light the site and building in 
compliance with Village standards. Site lighting shall be installed with the required parking lot work.

3. The following project deadlines shall be met:

a. Parking lot work, including replacement of all asphalt and required site lighting shall be 
completed by June 30, 2021.

b. Proposed landscaping shall be installed by June 30, 2021. The final landscape plan, including 
plant species and placement shall be approved by Village Staff prior to planting.

c. The commercial and residential apartment construction work/occupancies may be phased with 
Building Official approval of the building permit. All work for the conversion to a mixed-use 
building shall be completed by December 31, 2021.

4. A Final Plat of Subdivision consolidating the two lots and providing for cross-access to the north 
shall be submitted to the Village for review and approved by the Village Board.

5. Site Plan Approval is subject to approval of the Special Use Permit, Variations, and Final Plat by the 
Village Board.

6. Site Plan Approval is subject to final engineering plan review and approval by the Village Engineer.”

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK,  GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by roll call.  

Motion 2 - Special Use

Page | 167AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



4

COMMISSIONER ENGEL, seconded by COMMISSIONER MANI made a motion to recommend that the Village 
Board grant the Petitioner, Riz Villasenor, on behalf of MedPro Health Providers LLC, a Special Use Permit to convert 
a Heritage Site from a detached single-family home to a mixed-use building at 16820 Oak Park Avenue in the NG 
(Neighborhood General) zoning district, in accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein and adopt Findings 
of Fact as proposed in the December 3, 2020 Staff Report, subject to the following conditions:

1. The commercial and residential apartment construction work/occupancies may be phased with Building 
Official approval of the building permit. All work for the conversion to a mixed-use building shall be 
completed by December 31, 2021.”

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK, GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by roll call.  

Motion 3 - Variations

COMMISSIONER GASKILL, seconded by COMMISSIONER WEST made a motion to recommend that the Village 
Board grant the three Variations as listed in the December 3, 2020 Staff Report, to the Petitioner, Riz Villasenor, on 
behalf of MedPro Health Providers LLC, at the property located at 16820 Oak Park Avenue in the NG, Neighborhood 
General, zoning district, in accordance with the plans listed and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed in the December 
3, 2020 Staff Report.

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK, GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by roll call.  

Motion 4 – Final Plat

COMMISSIONER LOSCIUTO, seconded by COMMISSIONER GATTO made a motion to recommend that the 
Village Board grant approval to the Petitioner, Riz Villasenor, on behalf of MedPro Health Providers LLC, a Final 
Plat for consolidation of two lots public cross-access to be granted to the north along the driveway on the property at 
16820 Oak Park Avenue, in accordance with the plans listed in the December 3, 2020 Staff Report, subject to the 
following conditions:

1. The Final Plat shall include consolidation of the two lots and cross-access to the property to the north along 
the existing driveway.

2. The Final Plat is subject to review and approval by Village Planning Staff, Village Attorney, and the Village 
Engineer.

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK, GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by roll call.  

This item will go to the Village Board on Tuesday, December 15, 2020

Page | 168AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-082

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING VARIATIONS AT CERTAIN PROPERTY LOCATED 
AT 16820 OAK PARK AVENUE

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 169AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO.  2020-O-082

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING VARIATIONS AT CERTAIN PROPERTY LOCATED AT 16820 
OAK PARK AVENUE

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, a petition for granting certain variations (“Variations”) at 16820 Oak Park 
Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois 60477 (“Subject Property”) has been filed by Riz Villasenor, on 
behalf of MedPro Health Providers, LLC (“Petitioner”) with the Village Clerk of this Village and 
has been referred to the Plan Commission of the Village and has been processed in accordance 
with the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission held a public hearing on the question of whether the 
Variations should be granted on December 3, 2020 at the Village Hall and by teleconference per 
Gubernatorial Executive Order 2020-18 and the “Village of Tinley Park Temporary Public 
Participation Rules & Procedures”, at which time all persons were afforded an opportunity to be 
heard; and

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said public hearing 
by publication not more than thirty (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said public 
hearing in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general circulation within the Village of Tinley 
Park; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission vote 8-0 and has filed its report and findings and 
recommendations that the proposed Variations be approved with this President and Board of 
Trustees, and this Board of Trustees has duly considered said report of findings and 
recommendations; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Variations; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

Page | 170AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of facts as 
if said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That the report of findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission are herein 
incorporated by reference as the findings of this President and the Board of Trustees, as complete 
as if fully set forth herein at length. This Board finds that the Petitioner has provided evidence 
establishing that they have met the standards for granting the Variations as set forth in Section 
X.G.4 of the Zoning Ordinance, and the proposed granting of the Variations as set forth herein is 
in the public good and in the best interest of the Village and its residents and is consistent with and 
fosters the purpose and spirit of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance.

Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a 
Variation of the regulations of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, 
based upon the evidence presented for each of the Standards for Variations listed below. The Plan 
Commission must provide findings for the first three standards.

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 
the conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located.
 The Variations are being requested to allow the reuse of an existing building that is 

approximately 90 years in age and has cultural significance. The proposal will maintain 
the existing scale of the building. The structure is in good condition, proposed to be 
occupied by the owner, and the proposal brings the site into closer compliance with the 
Legacy Plan and redevelopment requirements. Redevelopment or reuse of the property is 
not economically and technically feasible without the requested Variations.

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances.
 The Variations are being requested to allow the reuse of an existing building that is 

approximately 90 years in age and has cultural significance. The site is small and has 
little opportunity for full redevelopment. Additionally, the building is structurally sound, 
making reuse economically, technically, and environmentally beneficial.

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.
 The Variations will maintain the existing building scale and design with a uniform 

appearance throughout the building. The building’s residential character is similar to 
other properties in the immediate area.

Additionally, the following Legacy Code Approval Standards as outlined in Section XII.5.D. of 
the Zoning Ordinance have been found to have been met as related to a Variation request from the 
Legacy Code.

1. The proposed improvement meets the Legacy Plan and its Principles, as presented in Section 
1.A-B: Purpose and Intent, of this ordinance;
 The proposal aligns with the Legacy Plan principles of retaining and expanding residential 

uses to support the Downtown Core commercial. The reuse of the space for commercial 
and residential uses, helps to maximize space utilization and allow a well-maintained 
property to be reoccupied and repurposed after years of vacancy.

Page | 171AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2. The new improvement is compatible with uses already developed or planned in this district 
and will not exercise undue detrimental influences upon surrounding properties;
 A mixed-use building works well with the existing developments along that block of Oak 

Park Avenue, which has a mix of uses existing and expected in the future. A mixed-use with 
a low-intensity commercial use fits in well with the planned residential uses in the area.

3. Any improvement meets the architectural standards set forth in the Legacy Code.
 No exterior improvements to the building are proposed with the Special Use except for a 

rear staircase.

4. The improvement will have the effect of protecting and enhancing the economic development 
of the Legacy Plan area.
 The reuse of a property that has been vacant for a number of years with an existing Tinley 

Park business, provides economic benefits to the Village compared to a vacant structure. 
The proposed residential apartment will help bring additional revenue and tax relief to the 
property and help support the business owner’s success. The retention of the dwelling is 
consistent with the Legacy Plan’s goal of increasing population density around the 
Downtown Core to support a strong economic center.

SECTION 3: That the Variations as set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following 
described property

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOT 3 (EXCEPT ALL THE SOUTH 25 FEET THEREOF) AND 
LOT 10 (EXCEPT THE WEST 200 FEET THEREOF) ALL IN BLOCK 6 IN ELMORE’S OAK 
PARK AVENUE ESTATES, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF A PART OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD 
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN (EXCEPT THAT PART OF DRAINAGE DITCH CONVEYED BY 
DOCUMENT 377150), AS PER PLAT RECORDED APRIL, 25, 1929, AS DOCUMENT 
NUMBER 10351098, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 28-30-107-026-0000

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:  16820 Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois

SECTION 4: That the following Variations are hereby granted to the Petitioner at the above-
mentioned property to convert the referenced Heritage Site property to a mixed-use building 
located in the NG (Neighborhood General) zoning district of the Legacy Code.

1. A Variation from Section XII.2.A.10.b. (Legacy Code - NG Heritage Site) of the Zoning 
Ordinance to allow the cost of  site improvements to exceed the Heritage Site standard of 
50% of the property’s market value.

2. A Variation from Section V.C.2. (Usable Floor Area of Dwelling) of the Zoning Ordinance 
to permit a two-bedroom dwelling with approximately 752 sq. ft. of usable floor area, 
instead of the required min. of 1,000 sq. ft.

Page | 172AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



3. A Variation from Section XII.3.C.3.d (Legacy Code - Residential Parking) to permit 
residential parking that is open to the sky and not located within or below the building’s 
envelope.

SECTION 5: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 6: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

SECTION 7: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 173AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-082, “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING VARIATIONS AT CERTAIN 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 16820 OAK PARK AVENUE,” which was adopted by the President and 

Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 174AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-129

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A FINAL PLAT OF 
SUBDIVISION AT 16820 OAK PARK AVENUE

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 175AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-129

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION 
AT 16820 OAK PARK AVENUE

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) has considered the 2020 Holdings Plat 
of Subdivision (“Plat”) pertaining to certain real property located at 16820 Oak Park Avenue, 
Tinley Park, Illinois 60477 (“Subject Property”), a true and correct copy of which is attached 
hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit 1; and 

WHEREAS, said Plat, was referred to the Plan Commission of the Village and has been 
processed in accordance with the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission voted 8-0 in favor to recommend that said Plat be 
approved; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission of this Village has filed its report of findings and 
recommendations that the proposed Plat be approved by this President and Board of Trustees, and 
this Board of Trustees has duly considered said report of findings and recommendations; and  

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Plat; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: That the report and findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission of this 
Village are herein incorporated by reference as the findings of this Board of Trustees, as 
completely, as if fully recited herein at length.

SECTION 2: That the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park, hereby 
approve and accept said Plat, attached hereto as Exhibit 1, and all necessary Village Officials and 

Page | 176AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



staff are hereby authorized to execute said Plat prior to final recording, subject to review and 
revision as to form by the Village Attorney and Village staff. 

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 4: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

SECTION 5: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 177AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-R-129, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A 

FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION AT 16820 OAK PARK AVENUE,” which was adopted by the 

President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 178AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Exhibit 1 – 2020 Holdings Plat of Subdivision

Page | 179AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 180AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: December 15, 2020
To: Village Board
From: Paula J. Wallrich, AICP

Planning Manager
Subject: ELFI Plat of Consolidation  

The Village Board approved the Special Use Permit for ELFI (17201 Ridgeland) at the December 3, 2020 Board 
meeting.  The approval of the Plat of Consolidation was inadvertently left off the agenda; it had received 
unanimous approval at the November 19, 2020 Plan Commission meeting. The plat provides for the consolidation 
of 3 parcels with two property index numbers (28-29-300-028-0000 & 28-29-300-035-0000). Approval of the 
Plat of Consolidation will complete the approvals for this project. 

Interoffice

Memo
Page | 181AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-130

A RESOLUTION APPROVING  PLAT OF CONSOLIDATION FOR PROPERTY 
LOCATED  AT 17201 RIDGELAND AVENUE  

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

_____________________________________________________________________________________
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606

 

Page | 182AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-130

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PLAT OF CONSOLIDATION FOR PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 17201 RIDGELAND AVENUE 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois have considered the Plat of Consolidation for the property located at 17201 
Ridgeland Avenue  (the “Plat”), a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto and made a part 
hereof as EXHIBIT 1; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interests of said Village of Tinley Park that 
said Plat be approved and accepted; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: The Plat of Consolidation set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following 
described property: 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:
A PARCEL OF LAND IN THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 29, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, 
RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
BOUNDED AND DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS; 
BEGINNING AT THE POINT OF INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF 
SOUTH OAK FOREST AVENUE (SAID SOUTHEASTERLY LINE BEING 60 FEET 
SOUTHEASTERLY BY RECTANGULAR MEASUREMENT OF THE SOUTHEASTERLY LINE 
OF THE 100 FEET WIDE RIGHT OF WAY OF THE CHICAGO ROCK ISLAND AND PACIFIC 
RAILWAY COMPANY) WITH THE EAST LINE OF RIDGELAND AVENUE (SAID EAST LINE 
BEING 50 FEET EAST BY RECTANGULAR MEASUREMENT, OF AND PARALLEL WITH THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST 1/4); THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES, 00 MINUTES, 00 
SECONDS WEST, 358.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 90 DEGREES, 00 MINUTES, 00 
SECONDS EAST, 345 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES, 00 MINUTES, 00 SECONDS 
EAST, 545.34 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 61 DEGREES, 29 MINUTES, 50 SECONDS WEST, 
392.58 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

Page | 183AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: Parcels 1 &2 (28-29-300-028-0000) and Parcel 3 
(28-29-300-035-0000)

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:  17201 Ridgeland Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois

SECTION 3: That the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby 
approve and accept the Plat attached hereto and all necessary Village officials are hereby 
authorized to execute the Plat prior to final recording subject to final review and revision by the 
Village Attorney and Village Staff.

SECTION 4: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 5: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law. 

PASSED THIS 15th day of December 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December 2020.

____________________________________
    VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 184AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT 1

PLAT OF CONSOLIDATION

Page | 185AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2020-R-130, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING PLAT OF 

CONSOLIDATION FOR PROPERTY  LOCATED AT 174201 RIDGELAND AVENUE”  which 

was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 

15, 2020.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 186AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2

8

-

2

9

-

3

0

0

-

0

2

8

-

0

0

0

0

2

8

-

2

9

-

3

0

0

-

0

2

8

-

0

0

0

0

2

8

-

2

9

-

3

0

0

-

0

3

5

-

0

0

0

0

PLAT OF CONSOLIDATION




CHECKED BY:

PROJ. MGR.:

DRAWN BY:

FIELD DATE:

SCALE:

JL
H

 L
A

N
D

SU
R

V
E

Y
IN

G
 IN

C
.

I
l
l
i
n
o
i
s
 
P

r
o
f
e
s
s
i
o
n
a
l
 
D

e
s
i
g
n
 
F

i
r
m

 
N

o
.
 
1
8
4
.
0
0
7
1
2
0

9
1
0
 
G

e
n
e
v
a
 
S

t
r
e
e
t
,
 
S

h
o
r
e
w

o
o
d
,
 
I
l
l
i
n
o
i
s
 
6
0
4
0
4

8
1
5
.
7
2
9
.
4
0
0
0
 
 
w

w
w

.
j
l
h
s
u
r
v
e
y
.
c
o
m




OWNER'S CERTIFICATE

STATE OF WISCONSIN  )

                                         ) SS

COUNTY OF ROCK         )

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT HENDRICKS COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES, LLC, IS THE

OWNER OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED BELOW AND AS SUCH OWNER, HAS CAUSED

THE SAME TO BE PLATTED AS SHOWN HEREON, FOR THE USES AND PURPOSES

THEREIN SET FORTH AND AS ALLOWED AND PROVIDED BY STATUTES, AND SAID

OWNER, DOES HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGE AND ADOPT THE SAME UNDER THE STYLE

AND TITLE AFORESAID.

DATED AT ______________, WISCONSIN, THIS ______ DAY OF _____________, A.D.,

20__.

                                       CITY                                                            DATE                                      MONTH

BY: ____________________________ TITLE: ___________________________

                                    SIGNATURE                                                                           PRINT TITLE

ATTEST: __________________________ TITLE:__________________________

                                            SIGNATURE                                                                    PRINT TITLE

NOTARY'S CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ____________    )

                                              ) SS

COUNTY OF ___________  )

I, _____________________________, A NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR THE SAID COUNTY

                                  PRINT NAME

IN THE STATE AFORESAID, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT __________________________,

                                                                                                                                                            PRINT NAME

_________________, AND _________________________________, _________________,

                   TITLE                                                                  PRINT NAME                                                          TITLE

OF SAID OWNER, WHO ARE PERSONALLY KNOWN TO ME TO BE THE SAME PERSONS

WHOSE NAMES ARE SUBSCRIBED TO THE FORGOING INSTRUMENT AS SUCH

___________________ AND _____________________ RESPECTFULLY, APPEARED

                      TITLE                                                        TITLE

BEFORE ME THIS DAY IN PERSON AND JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY ACKNOWLEDGED

THAT THEY SIGNED AND DELIVERED THE SAID INSTRUMENT AS THEIR OWN FREE

AND VOLUNTARY ACT AND AS THE FREE AND VOLUNTARY ACT OF SAID OWNER FOR

THE USES AND PURPOSES THEREIN SET FORTH.

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND NOTARIAL SEAL

THIS ________ DAY OF _____________, A.D., 20___.

                   DATE                                       MONTH

_________________________________________

NOTARY PUBLIC SIGNATURE

_________________________________________

PRINT NAME

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES ON ________________ _________, A.D., 20___.

                                                                                         MONTH                          DATE

S
U

R
V

E
Y

 
P

R
E

P
A

R
E

D
 
F

O
R

:

L
I
S

T
O

N
 
&

 
T

S
A

N
T

I
L

I
S

,
 
P

.
C

.

3
3
 
N

.
 
L

A
S

A
L

L
E

 
S

T
.
,
 
2

8
T

H
 
F

L
O

O
R

C
H

I
C

A
G

O
,
 
I
L

 
6

0
6

0
2

P
H

O
N

E
:
 
3

1
2

.
6

0
4

.
3

8
1

8

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS  )

                                    ) SS

COUNTY OF WILL     )

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT I, JAMES L. HARPOLE, ILLINOIS LAND SURVEYOR NO. 3190,

HAVE SURVEYED AND SUBDIVIDED THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY;





































































AS SHOWN BY THE ANNEXED PLAT WHICH IS A CORRECT REPRESENTATION OF SAID

SURVEY AND SUBDIVISION. ALL DISTANCES ARE SHOWN IN FEET AND DECIMALS

THEREOF. I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT ALL REGULATIONS ENACTED BY THE CITY

COUNCIL RELATIVE TO PLATS AND SUBDIVISIONS HAVE BEEN COMPLIED WITH IN THE

PREPARATION OF THIS PLAT.

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL AT SHOREWOOD, ILLINOIS, THIS ____ OF

_______________________, 2020.

______________________________________________________

JAMES L. HARPOLE

ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR # 3190

LICENSE EXPIRES NOVEMBER 30, A.D., 2020.

VILLAGE PLAN COMMISSION

STATE OF ILLINOIS   )

                                    ) S.S.

COUNTY OF COOK    )

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY THE PLAN COMMISSION

THIS ___ DAY OF ____________________________, 2020.

_______________________________________

CHAIRMAN

VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

STATE OF ILLINOIS   )

                                    ) S.S.

COUNTY OF COOK    )

ACCEPTED AND APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

THIS _____ DAY OF _________________________________, 2020.

_______________________________________

PRESIDENT

_________________________________________________

VILLAGE CLERK

VILLAGE ENGINEER

STATE OF ILLINOIS   )

                                    ) S.S.

COUNTY OF COOK    )

APPROVED BY THE VILLAGE ENGINEER OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK,COOK COUNTY,

ILLINOIS.

DATED THIS _____ DAY OF ____________________________, 2020.

_________________________________________________

VILLAGE CLERK

SITE



SURVEYOR'S AUTHORIZATION TO RECORD

STATE OF ILLINOIS  )

                                    ) SS

COUNTY OF WILL     )

I HEREBY DESIGNATE __________________________________, AND/OR

REPRESENTATIVES THEREOF, TO RECORD THIS PLAT, A TRUE COPY WHICH HAS BEEN

RETAINED BY ME TO ASSURE NO CHANGES HAVE BEEN MADE TO SAID PLAT;

DATED THIS ____ OF _______________________, 2020 AT SHOREWOOD, WILL COUNTY,

ILLINOIS.

JLH LAND SURVEYING, INC.

ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM 184-007120

LICENSE EXPIRES APRIL 30, 2021

BY; ______________________________________________________

JAMES L. HARPOLE

ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR # 3190

LICENSE EXPIRES NOVEMBER 30, A.D., 2022.

T:\2020_PROJECTS\20-670-105\dwg\20-670-105.dwg, 12/1/2020 11:34:44 AM,  

Page | 187AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



December 3, 2020 – Workshop/Public Hearing 
 

Zoning Code Text Amendment – Emergency Temporary Use and Medical 
Offices in MU-1 (COVID-19) 
 

   
 

 

The following proposal includes two separate but related text amendments. Each text 

amendment addresses an issue in the Zoning Ordinance that has become apparent due to 

requests for COVID-19 testing locations within the Village. The proposed changes allow for 

greater flexibility now and in the future beyond the scope of the current pandemic. 

 

Temporary Uses: The Village allows for specific short-term temporary uses under Section 

V.C.11. of the Zoning Ordinance. These temporary uses cover such operations as offices for 

the sale/rental of homes, construction material storage, holiday tree sales, seasonal 

vegetation sales, carnivals, and a warehouse/distribution use recently added in May 2020. 

Consideration of any other kind of temporary use requires a text amendment to the Zoning 

Ordinance. As the COVID-19 pandemic has progressed, the Village has remained flexible in 

allowing existing uses to expand outside their principal structure. However, the code has very 

little flexibility for businesses that don’t have a permeant location on the property. The most 

relevant use that this applies to is a temporary “pop-up” drive-thru COVID-19 testing facility. 

Additionally, there may be other short-term uses in the future that require some additional 

flexibility beyond the use allowances of a particular zoning district. The proposed text 

amendment facilitates Village Board approval of temporary uses related to disasters or 

emergencies. The time frame for each approval is assessed with their proposal but will not 

exceed one year per approval. 

 

Medical Office in MU-1: As inquiries have been received for COVID-19 testing sites, a site in 

the MU-1 (Mixed Use Duvan Drive Overlay) zoning district was identified as a preferred 

testing location. Upon staff’s analysis, multiple sites in the MU-1 overlay district appear to be 

reasonable locations for medical office and testing uses beyond just a short-term or 

“temporary” period. The proposed use fits in with the unique mix of uses existing in the area 

and with the overall intent of the overlay district to help redevelop the area. However, not 

every site, building, or location in the district may be appropriate for a medical office that is 

visited by the public; thus, a review of each proposal is warranted to protect the public welfare 

and neighboring property values. To accommodate potential medical office uses (including 

but not limited to permanent COVID-19 testing), staff proposes a text amendment that lists 

medical offices as a Special Use, instead of prohibited, as it is now. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 

Village Tinley Park 

 

Municipal Code 

Zoning Code 

 

Approvals Sought 

Text Amendment 

 

Project Planner 

Daniel Ritter, AICP 

Senior Planner 

Page | 188AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Text Amendment – Emergency Temp Use & Medical Offices in MU-1 

 

Page 2 of 5 

 

Temporary Uses: 

 

The Zoning Ordinance currently only provides temporary use relief for certain listed uses.  The COVID-19 pandemic 

has created unique circumstances for the world and within our community. The most recent example was a request 

to allow for temporary warehouse/distribution facilities where such use wouldn’t normally be permitted at Pete’s 

Fresh Market property (former K-mart). Multiple inquiries have also been received about possible drive-thru testing 

facilities in the Village. However, many of these uses have timing concerns. So, to avoid the lengthy text amendment 

public hearing process, staff is recommending that a more flexibly defined use be added to the list of temporary uses. 

While the immediate thought is to be able to allow temporary or “pop-up” COVID-19 testing facilities with the new 

temporary use, it will also allow flexibility for other uses in the future that may not yet be known. The more flexible 

definition avoids the need for each use that arises to go through a separate text amendment.  

 

After review of a Temporary Use Permit by the Community Development Department, the permit is then sent to the 

Village Board for review and approval. The Village Board may require that certain conditions relating to the public 

health, safety, or general welfare be complied with before the issuance of a Temporary Use Permit. The Village Board, 

with the recommendation from Community Development staff, reviews and approves each Temporary Use Permit. 

The allowance of a temporary use is a privilege, not a right, and all aspects of a temporary use proposal can be 

reviewed. Certain limits and conditions can be set including, limits on the operational time frame, location, site plan 

layout, hours of operation, security, and any other aspects related to the operation of the proposed temporary use. 

For example, a drive-thru medical testing facility may be required to have a reservation-only policy due to concerns 

about traffic or vehicle stacking. If the temporary use is deemed incompatible or unnecessary (other locations 

permitted/available or is not an emergency) by the Village Board, the request can also be denied. The temporary use 

duration is set by the Village Board as part of the approval and can be extended multiple times. However, each 

approval may not exceed one year from the date of approval. The time limitations ensure the use is truly temporary 

in-nature and that any extensions have an updated review of the overall use and proposal. 

 

Medical Office Uses in MU-1 

 

Text amendments are necessary to keep the Zoning Ordinance current with new uses, implement new policies, and 

ensure that the Zoning Ordinance furthers its purpose of promoting the health, safety, and general welfare of the 

public. While changes may be instigated by a specific inquiry, the Village must be cautious not to amend the code for 

a single circumstance when analyzing a text amendment.  Doing this often leads to disproportionate regulation and 

potential conflicts in other areas of the code. 

 

While the temporary use allowances addressed above allow for a COVID-19 testing use to operate for a short and 

defined period, they will eventually need to close. However, after discussion and reviewing the intent of the overall 

MU-1 district, it was apparent that multiple sites might be appropriate for permeant medical office uses, including, 

but not limited to, the former Air Team Emissions Testing (7460 Duvan Dr.), former Tinley Fitness Center (17500 Duvan 

Dr.), and former Mr. G’s Furniture (7220 Duvan Dr.). 

 

Medical offices, like other uses that invite the general public to visit the site, are not preferred in manufacturing, 

industrial, and corporate office zoning districts. These districts might have higher truck volume, limited wayfinding 

signage, and fewer pedestrian amenities. However, the MU-1 district is a unique area that is an older industrial/office 

park that has suffered from vacancy and disinvestment. The intent of the MU-1 overlay district is to encourage more 

commercial and automotive-type uses to be permitted to assist the area in redeveloping. While some light industrial 

uses continue to exist in this mixed-use district, the general public currently visits the area for some of the current 

land uses, including automotive repair, recycling services, car wash, truck rentals, sports training, and a restaurant. 

 

Page | 189AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Text Amendment – Emergency Temp Use & Medical Offices in MU-1 

 

Page 3 of 5 

While medical uses might be considered compatible on certain properties in the MU-1 zoning district, Staff 

recommends each proposed medical use receive careful review to ensure it will operated without negative impact on 

adjacent properties.. All Special Uses must meet the standards in Sec. X.J. (Administration - Special Uses) of the Zoning 

Ordinance. As part of a Special Use Permit review, each proposal is reviewed for such issues as: site access, pedestrian 

connectivity, parking allowances, accessibility, dangerous or unsightly conditions, and the effects on existing 

neighboring uses/ conditions. The required review by Village staff, Plan Commission, and the Village Board ensures 

that the proposal will fit into the area and any potential negative effects on the public or on neighboring properties 

are thoroughly considered. 

  

MU-1 Zoning District 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 190AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Text Amendment – Emergency Temp Use & Medical Offices in MU-1 

 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

Staff proposes the following text amendments (additions in bold, zoning text in italics):  

 

Temporary Use 

 

(Section V.C.)   

11. Temporary Uses: Upon application to the Community Development Department recommendations by the Zoning 

Administrator and issuance of a permit in accordance with Section X.L. (Temporary Use Permits), the following uses may be 

operated as temporary uses: 

 

I. Uses resulting from a local, state, or federal disaster or emergency situation. Such emergency situations 

may or may not be formally declared. The use may be a public, non-profit, or for-profit use that is 

deemed beneficial to the general public. The approved term of use is at the Village Board’s discretion 

and may be renewed for consecutive terms, but may not extend beyond one year.. 

 

 

Medical Offices in MU-1 
 
SECTION V.B. SCHEDULE I- SCHEDULE OF PERMITTED USE (BY USE TYPE) 

 R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 R-5 R-6 R-7 B-1 B-2 B-3 B-4 B-

5 

ORI M-1 MU-1 

HEALTH SERVICES 

Business and 

professional 

offices, 

including 

medical 

x x x x x S S P P P P X X X X S 

 

 

Page | 191AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Text Amendment – Emergency Temp Use & Medical Offices in MU-1 

 

Page 5 of 5 

 

Motion 1 – Temporary Uses 

 

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board approve the proposed Text Amendment to Section V.C.11. 

(Temporary Uses) of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance, as indicated in the Staff Report dated December 3, 

2020.  The proposed Text Amendment will provide for emergency or disaster-related temporary uses in the Village 

with conditions.”  

 

Motion 2 – Medical Office in MU-1 

 

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board approve the proposed Text Amendment to Section V.B. 

Schedule I (Schedule of Permitted Uses) of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance as indicated in the Staff 

Report dated December 3, 2020. The proposed Text Amendment amends portions of Section V.B. Schedule I to 

allow “Business and professional offices, including medical” as a Special Use in the MU-1 (Mixed Use Duvan Drive 

Overlay) Zoning District. 

 

Page | 192AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-083

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE TINLEY PARK 
ZONING ORDINANCE TO PERMIT MEDICAL OFFICES AS A SPECIAL USE IN 

THE MU-1 OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICT

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 193AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-083

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE TINLEY PARK 
ZONING ORDINANCE TO PERMIT MEDICAL OFFICES AS A SPECIAL USE IN 

THE MU-1 OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICT

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) 
desires to amend (“Amendments”) Section V.B.Schedule I (Schedule of Permitted Uses) of the 
Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance pertaining to allowable temporary uses; and

WHEREAS, certain amendments to the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance have been 
proposed and processed in accordance with the provisions of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; 
and

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission held a public hearing on the question of whether the 
Amendments should be adopted on December 3, 2020 at the Village Hall and by teleconference 
per Gubernatorial Executive Order 2020-18 and the “Village of Tinley Park Temporary Public 
Participation Rules & Procedures”, at which time all persons were afforded an opportunity to be 
heard; and

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said public hearing 
by publication not more than thirty (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said public 
hearing in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general circulation within the Village of Tinley 
Park; and

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission vote 8-0 and has filed its report and findings and 
recommendations that the proposed Amendments be approved with this President and Board of 
Trustees, and this Board of Trustees has duly considered said report of findings and 
recommendations; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Variations; and 

Page | 194AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: That the report and findings and recommendation of the Plan Commission of this 
Village are herein incorporated by reference as the findings of this Board of Trustees, as 
completely as if fully recited herein at length.

SECTION 2: That Section V.B. Schedule I (Schedule of Permitted Uses - By Use Type) is hereby 
amended by changing the use allowance for “Business and professional offices, including medical” 
in the MU-1 district from being prohibited (indicated as a blank space) and allowing it as a Special 
Use (shown as “S”) as follow:

SECTION 3: That Section V.B. Schedule I (Schedule of Permitted Uses - By District) is hereby 
amended by adding certain terms (in bold) under the heading “MU-1 Mixed-Use Duvan Drive 
Overlay District” in alphabetical order to read as follows: Business and professional offices, 
including medical - S .

SECTION 4: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 5: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval.

SECTION 6: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law.

R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 R-5 R-6 R-7 B-1 B-2 B-3 B-4 B-5 OR
I

M-1 MU-1

HEALTH SERVICES
Business and 
professional 
offices, 
including 
medical

S S P P P P X X X S

Page | 195AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 196AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 
and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 
copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-083, “AN ORDINANCE APPROVING TEXT AMENDMENTS 
TO THE TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE TO PERMIT MEDICAL OFFICES AS A 
SPECIAL USE IN THE MU-1 OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICT,” which was adopted by the 
President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 197AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



1

TO: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

FROM: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION

SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE December 3, 2020 REGULAR MEETING

ITEM #3 Workshop/Public Hearing – Text Amendment – Temporary and 7460 Duvan Drive 
Medical Office Use MU-1 District

Consider a proposed text amendment to the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance amending 
Section V.B. Schedule I (Schedule of Permitted Uses-By Use Type) allowing “Business 
and professional offices, including medical” as a Special Use in the MU-1 (Duvan Drive 
Mixed Use Overlay) and amending Section V.C.11 (Temporary Uses) to permit temporary 
use approvals related to local, state, and federal emergency or public health declarations. 
The proposed test amendments would allow for medical offices (including COVID-19 
testing) in the MU-1 zoning district as a Special Use and would also amend the Temporary 
Use section to give the Village Board greater flexibility to permit COVID-19 testing or 
other temporary uses that may be necessary in an emergency situation.

Present Plan Commissioners: Chairman Garrett Gray (Participated electronically)
Steven Vick (Participated electronically)
Angela Gatto (Participated electronically)
Kehla West (Participated electronically)
Eduardo Mani (Participated electronically)
Lucas Engel (Participated electronically)
Frank Losciuto (Participated electronically)
James Gaskill 

Absent Plan Commissioners: Mary Aitchison

Village Officials and Staff:  Kimberly Clarke, Community Development Director
Paula Wallrich, Planning Manager (Participated electronically)
Dan Ritter, Senior Planner
Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary

Guests: Amer Sweiss, Petitioner (Participated electronically)

Dan Ritter, Senior Planner, presented the Staff Report.  He noted that the Staff Report has been distributed to the Plan 
Commission, the Applicant and is posted on the website in its entirety. The staff report is attached to these minutes 
and made a part of the meeting record. It was noted that staff received inquiries of the request from two businesses, 
Two Men and a Truck and Tinley Auto. Both were satisfied after learning about the appointment-only and traffic 
measures put in place with the request. Neither wanted to make a formal public comment on the request.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the commissioners.

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted he worked on Duvan Drive for 30 years and it is a unique zoning district.  There are 
several different types of businesses, some with truck traffic.  The street is narrower than necessary for these big 
trucks.  Many times, the trucks have to navigate backwards to get into a loading dock and they are basically restricting 
access on Duvan Drive as they are making their three-point turns.  Depending on what part of the day there are trucks 
parked on Duvan Drive to wait to unload.  Even though it does seem like a patchwork quilt, he thinks that staff should 
be careful not to use the MU-1 district as an “aisle of misfit toys” for uses that don’t fit anywhere else then just throw 
it in Duvan.  The fit has to be right here as well.  Some of the businesses have high visibility near Harlem, but as you 
get into Duvan Drive there is a lot of truck traffic.  This is something he has witnessed first-hand.  He wants to make 
staff and the commissioners aware that there is a lot of truck traffic.  

Page | 198AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2

He had an email from Paul Brown of Two Men and a Truck.  He states that Duvan Drive has so much heavy truck 
traffic that it can be a serious issue with the amount of traffic that is backed up on the street. A Covid testing Center 
would not be an issue with normal traffic, but Duvan Drive has a lot of existing heavy truck traffic.  He mentions that 
Two Men and a Truck has 15 trucks, Aries has a heavy fleet and tow trucks are always trying to maneuver out of body 
shops and semi-trucks are constantly parked on either side of the street during the day waiting to load or unload.   

CHAIRMAN GRAY notes that he concurs with Paul Brown’s synopsis of the situation on Duvan Drive.  In regards 
to the former emissions center, when it would get close to the deadline the facility would have a line of traffic parked 
on Duvan Drive waiting to get in.  This is in addition to all the other traffic previously mentioned.  To staff in order 
to add a new business to this area it must be the right fit.  There are no pedestrian walkways in this area, you have to 
walk on the street or on the grass.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for a motion to open the public hearing.

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER VICK, seconded by COMMISSIONER WEST to open the public hearing 
for Text Amendments.

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK,  GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by voice vote.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted he had confirmation of the legal notice for this public hearing being published in the local 
newspaper as required by state law.  

Anyone who would like to speak on this matter will be sworn in after the staff presentation.  

Mr. Ritter noted there will be two motions.  He understands that the fit needs to be right in order to be put in this area.  
The comments about pedestrian walkways are valid.  It would be nice to have sidewalks.  Sidewalks are limited in all 
of the industrial parks and it does not make sense because these areas need walkability too.  It would be a nice use of 
TIF funds to put sidewalks in at least on one side of Duvan Drive.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the Commissioners.  

There were none.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the Applicant and swore him in.

Mr. Amer Sweis, Petitioner for Covid Testing Center noted he wanted to thank the staff and the speed of the project 
pushing this forward quickly.  A key component to this is that they are only accepting appointment with no walk-in 
traffic.  The is a key component to avoid any traffic.  When people come to the site, they are pre-registered, they drive 
into the testing center, and stay in their cars.  The majority of the work is done when appointments are pre-scheduled. 
When they come in it is a quick check-in to confirm their identification and then the test.  It is a quick 2 to 3-minute 
process per patient.  We are conscious to not overschedule people and will not have a jam and employees aren’t rush 
or directing traffic.  We want to make this flawless with no traffic jam.  It is important to the success of the center.

Mr. Ritter noted to Mr. Sweis that some of the comments make sense to the larger aspects of the proposed text 
amendments, but the site-specific comments might be more useful in the next public hearing for their Special Use.

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER MANI, seconded by COMMISSIONER WEST to close the public hearing 
for Text Amendments.

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK, GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

Page | 199AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



3

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by voice vote.  

Motion 1 – Temporary Uses

COMMISSIONER WEST, seconded by COMMISSIONER ENGEL made a motion to recommend that the Village 
Board approve the proposed Text Amendment to Section V.C.11. (Temporary Uses) of the Village of Tinley Park 
Zoning Ordinance, as indicated in the Staff Report dated December 3, 2020.  The proposed Text Amendment will 
provide for emergency or disaster-related temporary uses in the Village with conditions.” 

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK, GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by roll call.  

Motion 2 – Medical Office in MU-1

COMMISSIONER LOSCIUTO, seconded by COMMISSIONER MANI made a motion to recommend that the 
Village Board approve the proposed Text Amendment to Section V.B. Schedule I (Schedule of Permitted Uses) of the 
Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance as indicated in the Staff Report dated December 3, 2020. The proposed Text 
Amendment amends portions of Section V.B. Schedule I to allow “Business and professional offices, including 
medical” as a Special Use in the MU-1 (Mixed Use Duvan Drive Overlay) Zoning District.”

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK, GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by roll call.  

This item will go to the Village Board on Tuesday, December 15, 2020

Page | 200AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO.2020-O-084

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE TINLEY PARK 
ZONING ORDINANCE FOR EMERGENCY AND DISASTER-RELATED 

TEMPORARY USES

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 201AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-084

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE TINLEY PARK 
ZONING ORDINANCE FOR EMERGENCY AND DISASTER-RELATED 

TEMPORARY USES

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) 
desires to amend (“Amendments”) Section V.C.11 (Temporary Uses) of the Tinley Park Zoning 
Ordinance pertaining to allowable temporary uses; and

WHEREAS, certain amendments to the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance have been 
proposed and processed in accordance with the provisions of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; 
and

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission held a public hearing on the question of whether the 
Amendments should be adopted on December 3, 2020 at the Village Hall and by teleconference 
per Gubernatorial Executive Order 2020-18 and the “Village of Tinley Park Temporary Public 
Participation Rules & Procedures”, at which time all persons were afforded an opportunity to be 
heard; and

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said public hearing 
by publication not more than thirty (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said public 
hearing in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general circulation within the Village of Tinley 
Park; and

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission vote 8-0 and has filed its report and findings and 
recommendations that the proposed Amendments be approved with this President and Board of 
Trustees, and this Board of Trustees has duly considered said report of findings and 
recommendations; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Variations; and 

Page | 202AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: That the report and findings and recommendation of the Plan Commission of this 
Village are herein incorporated by reference as the findings of this Board of Trustees, as 
completely as if fully recited herein at length.

SECTION 2: That Section V.C.11 (Temporary Uses) is hereby amended by adding the following 
language (in bold) at the end of the existing list of allowable temporary uses:

I. Uses resulting from a local, state, or federal disaster or emergency situation. Such 
emergency situations may or may not be formally declared. The use may be a 
public, non-profit, or for-profit use that is deemed beneficial to the general public. 
The approved term of use is at the Village Board’s discretion and may be renewed 
for consecutive terms, but may not extend beyond one year.

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 4: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval.

SECTION 5: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law.

PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 203AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 
and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 
copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-084, “AN ORDINANCE APPROVING TEXT AMENDMENTS 
TO THE TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE FOR EMERGENCY AND DISASTER-
RELATED TEMPORARY USES,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of 
the Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 204AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



December 3, 2020 – Workshop/Public Hearing 
 

Medical Office/COVID-19 Testing Facility Special Use 
7460 Duvan Drive 
 

 
 

 

Amer Sweis, on behalf of NAS Testing Center, has applied for a Special Use Permit to permit 

a “business and professional office, including medical” to operate a drive-thru medical 

testing facility at 7460 Duvan Drive in the MU-1, Mixed Use Duvan Drive Overlay, zoning 

district. The proposed business will operate as a drive-thru COVID-19 testing facility. This 

Special Use request is being made simultaneously with a text amendment that allows 

medical office uses in the zoning district with Special Use approval. 

 

The initial lease is expected to be one-year at this location to allow quick occupancy of the 

building and begin testing. However, a longer lease or purchase of the property is being 

considered. The Petitioner has experience operating a medical testing facility at their 

existing testing location in Oak Lawn (SMS Medical). The continued rising demand for 

COVID-19 testing in the southwest suburbs has led them to look for expansion 

opportunities. The new location will include similar scheduling requirements and traffic as 

their existing location. 

 

The Mixed Use Duvan Drive Overlay District, was created to add additional use allowances 

to the underlying ORI, Office and Restricted Industrial, zoning district. The intent of the 

overlay district is to assist the aging office and industrial park area in increasing occupancy 

and redeveloping existing sites. The subject property was formerly an emissions testing 

center that opened in 2009, closed in 2016, and has been vacant since that time. The site is 

uniquely designed for a drive-thru use that includes sufficient room for vehicle stacking and 

waiting. The drive-thru building design will allow medical technicians to efficiently, 

effectively, and safely test patients without leaving their vehicles. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 

Amer Sweis, on behalf of 

NAS Testing Center 

(tenant)  
 

Property Location 

7460 Duvan Drive 

 

PIN 

27-36-205-033-0000 

 

Zoning 

ORI, Office &Restricted 

Industrial 

 

MU-1, Mixed Use Duvan 

Drive Overlay 

 

Approvals Sought 

Special Use Permit 

 
 

 

Project Planner 

Daniel Ritter, AICP 

Senior Planner 
 

Page | 205AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



NAS Testing Center, COVID Drive-Thru Testing – 7460 Duvan Drive 

 

Page 2 of 6 

 

The subject parcel is located in the MU-1, Mixed Use Duvan Drive Overlay District, which has an underlying zoning 

district of Office & Restricted Industrial (ORI). The industrial park has existed since the early 1980s, with the nearby 

multi-family condominiums constructed after the initiation of the industrial park’s construction. The overlay district 

was established in 2006 and provided for a mix of permitted ORI uses and other certain commercial uses. The overlay 

district provided additional use allowances to assist the aging industrial park that was suffering from high vacancy 

and disinvestment. The ORI district typically limits uses that invite the public to visit the area due to heavier truck 

traffic, lack of wayfinding signage/design, lack of pedestrian amenities, and other design characteristics; they are 

designed more for business development and not public comfort. However, the MU-1 overlay allowed more flexibility 

to permit certain services that serve as a destination and do not require visibility from the public right-of-way. However 

the presence of the general public in this area has not been problematic because it is a relatively small industrial park 

with one roadway running through it. Pedestrian amenities, such as public and private sidewalks, are lacking in the 

area, but improving those conditions has been discussed as a potential future project for the TIF district finding. 

 

The subject property was one of the first full-site redevelopment projects on Duvan Drive after the overlay district 

was created. The site was developed with a vehicle emissions testing building approved in 2008 and opened in 2009. 

The Illinois Secretary of State closed the facility in 2016. The property sold since that time but has remained vacant. 

The facility was designed as a “pass-through” building with three drive-thru lanes that access the building from the 

north side and exit to the south. 

Employee and visitor parking 

exist on the west side of the 

building. 

 

The subject parcel is 59,866 sq. 

ft. in size with a 2,693 sq. ft. 

building. The underlying zoning 

district is Office and Restricted 

Industrial (ORI) and it is located 

in the MU-1 (Mixed Use Duvan 

Drive) overlay district. All 

surrounding uses are located in 

the same zoning district and 

vary in their use, including 

professional offices, 

printing/binding services, 

sports training, construction 

contractors, and truck/equipment storage. The Duvan Drive area also has other service uses open to the public, such 

as vehicle repair, recycling services, a restaurant, and a car wash. A vacant two-story former fitness center (17500 

Duvan Drive) is another property staff identified that might support similar medical office uses. 

 

 

 

The proposed NAS Testing Center will be the Petitioner’s second COVID-19 testing location. Their first location is SMS 

Medical at 5533 W. 109th St in Oak Lawn. The existing location is by appointment only and utilized parking stalls for 

patients to park, and then a technician comes out to help the patient self-administer a nasal swab test. The proposed 

facility will be similar but is expected to be able to handle more tests at a quicker pace because of the site layout and 

space designed for vehicle staking/waiting. The proposed facility will also have a similar no walk-in policy as the 

existing location and only administers tests to those who have scheduled an appointment beforehand. They are 

expected to have a maximum of eight on-site employees at any one time. The Petitioner is initially expected to operate 

at this location for one year, but is interested in longer-term options, including a potential purchase. 

 

 

Page | 206AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



NAS Testing Center, COVID Drive-Thru Testing – 7460 Duvan Drive 

 

Page 3 of 6 

“Business and Professional Office, including medical” is currently prohibited in the MU-1 zoning district. Staff Is 

proposing a corresponding text amendment to the Zoning Ordinance that allows the use to be permitted through the 

Special Use Permit review process. The Petitioner has applied for their Special Use Permit at the same time as the text 

amendment moves forward due to the increase in positive cases and the immediate need for COVID-19 testing to be 

started. The proposed drive-through aspect is permitted with a medical office, but is subject to site plan review and 

compliance with the originally approved traffic/stacking analysis. The traffic generation was an initial staff concern 

with this use. However, to address those concerns, the Petitioner has proposed that the facility be an appointment-

only facility that does not accept “walk-in” patients. This will give them control on how many vehicles are coming to 

the site and the spacing of appointments. They are confident they can manage the appointments from the beginning 

to avoid issues, as they have done at their existing facility. Staff has recommended that the appointment-only aspect 

of the business be placed as a condition for clarity purposes. 

 

Special Uses, because of their unique characteristics, cannot be properly classified in any particular district or districts 

without consideration, in each case, of the impact of those uses upon neighboring land and uses.  There are standards 

for Special Uses that must be recommended by the Plan Commission (outlined below). In review of these standards, 

Staff provides the following information:  

 

Site Plan:  The subject site was designed for an emissions testing center and thus is uniquely designed for an auto-

oriented business that included significant vehicle stacking.  While there is a strong demand for COVID-19 testing, any 

large influx in customers is handled through their appointment only system. The site was well designed to be 

attractive to visiting customers. However, due to the lack of maintenance recently, there is a number of deficiencies 

in landscaping, including dead/missing trees and shrubs. Staff has recommended that any landscaping missing from 

the 2009 approved Landscape Plan be addressed in spring when the weather improves. A condition has been 

recommended allowing any landscaping deficiencies to be addressed in spring, April 30, 2021 at the latest. 

 

 

Page | 207AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



NAS Testing Center, COVID Drive-Thru Testing – 7460 Duvan Drive 

 

Page 4 of 6 

 

Parking: There are 13 total (two ADA complaint) parking stalls 

on the site. These are expected to handle the employees, 

which will be the only persons expected inside of the building 

regularly. The parking will accommodate all eight employees, 

including any shift changes or occasional private visitors that 

might be at the facility. All patients will be directed to wait in 

the existing stacking lanes on the site. The test will be 

administered with the patient remaining in the vehicle. Staff 

has no concerns based upon the current proposal. As a 

unique use not specifically mentioned in the zoning 

ordinance, the Plan Commission has the power to address the 

parking with any Special Use or Site Plan approvals. 

 

Hours of operation:  The Petitioner’s existing location 

operates from 8am to 8pm, 7 days a week. Similar hours are 

expected at this location but may change as demand for 

testing changes. Hours of operation are typically only a 

concern if there are adjacent residential uses and the use that 

causes increased noise, odors, or has an unattractive 

appearance (i.e. exterior storage). There are no residential 

uses bordering the subject parcel and there are not expected 

to be noticeable external negative effects based on the 

proposed use. 

 

 

 

 

 

    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 208AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



NAS Testing Center, COVID Drive-Thru Testing – 7460 Duvan Drive 

 

Page 5 of 6 

 

Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 

Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Draft 

findings have been provided for review below. 

 

X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 

 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;  

• The proposed use is similar to other service-type uses in the established area. 

 

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 

the neighborhood;  

• The area is developed with heavier industrial users, but many uses also already invite the general public into 

the area. Parking and hours of operation do not pose a negative impact on surrounding uses. 

 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district;  

• The immediate area is already developed with a diverse mix of uses that includes industrial and commercial 

services uses. 

 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided;  

• This is a developed site with existing utilities, access roads and drainage. The proposed use does not alter 

the current conditions of the property. 

 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and  

• The site was designed for a use with a similar type of traffic generation and circulation anticipated for the 

proposed medical office/testing use. 

 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 

pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such conditions 

and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to ensure 

compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon other 

properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to 

comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance.  

• There are no Variations or other requests associated with the proposed use or site. 

 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of the 

community as a whole.  

• The proposed use eliminates a vacancy in the building with a use that is important to have in the current 

pandemic. 

 

It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 

Permit is tied to the Petitioner. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever apply 

to the property to which it is granted. Staff encourages the Plan Commission to refer to Section X.J.6. to examine the 

conditions where a Special Use Permit will expire. 

Page | 209AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



NAS Testing Center, COVID Drive-Thru Testing – 7460 Duvan Drive 

 

Page 6 of 6 

 

If the Plan Commission wishes to act on the Petitioner’s requests, the appropriate wording of the motion is listed 

below. The protocol for the writing of a motion is to write it in the affirmative so that a positive or negative 

recommendation correlates to the Petitioner’s proposal. By making a motion, it does not indicate a specific 

recommendation in support or against the plan. 

 

 “…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant a Special Use Permit to the Petitioner, Amer Sweis on behalf 
of NAS Testing Center, for a Special Use for a Medical Office with a drive-thru testing facility to be located at 7460 Duvan 
Drive and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed by Village Staff in the December 3, 2020 Staff Report, subject to the following 

conditions: 

 

1. All medical testing shall be conducted by appointment only. All stacking shall occur in the designated vehicle staking 

area. Patient appointments and traffic shall be actively managed to avoid any off-site parking. 

 

2. Site landscaping shall be maintained and replaced per the approved Landscape Plan by April 30, 2021. 

 

3. Any building, fire, or code enforcement items shall be addressed prior to occupancy.” 

 
 

Page | 210AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-085

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO PERMIT A MEDICAL 
OFFICE FOR NAS TESTING CENTER AT 7460 DUVAN DRIVE

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 211AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-085

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO PERMIT A MEDICAL 
OFFICE FOR NAS TESTING CENTER AT 7460 DUVAN DRIVE

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, a petition for the granting of a Special Use Permit to allow a “business and 
professional office, including medical” on property located at 7460 Duvan Drive, Tinley Park, 
Illinois 60477 (“Subject Property”) has been filed by Amer Sweis, on behalf of NAS Testing 
Center (“Petitioner”) with the Village Clerk of this Village and has been referred to the Plan 
Commission of the Village and has been processed in accordance with the Tinley Park Zoning 
Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission held a public hearing on the question of whether the 
Special Use Permit should be granted on December 3, 2020 at the Village Hall of this Village at 
and by teleconference per Gubernatorial Executive Order 2020-18 and the “Village of Tinley Park 
Temporary Public Participation Rules & Procedures”, at which time all persons were afforded an 
opportunity to be heard; and  

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said public hearing 
by publication not more than thirty (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said public 
hearing in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general circulation within the Village of Tinley 
Park; and 

WHEREAS, after hearing testimony on the petition, the Plan Commission found that the 
petition met the requisite standards enumerated in the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance for granting 
the Special Use and voted 8-0 to recommend to the Village Board of Trustees approval of the 
Special Use; and 

 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission has filed its report and findings and recommendations 
regarding the Special Use Permit with the President and Board of Trustees, and this Board of 
Trustees has duly considered said report, findings and recommendations; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Special Use Permit; and 

Page | 212AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of facts as 
if said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That the report of findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission are herein 
incorporated by reference as the findings of this President and the Board of Trustees, as complete 
as if fully set forth herein at length. This Board finds that the Petitioner has provided evidence 
establishing that they have met the standards for granting the Special Use Permit as set forth in 
Section X.J.5 of the Zoning Ordinance, and the proposed granting of the Special Use Permit as set 
forth herein is in the public good and in the best interest of the Village and its residents and is 
consistent with and fosters the purpose and spirit of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance.

X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said 
Commission shall find:

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be 
detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general 
welfare;
 The proposed use is similar to other service-type uses in the established area.

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property 
in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially 
diminish and impair property values within the neighborhood;

 The area is developed with heavier industrial users, but many uses also already 
invite the general public into the area. Parking and hours of operation do not pose 
a negative impact on surrounding uses.

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the 
district;
 The immediate area is already developed with a diverse mix of uses that includes 

industrial and commercial services uses.
d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have 

been or are being provided;
 This is a developed site with existing utilities, access roads and drainage. The 

proposed use does not alter the current conditions of the property.
e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so 

designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and
 The site was designed for a use with a similar type of traffic generation and 

circulation anticipated for the proposed medical office/testing use. 
f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations 

of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be 
modified by the Village Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan 
Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such conditions and restrictions upon 

Page | 213AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to ensure 
compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit 
upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of 
this Ordinance.  Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute 
a violation of this Ordinance.
 There are no Variations or other requests associated with the proposed use or site. 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic 
development of the community as a whole.
 The proposed use eliminates a vacancy in the building with a use that is important 

to have in the current pandemic.

SECTION 3: The Special Use Permit set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following 
described property:

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 
LOT 1 IN G.R. STOB RESUBDIVISION OF LOT 31 IN TINLEY INDUSTRIAL PARK, BEING 
A SUBDIVISION OF THAT PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 36, 
TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING 
NORTH OF THE NORTH LINE OF CHICAGO, ROCK ISLAND AND PACIFIC RAILOAD 
(EXCEPTING THEREFROM THE WEST 1534.6 FEET OF THE EAST 2009.6 FEET OF THE 
NORTH 495.65 FEET), ACCORDING TO THE PLAT OF SAID G.R. STOB RESUBDIVISION 
RECORDED JULY 1, 1986 AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 86269070, IN COOK COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS.

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 27-36-205-033-0000

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:  7460 Duvan Drive, Tinley Park, Illinois

SECTION 4: That a Special Use Permit for “Business and Professional Office, including medical” 
as defined in the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance at the Subject Property for a drive-thru 
medical testing facility, is hereby granted to the Petitioner with the following conditions:

1. All medical testing shall be conducted by appointment only. All stacking shall occur in the 
designated vehicle staking area. Patient appointments and traffic shall be actively managed 
to avoid any off-site parking.

2. Site landscaping shall be maintained and replaced per the approved Landscape Plan by 
April 30, 2021.

3. Any building, fire, or code enforcement items shall be addressed prior to occupancy.”
  
SECTION 5: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 6: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

Page | 214AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 7: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 215AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of 

Cook and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and 

correct copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-085 “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL 

USE PERMIT TO PERMIT A MEDICAL OFFICE FOR NAS TESTING CENTER AT 7460 

DUVAN DRIVE,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village 

of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 216AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 217AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 218AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 219AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



1

TO: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

FROM: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION

SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE December 3, 2020 REGULAR MEETING

ITEM #4 Workshop/Public Hearing – NAS Covid Testing Center – 7460 Duvan Drive – Special 
Use 

Consider recommending that the Village Board grant Amer Sweis, on behalf of NAS 
Testing Center (tenant) a Special Use Permit, upon amendment of the Zoning Ordinance, 
to allow a Medical Business and Professional Office at 7460 Duvan Drive in the MU-1 
(Duvan Drive Mixed-Use Overlay) zoning district. Upon amendment of the Zoning 
Ordinance to allow a special use permit to be requested, this request would permit a drive-
thru medical testing facility at this location previously designed as a drive-thru emissions 
facility with conditions.

Present Plan Commissioners: Chairman Garrett Gray (Participated electronically)
Steven Vick (Participated electronically)
Angela Gatto (Participated electronically)
Kehla West (Participated electronically)
Eduardo Mani (Participated electronically)
Lucas Engel (Participated electronically)
Frank Losciuto (Participated electronically)
James Gaskill 

Absent Plan Commissioners: Mary Aitchison

Village Officials and Staff:  Kimberly Clarke, Community Development Director
Paula Wallrich, Planning Manager (Participated electronically)
Dan Ritter, Senior Planner
Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary

Guests: Amer Sweiss, Petitioner (Participated electronically)

Dan Ritter, Senior Planner, presented the Staff Report.  He noted that the Staff Report has been distributed to the Plan 
Commission, the Applicant and is posted on the website in its entirety. The staff report is attached to these minutes 
and made a part of the meeting record. It was noted, that the Village of Oak Lawn was contacted by staff and they 
have not had any known issues of complaints with the Petitioner’s current location.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the commissioners.

COMMISSIONER LOSCIUTO noted his concern with the traffic on Duvan and 175th Street.  He hopes that with the 
appointment requirement that it would resolve this issue.  This was his only concern.

COMMISSIONER WEST echoes the previous concern.  With the appointments being scheduled it should help to 
avoid traffic backup issues.

COMMISSIONER GATTO wants to make sure the only people coming to this are by appointment.  Once Covid is 
over, what will this be used for?

Mr. Sweis replied that after Covid is over he will be using this site for vaccines and other types of medical testing. 

Mr. Ritter noted the temporary use is for one year and if it is extended it will have to be approved by the Village Board 
each time. This request is more permanent since they have some vision of being able to use it going forward. Covid 
has changed a lot of the processes of testing and medical appointments as well. People may want to avoid typical 
hospitals or doctors’ offices in the future. This provides a quick and simple way without even leaving the car.

Page | 220AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2

CHAIRMAN GRAY inquired about the typical number of vehicles he would service during the day.  

Mr. Sweis replied that typically they see about 150 people per day at his other site in Oak Lawn, but this site would 
be able to handle more.  Everything is scheduled by appointment.   If people just drive in he will not see them.  We 
never have stacked vehicles at that location.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted with the stacking at that site thee are 3 vehicle bays that can be used every 6 minutes.  
This could give 30 vehicles per hour times 12 hours would be 360.  If you are only seeing 150 per day, you would not 
be working at capacity.  If someone comes in without an appointment, how do they make an appointment.  What is 
the time between appointments.  Is this an app on your phone?  

Mr. Sweis replied that most of the appointments are booked the same day, but a few are far in advance.

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted if someone was turned away they could drive around the block and make an appointment 
and return right away.  We want to make sure traffic spillage does not occur.  

Mr. Sweis noted there usually are not openings and making an appointment right away would probably not happen.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY inquired if they would be staying after Covid?  This was noted to be a temporary 12-month lease 
until a vaccine is made available.  Will you shut down the facility when the vaccine comes out? What would be the 
next step?

Mr. Sweis replied that even with a vaccine, testing will still continue.  The vaccine is for a limited amount of people.  
Once people take the vaccine they will still have to be tested to see if they are negative or positive to avoid spreading 
to those without it.  The schedule will be based on a week to week analysis with a slow start.  If there is a huge spike 
in demand, we will adjust.  If there were 1000 people a day though, we would not be able to handle that.

CHAIRMAN GRAY inquired if the Tinley Auto and Two Men and a Truck, that reached out regarding the traffic 
were satisfied with Mr. Ritter’s discussion. 

Mr. Ritter replied that both were content after his discussion with them about the petitioner’s plan.  They wanted to 
make sure it was appointment only and avoid spillage onto Duvan Drive as we discussed here. With the Special Use 
we included a specific condition that it has to be by appointment only, no traffic can go on Duvan Drive and no off-
site parking.  It is enforceable if needed, but Mr. Sweis has done this before and seems confident he can manage it.    

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER GASKILL, seconded by COMMISSIONER WEST to open the public 
hearing for the Covid Testing Center.

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK, GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by voice vote.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted he had confirmation of the legal notice for this public hearing being published in the local 
newspaper as required by state law. 

Anyone who would like to speak on this matter will be sworn in after the staff presentation.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the Applicant and swore him in.  

Mr. Amer Sweis thanked staff and the Commission.  We all have people who have been affected by Covid.  This 
service can be a life or death situation for people.  He looks forward to working with the Village.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the Commissioners.

There were none.

Page | 221AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



3

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the Public.  

There were none.  

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER WEST, seconded by COMMISSIONER MANI to close the public hearing 
for the Covid Testing Center.  

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK, GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by voice vote.  

Mr. Ritter presented the Standards for Special Use

COMMISSIONER GATTO seconded by COMMISSIONER GASKILL made a motion to recommend that the Village 
Board grant a Special Use Permit to the Petitioner, Amer Sweis on behalf of NAS Testing Center, for a Special Use 
for a Medical Office with a drive-thru testing facility to be located at 7460 Duvan Drive and adopt Findings of Fact 
as proposed by Village Staff in the December 3, 2020 Staff Report, subject to the following conditions:

1. All medical testing shall be conducted by appointment only. All stacking shall occur in the designated vehicle 
stacking area. Patient appointments and traffic shall be actively managed to avoid any off-site parking.

2. Site landscaping shall be maintained and replaced per the approved Landscape Plan by April 30, 2021.

3. Any building, fire, or code enforcement items shall be addressed prior to occupancy.”

AYE:  COMMISSIONERS GATTO, ENGEL, MANI, VICK, GASKILL, WEST, LOSCIUTO and CHAIRMAN 
GRAY.  

NAY:     None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by roll call.  

This item will go to the Village Board on Tuesday, December 15, 2020

Page | 222AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 
 

 

Date: December 10, 2020 
 
To: Village Board 
   
From: Pat Carr, Asst. Village Manager   
 
CC: Dave Niemeyer, Village Manager 
  
Subject: Annual Cisco Maintenance Renewal 
 
Attached is annual Cisco Maintenance renewal agreement with Meridian. Cisco maintenance/license 
agreements allow the Village to receive rapid support on software and hardware issues, receive the 
latest patches, avoid high transactional fees due to failures and feature keys to preserve our network 
security. The annual cost for this service is $35,215.28.  This is an annual budgeted item and required 
for system operations.  
 

Interoffice   

Memo 

Page | 223AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-131

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY 
PARK AND MERIDIAN IT FOR CISCO MAINTENANCE RENEWAL

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

_____________________________________________________________________________________
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 224AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-131

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY 
PARK AND MERIDIAN IT FOR CISCO MAINTENANCE RENEWAL

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, is a Home Rule Unit 

pursuant to the Illinois Constitution of 1970; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, 

Illinois, have considered entering into an Agreement with Meridian, a true and correct copy of such 

Agreement being attached hereto and made a part hereof as EXHIBIT 1; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, 

Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interests of said Village of Tinley Park that said Agreement be 

entered into by the Village of Tinley Park; 

NOW, THEREFORE, Be It Resolved by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of 

Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:

Section 1: The Preambles hereto are hereby made a part of, and operative provisions of, this 

Resolution as fully as if completely repeated at length herein.

Section 2: That this President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby find 

that it is in the best interests of the Village of Tinley Park and its residents that the aforesaid "Agreement” be 

entered into and executed by said Village of Tinley Park, with said Agreement to be substantially in the form 

attached hereto and made a part hereof as EXHIBIT 1, subject to review and revision as to form by the 

Village Attorney.

Section 3: That the President and Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, 

Illinois are hereby authorized to execute for and on behalf of said Village of Tinley Park the aforesaid 

Agreement.

Page | 225AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Section 4: That this Resolution shall take effect from and after its adoption and approval.

ADOPTED this 15th day of December, 2020, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley 

Park on a roll call vote as follows:

AYES:

NAYS:

ABSENT:

APPROVED this 15th day of December, 2020, by the President of the Village of Tinley Park.

                                                           
                 Village President

ATTEST:

___________________________
Village Clerk

Page | 226AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT 1
Page | 227AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF COOK ) SS

COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

     I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and 

Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Resolution No. 2020-R-131, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND MERIDIAN IT FOR CISCO MAINTENANCE RENEWAL,” 

which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 

15, 2020.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

Page | 228AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 229AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 230AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 231AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 232AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 233AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 234AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 235AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
NO. 2020-R-132 

 

 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A COLLECTIVE BARGAINING 
AGREEMENT WITH THE METROPOLITAIN ALLIANCE OF POLICE, 
TINLEY PARK CHAPTER #192 REPRESENTING PATROL OFFICERS 

 

 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

 
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606 

  
  

Page | 236AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-132 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A COLLECTIVE BARGAINING 

AGREEMENT WITH THE METROPOLITAIN ALLIANCE OF POLICE, 
TINLEY PARK CHAPTER #192 REPRESENTING PATROL OFFICERS 

 
WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) has considered entering into a 
successor Collective Bargaining Agreement with its Patrol Officers represented by the 
Metropolitan Alliance of Police, Tinley Park Chapter #192; and  

 
WHEREAS, a true and correct copy of said Collective Bargaining Agreement is attached 

hereto as Exhibit 1; and 
 

 WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois have determined that it is in the best interest of said Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to enter into said Agreement with the Metropolitan Alliance of Police; and   
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1:  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as finding of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2: That this President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby find 
that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents that the aforementioned Agreement 
between the Village and Metropolitan Alliance of Police, Tinley Park Chapter #192 as set forth in 
Exhibit 1, be entered into and the Village President is hereby authorized to execute and 
memorialize said Agreement, subject to review and revision as to form by the Village Attorney.   
 
SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  
 

Page | 237AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 4: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

SECTION 5: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law.  

 
PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020. 
 
AYES:              

NAYS:              

ABSENT:              

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020. 

 

       ____________________________________ 
                      VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  

Page | 238AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2020-R-132, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING A COLLECTIVE 

BARGAINING AGREEMENT WITH THE METROPOLITAIN ALLIANCE OF POLICE, 

TINLEY PARK CHAPTER #192 REPRESENTING PATROL OFFICERS,” which was adopted 

by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020.  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020. 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page | 239AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

BETWEEN VILLAGE OF 

TINLEY PARK AND 

METROPOLITAN ALLIANCE OF POLICE, 

TINLEY PARK POLICE CHAPTER #192 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Through April 30, 2024

Page | 240AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

drhall
Typewritten text
Exhibit #1



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
ARTICLE I             RECOGNITION AND REPRESENTATION ....................................................... 1 

 
ARTICLE II            NO DISCRIMINATION .......................................................................................... 2 

 
ARTICLE III          GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE.................................................................................. 2 

Section 3.1.        Definition of Grievance........................................................................................ 2 
Section 3.2.        Chapter Representation. ....................................................................................... 2 
Section 3.3.        Grievance Procedure. ........................................................................................... 2 
Section 3.4.        Time Limits. ......................................................................................................... 4 
Section 3.5.        Investigation and Discussion................................................................................ 4 
Section 3.6.        Civil Service Commission.................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.7.        Application of Grievance and Arbitration Procedure to Discipline….………….5 

 
ARTICLE IV          NO STRIKES/NO LOCKOUTS ............................................................................. 6 

 
ARTICLE V            MANAGEMENT RIGHTS...................................................................................... 7 

 
ARTICLE VI          SENIORITY.............................................................................................................. 7 

Section 6.1.        Definition. ............................................................................................................ 7 
Section 6.2.        Seniority List. ....................................................................................................... 8 
Section 6.3.        Termination of Seniority. ..................................................................................... 8 

 
ARTICLE VII         HOLIDAYS, VACATIONS AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE ................................ 8 

Section 7.1.        Holidays. .............................................................................................................. 8 
Section 7.2.        Vacation Schedule................................................................................................ 9 
Section 7.3.        Personal Leave Days. ......................................................................................... 13 
Section 7.4.        Funeral Leave..................................................................................................... 13 
Section 7.5.        Military Leave. ................................................................................................... 14 
Section 7.6.        Combination of Leaves. ..................................................................................... 14 

 
ARTICLE VIII       INSURANCE AND DEATH BENEFITS ............................................................. 15 

Section 8.1.        Insurance. ........................................................................................................... 15 
Section 8.2.        Health Insurance Review Committee...............................................................  16 
Section 8.3.        Retirees Health Insurance. ................................................................................. 16 
Section 8.4.        Killed In The Line Of Duty Benefits. ................................................................ 18 

 
ARTICLE IX          UNIFORM ALLOWANCE ................................................................................... 19 

Section 9.1.        Uniform Allowance............................................................................................ 19 
Section 9.2.        Body Armor Vests.............................................................................................. 20 
Section 9.3.        Purchase of New Uniforms. ............................................................................... 20 

 
ARTICLE X            HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME............................................................... 21 

Section 10.1.      Work Period/Normal Workweek and Workday. ................................................ 21 
Section 10.2.      Overtime Pay...................................................................................................... 22 
Section 10.3.      Compensatory Time. .......................................................................................... 22 
Section 10.4.      Court Time. ........................................................................................................ 23 
Section 10.5.      Training Time..................................................................................................... 24 
Section 10.6.      Trading of Work Shifts. ..................................................................................... 24

Page | 241AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Section 10.7.      No Pyramiding. .................................................................................................. 25 
Section 10.8.      Call Back. ........................................................................................................... 25 

 
ARTICLE XI          GENERAL PROVISIONS..................................................................................... 25 

Section 11.1.      Right to Join or Not to Join. ............................................................................... 25 
Section 11.2.      Personnel Files. .................................................................................................. 25 
Section 11.3.      Bulletin Board. ................................................................................................... 26 
Section 11.4.      Probationary Period............................................................................................ 26 
Section 11.5.      Light Duty. ......................................................................................................... 27 
Section 11.6.      Residency. .......................................................................................................... 27 
Section 11.7.      Part Time Officers.............................................................................................. 27 
Section 11.8.       Community Service Officers………………………………………………….. 28 

 
ARTICLE XII         FAIR SHARE AND DUES DEDUCTION ........................................................... 28 

Section 12.1.      Dues Deduction. ................................................................................................. 28 
Section 12.2.      Fair Share. .......................................................................................................... 28 
Section 12.3.      Indemnity. .......................................................................................................... 30 

 
ARTICLE XIII       WAGES ................................................................................................................... 30 

Section 13.1.      Salary Schedule. ................................................................................................. 30 
Section 13.2.      Investigator Compensation...............................................................................  31 
Section 13.3.      Service Longevity. ............................................................................................. 31 
Section 13.4.      Educational Incentive Compensation. ..............................................................  32 
Section 13.5.      Extra Compensation for Marksmanship Proficiency. ........................................ 32 
Section 13.6.      Officer in Charge..............................................................................................  33 
Section 13.7.      Field Training..................................................................................................... 33 
Section 13.8.      Canine Officer. ................................................................................................... 33 
Section 13.9.      Extra Duty. .......................................................................................................  36 
Section 13.10.    Retroactivity. ...................................................................................................... 36 

 
ARTICLE XIV       EMPLOYEE DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING ...........................................  37 

Section 14.1.      Statement of Policy. .........................................................................................  37 
Section 14.2.      Prohibitions. ....................................................................................................... 37 
Section 14.3.      Drug and Alcohol Testing Permitted. ..............................................................  38 
Section 14.4.      Order to Submit Testing. ..................................................................................  38 
Section 14.5.      Test to be Conducted.......................................................................................... 38 
Section 14.6.      Right to Contest.................................................................................................. 40 
Section 14.7.      Voluntary Request for Assistance. ...................................................................  41 

 
ARTICLE XV         BILL OF RIGHTS................................................................................................  42 

 
ARTICLE XVI       ENTIRE AGREEMENT ........................................................................................ 42 

 
ARTICLE XVII      SAVINGS CLAUSE .............................................................................................  43 

 
ARTICLE XVIII    TERM OF AGREEMENT..................................................................................... 43 

 
APPENDIX A1 90/70 PLAN EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTION RATES ..........................................  45 

 
APPENDIX A2 (SUMMARY PLAN BENEFIT SHEETS) ................................................................  47 

 

 

 

 

 

ii 
 

Page | 242AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



APPENDIX B   REMOVAL OF DISCIPLINE FOR SPECIFIC OFFENSES................................... 72 
 
APPENDIX C   PART-TIME OFFICERS ......................................................................................... 74 

 
APPENDIX D   DUES DEDUCTION AUTHORIZATION ................................................................  75 

 
APPENDIX F   EXTRA DUTY EMPLOYERS .................................................................................... 76 

 
APPENDIX “G” EQUIPMENT ISSUE CHECKLIST - FULL TIME OFFICER................................ 77 

 
APPENDIX H OFFICER INVOLVED SHOOTING............................................................................ 78 

 
APPENDIX I GLOBAL POSITIONING SYSTEM ............................................................................. 79 

 
NON-CONTRACT AGREEMENTS ...................................................................................................... 80 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 iii

Page | 243AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



1  

PREAMBLE 
 

This Agreement is  entered into by and  between the VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

(hereinafter called the "Village") and the METROPOLITAN ALLIANCE OF POLICE TINLEY 

PARK CHAPTER #192 (hereinafter called the "Union", or the "Chapter"). 

This Agreement has as its purpose the promotion of harmonious relations between the 

Village  and  the  Chapter; the  establishment of  an  equitable and  peaceful  procedure for  the 

resolution of  differences;  and  the  establishment of  rates  of  pay,  hours  of  work  and  other 

conditions of employment.  It is the intention of this Agreement to provide, where not otherwise 

mandated by statute, for the salary structure, fringe benefits and employment conditions of the 

police officers covered by this Agreement, to prevent interruptions of work and interference with 

the efficient operation of the Police Department, and to provide an orderly and prompt method 

for handling and processing of grievances; 

THEREFORE, the parties agree with each other as follows: 

 
ARTICLE I 

RECOGNITION AND REPRESENTATION 

The Village recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all 
 
probationary and non-probationary Patrol Officers employed by the Police Department of the 

Village, excluding all department employees of the rank of Sergeant and above and all other Police 

Department employees and all other employees employed by the Village. 

Probationary  Patrol  Officers  shall  be  covered  by  the  conditions  set  forth  in  this 

Agreement; provided, however, that any disciplinary actions, including suspensions or discharge, 

shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure set forth herein. 

Whenever the male gender is used in this Agreement, it shall be construed to include 

male and female employees covered by this Agreement. 

Page | 244AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2  

ARTICLE II 

 
NO DISCRIMINATION 

 

In  accordance with  applicable  legislation,  neither  the  Village  nor  the  Chapter  shall 

discriminate against any employee in a manner prohibited by law because of race, creed, color, 

national origin, sex, or union membership or activity. 

Any alleged violation of this Article may be processed through Step 4 of the grievance 

procedure, but no further.  Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver or relinquishment of 

any employee=s right to file any commission or court charge or suit. 

ARTICLE III  

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

Section 3.1.    Definition of Grievance. 
 

A grievance is a difference of opinion between an employee or the Chapter and the 

Village with respect to the meaning or application of the express terms of this Agreement, or 

with respect to the inequitable application of rules applicable to the Police Department which 

may be in effect from time to time. 

Section 3.2.    Chapter Representation. 
 

The Chapter shall appoint an Employee Committee of not more than two (2) members to 

attend grievance meetings scheduled pursuant to Steps 3 and 4.  The Chapter may appoint three 

(3) Stewards to participate in the grievance procedure to the extent set forth in Step 2 of the 

grievance procedure.  The Chapter shall notify the Village Manager in writing of the names of 

employees serving on the Employee Committee and as Stewards. 

Section 3.3.    Grievance Procedure. 
 

Recognizing that grievances should be raised and settled promptly, a grievance must be 

raised within seven (7) calendar days of the occurrence of the event giving rise to the grievance.

Page | 245AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



3  

Step 1: Written to Immediate Supervisor.  An aggrieved employee, (or a Steward 

or Union officer on behalf of the Chapter), shall file a written grievance signed by the 

employee on a form provided by the Village setting forth the nature of the grievance and 

the contract provision(s) involved.   The immediate supervisor shall respond in writing 

within seven (7) calendar days of this discussion. 

 
Step 2: Appeal to Commander.   If the  grievance is not settled in Step 1, the 

Employee Committee may,  within seven  (7)  calendar days  following receipt  of  the 

immediate supervisor's answer, forward the grievance to the Commander. The 

Commander, or whomever is the employee's next immediate supervisor in the 

Department's chain of command, shall give a written answer within seven (7) calendar 

days after receipt of the written grievance. 

 
Step 3: Appeal to Chief.    If the grievance is not settled in Step 2, the aggrieved 

employee, the Employee Committee may, within seven (7) calendar days from receipt of 

the Step 2 answer, appeal in writing to the Chief.   The Employee Committee and the 

Chief will discuss the grievance at a mutually agreeable time, within seven (7) calendar 

days  of  the  Chief's  receipt  of  the  grievance.    If  no  agreement  is  reached  in  such 

discussion, the Chief will give his answer in writing, within seven (7) calendar days of 

the discussion.  The Village may join the Step 3 and Step 4 meetings if it so desires, by 

having in attendance both the Chief and the Village Manager or his designee. 

 
Step 4: Appeal to Village Manager.  If the grievance is not settled in Step 3 the 

aggrieved employee, the Employee Committee may, within seven (7) calendar days after 

receipt of the Step 3 answer, file a written appeal to the Village Manager.   A meeting 

between the Village Manager, or his designee, and the Employee Committee will be held 

at a mutually agreeable time within seven (7) calendar days of the Village Manager's 

receipt of the grievance.  If no settlement is reached at such meeting, the Village Manager 

or his designee shall give his answer in writing within ten (10) calendar days of the meeting. 

 
Step 5: Grievance Arbitration.  If the grievance is not settled in accordance with 

the foregoing procedure; the aggrieved employee, the Employee Committee may appeal 

the grievance to arbitration by notifying the Village Manager within ten (10) calendar 

days after receipt of the Village's answer in Step 4.   Within ten (10) calendar days of receipt 

of such request, the Chapter and the Village shall jointly submit the dispute to the Federal 

Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) and request a panel of arbitrators, each of 

which shall be a member of the National academy of Arbitrators.  If upon receipt of a panel 

of arbitrators from FMCS, the parties cannot agree on the selection of an arbitrator, the 

arbitrator shall be selected by having each party strike the name of an arbitrator from the 

panel until only one remains.   First strike shall be determined by a coin toss.  Each 

party retains the right to reject one panel in its entirety, and to request that a new panel 

be submitted.  The arbitrator shall fix the time and place of the hearing, which  shall  be  as  

soon  as  possible  after  his  selection,  subject  to  the  reasonable availability of Chapter 

and Village representatives.  The arbitrator shall have no right to amend, modify, nullify, 

ignore, add to or subtract from the provisions of the agreement.

Page | 246AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



4  

He shall consider and decide only the specific issue submitted to him in writing and shall 

have no authority to make any decision or recommendation on any other issue not so 

submitted to him.  The arbitrator's decision shall be based solely upon his interpretation 

of the meaning or application of the specific terms of this agreement to the facts of the 

grievance presented.  The arbitrator shall submit his decision in writing within thirty (30) 

days following the close of the hearing or submission of briefs by the parties.    The 

decision of the arbitrator shall be binding on the parties.  The fees of the arbitrator and 

that of a court reporter, if requested by either party, shall be divided equally between the 

Board and the Chapter. All other expenses shall be borne by the party incurring them. 

 
Section 3.4.    Time Limits. 

 

No grievance shall be entertained or processed unless it is filed within the time limits set 

forth above.  If a grievance is not appealed within the time limits for appeal set forth above, it 

shall be deemed settled on the basis of the last answer of the Village, provided that the parties 

may agree to extend any time limits.  If the Village fails to provide an answer within the time 

limits so provided, such failure to answer shall constitute a proper denial of the grievance on the 

date the answer was last due and the Association may immediately appeal to the next Step or 

forego further processing of the grievance. 

Section 3.5.    Investigation and Discussion. 
 

All grievance discussions and investigations shall take place in a manner which does not 

interfere with Village operations and at a time when the Grievant and the Steward or other 

Chapter representative(s) involved are not being compensated by the Village. 

Representatives of the Chapter, previously accredited to the Village in writing by the 

Chapter, shall be permitted to come on the premises of the Village for the purposes of investigat- 

ing and discussing grievances if they first obtain permission from the Village Manager or his 

designated representative; such visits shall not interfere with normal Village operations and such 

permission shall not unreasonably be denied. 

Page | 247AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



5  

Section 3.6.    Civil Service Commission. 
 

It is understood that matters subject to the jurisdiction of the Civil Service Commission 

such as certification, promotion, discharge, disciplinary suspension of more than five (5) days or 

a second suspension within any six (6) month period, all as per 65 ILCS 5/10-1-18, are not 

subject to this grievance procedure. 

Section 3.7     Application of Grievance and Arbitration Procedure to Discipline 
 

No discipline shall be administered without just cause. An Officer who is charged with a 

disciplinary infraction, or issued discipline, where the penalty may result in termination or 

suspension has the option of appealing such disciplinary action either before the Civil Service 

Commission or through the grievance procedure set forth in Section 3.3 above and subject to the 

procedure described below. An Officer must notify the Village within ten (10) days of receiving 

written notice of the charge(s) against him or her whether he or she will seek review of the 

imposed discipline through the grievance procedure or through the Civil Service Commission 

procedures. 

 

If the Officer elects to appeal the discipline through the arbitration procedure in section 

 
3.3, the following will apply: 

 

 
1.  Notice of intent to appeal will be filed with the Village Manager within ten (10) days of 

receiving written notice of disciplinary action. 

2.  The Officer and the Village may agree to extend the time period in which an Officer may file 

an appeal provided the extension agreement is in writing. 

3.  The Union and the Village will jointly request a panel of arbitrators from the Federal 

Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS). If upon receipt of a panel of arbitrators from 

FMCS, the parties cannot agree on the selection of an arbitrator, the arbitrator shall be 

selected by having each party strike the name of an arbitrator from the panel until only one

Page | 248AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



6  

remains. First strike shall be determined by a coin toss. Each party retains the right to reject 

one panel in its entirety, and to request that a new panel be submitted. 

4.  The arbitrator shall fix the time and place of the hearing, which shall be as soon as possible 

after his or her selection, subject to the reasonable availability of all parties. 

5.  Each party shall be afforded the opportunity of an oral argument or briefs, and, as needed 

supporting witnesses before the arbitrator. 

6.  Either party may request the opportunity to submit a post-hearing brief to the arbitrator. 

 
However, no party shall submit a brief without the agreement of the other An arbitrator’s 

award shall be final and binding, and any request for judicial review shall be exclusively 

under and in accordance with the Uniform Arbitration Act (710 ILCS 5/1, et seq.) and 

Section 8 of the Illinois Public Labor Relations Act (5 ILCS 315/8). 

 
Section 3.8     Counseling Forms 
 

 Officers will be advised and provided a copy of all counseling forms completed by Management 

and made aware of the deficiency no later than 3 days of issuance of the counseling form. 

 

ARTICLE IV 

 
NO STRIKES/NO LOCKOUTS 

 

During  the  term  of  this  Agreement,  the  Chapter,  its  officers  and  agents,  and  the 

employees covered by this Agreement agree not to instigate, promote, sponsor, engage in or 

condone any strike, sympathy strike, slowdown, speed-up, blue-flu or other concerted stoppage 

of work, or any other intentional interruption of operations or other concerted refusal to obey 

lawful orders of the Chief or other appropriate Village representatives.  Any, a few, some or all 

employees who violate any of the provisions of this Article may be discharged or otherwise 

disciplined by the Village, at the discretion of the Village.   The Village will not lock out any 

employees during the term of this Agreement as a result of a labor dispute with the Chapter.

Page | 249AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7  

ARTICLE V 

MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 

The Village shall retain the sole right and authority to operate and direct the affairs of the 
 
Village and the Police Department in all its various aspects, including, but not limited to, all 

rights and authority exercised by the Village prior to the execution of this Agreement, except as 

modified in this Agreement.  Among the rights retained is the Village's right to determine its 

mission and set standards of service offered to the public; to direct the working forces; to assign 

overtime; to plan, direct, control and determine the operations or services to be conducted in or at 

the Police Department or by employees of the Village; to assign and transfer employees; to hire, 

promote, demote, suspend, discipline, or discharge for just cause, or relieve employees due to 

lack of work or for other legitimate reasons, subject to the statutory jurisdiction of the Civil Ser- 

vice Commission; to make and enforce reasonable rules and regulations; to train employees; to 

subcontract work; and, to change methods, equipment or facilities; provided, however, that the 

exercise of any of the above rights shall not conflict with any of the specific provisions of this 

Agreement. 

ARTICLE VI 

SENIORITY 

Section 6.1.    Definition. 
 

For purpose of this Agreement, seniority shall be defined as an employee's length of 

continuous full-time service since the employee's last date of hire excluding time off due to 

layoff or any other unpaid leave of absence which exceeds thirty (30) consecutive days of 

absence unless otherwise agreed by the Village. 

Page | 250AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



8  

Section 6.2.    Seniority List. 
 

The Village shall maintain a current seniority list.  This list shall be made available to the 

Chapter within 30 days after the execution of this Agreement.  Any alleged error in the list must 

be brought to the attention of the Chief of Police within 30 days after the list has been made 

available to the Union. 

Section 6.3.    Termination of Seniority. 
 

Seniority and employment shall be terminated when an employee: 

 
6.3.1   quits; or 

 
6.3.2   is discharged for cause; or 

 
6.3.3   is absent for three (3) consecutive days without authorization by the Village; or 

 
6.3.4 is laid off for a period in excess of twenty-four (24) months, or length of seniority 

whichever occurs first; or 

6.3.5 is laid off and fails to report to the Village his intention to return to work within 

seven (7) calendar days after recall and to report for duty within two weeks after 

recall; or 

6.3.6 does not report to work within seventy-two (72) hours after the termination of an 

authorized leave of absence; or 

6.3.7   retires or is retired. 

 
ARTICLE VII 

 
HOLIDAYS, VACATIONS AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

 

Section 7.1.    Holidays. 
 

During the term of this Agreement, there shall be eleven paid holidays, as follows: 

 
New Year's Day                     Thanksgiving Day 

Good Friday (1/2 Day)           Friday After Thanksgiving Day 

Memorial Day                        Christmas Eve (1 day)

Page | 251AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



9  

Fourth of July                         Christmas Day 

Labor Day                              New Year's Eve (1/2 day) 

Martin Luther King                President's Day 

 
Inasmuch as the employees covered by this Agreement must fill work shifts each day of 

the calendar year, remuneration for the above holidays shall be made by separate check which 

shall be paid on either the first or second Friday of December of each year. 

Remuneration for holidays shall be based on eight-eight (88) hours of pay per year or a 

pro rata share thereof for the number of days sufficient to cover those holiday periods while 

employed by the Village.  In addition, all covered employees shall receive twenty-five (25) hours 

of compensatory time on May 1 of each year, ten of which will be taken as compensatory time 

off, the balance of fifteen (15) being paid as holiday pay. Said compensatory time shall be 

utilized pursuant to the provisions of Section 10.3 of this Agreement.  In addition, if a covered 

employee is ordered in to work on a designated Holiday, such employee shall receive two times 

his regular hourly rate of pay or compensatory time for all hours so worked. 

Section 7.2.    Vacation Schedule. 
 

In accordance with applicable ordinances, Patrol Officers covered by this Agreement 

shall be entitled to a vacation as follows: 

Years of Continuous Service             Length of Vacation 
 

1 year but less than 2 years                            1 week 
2 years but less than 7 years                           2 weeks 

7 years but less than 11 years                         3 weeks 

11 years but less than 15 years                       4 weeks 

15 years or more                                            5 weeks 

 
In order to be eligible for full vacation benefits under this Section, a Patrol Officer shall 

have worked at least sixteen hundred (1,600) hours during the twelve (12) month period preceding 

January 1 of the vacation year. except if unable to so work because of an on-the job injury, or in 

the event that the Patrol Officer began employment during said twelve (12) month period, he

Page | 252AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



10  

shall have worked a pro rata portion of sixteen hundred (1,600) hours.  Any Patrol Officer with a 

continuous length of service with the Village of more than one (1) year who would be otherwise 

entitled to a vacation but who is not eligible for full vacation benefits because he has not worked at  

least  sixteen  hundred  (1,600)  hours  during  the  twelve  (12)  month  period  immediately 

preceding January 1 of the vacation year, where such failure is not the result of an on-the-job 

injury, shall be entitled to a vacation of one (1) week so long as he worked at least one thousand 

(1,000) hours during the twelve (12) month period immediately preceding January 1  of the 

vacation year. 

Insofar as practical, vacation will be scheduled at the times requested.  It is understood, 

however, that because of the nature of the work, it may be necessary to limit the number of 

Patrol Officers who are authorized to take vacation during any particular period of time or on any 

particular day.  Vacation must be approved by the Division Commander and shall be scheduled 

in accordance with the procedures set forth herein below. 

7.2.1 During  the  month  of  January,  all  Patrol  Officers  will  submit  their  vacation 

requests to their respective Division Commanders. 

7.2.2 No vacation shall be allowed in excess of three (3) consecutive weeks unless the 

Chief of Police determines that there are extenuating circumstances and grants 

approval.  Vacations may not be taken in time periods of less than one-half (1/2) 

of a full day. 

7.2.3 All vacation days must be taken prior to the end of the calendar year unless a 

vacation starts prior to the end of the calendar year and extends into the next year. 

7.2.4 Requests  for  vacations  submitted  in  January  shall  be  honored  based  upon 

seniority.   The senior officer assigned to  each  shift/watch shall  take his  first

Page | 253AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11  

choice, all officers by seniority shall follow.  This procedure shall be repeated 

until all then desired vacation weeks/days have been requested.   The vacation 

weeks/days requested in January pursuant to this procedure shall be submitted to 

the Division Commander for approval by February 1 of each year.  The Division 

Commander shall review the requests and post a vacation schedule on or before 

March 1.  Once the list is posted, any floating vacation as provided in 7.2.5 below 

shall not be used to bump scheduled vacation time regardless of seniority.  On or 

before May 31, of each year, every employee covered by this Agreement shall 

have committed no less than the following amounts of vacation:  (a) employees 

with  two  weeks  entitlement,  one  week,  (b)  employees  with  three  weeks 

entitlement, two weeks, (c) employees with four weeks entitlement, two weeks, 

(d) employees with five weeks entitlement, three weeks.   Once committed and 

approved by the Division Commander, the committed vacation will be added to 

the posted vacation schedule.  Any floating vacation shall not be used to bump 

scheduled vacation  time  regardless of  seniority.   Nothing herein  prohibits an 

officer from taking a vacation between January 1 and March 1.  A request for 

such a  vacation must  be  submitted no  later  than  the first  day of  the  month 

preceding the month in which the vacation is to be taken. 

7.2.5 Vacation weeks or days not selected in January or not committed by May 31 shall 

be floating vacation.  Floating vacation shall be taken on a time-available basis. 

Requests for one day of floating vacation must be submitted to the Division 

Commander no less than three working days in advance provided, however, that 

the Division Commander may in  his discretion for extenuating circumstances

Page | 254AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12  

grant requests without such notice.  Requests for two or more consecutive days of 

floating vacation must be submitted to the Division Commander no later than the 

1st day of the month preceding the month in which the vacation days are to 

occur.   These  vacation  requests  may be  approved  on  a  first  requested  basis 

provided that conflicts which arise in vacation requests submitted on the same day 

shall be resolved based upon seniority.  All floating vacation weeks/days must be 

requested no later than November 1 of each year.  Floating vacation not requested 

by that date will be lost and no longer available. 

7.2.6 In the case of extenuating circumstances as determined by the Chief of Police, the 

Division Commander may cancel and reschedule any or all previously approved 

and scheduled vacation.   In the event that a previously approved and scheduled 

vacation is canceled by order of the Chief or Division Commander under this 

subsection, then the Village shall reimburse the officer for any forfeited 

travel/lodging/tour or like deposits or expenses that the officer has paid.    The 

reimbursement shall be made upon request of the officer and presentment to the 

Village of proper verification that the officer has incurred and paid the expense. 

7.2.7 An officer may request to cancel and reschedule vacation. To do so, a written 

request to cancel and reschedule vacation must be submitted at least 18 days prior 

to the start of the scheduled vacation. These requests will not be unreasonably 

denied but in no event shall such requested change conflict with a scheduled 

vacation of another officer assigned to the same shift.

Page | 255AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



13  

Section 7.3.    Personal Leave Days. 
 

All officers shall be granted three (3) days of leave for personal business during each year 

of this Agreement (May 1 through April 30) without loss of pay.  Request for this leave must be 

made to the appropriate supervisor as far in advance as possible but not less than 48 hours prior 

to the commencement of the leave.  Use of personal leave shall be subject to the same limitations 

as are applicable to use of vacation time.  Unused personal business leave does not accumulate, 

provided, however, that those employees with less than seven (7) years of continuous service 

may accumulate unused personal business leave to a maximum of four (4) days.   Newly hired 

officers will be entitled to the use of one personal leave day immediately upon being hired, and 

will be entitled to three (3) days on the following May 1. 

Section 7.4.    Funeral Leave. 
 

When a death occurs in an employee's immediate family (i.e., employee's mother, father, 

mother-in-law, father-in-law, spouse, brother, sister, child or grandparents, step mother, step 

father, step child), an employee covered by this Agreement, upon request, shall be excused for 

up to three (3) days for the purpose of mourning;    when a death occurs to an employee’s 

grandfather in-law or grandmother in-law, that employee shall be excused for up to two (2) days 

for the purpose of mourning;  one (1) day of funeral leave shall be granted for mourning some 

other member of the family.  An eligible employee shall be paid his normal daily rate of pay for 

any day or days on which he is excused and but for such excuse would have been scheduled to 

work.   An otherwise eligible employee will not receive funeral pay when it duplicates pay received  

for time  not  worked for any other reason e.g.  funeral leave  is  available only for scheduled  

work  days  and  cannot  be  used  in  conjunction  with  any  scheduled  day  off.

Page | 256AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



14  

Section 7.5.    Military Leave. 
 

Military leave shall be granted in accordance with applicable law, and this leave shall not 

be charged against vacation or sick leave.  The employee will be compensated by the Village for 

the difference between his/her military compensation and his/her normal salary, less normal 

payroll deductions, for up to two (2) weeks per year. 

Section 7.6.    Combination of Leaves. 
 

Affected employees may combine the use of compensatory time, trade days, personal 

days and vacation days, provided that no employee may use combined leave days for a period in 

excess of 21 consecutive calendar days at one time. 

Page | 257AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



15  

ARTICLE VIII 

 
INSURANCE AND DEATH BENEFITS 

 

Section 8.1.    Insurance. 
 

Employees may elect to participate in any health and hospital insurance plan(s) selected 

and made available from time to time by the Village.  Such plan(s) shall include dental coverage 

as  selected  by the Village and  group term  life  insurance in  the amount of $50,000.   Each 

employee who participates in a Village selected plan must contribute toward the cost of such 

insurance in the monthly amounts set forth in APPENDIX A1.  The parties acknowledge that the 

Union has agreed to contribute towards the payments of insurance premiums on a percentage 

basis commencing the Plan year 2020 as set forth in Appendix A1. The Village agrees that the 

actual monthly premium contribution will be based on the percentage defined in Appendix A1. At 

no time will the actual monthly contributions exceed 8% of the prior calendar year’s monthly 

contribution rate. 

The Village shall pay the remaining premium costs.  The Village retains the sole right to 

select the health/hospital plan made available to employees.  However, if during the life of this 

Agreement the Village intends to select a health/hospital plan that does not provide reasonably 

comparable benefits, it shall advise the Chapter and the parties will negotiate regarding the 

provision of this Section. 

The parties agree that the Orthodontic Child Lifetime Benefit will increase WILL 

REMAIN $1250 at no additional cost to covered employees. 

Page | 258AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



16  

Section 8.2.    Health Insurance Review Committee. 
 

The parties shall meet a minimum of twice per calendar year to discuss issues regarding 

health insurance coverage and costs, unless both parties agree that such meetings are not necessary.  

Each party will create their own committee of up to two (2) persons, upon request of either party, 

a meeting shall be set on a mutually agreeable date, with a proposed written agenda for topics of 

discussion to be sent by the party. 

Section 8.3.    Retirees Health Insurance. 
 

All full time police officers of the Village of Tinley Park hired on or before May 1, 2013, 

upon obtaining twenty (20) years of service with the Village’s Police Department and upon 

obtaining the age of fifty (50) years of age and who are retired, regardless of their age at the time 

of retirement, from the Tinley Park Police Department, and who are without the benefit of any 

group health and accident insurance coverage, whether public or private, shall be eligible upon 

retirement from the Village to apply for coverage under the Village’s group health insurance 

plan. 

Retired  full  time  police  officers, who  have  become covered  by health  and  accident 

coverage, whether public or private, other than the coverage offered by the Village, shall be 

eligible, without objection by the Village, to return to the current Village group health insurance 

plan, if allowed by the plan.  However, it is understood that the retired full time police officers 

shall need to meet all of the following criteria, and obtain the approval of the Village’s health 

insurance carrier, to be eligible to return to the Village’s group health insurance plan: 

1. The  retired  full  time  police  officer  must  meet  the  criteria,  as  described  in 

Ordinance No. 77-O-015, specifically being that he or she (1) has retired, 

regardless of age at the time of retirement, (2) has 20 years of credible service 

with the Village of Tinley Park; (3) has attained the age of fifty (50) years; and (4)

Page | 259AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



17  

is  without the benefit of any group health  and  accident insurance coverage, 

whether public or private; 

2. The retired full time police officer must have had continuous health and accident 

coverage for the entire period of time he or she was not covered by the Village’s 

group health insurance plan or provide certificate of eligibility (physical).   The 

Village reserves the right to request evidence of said coverage; 

3. The retired full time police officer shall provide the Village six (6) months of 

advanced notice of his or her intention to return to the Village’s group health 

insurance plan when possible.   The retired full time police officer must provide 

notice of his or her intention to return to the Village’s group health insurance plan 

a minimum of thirty (30) days when unforeseen circumstances have occurred. 

The notification of the retired officers intention to return to the plan shall be in 

writing and submitted directly to the Village Manager. 

4. It is understood that the retired full time police officer, if allowed coverage by the 

Village’s insurance carrier, shall be provided the same coverage options as provided 

in the most current collective bargaining agreement between the Village and the 

Union.     This includes the option to change coverage during open enrollment. 

5. The retired full time police officer shall be required to pay the sum of one-half 

(½) of the costs to the Village to provide health and accident coverage to the 

retired full time police officer. 

6. In addition, until the retiree is eligible for AARP coverage, the Village shall 

contribute, in addition to 50% of the premium cost, $60 per month toward the

Page | 260AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



18  

retiree's cost for health insurance for those covered officers retiring with at least 

 
20 years of service and 50 years of age. 

 
7. When any such retired full time police officer is eligible for Medicare or 

Medicaid or similar health and accident insurance programs, then such officer 

shall not be entitled to any of the benefits of this Section 8.3, except for participation 

in a supplemental plan as allowed by Ordinance No. 77-O-015. 

 

Section 8.4.    Killed In The Line Of Duty Benefits. 
 

In the event that any police officer is killed in the line of duty or suffers a catastrophic 

injury while on duty or in the performance of duty, or while performing a police function, the 

Village shall pay to the officer or the officer's family all benefits as provided by current state law 

including burial expenses up to $7,500.00 and provide his dependents including widow/widower 

and all minor children who are without the benefit of health/hospital insurance, with the 

opportunity to continue participation in the Village selected health and hospital insurance plan on 

the same basis and under the same terms and conditions as would have existed had the officer 

not been killed and continued in the employ of the Village, provided that such participation is not 

prohibited by the terms of the plan.     In the event that participation in the Village plan is 

prohibited, the Village shall pay to the deceased officer's eligible dependents a sum equal to that 

which the Village would have paid for dependent health/medical insurance had the officer not been 

killed and continued in the employ of the Village. 

"In the line of duty" or "while performing a police function" is understood to include the 

performance of duty outside the officer's normal work shift and while not being compensated by 

the Village, whether or not the officer is in uniform. These situations include, but are not limited

Page | 261AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



19  

to,  providing  assistance  in  locating  criminal  subjects,  motorist  assistance,  and  providing 

additional police assistance when needed for the Village of Tinley Park. 

 

 

ARTICLE IX UNIFORM 

ALLOWANCE 

Section 9.1.    Uniform Allowance. 
 

A uniform allowance in the amount of One Thousand Two Hundred and no/100 Dollars 

($1,200.00) per year shall be paid to the individual officers in the month of May of each contract 

year, as set forth below: 

Patrol Officers shall use such funds to obtain among other items the following items 

which may be changed from time to time by the Chief: 

Plastic flashlight                                 Tie 
 

Badge                                                 Jacket (chill chaser) 

Silver or gold hat cord                        Rain coat 

Bullets                                                Fur cap 
 

Off duty holster                                  Garrison belt 

Off duty star                                       Holster  

Long sleeve shirt                                Belt keeper 

Short sleeve shirt                                Handcuff case 

Trousers                                             Ammo magazine pouch 
 

Jacket                                                 Handcuffs 
 

Baton                                                  Baton Ring 
 

5 Star uniform hat                              Plastic whistle 
 

Name tags for shirt and jacket           Rain cover 
 

Necessary repairs or alterations         Ticket book holder 
on required uniform apparel

Page | 262AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



20  

 

 
 
 

Patrol Officers assigned on a continuing basis, to special duty, i.e., investigative services, crime 

prevention, support services, etc., shall not be limited to those items of purchase enumerated 

above. 

In the event that during the term of this Agreement the Village requires a major uniform 

change for all officers to take effect on a date certain rather than at the time of when replacement 

would be necessary or should the Village require officers to obtain a  new uniform item or 

equipment item not required in the Department prior to May 1, 1994, then the Village shall, in 

addition to the clothing allowance provided for herein, pay the cost of the ordered major uniform 

change or new item. 

Section 9.2.    Body Armor Vests. 
 

The Village shall upon the request of an officer, provide said officer with a body armor 

vest of the officer's own choosing provided, however, that if the cost of any vest selected by the 

officer is more than ten (10) percent higher than the cost of a level IIA vest from the Village 

vendors, the officer shall pay the additional cost beyond ten (10) percent. The Village shall replace 

existing vests every five (5) years.  Vests will be provided at the Village's expense to those officers 

making a request pursuant to this section. Officers obtaining vests pursuant to this section shall be 

required by the Village to wear said vests while on duty. Nothing herein prohibits management 

from ordering the wearing of body armor vests in any high risk situation. 

Section 9.3.    Purchase of New Uniforms. 
 

The Village shall make a one time purchase of new uniforms for a newly hired employee 

as outlined in APPENDIX “G”.

Page | 263AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



21  

ARTICLE X 

 
HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME 

 

Section 10.1.  Work Period/Normal Workweek and Workday. 
 

The Village established a regularly  recurring  period  of seven (7)  consecutive  days  as 

the   regular   work   period   for each Patrol Officer.     The beginning date of this regular work 

period may be changed provided the change is intended to be permanent at the time that it is 

made.  Within an established work period, the normal workweek shall consist of forty (40) hours 

per week subject to the last paragraph of this Section 10.1. The normal workday may consist of 

ten (10) hours, eight (8) hours, or some other combination as determined by the Chief of Police 

to be in the best interests of the Village and the Department. The normal workweek shall 

commence at the start of the first regularly scheduled duty day in any seven (7) consecutive day 

period (168 consecutive hours) which may begin on any day of the calendar week and enter into 

the next calendar week. Where there is a change in shifts and/or scheduled off duty days, the 

commencement of the first regularly scheduled duty day of the new workweek shall terminate 

the preceding workweek. 

Preferred Division and Shift selection shall be offered to patrol officers by descending 

seniority until the designated divisions and shifts have been staffed to the proper levels.   This 

does not preclude the right to adjust and balance the selections in this process based upon the levels 

of experience of the officers on a particular shift and/or division. 

10.1.5 Ten Hour Workday. 
 

Notwithstanding the paragraphs above, the Village agrees to maintain the current forty 

(40) hour work week based upon a four (4) day, ten (10) hour schedule for the duration of this 

contract.    The four/ten (4/10) schedule will only be  applicable to  those divisions/units that 

operate on such a schedule on the date this agreement is executed by both parties.  This language

Page | 264AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



22  

does not apply to any division which operates on a different work schedule.  Officers assigned to 

replace manpower shall work the zone assignment of the officer they are replacing, IF such zone 

assignment is already designated on the schedule at the time the replacement is made. 

Section 10.2.  Overtime Pay. 
 

Each Patrol Officer covered by this Agreement shall be paid one and one-half (1-1/2) 

times his regular straight time hourly rate of pay for all hours of work in excess of forty (40) in a 

regular 7-day work period.  Hours of work include all time that a Patrol Officer is required to be 

on duty whether scheduled or unscheduled provided, however, that time worked as the result of 

"trading time" pursuant to the provisions of Section 10.6 below shall not be considered hours of 

work for the purpose of overtime pay.  Paid absences from work, excluding, however, sick leave, 

shall be considered as "hours of work" for purposes of calculating overtime pay. Unpaid absences 

are not "hours of work" for purposes of overtime pay. 

Overtime assignments for which there is more than one and one-half hours’ notice shall 

be offered by seniority to covered officers.  Any assignments not filled by a volunteer shall be 

assigned by reverse seniority.  Nothing herein shall be construed to require the Village to fill any 

vacancy that may from time to time occur.  The Village possesses the absolute right to assign 

overtime work and Patrol Officers must work overtime as assigned by the Village.  The Village 

will not order a patrol officer to fill a vacancy created by the absence of a Sergeant.   (These 

provisions are to implement the overtime assignment procedure in effect as of May 1, 1998). 

Section 10.3.  Compensatory Time. 
 

A Patrol Officer may elect to have earned overtime credited to a compensatory time-off 

account  rather  than  to  be  paid  for  such  overtime.   No  Patrol  Officer  shall  be  allowed  to 

accumulate over seventy-five (75) hours of compensatory time.  Compensatory time shall be 

paid at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) hours for each overtime hour of work over 40 in any

Page | 265AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



23  

regular 7-day work period.  Compensatory time off may be taken only with the approval of the 

Patrol Officer’s supervisor based upon existing manpower needs.   Requests for compensatory 

time must be made at least 24 hours in advance unless the supervisor grants approval without 

such notice.  Requests for use of compensatory time may not be made more than six (6) months 

in advance of the dates requested for use.  Requests for use of compensatory time off shall not be 

unreasonably withheld. Compensatory hours may be carried over from year to year. 

Section 10.4.  Court Time. 
 

Time spent in court (including travel to and from court) pursuant to job duties shall be 

compensated  in  the  same  manner  as  scheduled  on-duty time. Covered  officers  shall  be 

compensated for a minimum of two (2) hours for time spent at the Bridgeview or Markham 

Court Houses.  Covered officers shall be compensated for a minimum of two and one-half (2- 

1/2) hours for time spent at the Will County Court House. 

 
Normal travel time to court in Joliet is 1/2 hour each way.  Normal travel time to court at 

the Daley Center or 26th and California is 1 hour each way. 

When a Patrol Officer is subpoenaed for a civil case and when such subpoena arises 

directly from the performance of job duties as an officer in the Tinley Park Police Department, 

the Patrol Officer shall be paid at the regular rate for all court time spent in response to the 

subpoena.   It is understood that any extraordinary expenses incurred by the Officer will be 

reimbursed by the Village upon proper submittal of receipts documenting such extraordinary ex- 

penses, i.e., transportation  costs,  parking fees,  etc.  It  is  understood that  reimbursement of 

expenses will be viewed in a limited manner and will not be extended to such items as meals or 

any other expenses that would normally arise in an Officer's performance of his duties.  Further, 

it is understood that Officers will submit all witness fees to the Village that result from their 

participation in  court-related matters.  If  such  fees  are  not  timely submitted, no  court-time

Page | 266AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



24  

payment will be made by the Village provided, however, if the subpoena fee exceeds the pay- 

ment to be made by the Village, the Patrol Officer shall have the option to retain the subpoena 

fee in lieu of the payment provided for herein. 

Section 10.5.  Training Time. 
 

Patrol Officers covered by this Agreement who are required to attend a training program 

shall be considered at  work while engaged in  such training and accordingly, they shall  be 

compensated for such hours of training in the same manner as other hours of duty. 

Section 10.6.  Trading of Work Shifts. 
 

Patrol Officers shall have the right to request trading of work shifts on a limited basis.  A 

Patrol Officer may initiate unlimited trades, provided that the officer may not trade more than 

four (4) consecutive shifts with the same person. Responsibility for the trade is with the officer 

who is to work the shift. Once an officer agrees to work a trade shift, any failure to completely 

fulfill such an obligation will result in discipline of the officer who accepted the trade request. All 

such requests shall be made in writing and approved by both the Patrol Officer's Supervisors.  The 

written request must normally be submitted no less than three (3) working days prior to the day 

upon which the first trade is to occur provided, however, that the Officer's Supervisors may, in 

extenuating circumstances, approve the trade without such notice.  It is understood that these 

requests will be given due consideration by the Supervisors and denial must be based on 

legitimate departmental manpower needs.  It is further understood that once a trade has been made, 

the party accepting the trade will be held totally responsible for covering the shift that he has 

agreed to cover.  Trading of duty shifts under the provisions of this section is voluntary as between 

the Patrol Officers involved and is permitted for the benefit and convenience of the officers.  The 

Village shall maintain a record of all such trades.  Any shift traded hereunder may be paid back 

within twelve (12) months but in all cases, the day must be traded back no later than the last 

day of the calendar year in which the trade was initiated.

Page | 267AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



25  

Section 10.7.  No Pyramiding. 
 

This Article is intended to define the normal hours of work, the regular work period and 

provide the basis for overtime calculation.  It shall not be construed as a guarantee of hours of 

work per day or per week or per regular work period.  Compensation shall not be paid more than 

once for the same hours under any provision of this Article or Agreement. 

Section 10.8.  Call Back. 
 

A call-back is defined as an official assignment of work which does not continuously 

precede or follow an officer's regularly scheduled work hours.  Employees who are required to 

work a call-back assignment shall be compensated at the officer's applicable overtime or straight- 

time rate of pay for all hours worked, with a minimum of two (2) hours compensated. 

ARTICLE XI GENERAL 

PROVISIONS 

Section 11.1.  Right to Join or Not to Join. 
 

Employees included in  the  appropriate bargaining unit  set  forth in  Article 1  of  this 

Agreement shall have the right to join or refrain from joining the Association.  The Village and 

the  Chapter agree  not  to  interfere with the  rights of  employees to  become or  not  become 

members of the Chapter and, further, that there shall be no discrimination or coercion against any 

employee because of Chapter membership or non-membership. Nothing contained in this 

Agreement shall be construed to prohibit individual employees from presenting grievances to the 

Village; provided, however, that the settlement of any such grievance shall not be inconsistent 

with the terms of this Agreement. 

Section 11.2.  Personnel Files. 
 

Upon appropriate request, an employee may inspect his personnel file subject to the 

following:

Page | 268AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



26  

A. Inspection shall occur at  a  time and in  a  manner mutually acceptable to  the 

employee  and  the  Village.   Upon  request,  an  employee  who  has  a  written 

grievance  on  file  who  is  inspecting  his  personnel  file  with  respect  to  said 

grievance may have an association official present during such inspection. 

 
B.          Copies of materials in his personnel file shall be provided an employee upon 

request if such materials are to be used in the processing of a grievance at the 

third step. The employee shall bear the cost of duplication. 

 
C.        An employee shall be provided a copy of the evaluation form used for the purpose 

of evaluating him at no cost to the employee. 

 
D. Pre-employment information, e.g., reference checks and responses, or information 

provided the Village with the specific request that it remain confidential shall not 

be subject to inspection or copying. 

 
Written reprimands shall remain in an Officer’s personnel file for the length of time 

commensurate with the offense as set forth in Appendix B.  Written reprimands shall be removed 

based on the schedule attached hereto as Appendix B. 

Section 11.3.  Bulletin Board. 
 

The Village shall provide, within the  Patrol Officer=s squad room, twenty-four inch by 

twenty-four inch space for a Chapter-provided bulletin board to be used exclusively for the 

posting of official notices.  Such notices, which shall be non-political and non-inflammatory in 

nature, shall be delivered to the Chief for his approval prior to posting.   The Chief shall not 

unreasonably withhold approval of notices which are in compliance with this Article. 

Section 11.4.  Probationary Period. 
 

All  new  employees  and  those  hired  after  loss  of  seniority  shall  be  considered 

probationary until they have completed a probationary period of twelve (12) months of work, 

excluding time spent in school.  Time absent from duty that is not credited for seniority purposes 

shall  not  apply  toward  satisfaction  of  the  probationary  period. During  an  employee's 

probationary period, the employee may be suspended, laid off or terminated in accordance with 

procedures established by the Civil Service Commission, without cause at the sole discretion of

Page | 269AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



27  

the Village.  Such probationary employee shall have no recourse to the grievance procedure or to 

the Civil Service Commission to contest such a suspension, layoff or termination.  An employee 

is not required to comply with the Village residency policy until the employee has completed the 

probationary period. 

Section 11.5.  Light Duty. 
 

Covered employees suffering from a duty or non-duty-related injury or illness may be 

assigned to light duty pursuant to the terms and conditions of the existing Village of Tinley Park 

Modified Duty Policy.  However, no covered officer shall be required to work a light duty shift 

other than that to which he/she was assigned prior to the injury or illness requiring light duty 

assignment, unless said officer voluntarily accepts said assignment. 

Section 11.6.  Residency. 
 

All  employees covered  by this  Agreement shall, as  a  condition of  employment and 

continued employment, be required to reside within a 30-mile radius measured from any border or 

village limit of Tinley Park within 12 months of employment date. .  Employees who choose to 

reside within the Village limits will have the benefit of Project 75. Residency in Indiana is 

not permitted. Waivers to this requirement may be approved by the Village Board.   If the Village 

waives the residency requirement for any other employee group after the effective date of this 

Agreement, it will waive it for the employees covered by this Agreement as well. 

Section 11.7.  Part Time Officers. 
 

The Village agrees that all part time officers hired by the Village will be covered by the 

terms and conditions set forth in Appendix C, attached hereto and made a part hereof, for the 

duration of this Agreement. 

 

 

 

Page | 270AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



28  

 
Section 11.8. Community Service Officers 

 

The parties agree that Community Service Officer (CSO) shall be permitted to perform 

administrative duties and shall not be permitted to perform criminal investigations, criminal 

reports or traffic crash reports. 

 
 
 

ARTICLE XII 

 
FAIR SHARE AND DUES DEDUCTION 

 

Section 12.1.  Dues Deduction. 
 

Upon receipt of lawful written authorization from employees covered by this Agreement, 

the Village agrees to deduct from their salary the regular uniform Union membership dues during 

the term of this Agreement.  A copy of the dues deduction authorization that is to be utilized is 

attached hereto as Appendix D.  Signing of the dues deduction authorization is voluntary with 

the individual employee and any dues deduction authorization which is signed shall be revocable 

at any time by the employee.  The dues shall be forwarded to the individual designated by the 

Union to receive such deductions.  The regular uniform Union membership dues to be deducted 

will be certified in writing by the Union to the Village. 

 

Section 12.2.  Indemnity. 
 

The Chapter agrees to  indemnify and hold the  Village harmless against any and all 

claims, suits, orders or judgments brought or issued against the Village as a result of any action 

taken or not taken by the Village under any of the provisions of this Article, except if the Village 

initiates or prosecutes such action. 

 

 

Page | 271AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



29  

ARTICLE XIII 

WAGES 

Section 13.1.  Salary Schedule. 
 

The minimum monthly salary effective from May 1, 2016 through April 30, 2024, is as 

 
follows: 

 

Effective:      

  5/1/2020 5/1/2021 5/1/2022 5/1/2023 

 Base (2.0%) (2.0%) (2.25%)  (2.55%) 
      

      
 

Start  35.12   35.82   36.54   37.36   38.31  
 

End of 1st Year  37.43   38.18   38.94   39.82   40.83  
 

End 2nd Year  39.92   40.72   41.53   42.47   43.55  
 

End 3rd Year  42.54   43.39   44.26   45.25   46.41  
 

End 4th Year  45.35   46.26   47.18   48.24   49.47  
 

End 5th Year  48.32   49.29   50.27   51.40   52.71  

Page | 272AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



30  

10 - 15 years of employment $145.00 per month 

15 - 18 years of employment $205.00 per month 

19+ years of employment $265.00 per month 

 

 

 

Section 13.2.  Investigator Compensation. 
 

In addition to the above, all Patrol Officers assigned to the Investigative Division shall 

receive an additional stipend of $2,000.00 during each contract year of this Agreement.   This 

additional remuneration will be paid on a bi-weekly basis and will be discontinued immediately 

upon the Patrol Officers no longer being assigned to the Investigative Division or when such Patrol 

Officer is on assignment to some other organization. 

In the event the scheduled standby week is vacant without a normally scheduled 

Investigator, all Investigators who are assigned to the standby rotation list will take one day of the 

week by seniority until the week is filled. In the event that standby days are not filled, the 

Investigator assigned to the standby rotation list with the least seniority will be assigned the 

remainder of the unfilled days. 

Section 13.3.  Service Longevity. 
 

For employees hired prior and subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement, salary 

and wage recognition will be accorded each such employee on the basis of service longevity 

independent of, but in addition to, that accorded as base pay or merit pay as follows: 

 
Effective May 1, 2009 and thereafter: 

 

Period of Employment                                   Increment for Service Longevity 
 

5- 9 years of employment                             $80.00 per month 
10 - 15 years of employment $140.00 per month 

15 - 18 years of employment $200.00 per month 

19+ years of employment 
 
Effective May 1, 2014 and thereafter: 

$260.00 per month 

 

Period of Employment                                   Increment for Service Longevity 
 

5- 9 years of employment                             $85.00  per month

Page | 273AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



31  

 

 

Section 13.4.  Educational Incentive Compensation. 
 

Employees who presently hold, or who subsequently obtain, college course credits as 

described below in police-related subjects approved in advance by the Chief of Police shall 

receive annual educational incentive compensation, which shall not be cumulative, as follows: 

Effective May 1, 2009 and thereafter: 
 

Completion of:                                   Compensation for Month 
 

BA/BS Degree $220.00 

60 hours of college credit $160.00 

45 hours of college credit $100.00 

30 hours of college credit $80.00 

15 hours of college credit $40.00 

 
 

Section 13.5.  Extra Compensation for Marksmanship Proficiency. 
 

Patrol  Officers  covered  by  this  Agreement  shall  receive,  in  addition  to  any  other 

payments, marksmanship proficiency payments payable as a lump sum payment on or before 

April 15 of each year for obtaining a verified shooting score annually under Village supervision 

as follows: 

 

 

Score                                                  Compensation Per Month 
 

Seventy percent (70%)                                   $ 6.00 
on the applicable course of fire. 

 
Eighty percent (80%)                                     $ 8.00 

on the applicable course of fire. 

 
Ninety percent (90%)                                     $10.00 

on the applicable course of fire. 

 
This  applicable course of  fire  shall  be  the  “Illinois State  Training Standard 

Qualification.”

Page | 274AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



32  

Section 13.6.  Officer in Charge. 
 

When that employee is  required to serve as an acting supervisor, the employee will 

receive additional pay equal to the existing low base pay for sergeants or 5 percent of the 

employee's base hourly rate, whichever is higher, provided, however, that when an employee is 

assigned to serve as an acting supervisor and does so    serve for a period in excess of four 

consecutive weeks, the employee will receive additional pay equal to the existing low base pay 

for sergeants or 10 percent of the employee's base hourly rate for that period of time during 

which he is, without interruptions, so assigned to act as a supervisor, whichever is higher. Acting 

pay will be given only for hours worked as an "acting supervisor" and shall be calculated to the 

nearest full hour.   Additional pay hereunder shall be accumulated and  paid annually in  the 

holiday payroll check as provided for in Section 7.1 of this Agreement.  Officers in Charge shall 

be selected by the supervisor or designee reasonably taking into consideration the candidate’s 

seniority, overall experience and competency. 

Section 13.7.  Field Training. 
 

A field training officer shall receive additional pay of five (5) hours at 1.5 times his 

regular rate of pay for each eighty (80) hours of time spent in field training another officer. 

Affected officers who work less than eighty (80) hours shall be paid for all hours worked on a 

pro rata basis.  This additional compensation shall be paid as part of the officer's regular payroll 

check. 

Section 13.8.  Canine Officer. 
 

The Village, the Village’s Police Department and the Union: 

 

•          have investigated the amount of time it takes an employee assigned to Canine or 
K-9 officer duties to provide daily canine care; 

 
•  have developed a reasonable estimate of the time reasonably required by a Canine 

or K-9 Officer to provide daily care for his or her assigned canine by analyzing

Page | 275AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



33  

the actual amount of time per day it takes a Canine or K-9 Officer to feed, groom, 

exercise, walk, train and perform other canine care duties; 

 
•  and seek to memorialize the manner in which the Canine or K-9 Officer will be 

reasonable compensated for providing daily care for his or her assigned canine. 
 

The Village and the Union agree and acknowledge that it takes one (1) hour per day for a 

Canine or K-9 Officer to care for his or her assigned canine.   This care includes, but is not 

limited to, feeding, grooming, exercising, walking and training the assigned canine. 

The Village and the Union further agree and understand that whenever practical, and 

subject to departmental needs, one (1) hour of each shift that the Canine Officer is on duty will 

be used for the care of the canine.  This care includes, but is not limited to, feeding, grooming, 

exercising, walking and training the assigned canine, as well as maintenance of the vehicle and 

kennel assigned to the Canine or K-9 Officer.  Emergencies and calls for service will always take 

precedence over this provision at the direction of the Canine or K-9 Officer’s supervisors. 

The foregoing provision will also be in effect when the Canine or K-9 Officer is on any 

paid leave, including, but not limited to, compensatory time, vacation time, personal leave time 

or sick time, unless the canine is being boarded. 

The Village and the Union further agree that the Canine or K-9 Officer will be paid one 

(1) hour at the Canine Officer’s current rate of pay for every non-duty day he is assigned as a 

Canine Officer.  This payment is intended to compensate the Canine or K-9 Officer for one hour 

of dog care responsibilities during his or her non-duty day. 

In addition to any normal recordkeeping requirements during on-duty time, the Canine or 

K-9 Officer will also keep a detailed log of all canine care activities and responsibilities that are 

carried out beyond his on-duty time, complete with dates and times the duties were performed. 

If the time required for such duties extends beyond the Officer’s normal duty day, or exceeds the 

one (1) hour allotted for off-duty dog care, the Village shall compensate the Canine Officer for

Page | 276AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



34  

such time at his current rate of pay, provided that the duties were necessary and within the scope 

of the Canine or K-9 Officer’s assignment, and the Canine or K-9 Officer has tendered to the 

Village a detailed log outlining the additional canine care activities performed during that pay 

period.  The aforementioned log will be submitted along with the Officer’s corresponding time 

sheet for that pay period. 

In addition to the foregoing reasonable compensation, the Village and the Union agree 

that the Canine or K-9 Officer will be further reasonably compensated by the Village for canine 

care as follows: 

a.          provision of a specially equipped department K-9 motor vehicle which may be 

used to transport the canine to and from the Officer’s home and the Tinley Park 

Police  Department, as  well  as  any other  locations necessary for  the  care  or 

training of the canine; 

b. provision of all gasoline, insurance, equipment and maintenance for the canine 

vehicle; 

c.          payment for any expenses related to the care of the canine, including but not 

limited to, veterinary care, necessary boarding or kennel fees, food, toys, canine 

equipment and training supplies; 

d. payment for all expenses related to the necessary training and certification of the 

canine; and 

e.         provision and installation of a kennel at the home of the Canine or K-9 Officer for 

the care and convenience of the canine.  This kennel will remain Village property 

at all times, and can be recovered or replaced at the Village’s discretion. 

The Village and the Union finally agree and acknowledge that the assigned Canine or K-

Page | 277AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



35  

9 Officer will be required to enter into a separate written agreement with the Village 

acknowledging and memorializing the foregoing Canine or K-9 Officer compensation package 

and the reasonableness thereof. 

Section 13.9.  Extra Duty. 
 

Pursuant to Section 7(p)(1) of the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Village administers the 

extra duty employment of bargaining unit members by certain separate and independent 

employers.  A list of such extra duty employers is attached hereto as Appendix F.   Extra duty 

assignments are performed solely at the option of the officer during off-duty hours.  These extra 

duty assignments may include sporting events and extracurricular activities of those employers 

listed in Appendix F.    Compensation for extra duty assignments performed by members of the 

bargaining unit  is  at  the  rate  of  $30.00 per  hour.    The  Village shall  bill  the  independent 

employers for service provided, and establish procedures for the officers to receive their pay 

through the Village payroll system.  Officers wishing to work extra duty assignments may place 

their names on the extra duty roster from which extra duty assignments may be made.  While on 

extra duty assignments, all officers are required to observe their normal standards of conduct and 

shall be subject to disciplinary action for their failure to do so.  Members of the bargaining unit 

shall be offered at least fifty (50) per cent of all extra duty assignments offered by independent 

employers.    Extra  duty  assignments  will  be  offered  (by  seniority)  to  all  bargaining  unit 

employees who have placed their names on the extra duty roster.  All Bargaining Unit members 

are entitled to work these extra duties. 

Section 13.10. Retroactivity. 
 

Those employees employed by the Village on the date the Agreement is signed by both 

parties, and any employee who shall have retired from the Village of Tinley Park during the term 

of negotiations,  shall receive the wage increases described in this Agreement on a retroactive

Page | 278AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



36  

basis to May 1, 2020.  Retroactive wage increases will be paid to each eligible employee for all 

hours worked and compensated between May 1, 2020, and the date of the execution of this 

Agreement within forty-five (45) days of the signing of this Agreement. 

ARTICLE XIV 

 
EMPLOYEE DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING 

 

Section 14.1.  Statement of Policy. 
 

It is the policy of the Village that the public has the absolute right to expect persons 

employed by the Village in its Police Department will be free from the effects of drugs and alcohol.  

The Village, as the employer, has the right to expect its employees to report for work fit and able 

for duty and to set a positive example for the community.  The purpose of this policy shall be 

achieved in such manner as not to violate any established constitutional rights of the officers of 

the Police Department. 

Section 14.2.  Prohibitions. 
 

Officers shall be prohibited from: 

 
(a)        Consuming or possessing alcohol at any time during or just prior to the beginning 

of the workday or anywhere on any Village premises or job sites, including Village buildings, 

properties, vehicles and the officer’s personal vehicle while engaged in Village business, except 

as may be necessary in the performance of duty as authorized by the Chief or his designee. 

(b)       Possessing, using, selling, purchasing or delivering any illegal drug at any time 

and at any place except as may be necessary in the performance of duty as authorized by the 

Chief or his designee. 

(c)       Failing to report to the employee’s supervisor any known adverse side effects of 

medication or prescription drugs which the employee may be taking. 

Page | 279AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



37  

Section 14.3.  Drug and Alcohol Testing Permitted. 
 

Where the Village has reasonable suspicion to believe that: (a) an officer is being affected 

by the use of alcohol; or (b) has abused prescribed drugs; or (c) has used illegal drugs, the 

Village shall have the right to require the officer to submit to alcohol or drug testing as set forth 

in this Agreement.  The foregoing shall not limit the right of the Village to conduct any tests it 

may deem appropriate for persons seeking employment as police officers prior to their date of 

hire, or upon promotion or reassignment to another position within the Department. 

Section 14.4.  Order to Submit Testing. 
 

Within twenty-four (24) hours of the time the officer is ordered to testing authorized by 

this Agreement, the Village shall provide the officer with a written notice setting forth the facts 

and interferences which form the basis of the order to test.  Refusal to submit to such test may 

subject the employee to discipline, but the officer’s taking of the test shall not be construed as a 

waiver of any objection or rights that he or she may possess. 

Section 14.5.  Test to be Conducted. 
 

In conducting the testing authorized by this Agreement, the Village shall: 

 
(a)        Use only a clinical laboratory or hospital facility which is certified by the State of 

Illinois to perform drug and/or alcohol testing, or use a licensed breathalyzer operator who is not 

a member of the bargaining unit. 

(b)        Establish a chain of custody procedure for both the sample collection and testing 

that will ensure the integrity of the identity of each sample and test result. 

(c)        If a blood, urine, or hair test, collect a sufficient sample of the same bodily fluid 

or material from an officer to allow for initial screening, a confirmatory test, and a sufficient 

amount   to   be   set   aside   reserved   for   later   testing   if   requested   by   the   officer. 

Page | 280AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



38  

(d)        Collect samples in such a manner as to preserve the individual officer’s right to 

privacy  while  insuring  a  high  degree  of  security  for  the  sample  and  its  freedom  from 

adulteration.   Officers shall not be witnessed by anyone while submitting a sample except in 

circumstances where the laboratory or facility does not have a “clean room” for submitting 

samples or where there is reasonable suspicion that the officer may attempt to compromise the 

accuracy of the testing procedure. 

(e)        Confirm any blood, urine, or other sample that tests positive in initial screening 

for drugs by testing the second portion of the same sample by gas chromatography/mass 

spectrometry (GC/MS) or an equivalent or better scientifically accurate and accepted method that 

provides quantitative data about the detected drug or drug metabolites. 

(f)        Provide the officer tested with an opportunity to have the additional blood, urine, 

or other sample tested by a clinical laboratory or hospital facility to the officer’s choosing, at the 

officer’s own expense; provided the officer notified the Village within seventy-two (72) hours of 

receiving the results of the test. 

(g)        Require that the laboratory or hospital facility report to the Village that a blood, 

urine, or other sample is positive only if both the initial screening and confirmation test are 

positive.   The parties agree that should any information concerning such testing or the results 

thereof be obtained by the Village inconsistent with the undertakings expressed herein (e.g., 

billings for testing that reveal the nature or number of tests administered), the Village will not 

use such information in any manner or form adverse to the officer’s interests. 

(h)       Require  that  with  regard  to  alcohol  testing,  for  the  purpose  of  determining 

whether  the  officer  is  under  the  influence  of  alcohol,  test  results  showing  an  alcohol 

concentration of .020 or more based upon the grams of alcohol per 100 millimeters of blood be

Page | 281AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



39  

considered  positive  (NOTE:  The  foregoing  standard  shall  not  preclude  the  Village  from 

attempting to show that test results between .000 and .019 demonstrate that the officer was under 

the influence, but the Village shall bear the burden of proof in such cases). 

(i)        Provide each officer tested with a copy of all information and reports received by 

the Village in connection with the testing and the results. 

(j)         Insure that no officer is the subject of any adverse employment action except 

emergency temporary reassignment or relief of duty during the pendency of any testing procedure. 

Section 14.6.  Right to Contest. 
 

If disciplinary action is not taken against an employee based in whole or in part upon the 

results of a drug or alcohol test, the Chapter and/or the officer, with or without the Chapter, shall 

have the right to file a grievance concerning any testing permitted by this Agreement, contesting 

the basis for the order to submit to the test, the right to test, the administration of the tests, the 

significance and accuracy of the test, or any other alleged violation of this Agreement.   Such 

grievances shall be commenced at Step 2 of the grievance procedure.   Further, if disciplinary 

action is taken against an officer based in part upon the results of a test, then the Chapter and/or 

the officer, with or without the Chapter, shall have the right to file a grievance concerning any 

portion of the test if the discipline is not so extreme as to invoke the jurisdiction of the Village of 

Tinley Park Board of Police Commissioners. If the discipline is sufficiently extreme as to invoke 

the jurisdiction of the Village’s Board of Police Commissioners, then the Chapter and/or the 

officer, with our without Chapter, shall have the right to contest any testing permitted by this 

Agreement before the Board of Police Commissioners. 

Page | 282AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



40  

Section 14.7.  Voluntary Request for Assistance. 
 

The Village shall take no adverse employment action against any officer who voluntarily 

seeks  treatment,  counseling,  or  other  support  for  an  alcohol  or  drug  related  problem  not 

involving or related to criminal activity because of the officer’s voluntary actions, other than the 

Village may require reassignment of the officer with pay if he is unfit for duty in his current 

assignment. The foregoing is conditioned upon: 

(a)        The officer was not under investigation for illegal drug use or abuse o alcohol, or 

in such a circumstance that such investigation was imminent. 

(b)       The officer agreeing to appropriate treatment as determined by the physician(s) 

 
involved. 

 
(c)       The officer discontinues his use of illegal drugs or abuse of alcohol. 

 
(d)        The officer completes the course of treatment and aftercare prescribed by the 

attending medical authority(s), including an “after-care” group for a period of up to twelve (12) 

months. 

(e)        The officer agrees to submit to suspicionless testing during hours of work during 

the prescribed period of treatment and aftercare discussed in (d) above. 

Officers who do not agree to or act in accordance with the foregoing, or for whom there 

exists independent evidence of  improper activity,  shall  be  subject  to  discipline, up  to  and 

including discharge.    This Article shall not be construed as an obligation on the part of the 

Village to  retain  an  officer on  active status throughout the period of  rehabilitation if  it  is 

appropriately determined by the attending medical authority(s) that the officer’s current use of 

alcohol or drugs prevents such individual from performing the duties of a police officer or whose 

continuance on active status would constitute a direct threat to the property and safety of others.

Page | 283AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



41  

Such officer shall be afforded the opportunity, at his option, to use accumulated paid leave or 

take an unpaid leave of absence pending treatment. 

ARTICLE XV 

BILL OF RIGHTS 

All members of the bargaining unit are entitled to the rights provided by the Uniform 
 
Peace Officers Disciplinary Act (commonly known as Peace Officers Bill of Rights), 50 ILCS 

 
725/1 et seq, provided, however, that this clause shall have no effect if said Act is repealed or 

declared invalid.   Any alleged violation of this article shall not be subject to the grievance 

procedure unless and until the grieving and an authorized representative of the Chapter each 

voluntarily executes a binding waiver of any right to sue the Village in any administrative forum 

or court of law alleging a violation of Chapter 85 Section 2551 et seq., arising from the events 

giving rise to the grievance.  It is the express intent of the parties that any alleged violation of the 

Peace Officers Bill of Rights be subject to determination only by one forum.   In addition, all 

employees covered by this Agreement are hereby informed that they have the right to Union 

representation in any interview or interrogation that they reasonably believe could result in 

disciplinary action against them, commonly known as Weingarten rights. 

ARTICLE XVI  

ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, 
 
each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any 

subject or matter not removed by law from the  area  of collective bargaining, and that  the 

understandings and agreements arrived at  by the parties after the exercise of that right and 

opportunity are set forth in this Agreement.   Therefore, the Village and the Chapter, for the 

duration of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees

Page | 284AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



42  

that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter 

referred to or covered in this Agreement, or with respect to any subject or matter not specifically 

referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subjects or matters may not have 

been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they 

negotiated or signed this Agreement. 

ARTICLE XVII  

SAVINGS CLAUSE 

If any provision of this Agreement is subsequently declared by legislative or judicial 
 
authority to be unlawful, unenforceable or not in accordance with applicable statutes or orders, 

all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this 

Agreement. 

ARTICLE XVIII  

TERM OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement shall become effective as of the first day after it is signed by both 
 
parties, and shall terminate at 11:59 p.m. on April 30, 2024.  Either the Village or the Chapter 

may give written notice to the other party of its desire to modify or terminate this Agreement and 

to renegotiate an agreement for subsequent years.  Said notice shall be given at least ninety (90) 

days prior to the termination of the agreement.  In the event that this notice is not so given, this 

contract shall be deemed automatically renewed for an additional year and from year to year 

thereafter until such written notice is given. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect 

after    any  expiration  date   while  negotiations  or   resolution  of  impasse  procedures  are 

continuing for a new agreement, or part thereof, between the parties. 

Page | 285AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



43  

Metropolitan Alliance of Police,                                            Village of Tinley Park, Illinois 

Tinley Park Police Chapter #192 

 

By:                                                                                       By: _                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
  KEITH GEORGE, President                                                JACOB VANDENBERG, 
  Metropolitan Alliance of Police                                             Village Mayor 
 
 

 
 

RAYMOND VIOLETTO, President 
M.A.P. Tinley Park Chapter #192 

 

 
 

DATED:                                                                               DATED:                                                                                                                                                                                 
                                                                                 

 

 

ATTEST:     

Village Clerk

Page | 286AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

APPENDIX A1 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Plan HMO PPO Blue Advantage 

    

2020 10% Employee contribution 10% Employee contribution 10% Employee contribution 

2021 11% Employee contribution 11% Employee contribution 11% Employee contribution 

2022 12% Employee contribution 12% Employee contribution 12% Employee contribution 

2023 12% Employee contribution 12% Employee contribution 12% Employee contribution 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
46

Page | 287AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

APPENDIX A2 
(SUMMARY PLAN BENEFIT SHEETS) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
47

Page | 288AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Summary of Benefits and Coverage: What this Plan Covers & What You Pay For Covered Services                              Coverage Period: 10/01/2020 – 09/30/2021 

Village of Tinley Park: PPO Plan                                                                                         Coverage for: Individual + Family |  Plan Type: PPO 
 

 

   

   
  
  

   

 
 

   

   
  

  

   
 

   

 

   

Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Illinois, a Division of Health Care Service Corporation, a Mutual Legal Reserve Company, an Independent Licensee of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association 

SBC IL Non-HMO LG – 2020 
 

1 of 7

Page | 289AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

Common 
Medical Event 

 
Services You May Need 

What You Will Pay  

Limitations, Exceptions, & Other 
Important Information 

In-Network Provider 
(You will pay the least) 

Out-of-Network Provider 
(You will pay the most) 

  

 
 
 
 
 

Primary care visit to treat an injury 
or illness 

  
 
 
 
 

 
40% c oinsuranc e 

 

Virtual Visits: $25 c opay/visit; deduc tible 
does not apply. See your benefit booklet* for 
details. 

 $25 c opay/visit; 
 

Services or supplies that are not ordered by 
 

 
 
 
 

If you visit a health 

deductible does not apply 
your Prim ary Care Physic ian or Women’s 
Principal Health Care Provider, except 
emergencyor routine vision exams are not 
covered. 

care  p r o v i d e r ’s  
office 

  

or clinic 
 

Spec ialist visit 

 
$50 c opay/visit; 

 
 

40% c oinsuranc e 

 
 

None 
deduc tible does not apply 

 
 

Preventive care/sc reening/ 

 

 
 

No Charge; deduc tible 

does not apply 

 
 

 

40% c oinsuranc e 

 

You may have to pay for services that aren’t 
preventive. Ask your provider if the services 
needed are preventive. T hen check what 
your plan will pay for. 

 

immunization 

 
 

 

If you have a test 

 

Diagnostic test (x-ray, blood work) 
 

20% c oinsuranc e 
 

40% c oinsuranc e 
 

None 

 

Imaging (CT /PET scans, MRIs) 
 

20% c oinsuranc e 
 

40% c oinsuranc e 
 

None 

 
 
 
 
 
 

* For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the plan or policydocument at 
https://policy-srv.box.com/s/w71ouzewdncpu30mc26gy9n6sj97zjs6. 

2 of 7

Page | 290AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

 

Common 
Medical Event 

 

Services You May Need 

What You Will Pay  

Limitations, Exceptions, & Other 
Important Information 

In-Network Provider 
(You will pay the least) 

Out-of-Network Provider 
(You will pay the most) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If you need drugs to 
treat your illness or 
condition 
More information about 

prescription drug 

coverage is available 
at  www.bc bsil.com. 

 

 
 

Generic drugs 

$15 c opay/prescription   

(retail) $15 c opay/prescription Rx Out-of-Poc ket Expense Limit: 

$30 c opay/prescription (retail); $1,000 Individual/$3,000 Family 

(mail order); deduc tible does not apply  

deduc tible does not apply  30-day supply at Retail 
 

 
 

Preferred brand drugs 

$40 c opay/prescription  90-day supply at Mail Order 
(retail) $40 c opay/prescription  

$80 c opay/prescription (retail); For Out-of-Network drug provider, you are 

(mail order); deductible does not apply  responsible for 25% of the eligible amount 

deductible does not apply  after the c opay. 
 

 
 

Non-preferred brand drugs 

$60 c opay/prescription   Certain women’s preventive service s will be 

(retail) $60 c opay/prescription  covered with no cost to the member. For a 
$120 c opay/prescription (retail); full list of these prescriptions and/or services, 
(mail order); deduc tible does not apply please contact Customer Service. 
deduc tible does not apply   

 

Specialty drugs 

$60 c opay/prescription $60 c opay/prescription Specialty drugs coverage based on group 
policy. Specialty retail limited to 30-day 

Supply. Prior authorization may be required. 
(retail); (retail); 

deductible does not apply deductible does not apply 

 

If you have outpatient 
surgery 

Facility fee (e.g., ambulatory 
surgery center) 

 

20% c oinsuranc e 
 

40% c oinsuranc e 
 

Preauthorization may be required. 

Physician/surgeon fees 20% c oinsuranc e 40% c oinsuranc e None 

 Em ergenc y room c are $250 c opay/visit $250 c opay/visit Copay waived if admitted. 

If you need 
immediate medical        Emergency medical transportation 
attention 

 
20% c oinsuranc e 

 
20% c oinsuranc e 

Preauthorization may be required for non- 
emergency transportation; see your 
benefit booklet* for details. 

Urgent c are 20% c oinsuranc e 40% c oinsuranc e None 

 

 
 
 
 
 

* For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the plan or policy document at 
https://policy-srv.box.com/s/w71ouzewdncpu30mc26gy9n6sj97zjs6. 

3 of 7

Page | 291AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

http://www.bcbsil.com/
http://www.bcbsil.com/


 

 

Common 
Medical Event 

 

Services You May Need 

What You Will Pay  

Limitations, Exceptions, & Other 
Important Information 

In-Network Provider 
(You will pay the least) 

Out-of-Network Provider 
(You will pay the most) 

 
 
 

 
If you have a hospital 

stay 

 
 

 

Facility fee (e.g., hospital room) 

 
 

 

20% c oinsuranc e 

 
 

 

40% c oinsuranc e 

 

$300 deduc tible per admission Out-of- 
Network providers. Preauthorization 
required. See your benefit booklet* for 
details. 

 

Physician/surgeon fees 
 

20% c oinsuranc e 
 

40% c oinsuranc e 
 

None 

 
 
 
 

 

If you need mental 
health, behavioral 
health, or substance 
abuse services 

 
 
 
 

Outpatient services 

 
 

 

$25 c opay/visit; 
deductible does not apply 

 
 
 
 

40% c oinsuranc e 

 

Virtual Visits: $25 c opay/visit; deduc tible 
does not apply. PCP c opay applies to 
psychotherapy only. Preauthorization 
required. See your benefit booklet* for 
details. 

 

 
 

Inpatient services 

 

 
 

20% c oinsuranc e 

 

 
 

40% c oinsuranc e 

 

$300 deduc tible per admission Out-of- 
Network providers. Preauthorization 
required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If you are pregnant 

 

 

Office visits 

 

$25 c opay/visit; 

deductible does not apply 

 

 

40% c oinsuranc e 

 

Copay applies to first prenatal visit (per 
pregnancy). Cost sharing does not apply for 
preventive services. Depending on the type 
of services, a c opaym ent, c oinsuranc e, or 
deductible may apply. Maternity care may 
include tests and services described 
elsewhere in the SBC (i.e. ultrasound). 

 
 

Childbirth/delivery professional 
services 

 

 
 

20% c oinsuranc e 

 

 
 

40% c oinsuranc e 

 

 

Childbirth/delivery facility services 

 

 

20% c oinsuranc e 

 

 

40% c oinsuranc e 

 

$300 deduc tible per admission Out-of- 
Network providers. 

 

* For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the plan or policy document at 
https://policy-srv.box.com/s/w71ouzewdncpu30mc26gy9n6sj97zjs6. 

4 of 7

Page | 292AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

Common 
Medical Event 

 

Services You May Need 

What You Will Pay  

Limitations, Exceptions, & Other 
Important Information 

In-Network Provider 
(You will pay the least) 

Out-of-Network Provider 
(You will pay the most) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If you need help 
recovering or have 
other special health 
needs 

 

 
Hom e health c are 

 

 
20% c oinsuranc e 

 

 
40% c oinsuranc e 

 

$300 deduc tible per admission Out-of- 
Network providers. Preauthorization may be 
required. 

 

Rehabilitation services 
 

20% c oinsuranc e 
 

40% c oinsuranc e 
 

Limited to 70 visits per benefit period for 
occupational therapy, 45 visits per benefit 
period for speech therapy, and 65 visits per 
benefit period for physical therapy. 
Preauthorization may be required. 

 
 

Habilitation servic es 

 
 

20% c oinsuranc e 

 
 

40% c oinsuranc e 

 

 

Skilled nursing care 

 

 

20% c oinsuranc e 

 

 

40% c oinsuranc e 

 

$300 deduc tible per admission Out-of- 
Network providers. Preauthorization may be 
required. 

 

 
 
 

Durable m edic al equipm ent 

 

 
 
 

20% c oinsuranc e 

 

 
 
 

40% c oinsuranc e 

Referral required. Benefits are limited to 

items used to serve a medical purpose. DM E 
benefits are provided for both purchase and 
rental equipment (up to the purchase price). 
Preauthorization may be required. 

 

 

Hospice services 

 

 

20% c oinsuranc e 

 

 

40% c oinsuranc e 

 

$300 deduc tible per admission Out-of- 
Network providers. Preauthorization may be 
required. 

 

 
 
 

If your child needs 
dental or eye care 

 

Children’s eye exam 
 

Not Covered 
 

Not Covered 
 

None 

 

Children’s glasses 
 

Not Covered 
 

Not Covered 
 

None 

 

Children’s dental check-up 
 

Not Covered 
 

Not Covered 
 

None 

* For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the plan or policy document at 
https://policy-srv.box.com/s/w71ouzewdncpu30mc26gy9n6sj97zjs6. 

5 of 7

Page | 293AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Excluded Services & Other Covered Services: 

Services Your Plan Generally Does NOT Cover (Check your policy or plan document for more information and a list of any other excluded services.) 

     Acupuncture 

     Cosmetic surgery 

     Custodial care 

     Dental care (Adult) 

     Long term care 

     Routine eye care (Adult) 

     Routine foot care (with the exception of person 
with diagnosis of diabetes) 

     Weight loss programs 

Other Covered Services (Limitations may apply to these services. This isn’t a complete list. Please see your plan document.) 

     Bariatric surgery 

     Chiropractic care (limited to 30 visits per calendar 
year) 

     Infertility treatment 

     Hearing aids 

     Most coverage provided outside the United 
States.  See www.bc bsil.c om. 

     Non-emergency care when traveling outside the 
U.S. 

     Private-duty nursing (with the exception of 
inpatient private duty nursing) 

Your Rights to Continue Coverage: T here are agencies that can help if you want to continue your coverage after it ends. T he contact information for those 
agencies is: the plan at 1-800-892-2803, U.S. Department of Labor’s Employee Benefits Security Administration at 1-866-444-EBSA (3272) or 
www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform, or Department of Health and Human Services, Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight, at 1-877-267-2323 
x61565 or www.c c iio.c m s.gov. Other coverage options may be available to you too, including buying individual insurance coverage through the Health Insuranc e 
M arketplac e. For more information about the M arketplac e, visit  www.HealthCare.gov or call 1-800-318-2596. 

Your Grievance and Appeals Rights: T here are agencies that can help if you have a complaint against your plan for a denial of a c laim. This complaint is called a 
grievanc e or appeal. For more information about your rights, look at the explanation of benefits you will receive for that medical c laim. Your plan documents also 
provide complete information to submit a c laim, appeal, or a grievanc e for any reason to your plan. For more information about your rights, this notice, or assistance, 
contact: Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Illinois at 1-800-892-2803 or visit  www.bc bsil.c om, or contact the U.S. Department of Labor's Employee Benefits Security 
Administration at 1-866-444-EBSA (3272) or visit  www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform. Additionally, a consumer assistance program can help you file your appeal. 
Contact the Illinois Department of Insurance at (877) 527-9431 or visit  http://insuranc e.illinois.gov. 

Does this plan provide M inimum Essential Coverage? Yes 
If you don’t have  M inim um Essential Coverage for a month, you’ll have to make a payment when you file your tax return unless you qualify for an exemption from the 
requirement that you have health coverage for that month. 

Does this plan meet the M inimum Val ue Standards? Yes 
If your plan doesn’t meet the  M inim um Value Standards, you may be eligible for a prem ium tax c redit to help you pay for a plan through the M arketplac e. 

Language Access Services: 

Spanish (Español): Para obtener asistencia en Español, llame al 1-800-892-2803. 
T agalog (T agalog): Kung kailangan ninyo ang tulong sa T agalog tumawag sa 1-800-892-2803. 

Chinese (中文): 如果需要中文的帮助，请拨打这个号码1-800-892-2803. 

Navajo (Dine): Dinek'ehgo shika at'ohwol ninisingo, kwiijigo holne' 1-800-892-2803. 
 

––––––––––––––––––––––To see examples of how this plan might cover costs for a sample medical situation, see the next section.–––––––––––––––––––––– 

* For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the plan or policy document at 
https://policy-srv.box.com/s/w71ouzewdncpu30mc26gy9n6sj97zjs6. 

6 of 7

Page | 294AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

http://www.bcbsil.com/
http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform
http://www.cciio.cms.gov/
http://www.healthcare.gov/
http://www.bcbsil.com/
http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform
http://insurance.illinois.gov/


 

About these Coverage Examples: 
 

 

This is not a cost estimator. Treatments shown are just examples of how this plan might cover medical care. Your actual costs will be 

different depending on the actual care you receive, the prices your providers charge, and many other factors. Focus on the c ost sharing 

amounts (deduc tibles, c opaym ents and c oinsuranc e) and exc luded servic es under the plan. Use this information to compare the portion of 

costs you might pay under different health plans. Please note these coverage examples are based on self-only coverage. 
 
 

Peg is Having a Baby 
(9 months of in-network pre-natal care and a 

hospital delivery) 

Managing Joe’s type 2 Diabetes (a 
year of routine in-network care of a well- 

controlled condition) 

Mia’s Simple Fracture 
(in-network emergency room visit and follow 

up care)

 The plan’s overall deductible $500  The plan’s overall deductible $500  The plan’s overall deductible $500 
 Specialist copayment $50   Specialist copayment $50   Specialist copayment $50 
 Hospital (facility) coinsurance 20%   Hospital (facility) coinsurance 20%   Hospital (facility) coinsurance 20% 
 Other coinsurance 20%   Other coinsurance 20%   Other coinsurance 20% 

 

This EXAMPLE event includes services like: 
Spec ialist office visits (prenatal care) 
Childbirth/Delivery Professional Services 

This EXAMPLE event includes services like: 
Prim ary c are physic ian office visits (including 
disease education) 

This EXAMPLE event includes services like: 
Em ergenc y room c are (including medical 
supplies) 

Childbirth/Delivery Facility Services 
Diagnostic tests (ultrasounds and blood work) 
Spec ialist visit (anesthesia) 

Diagnostic tests (blood work) 
Presc ription drugs 
Durable m edic al equipm ent (glucose meter) 

Diagnostic test (x-ray) 
Durable m edic al equipm ent (crutches) 
Rehabilitation servic es (physical therapy) 

 

The plan would be responsible for the other costs of these EXAMPLE covered services. 7 of 7

Page | 295AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Page | 296AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



54 

 

 

: HMO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Illinois, a Division of Health Care Service Corporation, a Mutual Legal Reserve Company, an Independent Licensee of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association 

SBC IL HMO LG – 2020 
 

  

Page | 297AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



55 

 

 
1 of 6 Page | 298AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



56 

 

All  copayment and coinsurance costs shown in this chart are after your  deductible has been met, if a deductible applies. 
 

 
Common 

Medical Event 

 
 

Services You May Need 

What You Will Pay  
Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important 

Information 

 

Participating Provider 
(You will pay the least) 

Non-Participating 
Provider 

(You will pay the most) 
 
 
 
 

 
If you visit a health 

 
 

Primary care visit to treat an 
injury or illness 

 

 
 

$30 c opay/visit 

 

 
 

Not Covered 

Services or supplies that are not ordered by 
your Prim ary Care Physic ian or Women’s 
Principal Health Care Provider, except 
emergencyand routine vision exams, are not 

covered. 

care  p r o v i d e r ’s  office     
Spec ialist visit 

or clinic 

 

$50 c opay/visit 
 

Not Covered 
 

Referral required. 

 
Preventive care/sc reening/ 

 
 

No Charge 

 
 

Not Covered 

You may have to pay for services that aren’t 
preventive. Ask your provider if the services 
needed are preventive. T hen check what your 
plan will pay for. 

immunization 

 

 

If you have a test 

Diagnostic test (x-ray, blood 
work) 

 

No Charge 
 

Not Covered 
 

Referral required. 

Imaging (CT /PET scans, MRIs) No Charge Not Covered Referral required. 

  

 
Generic drugs 

$10 c opay/prescription 
 

 
Not Covered 

 

 

Dispensing limit may apply to certain drugs. 
34-day retail/90-day mail. 
RX Out-of-Poc ket Expense Limit: 
$1,000 Individual/$2,000 Family. 
Self-injectable drugs covered at $50 per 
prescription. 
Certain women’s preventive servic es will be 
covered with no cost to the member. For a full 
list of these prescriptions and/or services, 
please contact Customer Service. 

 (retail) 
 $20 c opay/prescription 
 (mail order) 

If you need drugs to 
treat your illness or 

condition                         Preferred brand drugs 

More information about 

$40 copay/prescription  
 

Not Covered 
(retail) 
$80 c opay/prescription 

(mail order) 
prescription drug 
coverage is available at 

www.bcbsil.com.               Non-preferred brand drugs 

$60 c opay/prescription  
 

Not Covered 
(retail) 

$120 c opay/prescription 
(mail order) 

 

Specialty drugs 

 

$60 c opay/prescription 
 
Not Covered 

Specialty drug coverage based on group 
policy. Prior authorization may be required. 
Specialty retail limited to 30-day supply. 

(retail) 

* For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the plan or policy document at https://policy-srv.box.com/s/05vblugleuipr6ih3ol6qd1g119wi3ka. 
2 of 6

Page | 299AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

http://www.bcbsil.com/


57 

 

 

 

Common 

Medical Event 

 
 

Services You May Need 

What You Will Pay  

Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important 

Information 

 

Participating Provider 

(You will pay the least) 

Non-Participating 
Provider 

(You will pay the most) 

 

If you have outpatient 
surgery 

Facility fee (e.g., ambulatory 

surgery center) 

 

No Charge 
 

Not Covered 
 

Referral required. 

Physician/surgeon fees No Charge Not Covered Referral required. 

 

 

If you need immediate 
medical attention 

Em ergenc y room c are $150 c opay/visit $150 c opay/visit Copay waived if admitted. 

Emergency medical 
transportation 

 

No Charge 
 

No Charge 
 

Ground transportation only. 

 

Urgent c are 
 

$30 c opay/visit 
 

Not Covered 
Must be affiliated with member’s chosen 

medical group or referral required. 
 

If you have a hospital 
stay 

Facility fee (e.g., hospital room) No Charge Not Covered Referral required. 
 

Physician/surgeon fees 
 

No Charge 
 

Not Covered 
 

Referral required. 

If you need mental 
health, behavioral 
health, or substance 
abuse services 

 

Outpatient services 
 

$30 c opay/visit 
 

Not Covered 
 

Unlimited visits. Referral required. 

 

Inpatient services 
 

No Charge 
 

Not Covered 
 

Unlimited days. Referral required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

If you are pregnant 

 

 
Office visits 

 

 
$30 c opay/visit 

 

 
Not Covered 

Copay applies for the 1st prenatal visit only. 
Cost sharing does not apply for preventive 
services. Depending on the type of services, a 
copayment may apply. Maternity care may 
include tests and services described 
elsewhere in the SBC (i.e. ultrasound). 

Childbirth/delivery professional 
services 

 

No Charge 
 

Not Covered 

 

Childbirth/delivery facility 
services 

 
No Charge 

 
Not Covered 

 
Referral required. 

 
 
 
 

* For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the plan or policy document at 
https://policy-srv.box.com/s/05vblugleuipr6ih3ol6qd1g119wi3ka. 

 

3 of 6

Page | 300AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



58 

 

 

 

Common 

Medical Event 

 
 

Services You May Need 

What You Will Pay  

Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important 

Information 

 

Participating Provider 

(You will pay the least) 

Non-Participating 
Provider 

(You will pay the most) 
 

 
 
 
 

If you need help 
recovering or have 
other special health 
needs 

Hom e health c are No Charge Not Covered Referral required. 

Rehabilitation services No Charge Not Covered 60 visits combined for all therapies. 
Referral required. Habilitation servic es No Charge Not Covered 

Skilled nursing care No Charge Not Covered Excludes custodial care. Referral required. 
 

 
 

Durable m edic al equipm ent 

 

 
 

No Charge 

 

 
 

Not Covered 

Referral required. 
Benefits are limited to items used to serve a 
medical purpose. DM E benefits are provided 
for both purchase and rental equipment (up to 
the purchase price). 

Hospice services No Charge Not Covered Referral required. 

 
If your child needs 
dental or eye care 

 

Children’s eye exam 
 

No Charge 
 

Not Covered 
Limited to one exam every 12 months at 
partic ipating providers. 

Children’s glasses Not Covered Not Covered None 

Children’s dental check-up Not Covered Not Covered None 
 

 

Excluded Services & Other Covered Services: 
 

Services Your Plan Generally Does NOT Cover (Check your policy or plan document for more information and a list of any other excluded services.)

     Cosmetic surgery 

     Custodial care 

     Dental care (Adult) 

     Long term care 

     Non-emergencycare when traveling outside the 
U.S. 

     Private-duty nursing 

     Routine foot care (with the exception of person 
with diagnosis of diabetes)

 

Other Covered Services (Limitations may apply to these services. This isn’t a complete list. Please see your plan document.)

        Acupuncture 

        Bariatric surgery 

        Chiropractic care 

        Infertility treatment 

        Hearing aids 

        Most coverage provided outside the United 
States. See www.bc bsil.c om 

        Routine eye care (Adult) 

 Weight loss programs (except when non- 
medicallysupervised)

 

* For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the plan or policy document at 
https://policy-srv.box.com/s/05vblugleuipr6ih3ol6qd1g119wi3ka. 

 

4 of 6

Page | 301AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

http://www.bcbsil.com/


59 

 

Your Rights to Continue Coverage: T here are agencies that can help if you want to continue your coverage after it ends. T he contact information for those 
agencies is: the plan at 1-800-892-2803, U.S. Department of Labor’s Employee Benefits Security Administration at 1-866-444-EBSA (3272) or 
www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform, or Department of Health and Human Services, Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight, at 1-877-267-2323 
x61565 or www.c c iio.c m s.gov. Other coverage options may be available to you too, including buying individual insurance coverage through the Health Insuranc e 
M arketplac e. For more information about the M arketplac e, visit  www.HealthCare.gov or call 1-800-318-2596. 

 

Your Grievance and Appeals Rights: T here are agencies that can help if you have a complaint against your plan for a denial of a c laim. T his complaint is called a 
grievanc e or appeal. For more information about your rights, look at the explanation of benefits you will receive for that medical c laim. Your plan documents also 
provide complete information to submit a c laim, appeal, or a grievanc e for any reason to your plan. For more information about your rights, this notice, or assistance, 
contact: Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Illinois at 1-800-892-2803 or visit  www.bc bsil.c om, or contact the U.S. Department of Labor's Employee Benefits Security 
Administration at 1-866-444-EBSA (3272) or visit www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform. Additionally, a consumer assistance program can help you file your appeal. 
Contact the Illinois Department of Insurance at (877) 527-9431 or visit  http://insuranc e.illinois.gov. 

 

Does this plan provide M inimum Essential Coverage? Yes 
If you don’t have  M inim um Essential Coverage for a month, you’ll have to make a payment when you file your tax return unless you qualify for an exemption from the 
requirement that you have health coverage for that month. 

 
Does this plan meet the M inimum Value Standard s? Yes 
If your plan doesn’t meet the M inim um Value Standards, you may be eligible for a prem ium tax c redit to help you pay for a plan through the M arketplac e. 

 

Language Access Services: 

Spanish (Español): Para obtener asistencia en Español, llame al 1-800-892-2803. 
T agalog (T agalog): Kung kailangan ninyo ang tulong sa T agalog tumawag sa 1-800-892-2803. 

Chinese (中文): 如果需要中文的帮助，请拨打这个号码 1-800-892-2803. 

Navajo (Dine): Dinek'ehgo shika at'ohwol ninisingo, kwiijigo holne' 1-800-892-2803. 
––––––––––––––––––––––To see examples of how this plan might cover costs for a sample medical situation, see the next section.–––––––––––––––––––––– 

 
 
 
 
 

5 of 6

Page | 302AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform
http://www.cciio.cms.gov/
http://www.healthcare.gov/
http://www.bcbsil.com/
http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform
http://insurance.illinois.gov/


60 

 

About these Coverage Examples: 
 

This is not a cost estimator. Treatments shown are just examples of how this plan might cover medical care. Your actual costs will be 

different depending on the actual care you receive, the prices your providers charge, and many other factors. Focus on the c ost sharing 
amounts (deduc tibles, c opaym ents and c oinsuranc e) and exc luded servic es under the plan. Use this information to compare the portion of 

costs you might pay under different health plans. Please note these coverage examples are based on self-only coverage. 
 
 

Peg is Having a Baby 
(9 months of in-network pre-natal care and a 

hospital delivery) 

Managing Joe’s type 2 Diabetes (a 
year of routine in-network care of a well- 

controlled condition) 

Mia’s Simple Fracture 
(in-network emergency room visit and follow 

up care)

 

 The plan’s overall deductible $0   The plan’s overall deductible $0   The plan’s overall deductible $0 

 Specialist copayment $50   Specialist copayment $50   Specialist copayment $50 
 Hospital (facility) $0   Hospital (facility) $0   Hospital (facility) $0 
 Other $0   Other $0   Other $0 

 

This EXAMPLE event includes services like: 
Spec ialist office visits (prenatal care) 
Childbirth/Delivery Professional Services 

This EXAMPLE event includes services like: 
Prim ary c are physic ian office visits (including 
disease education) 

This EXAMPLE event includes services like: 
Em ergenc y room c are (including medical 
supplies) 

Childbirth/Delivery Facility Services 
Diagnostic tests (ultrasounds and blood work) 
Spec ialist visit (anesthesia) 

Diagnostic tests (blood work) 
Presc ription drugs 
Durable m edic al equipm ent (glucose meter) 

Diagnostic test (x-ray) 
Durable m edic al equipm ent (crutches) 
Rehabilitation servic es (physical therapy) 

Total Example Cost                                  $12,800 Total Example Cost                                    $7,400 Total Example Cost                               $1,900

 
 

 

 
 

The plan would be responsible for the other costs of these EXAMPLE covered services. 6 of 6

Cost Sharing 

Deduc tibles $0 

Copaym ents $100 

Coinsuranc e $0 

What isn’t covered 

Limits or exclusions $60 

The total Peg would pay is $160 

Page | 303AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



61 

 

Page | 304AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



62 

 

 

 

Summary of Benefits and Coverage: What this Services                              Coverage Period: 10/01/2020 – 09/30/2021 

  
1 of 6 
  

Page | 305AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



63 

 

  
Page | 306AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



64 

 

All  copayment and coinsurance costs shown in this chart are after your  deductible has been met, if a deductible applies. 
 

 
Common 

Medical Event 

 
 

Services You May Need 

What You Will Pay  
Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important 

Information 

 

Participating Provider 
(You will pay the least) 

Non-Participating 
Provider 

(You will pay the most) 
 
 
 
 

 
If you visit a health 

 
 

Primary care visit to treat an 
injury or illness 

 

 
 

$20 c opay/visit 

 

 
 

Not Covered 

Services or supplies that are not ordered by 
your Prim ary Care Physic ian or Women’s 
Principal Health Care Provider, except 
emergencyand routine vision exams, are not 

covered. 

care  p r o v i d e r ’s  office     
Spec ialist visit 

or clinic 

 

$40 c opay/visit 
 

Not Covered 
 

Referral required. 

 
Preventive care/sc reening/ 

 
 

No Charge 

 
 

Not Covered 

You may have to pay for services that aren’t 
preventive. Ask your provider if the services 
needed are preventive. T hen check what your 
plan will pay for. 

immunization 

 

 

If you have a test 

Diagnostic test (x-ray, blood 
work) 

 

No Charge 
 

Not Covered 
 

Referral required. 

Imaging (CT /PET scans, MRIs) No Charge Not Covered Referral required. 

  

 
Generic drugs 

$10 c opay/prescription 
 

 
Not Covered 

 

 

Dispensing limit may apply to certain drugs. 
30-day retail/90-day mail. 
RX Out-of-Poc ket Expense Limit: 
$1,000 Individual/$2,000 Family. 
Self-injectable drugs covered at $50 per 
prescription. 
Certain women’s preventive servic es will be 
covered with no cost to the member. For a full 
list of these prescriptions and/or services, 
please contact Customer Service. 

 (retail) 
 $20 c opay/prescription 
 (mail order) 

If you need drugs to 
treat your illness or 

condition                         Preferred brand drugs 

More information about 

$40 copay/prescription  
 

Not Covered 
(retail) 
$80 c opay/prescription 

(mail order) 
prescription drug 
coverage is available at 

www.bcbsil.com.               Non-preferred brand drugs 

$60 c opay/prescription  
 

Not Covered 
(retail) 

$120 c opay/prescription 
(mail order) 

 

Specialty drugs 

 

$60 c opay/prescription 
 
Not Covered 

Specialty drug coverage based on group 
policy. Prior authorization may be required. 
Specialty retail limited to 30-day supply. 

(retail) 

* For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the plan or policy document at https://policy-srv.box.com/s/yeryturjlu2yct0cpheytd3hduk80bhf. 
2 of 6

Page | 307AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

http://www.bcbsil.com/


65 

 

 

Common 

Medical Event 

 
 

Services You May Need 

What You Will Pay  

Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important 

Information 

 

Participating Provider 

(You will pay the least) 

Non-Participating 
Provider 

(You will pay the most) 

 

If you have outpatient 
surgery 

Facility fee (e.g., ambulatory 

surgery center) 

 

No Charge 
 

Not Covered 
 

Referral required. 

Physician/surgeon fees No Charge Not Covered Referral required. 

 

 

If you need immediate 
medical attention 

Em ergenc y room c are $150 c opay/visit $150 c opay/visit Copay waived if admitted. 

Emergency medical 
transportation 

 

No Charge 
 

No Charge 
 

Ground transportation only. 

 

Urgent c are 
 

$20 c opay/visit 
 

Not Covered 
Must be affiliated with member’s chosen 

medical group or referral required. 
 

If you have a hospital 
stay 

Facility fee (e.g., hospital room) No Charge Not Covered Referral required. 
 

Physician/surgeon fees 
 

No Charge 
 

Not Covered 
 

Referral required. 

If you need mental 
health, behavioral 
health, or substance 
abuse services 

 

Outpatient services 
 

$20 c opay/visit 
 

Not Covered 
 

Unlimited visits. Referral required. 

 

Inpatient services 
 

No Charge 
 

Not Covered 
 

Unlimited days. Referral required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

If you are pregnant 

 

 
Office visits 

 

 
$20 c opay/visit 

 

 
Not Covered 

Copay applies for the 1st prenatal visit only. 
Cost sharing does not apply for preventive 
services. Depending on the type of services, a 
copayment may apply. Maternity care may 
include tests and services described 
elsewhere in the SBC (i.e. ultrasound). 

Childbirth/delivery professional 
services 

 

No Charge 
 

Not Covered 

 

Childbirth/delivery facility 
services 

 
No Charge 

 
Not Covered 

 
Referral required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

* For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the plan or policy document at 
https://policy-srv.box.com/s/yeryturjlu2yct0cpheytd3hduk80bhf. 

 

3 of 6

Page | 308AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



66 

 

 

 

Common 

Medical Event 

 
 

Services You May Need 

What You Will Pay  

Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important 

Information 

 

Participating Provider 

(You will pay the least) 

Non-Participating 
Provider 

(You will pay the most) 
 

 
 
 
 

If you need help 
recovering or have 
other special health 
needs 

Hom e health c are No Charge Not Covered Referral required. 

Rehabilitation services No Charge Not Covered 60 visits combined for all therapies. 
Referral required. Habilitation servic es No Charge Not Covered 

Skilled nursing care No Charge Not Covered Excludes custodial care. Referral required. 
 

 
 

Durable m edic al equipm ent 

 

 
 

No Charge 

 

 
 

Not Covered 

Referral required. 
Benefits are limited to items used to serve a 
medical purpose. DM E benefits are provided 
for both purchase and rental equipment (up to 
the purchase price). 

Hospice services No Charge Not Covered Referral required. 

 
If your child needs 
dental or eye care 

 

Children’s eye exam 
 

No Charge 
 

Not Covered 
Limited to one exam every 12 months at 
partic ipating providers. 

Children’s glasses Not Covered Not Covered None 

Children’s dental check-up Not Covered Not Covered None 
 

 

Excluded Services & Other Covered Services: 
 

Services Your Plan Generally Does NOT Cover (Check your policy or plan document for more information and a list of any other excluded services.)

     Cosmetic surgery 

     Custodial care 

     Dental care (Adult) 

     Long term care 

     Non-emergencycare when traveling outside the 
U.S. 

     Private-duty nursing 

     Routine foot care (with the exception of person 
with diagnosis of diabetes)

 

Other Covered Services (Limitations may apply to these services. This isn’t a complete list. Please see your plan document.)

        Acupuncture 

        Bariatric surgery 

        Chiropractic care 

        Infertility treatment 

        Hearing aids 

        Most coverage provided outside the United 
States. See www.bc bsil.c om 

        Routine eye care (Adult) 

 Weight loss programs (except when non- 
medically supervised

 
 

* For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the plan or policy document at 
https://policy-srv.box.com/s/yeryturjlu2yct0cpheytd3hduk80bhf. 

 

4 of 6

Page | 309AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

http://www.bcbsil.com/


67 

 

Your Rights to Continue Coverage: T here are agencies that can help if you want to continue your coverage after it ends. T he contact information for those 
agencies is: the plan at 1-800-892-2803, U.S. Department of Labor’s Employee Benefits Security Administration at 1-866-444-EBSA (3272) or 
www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform, or Department of Health and Human Services, Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight, at 1-877-267-2323 
x61565 or www.c c iio.c m s.gov. Other coverage options may be available to you too, including buying individual insurance coverage through the Health Insuranc e 
M arketplac e. For more information about the M arketplac e, visit  www.HealthCare.gov or call 1-800-318-2596. 

 

Your Grievance and Appeals Rights: T here are agencies that can help if you have a complaint against your plan for a denial of a c laim. T his complaint is called a 
grievanc e or appeal. For more information about your rights, look at the explanation of benefits you will receive for that medical c laim. Your plan documents also 
provide complete information to submit a c laim, appeal, or a grievanc e for any reason to your plan. For more information about your rights, this notice, or assistance, 
contact: Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Illinois at 1-800-892-2803 or visit  www.bc bsil.c om, or contact the U.S. Department of Labor's Employee Benefits Security 
Administration at 1-866-444-EBSA (3272) or visit www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform. Additionally, a consumer assistance program can help you file your appeal. 
Contact the Illinois Department of Insurance at (877) 527-9431 or visit  http://insuranc e.illinois.gov. 

 

Does this plan provide M inimum Essential Coverage? Yes 
If you don’t have  M inim um Essential Coverage for a month, you’ll have to make a payment when you file your tax return unless you qualify for an exemption from the 
requirement that you have health coverage for that month. 

 
Does this plan meet the M inimum Value Standard s? Yes 
If your plan doesn’t meet the M inim um Value Standards, you may be eligible for a prem ium tax c redit to help you pay for a plan through the M arketplac e. 

 

Language Access Services: 

Spanish (Español): Para obtener asistencia en Español, llame al 1-800-892-2803. 
T agalog (T agalog): Kung kailangan ninyo ang tulong sa T agalog tumawag sa 1-800-892-2803. 

Chinese (中文): 如果需要中文的帮助，请拨打这个号码 1-800-892-2803. 

Navajo (Dine): Dinek'ehgo shika at'ohwol ninisingo, kwiijigo holne' 1-800-892-2803. 

 
––––––––––––––––––––––To see examples of how this plan might cover costs for a sample medical situation, see the next section.–––––––––––––––––––––– 

 
 
 
 
 

5 of 6

Page | 310AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform
http://www.cciio.cms.gov/
http://www.healthcare.gov/
http://www.bcbsil.com/
http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/healthreform
http://insurance.illinois.gov/


68 

 

Cost Sharing 

Deduc tibles $0 

Copaym ents $300 

Coinsuranc e $0 

What isn’t covered 

Limits or exclusions $0 

The total Mia would pay is $300 

 

 

In this example, Peg would pay: 
  

In this example, Joe would pay: 
  

In this example, Mia would pay: 

 Cost Sharing 

Deduc tibles $0 

Copaym ents $1,100 

Coinsuranc e $0 

What isn’t covered 

Limits or exclusions $60 

The total Joe would pay is $1,160 

 

About these Coverage Examples: 
 

This is not a cost estimator. T reatments shown are just examples of how this plan might cover medical care. Your actual costs will be 

different depending on the actual care you receive, the prices your providers charge, and many other factors. Focus on the c ost sharing 
amounts (deduc tibles, c opaym ents and c oinsuranc e) and exc luded servic es under the plan. Use this information to compare the portion of 

costs you might pay under different health plans. Please note these coverage examples are based on self-only coverage. 
 
 

Peg is Having a Baby 
(9 months of in-network pre-natal care and a 

hospital delivery) 

Managing Joe’s type 2 Diabetes (a 
year of routine in-network care of a well- 

controlled condition) 

Mia’s Simple Fracture 
(in-network emergency room visit and follow 

up care)

 

 The plan’s overall deductible $0   The plan’s overall deductible $0   The plan’s overall deductible $0 

 Specialist copayment $40   Specialist copayment $40   Specialist copayment $40 
 Hospital (facility) $0   Hospital (facility) $0   Hospital (facility) $0 
 Other $0   Other $0   Other $0 

 

This EXAMPLE event includes services like: 
Spec ialist office visits (prenatal care) 
Childbirth/Delivery Professional Services 

This EXAMPLE event includes services like: 
Prim ary c are physic ian office visits (including 
disease education) 

This EXAMPLE event includes services like: 
Em ergenc y room c are (including medical 
supplies) 

Childbirth/Delivery Facility Services 
Diagnostic tests (ultrasounds and blood work) 
Spec ialist visit (anesthesia) 

Diagnostic tests (blood work) 
Presc ription drugs 
Durable m edic al equipm ent (glucose meter) 

Diagnostic test (x-ray) 
Durable m edic al equipm ent (crutches) 
Rehabilitation servic es (physical therapy) 

Total Example Cost                                  $12,800 Total Example Cost                                    $7,400 Total Example Cost                               $1,900

 
 

Cost Sharing 

Deduc tibles $0 

Copaym ents $50 

Coinsuranc e $0 

What isn’t covered 

Limits or exclusions $60 

The total Peg would pay is $110 
 
 

The plan would be responsible for the other costs of these EXAMPLE covered services. 6 of 6

Page | 311AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



69 

 

Page | 312AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



70 

 

 

 

Health care coverage is important for everyone. 

We provide free communication aids and services for anyone with a disability or who needs language assistance. 
We do not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, gender identity, age or disability. 

 

T o receive language or communication assistance free of charge, please call us at 855-710-6984. 

 

If you believe we have failed to provide a service, or think we have discriminated in another way, contact us to file a grievanc e. 

Office of Civil Rights Coordinator                                 Phone:                 855-664-7270 (voicemail) 
300 E. Randolph St.                                                     T T Y/T DD:           855-661-6965 
35th Floor                                                                     Fax:                     855-661-6960 
Chicago, Illinois 60601                                                Email:                  CivilRightsCoordinator@hcsc.net 

You may file a civil rights complaint with the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office for Civil Rights, at: 

U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services                      Phone:                  800-368-1019 
200 Independence Avenue SW                                    T T Y/T DD:            800-537-7697 
Room 509F, HHH Building 1019                                  Complaint Portal: https://oc rportal.hhs.gov/ocr/portal/lobby.jsf 
Washington, DC 20201                                               Complaint Forms: http://www.hhs.gov/oc r/offic e/file/index.htm l 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page | 313AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

mailto:CivilRightsCoordinator@hcsc.net
https://ocrportal.hhs.gov/
http://www.hhs.gov/ocr/office/file/index.html


72  

APPENDIX B 
REMOVAL OF DISCIPLINE FOR SPECIFIC OFFENSES 

 

 

1.5.2.1      Permanent 
1.5.2.2      60 mos. 

1.5.2.3      Permanent 

1.5.2.4      Permanent 

1.5.2.5      12 mos. 

1.5.2.6      Permanent 

1.5.2.7      12 months 

1.5.2.8      36 months 

1.5.2.9      Permanent 

1.5.2.10    24 months 

1.5.2.11    12 months 

1.5.2.12    24 months 

1.5.2.13    12 months 

1.5.2.14    12 months 

1.5.2.15    12 months 

1.5.2.16    12 months 

1.5.2.17    All removed after 12 except Item #17/8 which will be struck after 24 mos. 
1.5.2.18    Permanent 

1.5.2.19    12 months 

1.5.2.20    12 months 

1.5.2.21    24 months 

1.5.2.22    12 months 

1.5.2.23    Permanent 

1.5.2.24    12 months 

1.5.2.25    12 months 

1.5.2.26    Permanent 

1.5.2.27    Permanent 

1.5.2.28    24 months 

1.5.2.29    Permanent 

1.5.2.30    12 mos. This clause will be reworded to reflect “cell phone or home phone line” 

1.5.2.31    Permanent 

1.5.2.32    24 months 

1.5.2.33    24 months 

1.5.2.34    36 mos. 

1.5.2.35    60 mos. 

1.5.2.36    24 months 

1.5.2.37    Permanent 

1.5.2.38    Permanent will reword…”complainant in a ‘criminal case’, suspect…….” 

1.5.2.39    Permanent 

1.5.2.40    Permanent 

1.5.2.41    12 months 

1.5.2.42    24 months 

1.5.2.43    12 months 

1.5.2.44    Permanent 

1.5.2.45    12 months 

1.5.2.46    12 months

Page | 314AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



73  

1.5.2.47    24 months 

1.5.2.48    12 months 

1.5.2.49    36 mos 

1.5.2.50    12 months 

1.5.2.51    12 months 

1.5.2.52    36 mos 

1.5.2.53    Permanent 

1.5.2.54    Permanent 

1.5.2.55    24 months 

1.5.2.56    24 mos. 

1.5.2.57    12 months 

1.5.2.58    12 months 

1.5.2.59    12 months 

1.5.2.60    24 months 

1.5.2.61    12 months 

1.5.2.62    12 months 

1.5.2.63    24 months 

1.5.2.64    24 months 
1.5.2.65    Permanent

Page | 315AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



74  

APPENDIX C PART- 
TIME OFFICERS 

 

 

A. Minimum staffing requirements will only apply to Full-Time officers.  Exceptions being if 

a Part-Time officer has signed up for unfilled posted street overtime in accordance with 

general order 3.1.3 (8)(b) as  in  effect  on May 1, 2008.  The Village agrees to  make 

available first to Chapter members, the right to sign up for overtime postings of street 

patrol and special enforcement programs and details in which the Chapter members take 

the primary enforcement role.    The Village also agrees to make available first to the 

Chapter members, details which are funded through governmental grant programs.  Part- 

time officers will only be allowed to sign up for street overtime or full-time officers hireback 

slots after the posting has gone unfilled by full-time officers during the posting period (72 

hours).  Part-time officers shall be permitted to serve in a secondary role on the above details 

(i.e. traffic control, crowd control, or support function) in accordance with past practice. 

 
B.        Chapter members will be designated as primary enforcement officers at the outdoor music 

theatre and supported by part-time officers, as necessary.  “Enforcement officer” shall be 

defined as those officers designated as an arrest team, concourse team, crowd control, and 

in the venue security office assignment.   However, part time officers will be assigned 

traffic control, and parking duties, in addition to assisting full-time officers, as necessary. 

In the event that any slots for full time officers go unfilled, part time officers will be 

permitted to sign up for that assignment. 

 
C.         Pursuant  to  Police  Department  General  Order  3.1.2-Allocation  and  Distribution  of 

Personnel, the Village has established “Specialty Assignments” within the Department. 

The Village will not assign any part time officer to a “specialty assignment” except as 

provided in sub-paragraph D herein. 

 
D. The Village retains the right to train and assign part time officers to supplement the full 

time officer staffing in the specialty of Bicycle Officer.   Part time officers will only be 

assigned to bicycle patrol details involving bar checks, parades, festivals and other details 

which have been the responsibility of part-time officers as per past practice.    Regular 

patrol duties of bicycle officers shall be limited to full time bicycle officers only. 

 
E. Consistent with the Civil Services Rules of the Village of Tinley Park, part-time officers 

will not be eligible for attaining rank within the police department.  Additionally, no full 

time  officer  shall  be subordinate to  any part  time  officer at  any time,  regardless of 

assignment or seniority. 

 

 

Page | 316AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



75  

APPENDIX D 
DUES DEDUCTION AUTHORIZATION 

 

TINLEY PARK PATROLMEN'S ASSOCIATION 
 

I hereby authorize the Village of Tinley Park to deduct each month $                      as 
 

certified by the Metropolitan Alliance of Police Tinley Park Police Chapter #192 as the current 

rate of dues or an amount as may hereafter be established by the Metropolitan Alliance of Police 

Tinley Park Police Chapter #192 as monthly dues.  This deduction is to be turned over to the 

Metropolitan   Alliance   of   Police   Tinley   Park   Police   Chapter   #192   whose   address   is 

                                                                      .   The  authorization  of  this  deduction  is  entirely 
 

voluntary on my part.  I understand that I may cancel this authorization at any time. 

Signed:                                                          Dated:

Page | 317AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



76  

APPENDIX F 
EXTRA DUTY EMPLOYERS 

 

 
 
 

Andrew High School 

Central Junior High School 

Convention Center 

Grissom Jr. High School 

 
Frankfort Park District 

 
Prairie View Jr. High School 

Tinley Park Block Party 

Tinley Park High School 

Tinley Park Park District 

Walker Middle School

Page | 318AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



77  

APPENDIX “G” 

EQUIPMENT ISSUE CHECKLIST - FULL TIME OFFICER 
 
Officer:                           Issued by:                             Received by:                                    Date 

 

 
 
 
 

Uniforms Trousers 

(2 pair) Long sleeve 

shirt (2) Short sleeve 

shirt (2) Clip Tie (2) 

Winter Jacket w/removable lining 

Rain coat 

Trouser belt 

Knit Hat 

5-Star hat 

Hat rain cover 

Hat badge 

Uniform badge (2) 

Off-duty wallet badge 

Nametags (2) 

Time in service pin (Serving since ####) 

Soft body armor vest 

WMT Polo shirt 

Duty 

Duty belt 

Belt keepers 

Holster 

Handcuff case 

Dress Blouse 

Handcuffs 

Double Magazine Case 

O.C. Spray currently issued by the Village 

O.C. holster 

ASP (21”) 

ASP holster 

Radio w/shoulder mic & belt holder 
Traffic vest Traffic 
flashlight Water 
throw bag Ticket 
book holder Slim- 
Jim 
Gas mask 

Gas mask pouch 

Riot helmet 

Disaster tool 

Biohazard mess kit 

Disposable blankets 

antibacterial hand gel/lotion currently issued 

by the Village 

Range ear protection 

Range eye protection 

Shotgun (remains property of Village)

Page | 319AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



78  

APPENDIX H 
 

 
 
 

POLICY 304 - OFFICER INVOLVED SHOOTING AND DEATHS 
 

To committee

Page | 320AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



79  

APPENDIX I 
 
 
 

Global Positioning and Electronic Monitoring Software 
 

The GPS system may ONLY be used to discipline an officer when a complaint or issue 

has been brought against an officer, or when an officer is involved in an accident.

Page | 321AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



80  

NON-CONTRACT AGREEMENTS 
 

 
 

(1)        A policy will be developed to establish departmental meetings for the purpose of reviewing 

new policies, programs, etc., to allow for Patrol Officers input.  These meetings will be scheduled on 

training days and will occur no less than twice each year.  The Police Chief and all Supervisory  

personnel  and  all   employees  covered  by  this  Agreement  will  attend  these meetings. They 

will be scheduled for a timeframe of approximately 1-1/2 to 2 hours. The Village Manager will attend 

these sessions on an as needed basis.  Nothing herein shall prohibit additional departmental meetings. 

 
(2)        A policy will be developed to provide for better Patrol Officer notification of job related 

training, seminars, schools, etc., and the policy will indicate that every effort will be made to free up 

time to attend these training sessions.  Special attention will be given to paying for training sessions 

on off-duty time if the Patrol Officer is willing to go to school on his own time. 

 
(3)       As of the date of execution of this Agreement, the Village has no present intention to abolish 

or change the Village Ordinance that provides certain health plan benefits to retirees. Covered  retired  

individuals  shall  also  be  entitled  to  maintain  dental  coverage  following retirement, with the 

Village contributing fifty percent (50%) of the premium for said coverage.  In addition, until the retiree 

is eligible for AARP coverage, the Village shall contribute, in addition to 50% of the premium cost, 

and $60 per month toward the retiree's cost for health insurance for those covered officers retiring 

with at least 20 years of service and 50 years of age.  The Village agrees that it will not abolish or 

change the Ordinance as to bargaining unit members without prior notice to and discussion with the 

Chapter. 

 
(4)        The Village has no present intention of changing the sick leave or disability leave benefits 

as they exist in policy as of May 1, 1998. The Village agrees that it will not change those policies 

as to bargaining unit members without prior notice to and discussion with the Chapter. 

 
(5)        The Chapter agrees that upon request of either the Chapter Executive Board or Police 

Administration, information sharing meetings will be held on a regular basis.   The purpose of the 

meetings will be to communicate  and  discuss  miscellaneous,  non-bargaining  issues,  which arise 

between department meetings. 

 
(6)        The Department will require both full time and part time officers in field training to refrain 

from wearing his/her uniform in public unless on duty, in training or during an assignment by which 

the officer in training is in the company of another full time or part time officer as a partner. 
 

 
 

 
               
 

President - Tinley Park Chapter                                 Village Manager 
 

 

Date: Date:       

Page | 322AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: December 1, 2020

To: Village Board

From: Hannah Lipman, Management Analyst 

Subject: Code Amendment – Class K-1 Liquor Classification 

The Village currently has two liquor license classifications for establishments operating as a banquet/event 
space. A recent liquor license request for a banquet space has prompted review of this section of the code—
specifically in terms of catering—to ensure the best fit for current and future requests. 

The Class K License could be considered a true banquet use classification, requiring such facilities to be 
unconnected with any other facility and hosting full sit-down meals with 250+ guests. There are only two (2) 
Class K licenses issued at this time. 

(K) (1) Class K License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor only on the 
premises designated therein, and shall be available only for banquet hall facilities.   Such facilities must be 
unconnected with any restaurant, theatre, or nightclub, or similar business, and shall occupy the entire 
building in which the facilities are located.  The banquet hall facilities must have seating for at least 250 
persons for full sit-down dinners, and sale of alcoholic liquor shall be limited to sales in conjunction with 
banquets only.  The annual fee for this license shall be $600 if the facility has a maximum seating capacity 
of 275 or less, and $1,500 if the facility has a seating capacity in excess of 275.  Video gaming as defined 
under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class K 
licensed premises.

The Class K-1 License aims to serve smaller banquet/event spaces with less than 250 guests. It requires the 
holder of the license to cater all events. There is only one (1) Class K-1 license issued at present.  

(2) Class K-1 License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor only on the premises 
designated therein, and shall be available only for use in conjunction with banquet functions. Such 
banquet facilities must be unconnected with any restaurant, theater or nightclub, or similar business, and 
may not have seating for more than 250 persons. Such facilities may be contained within a building 
occupying other facilities, specifically including Metra train station facilities. The holder of the license 
must cater all banquets and provide all facilities. The annual fee for this license shall be $200.  Video 
gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be 
allowed in a class K-1 licensed premises.

Upon review of both liquor classes, the Liquor Commissioner recommends that a minor amendment be made 
to Class K-1. The Class K license will continue to provide for full sit-down meals, while this amendment to 
Class K-1 would allow for food to be catered from outside vendors. For banquet/event spaces of smaller sizes 
the Class K-1 applies to, it is not uncommon for other municipalities to allow outside catering. Additionally, 

Interoffice
Memo

Page | 323AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



having only three (3) banquet licenses issued in town, this amendment will provide various options for any 
future requests as the Village currently has limited options available. 

Page | 324AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-086

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE XI CHAPTER 112 SECTION 20 (K) (2)  
OF THE TINLEY PARK MUNICIPAL CODE –AMENDING CLASS K-1 

LIQUOR LICENSE REQUIREMENTS

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 325AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-086

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE XI CHAPTER 112 SECTION 20 (K) (2) 
OF THE TINLEY PARK MUNICIPAL CODE –AMENDING CLASS K-1 

LIQUOR LICENSE REQUIREMENTS

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title XI Chapter 112 Section 20 (K) of the Village Code, retail 
sale of alcohol is permitted for banquet hall facility license holders who meet various requirements 
as described in Title XI Chapter 112 Section 20 (K); and 

WHEREAS, there is only one (1) Class K license and two (2) Class K-1 licenses that have 
been awarded to license holders in the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park desire to amend Title 
XI Chapter 112 Section 20 (K) (2) of the Village Code to remove the requirement that the license 
holder must cater all events; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the said Village of Tinley Park 
and its residents to amend Title XI Chapter 112 Section 20 (K) (2) of the Village Code. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as finding of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.

SECTION 2: That Title XI Chapter 112 Section 20 (K) (2) of the Village of Tinley Park Village 
Code, is hereby amended with deletions in strikethrough and additions in underline text so that the 
same shall be read as follows: 

§ 112.20 License Classification; Fee Schedule

Page | 326AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Class K-1 License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor only on the premises 
designated therein, and shall be available only for use in conjunction with banquet functions. 
Such banquet facilities must be unconnected with any restaurant, theater or nightclub, or similar 
business, and may not have seating for more than 250 persons. Such facilities may be 
contained within a building occupying other facilities, specifically including Metra train station 
facilities. The holder of the license must cater all banquets and provide all facilities. The annual 
fee for this license shall be $200.  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, 
ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class K-1 licensed premises.

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 4: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

SECTION 5: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 327AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-086, “AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE XI CHAPTER 112 

SECTION 20 (K) (2) OF THE TINLEY PARK MUNICIPAL CODE –AMENDING CLASS K-1 

LIQUOR LICENSE REQUIREMENTS” which was adopted by the President and Board of 

Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020. 

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 328AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: December 1, 2020

To: Village Board

From: Hannah Lipman, Management Analyst 

Subject: The Whistle Events and Catering Class K-1 Liquor License

The purpose of this memo is to award a Class K-1 liquor license to The Whistle Events and Catering (WEC) 
located next door to The Whistle at 7537 W 159th St. Unit A. 

With limited banquet/event space in the Village, WEC will combine catering, atmosphere, ambiance, and high-
quality service to local businesses and residents for a variety of event needs. The goal is to be a premier 
catering and event space on the Southside of Chicago. This space will provide room for a maximum capacity 
of 99 and includes a full bar, warming kitchen for catering, and entertainment features. 

The WEC will need to work with the Community Development Department to ensure proper zoning and 
parking requirements are met. 

The Class K-1 License authorizes the retail sale of liquor in conjunction with banquet functions of less than 
250 people. The Liquor Commissioner recommends approval of this license. 

Interoffice
Memo

Page | 329AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-087

AN ORDINANCE INCREASING THE NUMBER OF CLASS "K-1" LIQUOR 
LICENSES THAT CAN BE ISSUED IN THE VILLAGE

(THE WHISTLE EVENTS AND CATERING “WEC” 7537 W 159TH ST)

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 
DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606

Page | 330AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, 

Illinois Will County, 
Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-087

AN ORDINANCE INCREASING THE NUMBER OF CLASS "K-1" 
LIQUOR LICENSES THAT CAN BE ISSUED IN THE VILLAGE

(THE WHISTLE EVENTS AND CATERING “WEC” 7537 W 159TH ST)

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of 
Illinois provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a 
home rule unit, and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a 
population in excess of 25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions 
of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may exercise any power and perform any function 
pertaining to its government and affairs, including, but not limited to, the power to tax and 
to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title XI, Chapter 112, Section 22 of the Village Code; 
liquor licenses may be authorized by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of 
Tinley Park and the number of liquor licenses authorized to be issued for each license class 
shall be kept on record in the office of the Village Clerk; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park desires to amend 
Title XI, Chapter 112, Section 22 of the Village Code to add one (1) additional Class K-1 
liquor license, increasing the number of Class K-1 liquor licenses in the Village from two 
(2) to three (3); and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the said Village of Tinley 
Park and its residents to amend Title XI, Chapter 112, Section 22 of the Village Code to 
increase the number of Class "K-1" liquor licenses authorized to be issued pursuant to this 
Ordinance; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as finding of fact 
as if said recitals were fully set forth herein.

SECTION 2: Pursuant to Title XI, Chapter 112, Section 22 of the Village of Tinley Park 
Village Code, the number of Class "UV" licenses that can be issued by the Village shall be 
and is hereby increased from zero (0) to one (1), (this increase in the number of Class "UV" 
liquor licenses reflects the availability of one additional Class "K-1" liquor license to be 
issued to The Whistle Events And Catering “WEC” 7537 W. 159th St.

Page | 331AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the 
provisions of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

SECTION 4: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption 
and approval.

SECTION 5: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this 
Ordinance in pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 
after its passage, approval, and publication as required by law.

PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 332AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy 

of Ordinance No. 2020-O-087 “AN ORDINANCE INCREASING THE NUMBER OF CLASS 

"K-1" LIQUOR LICENSES THAT CAN BE ISSUED IN THE VILLAGE (THE WHISTLE 

EVENTS AND CATERING “WEC” 7537 W 159TH ST) which was adopted by the President and 

Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 333AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: December 15, 2020

To: Village Board 

From: Hannah Lipman, Assistant to the Village Manager
Brad Bettenhausen, Village Treasurer/Finance Director

Subject: Business License Fees – Pro-ration

Currently, Title XI Chapter 110 Section 28 of the Municipal Code allows for the pro-ration of business 
license fees for new establishments entering the Village at any given time in the calendar year. The 
proposed code amendment eliminates the pro-ration of business license fees which is inconsistent with 
other Village licensing policies.  The business license fees are typically no more than $300 and do not 
warrant pro-ration due to the underlying costs of issuance and other activities associated with 
business licensing. The average business license fee is in the $30 - $60 range. 

Interoffice
Memo

Page | 334AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE

NO. 2020-O-088

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE XI CHAPTER 110 SECTION 28 OF 
THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK CODE OF ORDINANCES – PRO-

RATION OF FEES

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 
DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606

Page | 335AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-088

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE XI CHAPTER 110 SECTION 28 OF 
THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK CODE OF ORDINANCES – PRO-

RATION OF FEES

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the Village’s Municipal Code establishes Business License classifications, 
fees, and payment schedules; and 

WHEREAS, Title XI Chapter 110 Section 28 defines the basis for pro-ration of Business 
Licenses fees for new businesses entering Tinley Park at any given time throughout the calendar 
year; and 

WHEREAS, upon review, the Village wishes to eliminate the pro-ration of Business 
License fees altogether, as many other licensing fees throughout the Village not pro-rated; and

WHEREAS, pro-ration of these fees are not warranted due to the underlying costs of issuance 
and other activities associated with business licensing; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said the said amendment to Title XI Chapter 110 Section 28 of the 
Municipal Code.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as finding of fact as if said recitals 
were fully set forth herein.

SECTION 2: That the Code of Ordinances of the Village of Tinley Park be hereby amended with 
deletions in strikethrough and additions in underline text so that the same shall be read as follows:

Page | 336AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



   (A)   All annual licenses other than contractor licenses shall terminate on December 31 in each year 
where no provision to the contrary is made; except as otherwise expressly provided, the applicant for 
a license other than a contractor license for a new place of business or to engage in a new occupation 
shall be required to pay the full annual license fee specified. where the fee is $40 or more per annum, 
if at the time of the application for a license three months or more but less than six months have expired 
he or she shall be required to pay three- fourths of the annual license fee; if six months or more but less 
than nine months have expired the applicant shall be required to pay one-half of the annual license fee; 
if nine months or more shall have expired, the applicant shall be required to pay one-fourth of the 
annual license fee.  No license shall be issued for less than one-fourth of the annual fee.

(B)   If the annual license fee shall be less than $40, the license fee shall be prorated semi-annually. 
There will be no pro-ration of fees.

   (C)   The Village Clerk shall mail to all licensees of the village, other than contractor licensees, a 
statement at the time of the expiration of the license held by the licensee.  However, if the license is an 
annual license, then the notice of expiration shall be mailed three weeks prior to the date of expiration.  
A failure to send out the notice, or the failing of the licensee to receive it shall not excuse the licensee 
from a failure to secure a new license, or a renewal thereof, nor shall it be a defense in any action for 
operation without a license.

   (D)   The term of a contractor license shall be one year from the date of issuance

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

SECTION 4: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval

SECTION 5: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law.

Page | 337AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PASSED THIS 15th  day of December, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
               VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 338AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS 
COUNTY OF COOK 
COUNTY OF WILL

)
) ss
)

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-088, "AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE XI CHAPTER 

110 SECTION 28 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK CODE OF ORDINANCES – 

PRO-RATION OF FEES" which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020. 

__________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 339AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, 

Illinois Will County, 
Illinois

RESOLUTION 
2020-R-126

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CONVEYANCE OF REAL 
ESTATE TO WILL COUNTY FOR HIGHWAY PURPOSES 

(PARCEL 0041 & TE)

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, 
PRESIDENT KRISTIN A. THIRION, 

VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. 
BRENNAN DIANE M. 
GALANTE MICHAEL 
W. GLOTZ MICHAEL 

G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606

Page | 340AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS

RESOLUTION 2020-R-126

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CONVEYANCE OF REAL ESTATE 
TO WILL COUNTY FOR HIGHWAY PURPOSES (PARCEL 0041 & TE)

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois provides 
that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, and the Village 
of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, therefore, a 
home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may exercise any power 
and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, but not limited to, the 
power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Local Government Property Transfer Act, 50 ILCS 605/0.01 et 
seq., the Village is entitled to transfer real property to the County of Will; and

WHEREAS, Will County requires .493 acres of Village property that is adjacent to the Village 
public works building for the 80th Avenue widening project, which will necessitate the relocation of 
four utility poles and six parking spaces. Will County also requires 1.479 acres for a temporary 
construction easement; and

WHEREAS, Will County will compensate the Village $100,000 for the value of the .493 acres 
of Village property and $32,500 for the temporary easement; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, 
Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and its residents to 
convey the certain real estate and a temporary easement located in Cook County, Illinois and legally 
described in Exhibit A, to the County of Cook for highway purposes for the sum of one hundred fifty 
two thousand five hundred dollars ($132,500.00) and other good and valuable consideration;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the President and Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if said 
recitals were fully set forth herein.

SECTION 2: The President and the Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby approve 
the transfer of certain real estate and temporary easement, described in Exhibit A, to the County of 
Will, and all Village Officials are authorized and directed to execute and deliver such instruments as 
may be necessary or convenient to consummate such conveyance; and

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions of 
this Resolution or the attached Policy shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

SECTION 4: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval, 

Page | 341AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



and publication as required by law.

SECTION 5: That this Resolution shall take effect from and after its adoption and approval.

PASSED THIS 15th day of December, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT:

APPROVED THIS 15th day of December, 2020, 2020.

By:   _____________________________
Village President

ATTEST:

By: _____________________
       Village Clerk

Page | 342AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS   ) 

COUNTY OF COOK    )     SS

COUNTY OF WILL    )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and Will 

and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Resolution 

2020-R-126, "A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CONVEYANCE OF REAL ESTATE TO WILL 

COUNTY FOR HIGHWAY PURPOSES (PARCEL 041 & TE)," which was adopted by the President and 

Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of the Village 

of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020.

Page | 343AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT A
Legal Description

Route: 80th Avenue (CH 83)
Section: 06-00122-16-FP
County: Cook
Job No.: R-55-001-097
Parcel No: 0041
Station 129+26.38 To Station 133+74.37
Index No: 27-36-402-004

Parcel 0041

That part of the west half of the southwest Quarter of section 36, Township 36 North, Range 
12 East of the Third Principal Meridian, in Cook County, Illinois, bearings and distances 
based on the Illinois State Plane Coordinate System, East Zone, NAD83 (2011 Adjustment) 
with a combined scale factor of 0.9999641157 described as follows:

Beginning at the intersection of the east right of way line of 80th Avenue with the north right 
of 
Way line of 183rd Street, per Document No. 94114564, said east right of way line being 50.0 
feet East of, as measured perpendicular to, the west line of said Southwest Quarter, and the 
north right of way line of 183"' Street being 50.0 feet North of, as measured perpendicular to, 
the south line of said Southwest Quarter; thence North 01 degree 37 minutes 58 seconds West, 
on said east  right of way line, 447.99 feet to the north line of the South 498.00 feet of said 
Southwest Quarter; thence North 88 degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds East, on said north line, 
15.00 feet to the east line of the West 65.00 feet of said Southwest Quarter, thence South 01 
degree 37 minutes 58 seconds East, on said east line, 299.27 feet; thence North 88 degrees 39 
minutes 56 seconds East, parallel with the south line of said Southwest Quarter, 4.00 feet to 
the east line of the West 69.00 feet of said Southwest Quarter, thence South 01 degree 37 
minutes 58 seconds East, on said east line, 24.29 feet to a point of curvature; thence South 
easterly, on a 110.00 foot radius curve, concave Northeasterly, 172.2 1 feet, the chord of said 
curve bears South 46 degrees 29 minutes 00 seconds East, 155.16 feet to the north line of the 
South 65.00 feet of said Southwest Quarter, and to a point of tangency; thence North 88 
degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds East, on said north line, 664.41 feet; thence South 01 degree 
20 minutes 04 seconds East, perpendicular to the last described line, 15.00 feet to the north 
right of way line of 183"'Street, per Document No. 94114564; thence South 88 degrees 39 
minutes 56 seconds West, on said north right of way line, 792.76 feet to the Point of 
Beginning.

Said parcel containing 0.493 acre, more or less, of which 0.005 acre (200 square feet), more 
or less, has been previously dedicated or used for public highway purposes.

Page | 344AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Route: 80th Avenue (CH 83)
Section: 06-00122-16-FP
County: Cook
Job No: R-55-001-97
Parcel No: 0041TE
Station 129+21.14 To Station 136+86.28
Index No.: 27-36-402-004

Parcel 0041TE

That part of the west half of the Southwest Quarter of Section 36, Township 36 North, 
Range 12 East of the Third Principal Meridian, in Cook County, Illinois, bearings and 
distances based on the Illinois State Plane Coordinate System, East Zone, NAD83 (2011 
Adjustment) with a combined scale factor of 0.9999641157 described as follows:

Commencing at the intersection of the east right of way line of 80th Avenue with the north 
right of way line of 183"'Street, per Document No. 94114564 , said east right of way line 
being 50.0  feet East of, as measured perpendicular to, the west line of said Southwest 
Quarter, and the north right of way line of 183"' Street being 50.0 feet North of, as measured 
perpendicular to, the  south line of said Southwest Quarter, thence North 01 degree 37 
minutes 58 seconds West, on said east right of way line, 447.99 feet to the north line of the 
South 498.00 feet of said Southwest Quarter; thence North 88 degrees 39 minutes 56 
seconds East, on said north line, 15.00 feet to the east right of way line of 80th Avenue per 
Document No. 94768366, and to the Point of Beginning; thence North 01 degree 37 minutes 
58 seconds West, on said east right of way line, 311.99 feet to the north fine of the South 
810.00 feet of said Southwest Quarter; thence North 88 degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds East, 
on said north line, 10.00  feet; thence South 01 degree 37 minutes 58 seconds East, parallel 
with said east right of way line, 311.99 feet to the north line of the South 498.00 feet of said 
Southwest Quarter, thence South 88 degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds West, on said north line, 
5.00 feet; thence South 01 degree 37 minutes 58 seconds West. parallel with said east right 
of way line, 294.27 feet; thence North 88  degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds East, parallel with 
the south line of said Southwest Quarter, 4.00 feet to the east line of the West 74.00 feet of 
said Southwest Quarter; thence South 01 degree 37 minutes 58 seconds East, on said east 
line, 29.26 feet to a point of curvature; thence Southeasterly, on a 105.00 foot radius curve, 
concave Northeasterly, 33.35 feet, the chord of said curve bears South 10 degrees 43 
minutes 56 seconds East, 33.21 feet; thence North 88 degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds East, 
parallel with the  south line of said Southwest Quarter, 26.50 feet; thence South 01 degree 
37 minutes 58 seconds East, parallel with the west line of said Southwest Quarter 24.50 feet 
to a point of curvature; thence Southeasterly, on a 16.50  foot radius curve, concave 
Northeasterly, 25.92 feet, the chord of said curve bears South 46 degrees 37 minutes 58 
seconds East, 23.34 feet to a point of tangency; thence North 88 degrees 22 minutes 02 
seconds East, 18.00 feet; thence South 01 degree 37 minutes 58 seconds East, parallel with 
the west line of said Southwest Quarter, 23.66 feet to a point of curvature; thence 
Southeasterly, on a 105.00 foot radius curve, concave Northeasterly, 39.14 feet, the chord of 
said curve bears South 80 degrees 39 minutes22 seconds East, 38.91 feet to the north line of 
the South 70.00 feet of said Southwest Quarter, and to a point of tangency; thence North 88 
degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds East, on said north line, 166.50 feet; thence North 01 degree 
20 minutes 04 seconds West, 5.00 feet to the north line of the South 75.00 feet of said 

Page | 345AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Southwest Quarter; thence North 88 degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds East. on said north line, 
96.27 feet; thence North 01 degree 20 minutes 04 seconds West, 115.50 feet ; thence North 
88 degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds East, 202.15 feet; thence South 01 degree 20 minutes 04 
seconds East, 55.00 feet; thence North 87 degrees 11 minutes 50 seconds East, 370.68 feet; 
thence South 01 degree 20 minutes 04 seconds East, 95.00 feet to the north right of way line 
of 183"' Street, per Document No. 94 11 4564 ; thence South 88 degrees 39 minutes 56 
seconds West, on said north right of way line, 171.07 feet; thence North 01 degree  20 
minutes 04  seconds  West, 15.00 feet  to  the  north line of  the South 65.00 feet  of said 
Southwest Quarter, thence South 88 degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds West, on said north line, 
664.41 feet to a point of curvature; thence Northwester1y, on a 110.00 foot radius curve, 
concave Northeasterly, 1722 1 feet, the chord of said curve bears North 46 degrees 29 
minutes 00 seconds West, 155.16 feet to the east line of the West 69.00 feet of said 
Southwest Quarter, and to a point of tangency; thence North 01 degree37 minutes 58 
seconds West, on said east line, 24.29 feet; thence South 88 degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds 
West. parallel to the south fine of said Southwest Quarter, 4.00 feet to the east line of the 
West 65.00 feet of said Southwest Quarter; thence North 01 degree 37 minutes 58 seconds 
West, on said east line, 299.27 feet to the Point of Beginning.

Said parcel containing 1.479 acres, more or less.

Page | 346AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
ORDINANCE 

NO. 2020-O-071 
 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE LEVYING TAXES FOR CORPORATE PURPOSES FOR THE 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 2020 TAX LEVY YEAR 

 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 

 

Page | 347AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 2020-O-071 

AN ORDINANCE LEVYING TAXES FOR CORPORATE PURPOSES FOR THE 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 2020 TAX LEVY YEAR 

 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 

and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 

25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of 

Article VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and 

affairs, including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park is authorized under the Illinois Property Tax 

Code to levy a tax against the equalized assessed value of all taxable properties within the 

corporate limits of the municipality to support its operations. 

NOW THEREFORE Be It Resolved by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, that: 

               Section 1:            A tax in the aggregate amount of $28,143,499 for the following sums 

of money as detailed in APPENDIX A, or as much thereof as may be authorized by law, to 

defray all expenses and liabilities of the Village, be and the same is hereby levied for the 2020 

tax levy year for the purposes specified against all taxable property in the Village of Tinley Park. 

              Section 2:            The taxes levied hereunder are levied pursuant to the home rule 

powers of the Village of Tinley Park. 

              Section 3:            The Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park is hereby directed to 

file with the Clerk of Cook County and the Clerk of Will County duly certified copies of this 

Ordinance within the time prescribed by law. 

Page | 348AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



              Section 4:           The Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this 

Ordinance in pamphlet form and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage, approval, and publication as required by law. 

ADOPTED this 15th day of December, 2020, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village 

of Tinley Park on a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

 
APPROVED this 15th day of December, 2020, by the President and Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Tinley Park. 
 
             
       ________________________________ 
        Village President  
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
                 Village Clerk 
  

Page | 349AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties 

of Cook and Will, and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and 

correct copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-071 “AN ORDINANCE LEVYING TAXES FOR 

CORPORATE PURPOSES FOR THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 2020 TAX LEVY 

YEAR,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

on  December 15, 2020. 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020. 

 

 

 
      __________________________________________ 
        VILLAGE CLERK  
 

Page | 350AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 1 

 
 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
ORDINANCE 

NO. 2020-O-072 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE 2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS 

AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED MARCH 3, 2009 IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $10,235,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION 

REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 2009, OF THE VILLAGE OF 
TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS 

 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 

 

Page | 351AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 2 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 2020-O-072 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE 2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS 
AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED MARCH 3, 2009 IN 

CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $10,235,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION 
REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 2009, OF THE VILLAGE OF 

TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS 
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 

and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 

25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 

VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 

including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted an ordinance, being Ordinance Number 2009-O-007, entitled 

"An Ordinance providing for the issuance of not to exceed $10,000,000 General Obligation 

Refunding Bonds, Series 2009A, of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, 

and providing for the levy and collection of a direct annual tax for the payment of the principal 

and interest on said bonds, and further providing for the execution of an escrow agreement in 

connection with such issuance, adopted February 24, 2009; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted an ordinance, being Ordinance Number 2009-O-008, entitled 

"An Ordinance providing for the issuance of not to exceed $1,000,000 General Obligation 

Bonds, Series 2009B, of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, and 

providing for the levy and collection of a direct annual tax for the payment of the principal and 

interest on said bonds, as adopted February 24, 2009; and 

 

Page | 352AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 3 

WHEREAS, on March 3, 2009, the Village President, Trustee Patrick E. Rea as Finance 

Chair, and Treasurer (the Designated Officers) entered into a contract for the sale of $10,235,000 

General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2009 of the Village of Tinley 

Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois in accordance to the aforementioned Ordinances 2009-O-

007 and 2009-O-008 and issued a Bond Order detailing the sale and the Series 2009 bonds, the 

refunding of certain outstanding Series 2000, Series 2001, and Series 2002 bonds, terms of the 

Series 2009 bonds, and the taxes to be levied to provide for the debt service of the Series 2009 

bonds as contained in Exhibit III of the Bond Order; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

caused to be filed with the Clerk's Office of both Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, a certified 

copy of the Bond Ordinances and Bond Order as aforesaid, directing the said Clerks to levy and 

collect an annual tax for the purpose of paying the principal and interest upon the bonds 

heretofore authorized; and 

 

WHEREAS, there is available to the Village of Tinley Park a sum estimated to be 

$763,870 to be derived from the Village’s Water and Sewer Revenue Fund ($376,644.20), 

Tax/Bond Stabilization Fund ($283,125.80), and Surtax Capital Projects Fund ($104,100); and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park deem it in 

the best interest of the residents and taxpayers of the Village of Tinley Park that the funds 

available in the Village’s Water and Sewer Revenue Fund, Tax/Bond Stabilization Fund, and 

Surtax Capital Projects Fund be used to abate a portion of the payment of interest and principal 

on the aforesaid bonds for the tax levy year 2020. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:   

 

               

  

Page | 353AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 4 

              Section 1:            That the sum of $763, 870, which will be derived from revenue 

sources herein described above, is hereby appropriated for the specific purpose of paying a 

portion of the principal and interest on the bonds which fall due on or before December 1, 2021, 

and that portion of the Bond Order which provides for a 2020 tax levy to meet the requirements 

to pay $1,113,870 for principal and interest on said bonds be and the same is hereby reduced in 

the amount of $763,870, leaving a 2020 levy in the amount of $350,000 to pay for the remaining 

portion of said principal and interest on the bonds. 

 

              Section 2:            That the Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park is hereby 

authorized and directed to file a certified copy of this ordinance with the Clerk’s Office of both 

Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, abating a portion of the 2020 tax levy requirement for the 

payment of principal and interest due on the issuance of $10,235,000 General Obligation 

Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2009 as provided for in the Bond Order dated March 

3, 2009, in due time and in the manner expressed by law, and the County Clerks of both Cook 

and Will Counties, Illinois, are hereby authorized and directed to abate said tax as provided in 

this ordinance. 

 

               Section 3:           This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage and approval pursuant to law. 

 

ADOPTED this 15th day of December, 2020, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village 

of Tinley Park as follows: 

AYES:   

NAYS:       

ABSENT:     

APPROVED this 15th day of December, 2020, by the President of the Village of Tinley 

Park. 

       ____________________________________ 
                         VILLAGE PRESIDENT                                                
 
ATTEST:                                     

 
________________________ 
VILLAGE CLERK 

Page | 354AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will, and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-072 “AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE 2020 

TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED 

MARCH 3, 2009 IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $10,235,000 GENERAL 

OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 2009, OF THE 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS,” which was adopted 

by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020. 

 

 

 
      __________________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  

Page | 355AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
ORDINANCE 

NO. 2020-O-073 
 
 
AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE 2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS 

AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED AUGUST 16, 2011 IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $5,940,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION 

REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2011 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK 
AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS. 

 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 

 

Page | 356AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 2020-O-073 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE 2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS 
AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED AUGUST 16, 2011 IN 

CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $5,940,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION 
REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2011 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK 

AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS. 
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 

and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 

25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 

VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 

including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted an ordinance, being Ordinance Number 2003-O-056, entitled 

"An Ordinance Providing for the Issue of $9,700,000 General Obligation Library Bonds, Series 

2003, of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, and for the Levy and 

Collection of a Direct Annual Tax for the payment of the Principal and Interest on Said Bonds 

as, adopted June 24, 2003, providing for the borrowing of money and have issued bonds of the 

Village of Tinley Park in the amount of $9,700,000; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted an ordinance being Ordinance Number 2011-O-037, entitled 

AAn ordinance providing for the issuance of not to exceed $7,200,000 General Obligation 

Refunding Bonds, Series 2011, of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, 

authorizing the execution of a bond order in connection therewith and providing for the levy and 

collection of a direct annual tax for the payment of the principal of and interest on said bonds,” 

Page | 357AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



adopted July 5, 2011, which directed the refunding of said General Obligation Library Bonds, 

Series 2003 aforementioned; and 

 

WHEREAS, on August 16, 2011, the Village Clerk, and Treasurer (the Designated 

Officers) entered into a contract for the sale of $5,940,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, 

Series 2011 of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois in accordance to the 

aforementioned Ordinance 2011-O-037 and issued a Bond Order detailing the sale and the Series 

2011 bonds, terms of the Series 2011 bonds, and the taxes to be levied to provide for the debt 

service of the Series 2011 bonds as contained in Exhibit III of the Bond Order.  Said Series 2011 

bonds issued for the sole purpose of refunding the aforementioned General Obligation Library 

Bonds, Series 2003; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

caused to be filed with the Clerk's Office of both Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, a certified 

copy of the Bond Ordinance and Bond Order as aforesaid, directing the said Clerks to levy and 

collect an annual tax for the purpose of paying the principal and interest upon the bonds 

heretofore authorized; and 

 

WHEREAS, there is available to the Village of Tinley Park a sum estimated to be 

$150,000, said estimated sum to be received from the Village's Surtax Capital Projects Fund; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park deem it in 

the best interest of the residents and taxpayers of the Village of Tinley Park that the funds 

derived from the herein described source be used to abate a portion of the payment of interest 

and principal on the aforesaid bonds for the tax levy year 2020. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:   

 

  

Page | 358AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



              Section 1:           That the sum of $150,000, which will be derived from revenue sources 

herein described above, is hereby appropriated for the specific purpose of paying a portion of the 

principal and interest on the bonds which fall due on or before December 1, 2021, and that 

portion of the Bond Order which provides for a 2020 tax levy to meet the requirements to pay 

$660,800 for principal and interest on said bonds be and the same is hereby abated and reduced 

in the amount of $150,000 leaving a 2020 levy in the amount of $510,800 to pay the remaining 

portion of said interest and principal on the bonds. 

 

  Section 2:           That the Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park is hereby 

authorized and directed to file a certified copy of this ordinance, abating a portion of the 2020 tax 

levy requirement for the payment of principal and interest due on the issuance of $5,940,000 

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, with the Clerk’s, Office of both Cook and Will Counties, 

Illinois, as provided for in the Bond Order dated August 16, 2011, in due time and in the manner 

expressed by law, and the County Clerks of both Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, are hereby 

authorized and directed to abate said tax as provided in this ordinance. 

 

                Section 3:           This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage and approval pursuant to law. 

 

ADOPTED this 15th day of  December, 2020, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village 

of Tinley Park as follows: 

AYES:   

NAYS:   

ABSENT:  
    

APPROVED this 15th day of December, 2020, by the President of the Village of Tinley 
Park.     

 
                                                                               

                VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
 

 
ATTEST:         
                  _______________________                           

VILLAGE CLERK 

Page | 359AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will, and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-073 “AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE 2020 

TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED 

AUGUST 16, 2011 IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $5,940,000 GENERAL 

OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2011 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, 

COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS ,” which was adopted by the President and Board of 

Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020. 

 

 

 
      __________________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  

Page | 360AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
ORDINANCE 

NO. 2020-O-074 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE ABATING ALL OF THE 2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS 
PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED JUNE 5, 2013 IN CONNECTION 
WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $11,340,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 

2013 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS 

 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 

 

Page | 361AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 2020-O-074 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING ALL OF THE 2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS 
PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED JUNE 5, 2013 IN CONNECTION 
WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $11,340,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 

2013 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS 

 
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 

and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 

25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 

VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 

including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted an ordinance, being Ordinance Number 2013-O-014, entitled 

"An ordinance providing for the issuance of not to exceed $13,950,000 General Obligation 

Bonds, Series 2013, of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, authorizing 

the execution of one or more bond orders in connection therewith and providing for the levy and 

collection of a direct annual tax for the payment of the principal of and interest on said bonds, as 

adopted June 4, 2013; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 5, 2013, the Village Clerk, and Treasurer (the Designated Officers) 

entered into a contract for the sale of $11,340,000 Taxable General Obligation Bonds, Series 

2013 of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois in accordance to the 

aforementioned Ordinance 2013-O-014 and issued a Bond Order detailing the sale and the Series 

2013 bonds, terms of the Series 2013 bonds, and the taxes to be levied to provide for the debt 

service of the Series 2013 bonds as contained in Exhibit III of the Bond Order; and 

Page | 362AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

caused to be filed with the Clerk's Office of both Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, a certified 

copy of the Bond Ordinances and Bond Order as aforesaid, directing the said Clerks to levy and 

collect an annual tax for the purpose of paying the principal and interest upon the bonds 

heretofore authorized; and 

 

WHEREAS, there is available to the Village of Tinley Park a sum estimated to be 

$386,340 to be derived from the Village’s Hotel/Tax Debt Service Reserve Fund; and 

 

WHEREAS, there is available to the Village of Tinley Park a sum estimated to be 

$584,190 to be derived from the Village’s Surtax Capital Projects Fund ($417,247.96), Water 

and Sewer Revenue Fund ($139,085.91), Stormwater Management Fund ($17,399.13), and New 

Bremen Tax Increment Finance District fund ($10,457.00); and  

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park deem it in 

the best interest of the residents and taxpayers of the Village of Tinley Park that the funds 

available in the aforementioned Village Funds, be used to abate all of the payment of interest and 

principal on the aforesaid bonds for the tax levy year 2020. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:   

 

            Section 1:             That the sum of $973,650, which will be derived from revenue sources 

herein described above, is hereby appropriated for the specific purpose of paying all of the 

principal and interest on the bonds which fall due on or before December 1, 2021 and that 

portion of the Bond Order which provides for a 2020 tax levy to meet the requirements to pay 

$973,650 for principal and interest on said bonds be and the same is hereby abated. 

 

  

Page | 363AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Section 2:              That the Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park is hereby 

authorized and directed to file a certified copy of this ordinance with the Clerk’s Office of both 

Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, abating all of the 2020 tax levy requirement for the payment of 

principal and interest due on the issuance of $11,340,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series 

2013, as provided for in the Bond Order dated June 5, 2013, in due time and in the manner 

expressed by law, and the County Clerks of both Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, are hereby 

authorized and directed to abate said tax as provided in this ordinance. 

 

Section 3:               This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage and approval pursuant to law. 

ADOPTED this 15th day of December, 2020, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village 

of Tinley Park as follows: 

AYES:   

NAYS:   

ABSENT:  

APPROVED this 15th day of December, 2020 by the President of the Village of Tinley 

Park. 

 

                         ___________________________________                                                  
VILLAGE PRESIDENT  

 

ATTEST:         ________________________                               
VILLAGE CLERK 

 
 
 
 
  

Page | 364AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will, and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-074 “AN ORDINANCE ABATING ALL OF THE 2020 TAX 

LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED JUNE 5, 

2013 IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $11,340,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION 

BONDS, SERIES 2013 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL 

COUNTIES, ILLINOIS,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020. 

 

 

 
      __________________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  

Page | 365AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
ORDINANCE 

NO. 2020-O-075 
 

 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE TAX YEAR 2020 VILLAGE OF 
TINLEY PARK PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 18501 CONVENTION CENTER 
DRIVE, TINLEY PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS (DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE 

AGREEMENT FOR THE TINLEY PARK HOTEL AND CONVENTION CENTER) 
 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page | 366AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2020-O-075 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE TAX YEAR 2020 VILLAGE OF 
TINLEY PARK PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 18501 CONVENTION CENTER 
DRIVE, TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS (DEVELOPMENT 
INCENTIVE AGREEMENT FOR THE TINLEY PARK HOTEL AND CONVENTION 

CENTER) 
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 

and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 

25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of 

Article VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and 

affairs, including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted Resolution Number 2018-R-050, entitled "A Resolution 

Authorizing The Execution Of A Development Incentive Agreement Between The Village Of 

Tinley Park, The Board Of Education School District 227, And The Harp Group, Inc. Relating 

To The Hotel Property Located At 18501 Harlem Avenue” adopted July 17, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted Resolution Number 2018-R-051, entitled "A Resolution 

Authorizing The Execution Of A Development Incentive Agreement Between The Village Of 

Tinley Park, The Board Of Education School District 159, And The Harp Group, Inc. Relating 

To The Hotel Property Located At 18501 Harlem Avenue” adopted July 17, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted Resolution Number 2018-R-052, entitled "A Resolution 

Approving The First Amendment To The Tinley Park Convention Center Management Contract 

Between The Harp Group, Inc, And The Village Of Tinley Park” adopted July 17, 2018; and 

Page | 367AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



WHEREAS, The Harp Group, Inc. has expressed its desire to operate and manage the 

Tinley Park Convention Center on behalf of the Village of Tinley Park; and  

WHEREAS, The Harp Group, Inc. has acquired the Hotel Property connected to the 

Tinley Park Convention Center under the business entity Tinley Park Convention Center Hotel 

Owners LLC, and intends to continue the operations of the Tinley Park Hotel as a commercial 

enterprise within the Village of Tinley Park; and 

WHEREAS, The Harp Group, Inc. has requested financial assistance in the form of real 

estate Tax abatements pursuant to the provision of law (35 ILCS 200/18-165); and 

 WHEREAS, the Subject Hotel Property, 18501 Convention Center Drive, is identified 

for property tax purposes by permanent identification number 31-06-100-027-0000; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has met the conditions and requirements of the 

aforementioned Agreements and is eligible for the financial assistance provided for therein; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:   

 SECTION ONE 

That fifty percent (50%) of the Village of Tinley Park’s portion of real estate property 

taxes (“Property Taxes”) assessed and extended on the Subject Hotel Property (18501 

Convention Center Drive, PIN 31-06-100-027-0000), shall hereby be abated for the 2020 tax 

levy year (taxes billed and collected in calendar 2021). 

Said abatement shall be made only against the amounts extended for the Village of Tinley 

Park (tax agency 03-1270-000). The amounts extended for the Tinley Park Public Library (tax 

agency 03-1270-001) are not to be abated. 

SECTION TWO 

 Annual abatements by Elementary School District 159, Rich Township High School 
District 227 and the Village of Tinley Park shall continue until the first of the following should 
occur: 

Page | 368AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



(i) duration of ten (10) tax levy years, commencing with the 2018 tax levy year to which 
the first abatement applies, and in which taxes are actually abated (this being the third year of 
abatement); 

(ii) the aggregate taxes abated on the Subject Hotel Property by all three of the above 
named taxing bodies equals four million dollars ($4,000,000); 

(iii) the abatement obligations of the Elementary School District 159, Rich Township 
High School District 227 and the Village terminate as provided for in aforementioned 
Agreements. 

SECTION THREE 

That the Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park is hereby authorized and directed to 

file a certified copy of this ordinance with the Cook County Clerk’s Office.   

The County Clerk of Cook County, Illinois, is hereby authorized and directed to abate 

said tax as provided in this ordinance. 

 SECTION FOUR 

This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and approval 

pursuant to law. 

PASSED this 15th day of December, 2020, by the following roll call vote: 

 AYES:  

 NAYS: 

 ABSENT: 

 APPROVED this 15th day of December, 2019, by the President of the Village of Tinley 
Park. 

________________________________ 
            Village President 
 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
   Village Clerk 
 

 

Page | 369AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and 

Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Ordinance No. 2020-O-075, “AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE TAX YEAR 2020 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 18501 CONVENTION 

CENTER DRIVE, TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS (DEVELOPMENT 

INCENTIVE AGREEMENT FOR THE TINLEY PARK HOTEL AND CONVENTION CENTER),” 

which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 

15, 2020. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020. 

 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

Page | 370AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
ORDINANCE 

NO. 2020-O-076 
 

 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK TAX 
YEAR 2020 PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 8451 183RD PLACE, TINLEY 

PARK, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS  
(SURFACE SHIELDS, INC. INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT) 

 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page | 371AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2020-O-076 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
TAX YEAR 2020 PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 8451 183RD PLACE,  

TINLEY PARK, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
(SURFACE SHIELDS, INC. INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT) 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, and 

the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 

therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 

exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, but 

not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted Resolution Number 2017-R-039, entitled "Resolution Authorizing 

the Execution of an Inducement Agreement (Property Tax Rebate) for Surface Shields, Inc.,” 

adopted July 11, 2017; and 

 

WHEREAS, Surface Shields, Inc. (“Company”) began its manufacturing and distribution 

operations within the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) at 8451 183rd Street (“Subject Property”) on 

October 23, 2017 which meets the requirements under the Inducement Agreement which stipulated 

that the Company begin operations on or before January 1, 2018; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Subject Property, 8451 183rd Place, is identified for property tax purposes 

by permanent identification number 19-09-02-106-006-0000; and. 

 

WHEREAS, the Company represents that it has spent at least $116,500 to upgrade the 

Subject Property which meets the requirements under the Inducement Agreement which stipulated 

that the Company spend an estimated $100,000; and 

 

Page | 372AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



WHEREAS, The Company has represented that it is employing 60 full time employees at 

the Subject Property.  Furthermore, the Company represents that it has continuously maintained at 

least fifty-five (55) full time employees since beginning operations at the Subject Property in 

accordance with the requirements of the Inducement Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Company is continuing to operate a manufacturing and distribution 

business on the Subject Property in accordance with the requirements of the Inducement Agreement; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Company has met the conditions and requirements of the Inducement 

Agreement and is eligible for the economic incentive provided for therein; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:   

 

 SECTION ONE 

 

That fifty percent (50%) of the Village’s portion of real estate property taxes (“Property 

Taxes”) assessed and extended on the Subject Property (8451 183rd Place, PIN 19-09-02-106-006-

0000), but not to exceed a maximum of six thousand dollars ($6,000), shall hereby be abated for the 

2020 tax levy year (taxes billed and collected in calendar 2021). 

 

  

Page | 373AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 SECTION TWO 

 

That the Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park is hereby authorized and directed to file 

a certified copy of this ordinance with the Will County Clerk’s Office.   

The County Clerk of Will County, Illinois, is hereby authorized and directed to abate said tax 

as provided in this ordinance. 

 

SECTION THREE 

 

This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and approval 

pursuant to law. 

 

 

PASSED this 15th day of December, 2020, by the following roll call vote: 

 AYES:  

 NAYS: 

 ABSENT: 

 APPROVED this 15th day of December, 2020, by the President of the Village of Tinley 
Park. 

 

________________________________ 
            Village President  
ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
   Village Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 374AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



   

STATE OF ILLINOIS  ) 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and 

Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Ordinance No. 2020-O-076, “AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE VILLAGE OF 

TINLEY PARK TAX YEAR 2020 PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 8451 183RD PLACE, 

TINLEY PARK, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS (SURFACE SHIELDS, INC. INDUCEMENT 

AGREEMENT),” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley 

Park on December 15, 2020. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020. 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

Page | 375AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: December 11, 2020

To: John Urbanski, Public Works Director

From: Joe Fitzpatrick, Water Superintendent

Subject: Post 4 (8399 Brookside Glen Drive) Improvements
_________________________________________________________________________________
Presented for December 15, 2020 Village Board consideration and action.
Description:  This project includes the replacement of the control panel, replacement of the building, 
and upgrading the outdated electrical components currently in use at Post 4 sanitary sewer lift station 
(8399 Brookside Glen Drive).
Background:  Public Works contracted Christopher Burke Engineering to engineer the plan and 
specifications to improve the functionality of the Post 4 sanitary sewer lift station located at 8399 
Brookside Glen Drive.  The outdated control panel currently being used has caused numerous issues 
running the station.  Although failing parts have been replaced to allow the station to run, replacing the 
entire control panel will eliminate the possibility of the lift station not being able to be repaired under an 
emergency situation. A lift station that is not functioning, would lead to sewer overflows and basement 
back-ups among other issues. The new control panel and electrical components will also increase the 
life expectancy of the pumps, while improving the overall efficiency of the lift station.  When the control 
panel is replaced, any unnecessary wiring will be removed and various other electrical issues will be 
resolved.  The fiberglass building currently at Post 4 is deteriorating to the point of replacement. The 
building has been repaired multiple times over the last 5 years.  The new structure will be similar to 
buildings used for other lift station projects to keep them uniform throughout the Village.
Contractor: Location: Bid:
Swallow Construction Corp. West Chicago, IL $592,291.00
Airy’s Inc. * Tinley Park, IL $598,042.00
Tracy & Ed Construction Inc. Bartlett, IL $600,573.00
AMS Mechanical Services Woodridge, IL $603,552.68
Performance Construction & Eng. Plano, IL $688,930.00

* Airy’s Inc. bid amount is within the parameters set in the Village of Tinley Park Purchasing Policy for 
Local Vendors.

Budget/ Finance:  Funding in the amount of $417,000.00 is available in the approved FY2021 budget 
for this project.  The remaining funding of $181,042.00 will be from two other sanitary sewer lining 
projects which came in $702,828.50 under budget.
Staff Direction Request:  Approve awarding the contract to perform building replacement and electrical 
improvements at Post 4 sanitary sewer lift station (8399 Brookside Glen Drive) to Airy’s Inc.  in the 
amount of $598,042.00 in adherence to the Village of Tinley Park Purchasing Policy Section 7.1 
included in Ordinance 2017-O-012.  This item was discussed and approved at the Committee of the 
Whole meeting that took place on December 1, 2020.
Attachments:

1) Bid Tabulation and Engineer’s Estimate
2) Engineer’s Letter of Recommendation
3) Local Vendor Purchasing Policy

Interoffice

Memo

Page | 376AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-133

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A CONTRACT FOR
POST 4 IMPROVEMENTS WITH AIRY’S, INC.

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

_____________________________________________________________________________________
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 377AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-133

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A CONTRACT FOR 
POST 4 IMPROVEMENTS WITH AIRY’S, INC.

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, is a Home Rule Unit 

pursuant to the Illinois Constitution of 1970; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, 

Illinois, have considered entering into a Contract with Airy’s, Inc., a true and correct copy of such Contract 

being attached hereto and made a part hereof as EXHIBIT 1; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, 

Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interests of said Village of Tinley Park that said Contract be 

entered into by the Village of Tinley Park; 

NOW, THEREFORE, Be It Resolved by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of 

Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:

Section 1: The Preambles hereto are hereby made a part of, and operative provisions of, this 

Resolution as fully as if completely repeated at length herein.

Section 2: That this President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby find 

that it is in the best interests of the Village of Tinley Park and its residents that the aforesaid "Contract” be 

entered into and executed by said Village of Tinley Park, with said Contract to be substantially in the form 

attached hereto and made a part hereof as EXHIBIT 1, subject to review and revision as to form by the 

Village Attorney.

Section 3: That the President and Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, 

Illinois are hereby authorized to execute for and on behalf of said Village of Tinley Park the aforesaid 

Contract.

Section 4: That this Resolution shall take effect from and after its adoption and approval.

ADOPTED this 15TH day of December, 2020, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley 

Park on a roll call vote as follows:

AYES:

NAYS:

ABSENT:

APPROVED this 15th day of December, 2020, by the President of the Village of Tinley Park.

                                                   
 Village President

ATTEST:

___________________________
     Village Clerk

Page | 378AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT 1

Page | 379AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF COOK ) SS

COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

     I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and 

Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Resolution No. 2020-R-133 “A RESOLUTION APPROVING A CONTRACT FOR POST 4 

IMPROVEMENTS WITH AIRY’S, INC.” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees 

of the Village of Tinley Park on December 15, 2020.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 15th day of December, 2020

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

Page | 380AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENGINEERING, LTD.

9575 W. Higgins Road, Suite 600

Rosemont, Illinois 60018

 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK

POST 4 LIFT STATION IMPROVEMENTS

CBBEL PROJECT NO. 160373.00007

Bid Tabulation 

CODE NUMBER UNIT QUANTITY  UNIT COST  COST  UNIT COST  COST  UNIT COST  COST  UNIT COST  COST  UNIT COST  COST  UNIT COST  COST 

01 50 00/01 FOOT 290  $               20.00  $          5,800.00  $                  5.00  $           1,450.00  $                13.00  $           3,770.00  $                10.00  $           2,900.00  $                  8.50  $           2,465.00  $                12.00  $              3,480.00 

02 41 52/01 L SUM 1  $        15,000.00  $        15,000.00  $           7,275.00  $           7,275.00  $         21,435.00  $         21,435.00  $         16,500.00  $         16,500.00  $         15,991.36  $         15,991.36  $         20,000.00  $            20,000.00 

03 30 00/01 L SUM 1  $        30,000.00  $        30,000.00  $         65,000.00  $         65,000.00  $         41,117.00  $         41,117.00  $         29,125.00  $         29,125.00  $         33,600.00  $         33,600.00  $         40,000.00  $            40,000.00 

03 30 00/02 SQ YD 110  $               35.00  $          3,850.00  $              100.00  $         11,000.00  $              134.00  $         14,740.00  $              180.00  $         19,800.00  $              141.12  $         15,523.20  $              125.00  $            13,750.00 

03 30 00/03 SQ FT 1050  $               25.00  $        26,250.00  $                13.25  $         13,912.50  $                14.00  $         14,700.00  $                18.00  $         18,900.00  $                13.44  $         14,112.00  $                13.00  $            13,650.00 

03 30 00/04 SQ FT 70  $               30.00  $          2,100.00  $                16.25  $           1,137.50  $                17.00  $           1,190.00  $                40.00  $           2,800.00  $                15.68  $           1,097.60  $                19.00  $              1,330.00 

13 34 25/01 L SUM 1  $      200,000.00  $      200,000.00  $       295,000.00  $       295,000.00  $       233,816.00  $       233,816.00  $       289,240.00  $       289,240.00  $       273,230.99  $       273,230.99  $       317,000.00  $          317,000.00 

26 05 19/01 L SUM 1  $        15,000.00  $        15,000.00  $           4,500.00  $           4,500.00  $           7,875.00  $           7,875.00  $           5,375.00  $           5,375.00  $           4,342.24  $           4,342.24  $           8,800.00  $              8,800.00 

26 05 23/01 L SUM 1  $          2,500.00  $          2,500.00  $              900.00  $              900.00  $           4,209.00  $           4,209.00  $           1,100.00  $           1,100.00  $           1,478.40  $           1,478.40  $           4,000.00  $              4,000.00 

26 05 26/01 L SUM 1  $          2,500.00  $          2,500.00  $           3,500.00  $           3,500.00  $           6,646.00  $           6,646.00  $           4,000.00  $           4,000.00  $         12,880.00  $         12,880.00  $           6,200.00  $              6,200.00 

26 05 33/01 L SUM 1  $        20,000.00  $        20,000.00  $         16,000.00  $         16,000.00  $         20,219.00  $         20,219.00  $         19,815.00  $         19,815.00  $         39,898.88  $         39,898.88  $         19,000.00  $            19,000.00 

26 27 16/01 EACH 1  $          7,500.00  $          7,500.00  $         10,000.00  $         10,000.00  $           3,760.00  $           3,760.00  $           3,500.00  $           3,500.00  $           7,379.68  $           7,379.68  $         11,000.00  $            11,000.00 

26 29 20/01 L SUM 1  $        40,000.00  $        40,000.00  $           5,500.00  $           5,500.00  $         36,055.00  $         36,055.00  $         34,495.00  $         34,495.00  $              556.64  $              556.64  $         36,000.00  $            36,000.00 

26 29 20/02 L SUM 1  $          5,000.00  $          5,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $           3,280.00  $           3,280.00  $           3,500.00  $           3,500.00  $         21,210.56  $         21,210.56  $         21,000.00  $            21,000.00 

26 29 23/01 EACH 2  $        15,000.00  $        30,000.00  $           6,500.00  $         13,000.00  $         14,758.00  $         29,516.00  $         15,340.00  $         30,680.00  $              278.88  $              557.76  $         15,000.00  $            30,000.00 

26 32 13/01 EACH 1  $        45,000.00  $        45,000.00  $         45,000.00  $         45,000.00  $         63,652.00  $         63,652.00  $         41,750.00  $         41,750.00  $         40,139.95  $         40,139.95  $         55,000.00  $            55,000.00 

26 36 00/01 EACH 1  $        15,000.00  $        15,000.00  $           5,500.00  $           5,500.00  $           3,889.00  $           3,889.00  $              800.00  $              800.00  $           2,852.64  $           2,852.64  $           6,200.00  $              6,200.00 

26 60 20/01 L SUM 1  $          2,500.00  $          2,500.00  $         12,500.00  $         12,500.00  $           6,974.00  $           6,974.00  $           8,170.00  $           8,170.00  $         18,301.92  $         18,301.92  $           6,600.00  $              6,600.00 

26 60 20/02 EACH 1  $          2,000.00  $          2,000.00  $              750.00  $              750.00  $              802.00  $              802.00  $           1,000.00  $           1,000.00  $              691.04  $              691.04  $           1,000.00  $              1,000.00 

31 10 00/01 L SUM 1  $          2,500.00  $          2,500.00  $           1,500.00  $           1,500.00  $           2,672.00  $           2,672.00  $           6,875.00  $           6,875.00  $           3,304.00  $           3,304.00  $           5,000.00  $              5,000.00 

31 20 00/01 SQ YD 75  $               25.00  $          1,875.00  $                25.00  $           1,875.00  $                26.00  $           1,950.00  $                25.00  $           1,875.00  $                21.65  $           1,623.75  $                22.00  $              1,650.00 

31 20 00/02 SQ FT 70  $               25.00  $          1,750.00  $                  0.50  $                35.00  $                  2.00  $              140.00  $                15.00  $           1,050.00  $                  4.72  $              330.40  $                  5.00  $                 350.00 

31 20 00/03 FOOT 160  $               20.00  $          3,200.00  $                  1.50  $              240.00  $                16.00  $           2,560.00  $                25.00  $           4,000.00  $                22.96  $           3,673.60  $                  4.00  $                 640.00 

31 25 13/01 EACH 1  $          1,500.00  $          1,500.00  $           1,500.00  $           1,500.00  $              802.00  $              802.00  $           1,500.00  $           1,500.00  $              840.00  $              840.00  $              600.00  $                 600.00 

31 25 13/02 EACH 1  $          3,000.00  $          3,000.00  $                  1.00  $                  1.00  $           8,977.00  $           8,977.00  $           3,000.00  $           3,000.00  $           1,120.00  $           1,120.00  $           8,000.00  $              8,000.00 

31 25 13/03 FOOT 275  $                 5.00  $          1,375.00  $                  6.00  $           1,650.00  $                  5.00  $           1,375.00  $                  5.00  $           1,375.00  $                  8.64  $           2,376.00  $                  3.00  $                 825.00 

31 25 13/04 EACH 1  $             500.00  $             500.00  $              180.00  $              180.00  $              276.00  $              276.00  $              500.00  $              500.00  $              280.00  $              280.00  $              150.00  $                 150.00 

32 39 14/01 EACH 5  $          2,000.00  $        10,000.00  $              775.00  $           3,875.00  $           1,729.00  $           8,645.00  $           1,531.00  $           7,655.00  $              560.00  $           2,800.00  $              650.00  $              3,250.00 

32 92 19/01 SQ YD 215  $               20.00  $          4,300.00  $                  7.00  $           1,505.00  $                  7.00  $           1,505.00  $                14.00  $           3,010.00  $                13.44  $           2,889.60  $                10.00  $              2,150.00 

32 92 19/02 SQ YD 140  $               10.00  $          1,400.00  $                  3.00  $              420.00  $                  5.00  $              700.00  $                  7.50  $           1,050.00  $                  6.72  $              940.80  $                  6.00  $                 840.00 

32 92 19/03 SQ YD 140  $                 5.00  $             700.00  $                  5.00  $              700.00  $                  5.00  $              700.00  $                  7.50  $           1,050.00  $                  6.72  $              940.80  $                  6.00  $                 840.00 

32 92 19/04 SQ YD 75  $               20.00  $          1,500.00  $                  9.00  $              675.00  $                91.00  $           6,825.00  $                11.00  $              825.00  $                31.36  $           2,352.00  $                15.00  $              1,125.00 

32 92 19/05 EACH 18  $             500.00  $          9,000.00  $              345.00  $           6,210.00  $              192.00  $           3,456.00  $              516.00  $           9,288.00  $              672.00  $         12,096.00  $              250.00  $              4,500.00 

33 41 00/01 EACH 1  $          5,000.00  $          5,000.00  $           5,000.00  $           5,000.00  $           9,490.00  $           9,490.00  $           3,570.00  $           3,570.00  $           7,191.21  $           7,191.21  $         15,000.00  $            15,000.00 

- L SUM 1  $        15,000.00  $        15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $            15,000.00 

- L SUM 1  $        21,304.00  $         25,000.00  $         25,000.00  $         15,324.00  $         15,324.00  $           5,500.00  $           5,500.00  $         39,484.80  $         39,484.80  $         15,000.00  $            15,000.00 

 $      553,904.00  $       592,291.00  $       598,042.00  $       600,573.00  $       603,552.82  $          688,930.00 

Engineer's Estimate

Swallow Construction Corp.

490 Topsoil Drive

West Chicago, IL 60185

Airy's Inc.

7455 Duvan Drive

Tinley Park, IL 60477

Tracy & Ed Construction, Inc.

1064 Hudson Court

Bartlett, IL 60103

Performance Construction & Eng., LLC

217 W. John Street

Plano, IL 60545

As corrected by CBBEL

RACEWAYS AND BOXES FOR ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS

DESCRIPTION

TEMPORARY FENCING (SITE PROTECTION)

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING CONTROL BUILDING

CONTROL BUILDING FOUNDATION

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE DRIVEWAY PAVEMENT 7 INCH

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALK 5 INCH

PUMP CABLE JUNCTION BOX

PUMP CONTROL PANEL AND SCADA INTEGRATION

LEVEL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

VARIABLE FREQUENCY DRIVE

DIESEL ENGINE GENERATOR

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALK 7 INCH

CONTROL BUILDING

LOW-VOLTAGE ELECTRICAL CONDUCTORS AND CABLES

CONTROL-VOLTAGE ELECTRICAL CONDUCTORS AND CABLES

GROUNDING AND BONDING OF ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS

AUTOMATIC TRANSFER SWITCH

ELECTRIC SERVICE AND DISTRIBUTION

UTILITY METER FITTING

VEGETATION REMOVAL

DRIVEWAY PAVEMENT REMOVAL

SIDEWALK REMOVAL

FENCE REMOVAL

CONCRETE WASHOUT

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE

PERIMETER EROSION BARRIER

INLET FILTER

BOLLARD

TOTAL BID COST

CONTINGENCY

BONDS AND INSURANCE

AMS Mechanical Systems, Inc.

9341 Adam Don Parkway

Woodridge, IL 60517

TOPSOIL FURNISH AND PLACE 4"

SEEDING, CLASS 1

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET

MULCH FURNISH AND PLACE 3"

SHRUB

DIGITAL TRANSIT TIME FLOW MONITOR

N:\TINLEYPARK\160373\160373.00007\Mech\Spreadsheets\Bid Tab.111820

DATE PRINTED: 11/20/2020

Page | 381AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 382AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 383AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 384AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 385AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Tinley park 

 

reSOlUTiOn 2020-r-124 
 a reSOlUTiOn prOViDinG FOr anD aUTHOriZinG lanDinG riGHTS TO 

SanTa ClaUS 
 in THe VillaGe OF Tinley park, COOk anD Will COUnTieS, illinOiS 
  

WHEREAS, the United States Federal Aviation Authority, more commonly referred to as the FAA, is responsible 

for all flights and landing operations in the Continental United States, and, therefore, requires precise coordination for 

any and all domestic flying; and, 

WHEREAS, in the past sixty-four (64) years, thousands of man-made objects have been thrown into the atmosphere 

around this planet thereby further complicating the safe movement of any flying machines and/or sleighs; and, 

 WHEREAS, the Illinois State Department of Aviation directs that local authorities establish the necessary approval 

for any flights to land within the State except at registered airports; and, 

WHEREAS, the Sheriffs of Cook and Will Counties further delegate that authority, when properly approved to the 

municipalities of those counties; and, 

WHEREAS, any miniature sleigh with eight (8) tiny reindeer shall designate the first reindeer to respond to landing 

signals with his blinking red nose; and, 

WHEREAS, said sleigh shall be full of toys and will not exceed the air travel weight load limit; and, 

WHEREAS, the driver shall be a jolly old elf of outstanding character and shall have in his possession a good 

flying record. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Village Board of TINLEY PARK, representing the great 

citizens of the community, provide Santa Claus with all approvals necessary, in whatever order required, to land at the 

homes as often as he deems appropriate, while wearing a mask, practicing social distancing, and using hand sanitizer 

between each home, on Thursday evening, December 24, 2020, and Friday morning, December 25, 2020. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Police Department, the Public Works Department, and other Municipal 

Agencies shall provide speedy and helpful assistance to guarantee St. Nick's movement throughout the World. 
 

PASSED this 15th day of December, 2020, 

________________________________________________ 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

________________________________________ 

ATTEST:  KRISTIN A. THIRION, CLERK 

______________________________     ___________________________________ 

TRUSTEE CYNTHIA A. BERG                                   TRUSTEE WILLIAM P. BRADY 

______________________________     ___________________________________ 

TRUSTEE WILLIAM A. BRENNAN     TRUSTEE DIANE M. GALANTE  

______________________________     ___________________________________ 

TRUSTEE MICHAEL W. GLOTZ        TRUSTEE MICHAEL G. MUELLER 

Page | 386AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

STAFF 
COMMENT 

 

Page | 387AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 
BOARD 

COMMENT 
 

Page | 388AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

PUBLIC 
COMMENT 

 

Page | 389AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

CONSIDER APPROVAL OF A 
REQUEST BY VILLAGE BOARD 

MEMBERS TO ATTEND THE 
EXECUTIVE SESSION BY 

REMOTE ELECTRONIC MEANS 

CLERK THIRION 

 

Page | 390AGENDA - 12/15/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

ADJOURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS: 

A. THE PURCHASE OR LEASE OF REAL PROPERTY FOR THE USE 

OF THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING MEETINGS HELD FOR THE 

PURPOSE OF DISCUSSING WHETHER A PARTICULAR PARCEL 

SHOULD BE ACQUIRED. 

 

B. COLLECTIVE NEGOTIATING MATTERS BETWEEN THE 

PUBLIC BODY AND ITS EMPLOYEES OR THEIR 

REPRESENTATIVES, OR DELIBERATIONS CONCERNING 

SALARY SCHEDULES FOR ONE OR MORE CLASSES OF 

EMPLOYEES. 

 

C. LITIGATION, WHEN AN ACTION AGAINST, AFFECTING OR ON 

BEHALF OF THE PARTICULAR PUBLIC BODY HAS BEEN FILED 

AND IS PENDING BEFORE A COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE 

TRIBUNAL, OR WHEN THE PUBLIC BODY FINDS THAT AN 

ACTION IS PROBABLE OR IMMINENT, IN WHICH CASE THE 

BASIS FOR THE FINDING SHALL BE RECORDED AND 

ENTERED INTO THE MINUTES OF THE CLOSED MEETING. 

 

D. DISCUSSION OF MINUTES OF MEETINGS LAWFULLY CLOSED 

UNDER THIS ACT, WHETHER FOR PURPOSES OF APPROVAL 

BY THE BODY OF THE MINUTES OR SEMI-ANNUAL REVIEW 

OF THE MINUTES AS MANDATED BY SECTION 2.06. 

 

E. THE APPOINTMENT, EMPLOYMENT, COMPENSATION, 

DISCIPLINE, PERFORMANCE, OR DISMISSAL OF SPECIFIC 

EMPLOYEES OF THE PUBLIC BODY OR LEGAL COUNSEL FOR 

THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING HEARING TESTIMONY ON A 

COMPLAINT LODGED AGAINST AN EMPLOYEE OF THE 

PUBLIC BODY OR AGAINST LEGAL COUNSEL FOR THE 

PUBLIC BODY TO DETERMINE ITS VALIDITY. 

 


	Notice of Meeting
	Agenda Pg 1
	Agenda Pg 2
	Agenda Pg 3
	Agenda Pg 4
	Agenda Pg 5
	Agenda Pg 6
	Agenda Pg 7
	Agenda Pg 8
	Agenda Pg 9
	Agenda Pg 10
	Agenda Pg 11
	Agenda Pg 12
	Agenda Pg 13
	Agenda Pg 14
	Agenda Pg 15
	ITEM #2 Approval of the 12/1/20 Minutes
	ITEM #3 - Clerk Thirion & Trustee Glotz
	ITEM #4 - President Vandenberg
	ITEM #5 CONSENT A
	ITEM #5 CONSENT B
	ITEM #5 CONSENT C
	ITEM #5 CONSENT D
	ITEM #5 CONSENT E
	ITEM #6 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #7 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #8 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #9 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #10 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #11 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #12 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #13 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #14 - Trustee Mueller 
	ITEM #15 - Trustee Mueller 
	ITEM #16 - Trustee Brady
	ITEM #17 - Trustee Brennan
	ITEM #18 - President Vandenberg
	ITEM #19 - President Vandenberg 
	ITEM #20 - Trustee Brady
	ITEM #21 - Trustee Glotz
	ITEM #22 - Trustee Galante 
	ITEM #23 - Trustee Galante
	ITEM #24 - Trustee Galante
	ITEM #25 - Trustee Galante
	ITEM #26 - Trustee Galante 
	ITEM #27 - Trustee Galante 
	ITEM #28 - Trustee Glotz
	ITEM #29 - President Vandenberg
	ITEM #30 - Staff Comment
	ITEM #31 - Board Comment
	ITEM #32 - Public Comment
	ITEM #33 - Clerk Thirion
	Executive Session 



